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Acknowledgement of Country 

Macedon Ranges Shire Council acknowledges the Dja Dja Wurrung, 

Taungurung and Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Peoples as the Traditional 

Owners and Custodians of this land and waterways.   

Council recognises their living cultures and ongoing connection to Country 

and pays respect to their Elders past, present and emerging. 

Council also acknowledges local Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 

residents of Macedon Ranges for their ongoing contribution to the diverse 

culture of our community. 

 

 

Mayor’s Message 

To be drafted for the final document.  
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Executive Summary 

Macedon Ranges Shire Council welcomes the opportunity to be a leader 

in local climate action, however, we also understand that to achieve the 

impact being called for by the global science community we cannot do it 

alone. Long-lasting and effective change can only happen with 

collaboration.  

This Climate Emergency Plan (the Plan) aims to accelerate action in the 

Macedon Ranges Shire to address climate change and will guide the work 

of all parts of Council, as well as, provide inspiration and opportunity for 

everyone across the community to take action. 

The Plan includes a total of 56 actions, across the six themes of Nurturing 

Nature, Climate Ready Communities, Post Fossil Fuels, Health and 

Wellbeing, Waste and the Circular Economy, and Adaptation and 

Emergency Response.  

The actions included in this collaboratively designed plan stretch across 

both Council’s key operations and services, as well as, outlining 

opportunities for residents and community groups to take the lead. 

Interested and passionate residents sat alongside members from local 

Landcare groups, Friends groups, the Macedon Ranges Sustainability 

Group action groups, sporting clubs, Community Health organisations, 

business owners, farmers, land managers, Council department 

representatives, as well as, State Government agencies and network 

agencies to prioritise and develop a collective response to the local 

impacts of climate change up until 2030.  

Key flagship actions that will shape, enable and empower climate action in 

the coming years include:  

1. A new Climate Action Grant stream to enable community groups 

to implement grassroots projects 

2. The development of a comprehensive Integrated Transport 

Strategy that will increase active transport and public transport 

use, guide electric vehicle infrastructure and education & 

awareness campaigns 

3. Securing resources to provide continuity to Council’s Recovery & 

Resilience programs and build community skills & knowledge for 

community-led recovery after natural disasters.     

4. A localised program that enables an equitable transition to solar 

and energy efficiency upgrades for low-income households 

ensuring all residents thrive in a low-carbon future 

Through the implementation and monitoring of the Plan, Council will be 

guided by a set of principles to ensure this response will be inclusive and 

empowering to all - allowing everyone the opportunity to join the journey in 

these pivotal and transitional years.  
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Why do we need to take action? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://350.org/science/ 
 

It’s warming 

In the Bureau of Metrology’s most recent State of the Climate 

Report 2022, Australia’s climate has warmed by approximately 

1.4°C since national records began in 1910. (1) 

 

Victoria has also become drier, especially in the cooler months, and 

has warmed by just over 1.0°C (2). This warming leads to 

numerous other changes in our day to day weather patterns (see 

below).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

It’s us 

Since the industrial revolution, humans have built a reliance on 

coal, oil and gas. When burning these fossil fuels, we release 

carbon dioxide (CO2) into our atmosphere, alongside nitrous oxide, 

methane, chlorofluorocarbons, and water vapour. These are 

commonly referred as greenhouse gases and have created “the 

greenhouse effect” around our planet.  

 

In its Sixth Assessment Report, the Intergovernmental Panel on 

Climate Change (IPCC) concluded that the rise in the world’s CO2 

levels is unequivocally due to human influence (3). 
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It’s bad 

We are already seeing the impacts of climate change here in the 

Macedon Ranges, particularly in the form of extreme weather 

events like storms, floods and bushfires.  

 

 

 

 

 

We know how to fix it 

In March, 2021, Council recognised the urgent need to address 

climate change and stated its commitment to action through a 

Declaration of Climate Emergency. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council understands its responsibility to take strong action on 

climate change and support the residents in the shire to do the 

same. This plan creates a shared vision for both community and 

Council to stop and reverse the causes of climate change, help us 

all to adapt to the forecasted changes and ultimately strengthen an 

already resilient community. 

Everyone can play a role in addressing both the causes and 

the effects of climate change, and the time to do so is now. 
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Our climate journey 

The United Nations IPCC has advised that “we are at a crossroad” 

(4). Actions that we take now can either help or hinder the future we 

want to create. This “crossroads” offers us the opportunity to look 

ahead, mobilise, and, importantly, participate in the solutions that 

will bring a safer, healthier and more resilient Macedon Ranges. 

 

Our emissions profile 

Due to our long running reliance on fossil fuels many of the systems 

we live amongst contribute to the release of greenhouse gases. 

From lighting our homes to heating our water, driving our cars and 

disposing of our waste, even the farming of our food and 

manufacturing our appliances – nearly all of our daily activities 

inevitably contribute to climate change.  

Understanding where our emissions come from is the first piece of 

the puzzle in shaping our response to climate change. 

Snapshot Climate has been developed to show emissions based on 

a standard approach specified in the Global Protocol for Community-

scale greenhouse gas inventories. This ensures variables are treated 

in a consistent manner. As outlined in Figure 1, energy use (both 

electricity and gas) and transport offer the two biggest opportunities 

to reduce our collective emissions.  

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Macedon Ranges Shire municipality emissions profile 20/21.  
Source: https://snapshotclimate.com.au/ 
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Community action 

The passion and drive of our community to create and secure a 
sustainable and prosperous future cannot be understated.  

Macedon Ranges Sustainability Group    

Since its beginning the Macedon Ranges Sustainability Group 

(MRSG) has been shaping a community that is aware, engaged 

and active in addressing climate change. Projects such as the 

Sustainable Living Festival, Edgy Veg Awards, Sustainable House 

Day, Woodend Farmers Market, Cool Changes in Schools, and the 

Wash Against Waste trailer all have an immensely beneficial impact 

in helping the community’s transition to a more environmentally and 

socially just future.  

This member-based, not-for-profit community organisation also 

introduces the possibilities of a more sustainable and climate 

responsive future, exploring innovative projects such the viability of 

neighbourhood batteries and Community Energy Parks - all with 

community benefit at the forefront of its thinking. With 14 action 

groups working on specific areas of interest, MRSG continues to 

demonstrate impactful and inspiring community climate action.  

Macedon Ranges Landcare & Friends Groups 

The work of Landcare and Friends groups demonstrates the 

possibilities of a future that nurtures and enhances ecosystems 

throughout a changing climate. Whether providing valuable 

research through citizen science projects such as the Pollinator 

Project, led by Upper Campaspe Landcare Network, or enabling 

people to (re)connect to their local landscapes through activities 

such as Wildflower and Weeds walks in Barrm Birrm, led by 

Riddells Creek Landcare. The 30 Landcare and Friend groups 

active across the shire help us in creating resilient communities and 

ecosystems. 

Cool Changes: Community Climate Action Plans  

With the aim of empowering and providing agency to the 

community, Council developed the Cool Changes program which 

works with communities throughout the shire to create and 

implement unique and place-based Community Climate Action 

Plans.  

To date, Cool Changes has resulted in seven Community Climate 

Action Plans, four new climate action groups and immeasurable 

community connections and projects that help to build a more 

aware, more engaged and more resilient community. These plans, 

projects and people also played a big role throughout the 

development of this Climate Emergency Plan, providing clear 

community projects and priorities for action.  

Climate Conversations 

Additionally, to engage younger and older people on the topic of 

climate change, and recognising the intrinsic links between climate 

change and physical and mental health, the Bridging the Divide 

project helps facilitate discussions and action on climate change to 

be more accessible to the community. 
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Council action 

Council has long recognised the need to lead by example, and over 

the past years, has taken significate action to reduce emissions 

from its operations, including: 

 installing over 355kW of roof top solar panels on 17 council 

owned and operated buildings,  

 participating in Australia’s largest ever emissions reduction 

project, the Victorian Energy Collaboration (VECO) to 

procure electricity as renewable energy,  

 transitioning all residential street lights to energy efficient 

LEDs,  

 being an early adopter of the Food Organics Garden 

Organics (FOGO) collection and composting service to 

reduce emissions from landfills,  

 installing council electric vehicle charging stations at each of 

the major shire office sites to support the transition to a low 

carbon future,  

 facilitating the installation of five public electric vehicle 

charging stations, 

 trialling innovative kerbside soft plastic collection in Romsey 

- with the ambition of expanding across the shire, 

 implementing a Sustainable Building Policy, 

 implementing a Sustainable Procurement Policy, 

 implementing a single-use plastic policy – aiming to 

eliminate all single-use plastics from council operations, 

activities and events. 

 

 

Counting Down to Zero  

 

Council will continue to work to reduce emissions associated with 

its operations and services, through implementing the plan 

‘Counting Down to Zero’, to reach Zero Net Emissions for its 

operations by 2030.  

A Climate Risk Assessment was undertaken in late 2022 to inform 

Council of the risks posed by climate change to its operations and 

services, and to outline how climate change can be better 

addressed in council decision making processes. Some key 

recommendations from the assessment have been incorporated 

into this Climate Emergency Plan. 

Collaborative action  

Effective and impactful actions to addressing climate change 

requires partnerships and collaboration. This plan looks to bridge 

the efforts being made by community and Council and to create a 

shared vision for climate action in the Macedon Ranges Shire.  

Addressing climate change offers an opportunity to empower 

everyone to help shape the future, and by focusing on the collective 

strengths of people from across the shire, we can create a 

community that is resilient, adaptive and connected.  
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Our collective response 

Who this plan for?  

Everyone! Sustainable and ongoing climate action requires us to 

work together. This plan has been developed on the idea that all 

community sectors have a role to play and that many hands make 

light work.   

Whilst Council welcomes the responsibility to lead, we all have an 

opportunity to mobilise and take action to address climate change. 

Businesses, schools, sporting clubs, community groups, agencies 

and individuals can all come together to create a groundswell of 

change.  

We hope that this plan inspires participation and provides a clear 

pathway for everyone to do so.    

We are currently living in the crucial transitional period to respond 

to climate change, whilst that can be an overwhelming prospect it 

also presents a great opportunity to be a part of humanity’s biggest 

shift.   

How was this plan developed? 

Since its beginning, the Cool Changes program drew out 

community priorities for action at the local level. Whilst these 

Community Climate Action Plans were being created, climate 

change was also becoming increasingly addressed across multiple 

areas of council’s work as well – making it evident that valuable 

work is already underway in the shire. These community and 

Council actions guided prioritisation and ‘gap analysis’ 

conversations to determine the next steps in the shire’s climate 

action journey.  

Additionally, Council sought expert opinions from local and regional 

agencies to get deeper understanding of intersecting factors that 

shape the bigger picture of addressing climate change.  

This was all facilitated within six themed workshops, whereby 

community members, Council representatives and regional 

agencies came together to create our climate response until 2030.  

 

  

 

 

 

 

Overseeing the process was a ‘Project Steering Group’, comprised 

of the people listed. 

 Council departments Managers 

 Business & Tourism 
representatives 

 State government 
representative 

 Traditional Owner consultant 

 Youth advocate 

 Community public health 
representative 

 Macedon Ranges Sustainability 
Group representatives 
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 State government 
representative 

 Macedon Ranges Sustainability 
Group representative 

 Community public health 
representative 
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Principles and Priorities 

PRINCIPLES: Climate change has the ability to exacerbate many 

of the social, economic and environmental issues we are already 

facing. How do we ensure everyone can access clean, renewable 

energy? Energy efficient homes are good for our hip-pocket and 

our health but how do we make sure all houses in the Macedon 

Ranges are performing to a high standard? We know our farmers 

want to feed local families but how do we forge stronger 

connections to our local food system? 

In an effort to address the complex social issues that climate 

change presents, ‘principles’ were identified to guide the 

engagement, development and implementation of this plan. 

Equity: Ensures that no one is left behind in this transformative 

decade. Actions within this plan will look to make sure people within 

our community who are disproportionately affected by the impacts 

of climate change will be heard and supported to thrive. 

Embed First Nations perspectives: Provides the wisdom of deep 

time. First Nation people’s connection and custodianship of Country 

must be included in any and all responses to the Climate 

Emergency we need to urgently address. 

Mobilisation: Collective and cohesive action is the most impactful. 

Everyone has a role to play to address climate change and whether 

big or small, we hope this plan offers everyone an avenue to get 

involved in local climate action. 

Collaboration and Partnerships: No one organisation or 

community group can do it all. To make long-lasting changes, 

collaboration and partnerships need to be made to effectively 

address the varying issues presented by climate change.  

Regeneration: Can be more than planting trees! Of course, we 

can regenerate ecosystems but we can also regenerate skills 

and knowledge that have been lost over time, as well as, 

regenerating community connections. These all play into a 

resilient and adaptive landscape (for people and place). 
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PRIORITIES: In times of transition we can get paralysed by all the 

different choices we could make. To guide the implementation of 

this plan, we’ll look to the four key priorities below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

‘Project Drawdown’: The Drawdown Roadmap  
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The Plan 
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Nurturing Nature 

The topography, range of altitudes and localised climatic patterns of 

the Macedon Ranges results in rich and unique biodiversity values 

in the form of many different ecosystems, hosting a wide range of 

native plants and animals, on both public and private land. 

In August 2018, the Macedon Ranges Shire was declared a 

distinctive area and landscape under Part 3AAB – Distinctive areas 

and landscapes, Section 46AO of the Planning and Environment 

Act 1987. 

CHALLENGES Climate change poses great risks to our 

landscapes, ecosystems and habitat. Increasing temperatures and 

decreases in annual rainfall can have a profound impact on our 

ecosystems’ ability to support wildlife and provide humans with our 

most basic needs like food and clean water. And increases in storm 

events can alter 100+ year old habitat and diminish the health of 

our waterways. 

In addition to the climate emergency, we must acknowledge that we 

are also living amongst a biodiversity extinction crisis. 

POSSIBILITIES Biodiversity is essential to human survival, 

wellbeing and economic prosperity. Luckily, one of the answers to 

dealing with climate change also has major co-benefits for our 

biodiversity – plants!  Programs such as BushBank provide 

inspiring opportunities to restore degraded ecosystems, whilst also 

drawing CO2 down from the atmosphere to store in our plants and 

soil.  

Macedon Ranges is fortunate to have three strong Traditional 

Owner groups (Dja Dja Wurrung, Taungurung, Wurundjeri Woi-

Wurrung) in the region to walk alongside in the journey of 

connecting and caring for their Country.  

COUNCIL’S ROLE 

 Actively protect existing natural habitats to best conserve 

biodiversity.  

 Use multiple sources of knowledge (science-based, 

community, Traditional Owner), in planning and delivering and 

monitoring biodiversity conservation actions. 

 

COMMUNITY OPPORTUNITIES  

 Engage with and increase membership numbers of active 

environmental community groups.  

 Provide opportunities for connection and education for all shire 

residents to enhance, protect and conserve local ecosystems 

and habitat.   

COLLABORATION 

 Work closely together to enhance ecological, cultural and 

spiritual systems. 

 Create a tangible pathway to a community net zero emissions 

shire with carbon offset plantings.  

 

TOPIC SUMMARY 

 Biodiversity projects 

 Waterway enhancement 

 Carbon offsets 

 First Nations-led conservation 

 

  
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Theme: Nurturing Nature 
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Together; individually and as a community we are connected to and care for Country every day.  

We respect and nurture nature and all around us nature is thriving. The buzz of insects and bird calls are louder than traffic and children play and learn in 

bountiful native ecosystems under shaded canopies. Through restorative and regenerative work, the community is more connected with each other and 

works together as stewards for the environment.  

Water is valued and waterways provide biodiverse wildlife corridors where trees form bridges through our towns for possums to clamber over. Nature and 

the natural environment forms the basis for all future decision making, acknowledging the quality of life nature enables. 

 

# Action Co-Benefits Resources Status,  

Priority  

Lead Collaborators* 

NN1 Habitat connectivity 

Increase habitat plantings in priority areas via Biolink 

Boost grants, Landcare support, connecting 

landholders to Bushbank, and potentially the 

Community Carbon Project. 

 Internal Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

 

Environment    Biolinks Alliance 

 Parks Victoria (PV) 

 VicRoads & 

VicTrack 

 Landholders 

 Landcare 

 North Central 

Catchment 

Management 

Authority (NCCMA), 

 Cassinia 

Environmental 

Key for resources, for action tables in each theme 

 Internal Can be resourced with existing internal staff and 

operational funds 

$ <$50,000 

$$ $50,000 - $100,000 

$$$ $100,000 + 

All indicative costs and subject to staff resourcing & funding 

Key for status and priority rating 

Commenced Ongoing till 2030 

Very High 2024-25 

High 2025-26 

Medium 2027-30 

As opportunity arises Actively responding to resource availability 

*Collaborators yet to be formalised 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources   

Status, 

Priority  

Lead Collaborators* 

NN2 Integrated Water Management 

Work with Water Authorities to develop and implement 

Integrated Water Management Plans that value water 

security and healthy waterways, and that address all 

elements of the water cycle 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Internal  

 

(with 

incoming 

WSUD 

Officer) 

 

Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

 

Engineering 

Services  

 Environment 
 Melbourne Water 

(MW) 
 Coliban Water (CW) 
 Greater Western 

Water (GWW) 
 Southern Rural Water 

(SRW) 
 Dept Environment, 

Energy and Climate 

Action (DEECA) 
 NCCMA 

 Property developers 

 Traditional Owners  

NN3 Future-proof plantings 

Accelerate public street tree planting and revegetation 

initiatives, prioritising selection of species that support 

biodiversity and are adapted to anticipated changes in 

climatic conditions. 

  

 

 

 

$$ Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Open Space  DEECA 

 NCCMA 

 MW 

 PV 

 Landcare, 

 Traditional Owners 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe,  

Status, 

Priority  

Lead Collaborators* 

NN4 Carbon Sequestration Projects  

4.1 Continue to develop a Local Community Carbon 

Offsets Program with regional partners, and provide 

opportunity for local community groups, businesses and 

residents to implement offset plantings 

4.2 Investigate the availability of Council-owned land 

(roadsides, waterway reserves, public space) to provide 

sites for offsets  

4.3 Investigate opportunities to expand the program to 

offset community emissions 

 $ 

 

Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Environment   NCCMA 

 Neighbouring 

shires 

 Traditional 

Owners  

 Farmers for 

Climate Action 

 Landholders & 

managers 

 Landcare 

NN5 River, creeks and waterway care  

Continue to develop and implement Waterway 

Management Plans, support the co-ordination of 

community contributions to their implementation, and 

regularly review plans in the context of adaptive 

management.   

 Internal Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Environment  NCCMA 

 MW & CW & 

GWW 

 Landcare 

 Landholders 

 Traditional 

Owners 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe,  

Status, 

Priority  

Lead Collaborators* 

NN 6 Community education 

Provide opportunities for all sectors of the community to 

build their awareness and capacity for conserving 

biodiversity values, protecting waterways and 

regenerating ecosystems. 

 Internal Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Environment  Landcare 

 Friends Groups 

 Field Naturalists 

 Traditional Owners 

 Biolinks Alliance  

NN 7 Protect remnant vegetation  

1.1 Continue to raise awareness amongst landholders 

about the legal requirements associated with native 

vegetation clearing. 

1.2 Develop and implement an Illegal Native Vegetation 

Removal Compliance Policy. 

 Internal  Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Environment   Statutory Planning 

 Local Laws 

 DEECA 

 Landcare 

 Friends Groups 

NN 8 Urban Biodiversity  

Support residents to create gardens that enhance 

biodiversity values in urban areas. 

 Internal Very High Environment  Landcare 

 Friends groups 

 Kyneton: Cool 

Changes 

NN 9 Adaptive pest plants and animals planning  

Ensure that the next review of the Pest Plant and Animal 

Strategy 2024 accounts for the impacts of climate 

change.   

 Internal Very High Environment   DEECA 

 Landcare 

 Friends Groups 

 Traditional Owners 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe,  

Status, 

Priority  

Lead Collaborators* 

NN10 Irrigation Enhancements for Council Open Space 

Further investigate passive and recycled water 

opportunities to ensure Council-owned public open space 

can adapt to anticipated changes in climatic conditions  

 

 

$$$ Medium   Open Space   Engineering 

 Water Authorities 

NN11 Continue implementation of the Biodiversity Strategy       
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Climate-ready Communities 

The Macedon Ranges Shire is a decentralised, ‘peri-urban’ 

municipality, consisting of multiple townships that all have distinct 

community demographics. The mix of urban and rural communities 

in and around the towns means that a local and tailored approach 

is needed when exploring solutions to climate change challenges 

and related programs and projects. 

  

CHALLENGES Decreased frosts, decreased annual rainfall, 

increased annual temperatures and increased extreme weather 

events are key challenges for our local food system and farming 

community. Effectively adapting to forecast climatic conditions 

whilst reducing emissions is key to our response to the Climate 

Emergency.  Additionally, forecasted increases in our population 

cannot be overlooked when developing our response to climate 

change. We need to be able to find a balance between growth, 

protecting our farmland and environment whilst ensuring future 

developments consider its impact on potentially helping or 

hindering the shires emissions profile. 

 

POSSIBILITIES The farming community can play a key role in 

addressing climate change through modifying their operations. One 

example of the shift could be embracing regenerative farming 

practices. This is renowned for to building soil health (and carbon), 

improving biodiversity and reducing reliance on chemical inputs, 

which ultimately, helps increase farm resilience to the forecasted 

changed.    

It’s important to remember that not all development is bad 

development - we have a chance now to shape our townships to be 

able to better respond to forecasted changes. Prioritising 

environmentally sustainable design, ‘green infrastructure’ and 

active transport demonstrates that changes to our townships can 

be designed and built with climate change as the key consideration 

for future communities.  

Our homes also provide a great opportunity for change, but we 

must ensure the transition to energy efficient homes powered by 

renewable energy is a socially just transition that leaves no one 

behind.  

COUNCIL’S ROLE 

 Provide educational pathways 

 Provide support to low-income households to increase energy 

efficiency and entry to the renewable energy market 

 Provide financial and in-kind support to community groups and 

organisation participating in climate action projects.  

COMMUNITY OPPORTUNITIES  

 Investigate ways to help households to ‘get off gas’ and 

increase energy efficiency.  

 Look for opportunities to connect with our local growers. 

COLLABORATION  

 Deliver climate action projects that also provide community 

connection, cohesion and resilience. 

TOPIC SUMMARY 

 Strengthening our local food system 

 Better homes, building and developments 

 Sustainable living  

 Community climate action 

 

  
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Theme: Climate-ready Communities 
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Our climate ready community has a well-established sharing culture where we swap and share local food, skills, community resources and knowledge.  
We are prepared and hopeful with accessible and safe walking and cycling paths, community batteries and local renewable energy.  
 
We have re-localised in every sense of the word. Waste is an outgrown concept - everything is a resource.  
Our community is caring and kind and our homes are comfortable using renewable resources and passive solar design. 
 

# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe, 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

CRC 1 Healthy Landscapes  

Continue to deliver and evolve the Healthy Landscapes 

Program to adapt to future challenges for rural and 

farming communities under forecast climate scenarios 

 $$ Commenced 

(ongoing)  

 

Environment  NCCMA 

 MW & CW 

 Partnering 

councils 

 DJARRA & 

Traditional 

Owners 

CRC 2 Bulk buy household solar 

Develop, promote and implement local bulk buy 

initiatives of solar and energy efficiency upgrades (eg 

heat pumps, reverse cycle air conditioners, etc).  

 $$ Commenced 

(pilot) 

 

Community  

(MRSG – Go 

Renewable 

Energy Group) 

 Environment 

 Comm-

unications   

Key for resources, for action tables in each theme 

 Internal Can be resourced with existing internal staff and 

operational funds 

$ <$50,000 

$$ $50,000 - $100,000 

$$$ $100,000 + 

All indicative costs and subject to staff resourcing & funding 

Key for status and priority rating 

Commenced Ongoing till 2030 

Very High 2024-25 

High 2025-26 

Medium 2027-30 

As opportunity arises Actively responding to resource availability 

*Collaborators yet to be formalised 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe, 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

CRC 3 Business energy support 

Promote and increase awareness of support programs 

that enable businesses to engage or transition to more 

sustainable practices (eg, Power Purchase Agreements, 

State and Federal Small Business energy incentives, 

Zero Emissions Vehicle Transition programs, 

CitySwitch, programs like Wine Victoria’s “Growing 

Victorian wine into the future”, eco-tourism programs 

and practices).   

 

 

 

 

$ Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Environment, 

Economic 

Development  

 Economic 

Development 

 Business and 

Tourism Ass. 

 Regional 

Development 

Victoria  

CRC 4 MRSG - Regenerative Farmers Action Group  

Support the Macedon Ranges Sustainability Group's 

Regenerative Farmers Action Group to promote the 

human, environmental and economic benefits to the 

community of regenerative agriculture, and advocate for 

regenerative farmers in the Macedon Ranges Shire. 

 $ Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Community  

 

 Environment 

 Landholders & 

Managers 

CRC 5 Resource Smart Schools 

Amplify the Resource Smart Schools program by: 

1.1 Promoting and participating in regular networking 

sessions facilitated by Sustainability Victoria 

1.2 Promote school-based projects for sustainability  

 

 

 

Internal Commenced 

(ongoing) 

Environment  Sustainability 

Victoria (SV)  
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe, 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

CRC 6 Embed and Expand Council Sustainable Buildings 

Policy and Practice  

1.1  Lead by example through ensuring that best 

practice environmental performance standards are met 

in works to buildings, and embed climate considerations 

in all new building designs 

1.2 : Ensure sufficient funds are provided to enable 

application of sustainable design principles in the design 

and construction of all works to buildings. 

 

 

 

 

$$$ Commenced 

(ongoing) 

Environment   Facilities and 

Operations  

CRC 7 Water Sensitive Urban Design 

Build capacity within Council to ensure water sensitive 

urban design assets are delivered as a part of future 

subdivisions to maximise storm water treatment. Ensure 

sufficient maintenance funding is provided to optimise 

performance of treatments. Explore options to treat 

stormwater at larger catchment scales. 

 $$  Very High Engineering 

Services  

 Environment 

 Strategic 

Planning 

 Melbourne 

Water  
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources  

Status or 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

CRC 8 Council capacity to collectively address climate 

change 

Provide training and resources to staff across all council 

departments to enable them to better understand and 

address the impacts of climate change.   

 Internal Very High Environment   People & 

Wellbeing 

CRC 9 Household energy efficiency  

1.1: Provide community education to support residents 

to convert to 'all-electric' homes 

1.2 Promote state government programs that enable 

home energy efficiency upgrades, like the Solar Homes 

Program and the Residential Efficiency Scorecard. 

  

 

 

 

Internal High Environment  MRSG  

CRC10 Climate action grants and support 

1.1 Pilot a Climate Action Grant program that provides 

financial assistance to community groups engaging in 

climate action 

1.2 Continue providing in-kind support to community 

climate projects and the implementation of Community 

Climate Action Plans 

 

 

Internal Very High  Environment 

  

 Community 

Development 

 MRSG 

 Landcare 

 Friends group 

 Cool Changes 

groups  
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe, 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

CRC11 Equitable household transition  

Develop and pilot a dedicated support program for low-

income households to access solar power, for example, 

a modified version of Solar Savers for council-owned 

social housing units. Aim to expand the program to all 

low income households  

 

 

 

$$$ Very High Environment  Property & 

Valuations 

 Community 

Strengthening 

 SCCH 

 MRSG 

CRC12 Home Water Literacy Education 

Promote the importance of sustainable water 

management and usage in partnership with water 

authorities. 

 Internal Medium Environment  Landcare 

 Friends groups 

 Water 

Authorities 

 NCCMA 

 Traditional 

Owners 

CRC13 Urban Cooling  

Develop an Urban Cooling Strategy that establishes 

targets for canopy cover and public plantings and which 

identifies actions to ensure appropriate protections are 

in place for significant trees across the shire. 

 $ Medium Environment  Open Space 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe, 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

CRC14 Community food security 

Support initiatives that increase local food security and 

local food production (eg. Community Gardens, Food 

Forests, food system co-operatives, national/regional 

initiatives such as 'Grow It Local') 

 $ As 

opportunity 

arises 

 

Community 

Wellbeing 

 Environment 

 Neighbourhood 

and Community 

Houses 

(NHH/CH) 

 Church groups 

 Schools 

 Healthy Loddon 

Campaspe 

(HLC) 

 SCCH  

CRC15 Connecting with local farmers 

Provide opportunities for communities to meet and 

connect with local growers and food providers 

(additional to Farmers Markets). 

 $ As 

opportunity 

arises 

 

Community  

(TBC) 

 Agricultural show 

committees 

 Regional 

business 

associations    

CRC16 Climate ready housing  

Explore options to introduce an Environmental 

Sustainable Design (ESD) policy for new developments 

into the planning scheme. Embed ESD and sustainable 

subdivision principles into requirements into precinct 

structure plans, development plans and subdivisions. 

 Internal As 

opportunity 

arises  

Strategic 

Planning 

 Environment  
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 Post Fossil Fuels 

With the ‘Energy’ and ‘Transport’ sectors being mostly fuelled by 

coal, oil and gas, solutions that accelerate our transition to low (and 

zero) emission alternatives play the most crucial role in ‘pulling the 

emergency brake’ on climate change.  

Transport and electricity are the shire’s two biggest sources of 

emissions. ‘On-road’ transport is responsible for 25% of the shire’s 

emissions whilst ‘commercial’, ‘residential’ and ‘industrial’ electricity 

use are collectively responsible for 47% of total emissions from the 

shire.  

CHALLENGES: Our unique geography and topography present 

distinct challenges to enabling local renewable energy projects 

such as solar and wind farms. Alongside the shire’s highly valuable 

farmland, high biodiversity and landscape values, and state 

planning regulation not allowing wind farms in the shire we need to 

be creative in our local energy solutions.  

Additionally, the decentralised nature of our shire and proximity to 

the Melbourne CBD results in approximately half of residents using 

their cars to commute to work (5) and having a higher than regional 

Victoria average car ownership - with approximately 29% of 

households own 3 or more cars (6).  

POSSIBILITIES: Tackling electricity and transport emissions 

present the greatest possibility for a zero-carbon future in the 

Macedon Ranges. Already, there are approximately 8,000 solar 

installations, generating approximately 48MW of electricity (7), By 

increasing this output via rooftop systems, the shire is well placed 

to investigate and potentially host micro-grids, Virtual Power Plants 

and energy trading amongst residents.  

Shifting our transport methods to low-carbon options is also an 

equally important opportunity. This could be through the uptake of 

electric vehicles and an increase in walking and cycling, supported 

by safe and enabling infrastructure.  

COUNCIL’S ROLE:  

 Provide infrastructure to facilitate active transport  

 Facilitate installation of electric vehicle charging stations  

 Transition Council’s passenger fleet to electric vehicles. 

 Respond to innovative transport initiatives that shift 

communities reliance on cars ownership (car share, e-bikes, e-

scooters)  

 Advocate for infrastructure upgrades to enable ‘energy 

resilience’ projects and improved public transport. 

COMMUNITY OPPORTUNITIES:  

• Participate in community-led bulk buy programs (for renewable 

energy and electric vehicles) 

• Shift to active or public transport 

COLLABORATION: 

 Work together on large scale renewable energy and energy 

storage projects. 

 Explore what better active transport looks like in the shire.  

TOPIC SUMMARY 

 Towards zero-carbon electricity 

 Community renewable energy 

 Active transport 

 Zero-carbon vehicle transition 

 

  
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Key for resources, for action tables in each theme 

 Internal Can be resourced with existing internal staff and 

operational funds 

$ <$50,000 

$$ $50,000 - $100,000 

$$$ $100,000 + 

All indicative costs and subject to staff resourcing & funding 

Theme: Post Fossil Fuels  
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Our community is healthier in so many ways as a result of our post fossil fuel future. We are physically healthier with clean air to breathe and a more active 
lifestyle including walking and cycling.  
We are comfortable in our passive solar homes that buffer us from weather and climate extremes. Electric vehicles are the norm and charging 
infrastructure is integrated into our towns. Re-localisation consists of community batteries for storing our renewable energy. As a community resource, 
electricity is valued and used wisely.  
The neighbourhoods are alive, full of the sounds of community who feel proud to be walking their talk for future generations. 
 

# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe  

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

PFF 1 Support Electric Vehicle uptake  

Provide shire-specific information and activities to 

promote the benefits of electric vehicles, and facilitate the 

development of an electric vehicle bulk buy program. 

 $ Commenced  

(ongoing)  

 

Community  

(MRSG) 

 Environment 

 Regional 

community 

groups 

 Private 

enterprises  

 Residents  

Key for status and priority rating 

Commenced Ongoing till 2030 

Very High 2024-25 

High 2025-26 

Medium 2027-30 

As opportunity arises Actively responding to resource availability 

*Collaborators yet to be formalised 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe  

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

PFF 2 MRSG - Transport Action Group 

Amplify the work of the Macedon Ranges Sustainability 

Group's Transport Action Group (TAG), who advocate for 

and promote walking, cycling/e-cycling, public transport, 

car-pooling and sharing, and electric vehicles in the 

Macedon Ranges Shire. 

 $ Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Community  

 

 Environment 

 DEECA 

 Central Vic. 

Greenhouse 

Alliance 

(CVGA) 

 Bicycle User 

Groups (BUGs) 

 Residents  

PFF 3 MRSG – Renewable Energy Action Group 

Amplify the work of the Macedon Ranges Sustainability 

Group's Renewable Energy Action Group, who actively 

work towards the shire becoming carbon neutral by 2030, 

by leading, supporting and investing in local energy 

efficiency, generation and offset projects in partnership 

with community, government and industry. 

 $$$ Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Community  

 

 Environment 

 DEECA 

 CVGA 

 Residents  

 Local 

businesses 

 

PFF 4 Council's buildings transition 

Continue to phase out the use of gas at council operated 

sites. Replace all gas appliances with electric alternatives 

as they become redundant, or in 2028-2029, whichever 

comes first. 

 $$$    

 

(>$3M for 

the two 

aquatic 

centres)  

Commenced 

(complete by 

2028-2029) 

 

Facilities 

Projects,  

Facilities 

Management, 

Environment  

 Potential 

funding 

organisations 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe  

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

PFF 5 Electric Vehicle infrastructure  

Develop a policy to guide and increase the installation of 

electric vehicle charging infrastructure across the shire. 

 Internal Very High Environment   Engineering 

Services 

 Economic 

Development 

 Property and 

Valuations 

 Industry 

partners 

 DEECA 

PFF 6 Pathway to renewable energy for community groups 

1.1 Conduct a pilot project with the Halls Committees of 

Management to establish a process to “bring-in” electricity 

bills to Council's Power Purchase Agreement for 

renewable electricity (VECO) in 2023-2024 

1.2 Transition all Council owned buildings where 

community groups pay energy bills to be included in 

VECO by 2028-2029, through amendments to leasing, 

licencing, and user agreement processes. 

 $$$  

 

(1 EFT for 2 

years) 

Very High  

(complete by 

2028-2029) 

 

Environment   Property and 

Valuations 

 Arts and Culture 

 Recreation 

 Community 

Development 

 Tenants in 

council owned 

buildings   
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe  

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

PFF 7 Increase renewable energy generation:  

1.1 Increase rooftop solar energy generation and storage 

at council facilities 

1.2 Explore the possibility of establishing a small-scale 

solar farm on a closed landfill site within the shire  

1.3 Seek funding to progress council's solar generation 

capability.   

 $$$ High Environment   Facilities 

Projects & 

Management 

 Industry 

partners 

 

PFF 8 Uptake and engagement in active transport  

1.1 Increase active transport infrastructure and security 

for pedestrians and cyclists, provide supporting 

infrastructure like bicycle repair stations and e-bike 

chargers, and investigate the development of "Travel 

Smart” maps (extending from the existing series of 

"walking routes" maps) 

1.2 Trial pop-up bicycle paths to popular destinations and 

services in townships to gather local data for informing 

infrastructure works. 

 

 

 

 

$$ 

 

As 

opportunity 

arises  

Engineering 

Services, 

Environment, 

Strategic 

Planning, 

Recreation, 

Open Space, 

Community 

Wellbeing  

 BUGs 

 Sporting clubs 

 Schools 

 Healthy 

Loddon 

Campaspe 

 SCCH   

PFF1 Integrated Sustainable Transport Strategy 

Develop a comprehensive integrated and holistic 

transport strategy for the shire that increases  

 

 

 

 

$$$ 2025-2026 

Very High 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe  

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

PFF 9 Integrated Sustainable Transport Strategy 

Develop a comprehensive integrated and holistic 

transport strategy for the shire that increases 

opportunities for residents to engage with active 

transport, public transport, and transition to low carbon 

vehicles. 

 

 

 

 

$$$ High Engineering 

Services, 

Environment, 

Strategic 

Planning, 

Recreation  

 VicTrack 

 VicRoads 

 Public 

Transport 

Victoria 

(PTV) 

 MRSG 

 BUGs 

PFF10 Local, community-owned renewable energy projects 

Continue to investigate opportunities for community 

energy projects such as community or neighbourhood 

batteries, and community-owned renewable energy 

enterprises 

 $ 

 

As 

opportunity 

arises 

 

Community  

 

(MRSG – 

Renewable 

Energy Action 

Group) 

 Environment 

 Cool 

Changes 

groups 

 Community 

Power 

Agency 

 Centre for 

New Energy 

Technology 

(C4NET)  

PFF11 Continue implementation of Counting Down to Zero 

to help ensure council operations and services 

moves to a fossil fuel free future. 
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Health & Wellbeing 

The World Health Organisation has declared climate change to be the 

biggest health threat facing humanity (8). This sentiment is echoed in 

our Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan with an overarching 

goal of creating a community that is committed to tackling the climate 

emergency and its impacts on health. 

CHALLENGES Climate change poses both direct and indirect 

challenges to living healthy and thriving lives. Direct impacts come in 

the form of increased contact with natural disasters such as fire, floods 

and storm – which we know are predicted to increase in our region. 

Recovery from the physical impacts of these events can be costly in 

time and money to individuals, businesses, and communities. Often 

forgotten are the threats and impacts of prolonged extreme heat to 

older residents and people living in sub-standard buildings. Here, in 

the Macedon Ranges, we’ve faced all these disasters over the past 5 

years. 

Indirect and ongoing impacts of extreme weather conditions include 

reduced safety for community sport and recreation, outdoor activities 

and social connections, further impacting our health and wellbeing. 

Equally important to consider is the mental health impacts that climate 

change presents, for example, “eco-anxiety”, whereby the constant 

threat of climate change can create a state of anxiousness within the 

community. 

POSSIBILITIES Almost all action on climate has a co-benefit to our 

health and wellbeing. Whether improving the heating and cooling 

efficiency in our homes or joining a local Landcare group to spend time 

in nature, small steps for sustainability increase our health and 

wellbeing. By taking action on climate together, we also strength social 

cohesion and connection making us more resilient in the face of 

climate change. 

Our opportunity lies in education and support. By strengthening our 

collective knowledge of climate change’s health risks and support our 

most vulnerable to understand as well, we can make great impact on 

our ability to adapt to a changing climate. 

COUNCIL’S ROLE 

 Raise awareness about the links between climate change and 

health 

 Promote the benefits of community connection and participation   

 Support community-led initiatives that address the health impacts 

of climate change through grants  

COMMUNITY OPPORTUNITIES:  

 Engage with your local clubs and help them to be more 

sustainable 

 Develop initiatives to support our community to lead healthier, 

more active lives.  

COLLABORATION 

 Work together to create person-centred resources that meet the 

needs of distinct community groups (eg. farmers writing for farmers 

and youth engaging with youth). 

TOPIC SUMMARY 

 Sport and recreation in a changing climate 

 Mental health support 

 Community support networks 

 Climate-conscious diets 

 

  



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 2023 

 

Item PE.1 - Attachment 1 Page 39 

  

 

 
 

DRAFT – Climate Emergency Plan 
Macedon Ranges Shire is located on Dja Dja Wurrung, Taungurung and  

Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Country. Page 34 

 

  

Key for resources, for action tables in each theme 

 Internal Can be resourced with existing internal staff and 

operational funds 

$ <$50,000 

$$ $50,000 - $100,000 

$$$ $100,000 + 

All indicative costs and subject to staff resourcing & funding 

Key for status and priority rating 

Commenced Ongoing till 2030 

Very High 2024-25 

High 2025-26 

Medium 2027-30 

As opportunity arises Actively responding to resource availability 

*Collaborators yet to be formalised 

Theme: Health & Wellbeing 

  

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
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V
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N

 

 
In 2030 our community is witnessing the benefits of our actions and feeling satisfied that the changes we are making are having a strong impact.  
 
Our lifestyles are more active and we are inclusive and community minded. There are bike paths utilising disused infrastructure connecting our towns and 
people feel safe and more connected to nature.  
We value people of all ages and intergenerational living helps community members feel supported and included. People are healthier and positive, happier a 
result. 
 

# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe, 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

H+W 1 MRSG - Veg Action Group 

Extend the scope and build on partnerships of the 

Macedon Ranges Sustainability Group's Veg Action 

Group, through establishing a coordinated "healthy local 

food campaign" that promotes benefits, provides 

incentives, and builds capacity in the community to grow 

and source locally produced food. 

 

 

$ Commenced 

(ongoing) 

Community  

 

 Community 

Wellbeing 

 Environment 

 Healthy Loddon 

Campaspe 

 SCCH 

 DJAARA 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

H+W 2 Amplify benefits of participation  

Increase levels of volunteerism and engagement with local 

community environment groups through promoting the 

associated health and wellbeing benefits e.g  improved 

local connections and sense of purpose 

 Internal High  Environment   Community 

Development 

 Community 

Wellbeing 

 Landcare 

 Friends groups 

 MRSG 

 Community orgs  

H+W 3 Youth Action Support 

Create a network of young people who "are fired up to do 

something". Invite, include and activate young people in 

the Shire to get involved in and advocate for more climate 

action 

 $ As 

opportunity 

arises 

Community  

 

(MRSG - Local 

Education 

Action Group, 

TBC)   

 Environment 

 Youth Services 

 Schools  

 Faith groups 

H+W 4 Extreme Weather Support 

Provide customised materials and communications to 

assist at-risk residents to be prepared to act on days of 

extreme weather conditions and events. Ensure that 

materials and communications provide tangible household 

and social actions (eg, 'phone trees’, door knock checks, 

local 'cool spaces').   

  $ High Environment  Community 

Development 

 Emergency 

Response 

 NHH / CHs 

 Libraries 

 Aged care 

Providers 

 SCCH   
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe, 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

H+W 5 Sustainable sports 

1.1 Promote and support actions for sustainability amongst 

sports clubs in the shire (eg, plastic-free canteens, textile 

and equipment reuse and recycling, entrance to the 

renewable energy market, water literacy).  

1.2 Consider undertaking an audit to identify what action is 

already underway, and how clubs can best be supported 

 $ Medium Environment   Recreation 

 Community 

Wellbeing 

 Resource 

Recovery 

 Green Planet 

Sports 

 SCCH 

 Local sports 

clubs & 

associations 

H+W 6 Mental health support  

Provide dedicated information about, and pathways to, 

mental health support for residents considered to be 

acutely affected by climate impacts (e.g. farmers, youth, 

First Nations people, young parents and new families, 

CFA) and connect to local expert organisations 

 $ As 

opportunity 

arises 

 

Environment   Community 

Wellbeing 

 Youth Services 

 SCCH 

 Church groups 

 NHHs / CHs 

 Libraries 

 Traditional 

Owners 

 Community 

advocates 
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Waste & Circular Economy 

Currently, two-thirds of greenhouse gas emissions in Victoria are 

from the waste sector (9). The current take-make-dispose model of 

manufacturing is an unsustainable model that needs to be replaced 

with more efficient and sustainable alternatives. Here, in the 

Macedon Ranges, we’ve been leaders in our waste management 

and welcome the transition to a Circular Economy.  

A Circular Economy sees the continual reuse and recycling of 

materials, reducing the need to use virgin material and decreasing 

items going to landfill.  

CHALLENGES Currently the environmental impacts of collecting 

and transporting different waste streams, and disposing or re-

purposing them in a responsible manner form a significant part of 

Council’s total carbon footprint. Avoiding waste is still the best 

approach for addressing the environmental and financial 

challenges associated with waste management. Educating 

residents and visitors to optimise the use of resources, as opposed 

to manage them correctly at their end of life, remains an ongoing 

role for council.  

POSSIBILITIES Being an early adopter of the four-bin kerbside 

collection system means that both Council and the community are 

well placed to take the next steps in tackling waste management 

challenges. Depending on trial results, there’s the potential for 

kerbside soft plastic collection to increase throughout the shire. 

Additionally, conducting a targeted campaign to assist businesses 

to reduce plastic and adopt more environmentally friendly practices 

could make great impact in our emissions, as well as, establishing 

local initiatives like Repair Cafes and Tool Libraries could also help 

keep products and materials in use for longer periods of time and 

promote a sharing economy throughout the shire.  

Additional staff resourcing from 2023-2024 to operate Council’s 

three resource recovery facilities will increase the ability to monitor 

and divert materials from landfill and play a more significant role in 

a local “reuse economy”. 

COUNCIL’S ROLE 

 Continue to provide innovative waste education and behaviour 

change programs 

 Lead by Example. Ensure all Council managed and council 

funded events minimise waste generation  

  

COMMUNITY OPPORTUNITIES 

 Celebrate, promote and enable repairing, mending, 

composting, sharing, trading 

 

COLLABORATION 

 Provide creative engagement events to upskill residents to be 

able to reduce waste.  

  

TOPIC SUMMARY 

 Waste minimisation 

 Resource recovery 

 Towards a Circular Economy  

 Community education 
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Theme: Waste & Circular Economy 

C
O
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Our lives feel more joyful and connected from changing the way we think about waste - nothing is wasted in 2030 and what used to be thrown away is now 
considered a resource. Our gardens are productive and flourishing and repair cafes thrive in each town. 
 
We are a plastic free community and all packaging is made from recycled materials and can be recycled. Businesses are on board and there are many 
employment opportunities where innovation is encouraged. We are satisfied that we are making a difference. 
 

# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

W+CE1 Kerbside soft plastic collection 

Review results of Romsey Soft Plastics Trial and investigate 

feasibility of increasing the number of households able to 

participate in kerbside soft plastic collection. 

 $$$ Commenced  

(ongoing) 

 

Resource 

Recovery 

 Industry 

partners 

W+CE2 Business waste support 

Support businesses to investigate circular economy 

opportunities and promote innovative waste minimisation 

strategies and programs (e.g. connecting waste/resources 

to the local market/consumer) 

 $ Very High  

 

 

Economic 

Development  

 Resource 

Recovery 

 Environment 

 Business and 

Tourism Ass. 

 Relevant 

Industry 

groups   

Key for resources, for action tables in each theme 

 Internal Can be resourced with existing internal staff and 

operational funds 

$ <$50,000 

$$ $50,000 - $100,000 

$$$ $100,000 + 

All indicative costs and subject to staff resourcing & funding 

Key for status and priority rating 

Commenced Ongoing till 2030 

Very High 2024-25 

High 2025-26 

Medium 2027-30 

As opportunity arises Actively responding to resource availability 

*Collaborators yet to be formalised 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe 

Status, 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

W+CE3 Education, engagement and action 

Develop the Waste Minimisation and Resource Recovery 

Education and Engagement Plan, and partner with 

community groups to deliver timely and relevant 

engagement events and programs.   

 Internal  Very High Resource 

Recovery 

 Environment 

 MRSG  

 NHHs / CHs 

 Business & 

Traders Ass.  

W+CE4 Repair Cafes and Tool Libraries 

Promote the 'sharing economy' and investigate possibility of 

a co-ordinated network of Repair Cafés and Tool Libraries 

throughout the shire  

 $ As 

opportunity 

arises 

Resource 

Recovery  

 Environment 

 MRSG 

 NHH / CHs 

 Men’s sheds 

 Social 

enterprises  

W+CE5 Incentives for kerbside waste minimisation: 

Investigate the possibility for altering waste charges, 

including bin size and 'pay by weight' options.  

 

 $$$ As 

opportunity 

arises 

Resource 

Recovery 

 SV 

 Local 

government 

waste 

networks 

 Waste 

collection 

contractors  

W+CE5 Continue implementation of the Waste and Resource 

Recovery Strategy 2021-2026. 
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Adaptation & Emergency Response 

Even with global action to reduce emissions, the impacts of climate 

change will continue to increase over the coming decades due to past 

and current emissions (10). Recognising and adapting to climate 

change plays a key role in managing our experience of, and 

vulnerability to, its impacts.   

Adaptation can come in the tangible form of upgraded buildings and 

greener infrastructure, and also intangibly within our everyday lives, 

through building our knowledge on community resilience and 

preparedness for natural disasters.  

CHALLENGES We’re already seeing forecast climatic conditions 

happening here in the shire. Several extreme weather events in recent 

years have resulted in physical damage to assets and disruptions to 

lifestyles and businesses, and demanded increased recovery efforts 

from across the community.  

As new residents come to live in the shire, some residents have 

outlined concerns over our collective knowledge of the risk of “natural 

disasters” and our collective level of preparedness. Within Council, 

insecure funding and limited ongoing staffing resources present critical 

challenges to providing continuity to our recovery response and ability 

to build solid community relationships as the foundation for increasing 

resilience.   

From this perspective, it must be noted that no actions listed in this 

theme can be achieved without the additional resources being 

established within Council.  

POSSIBILITIES Within the community, there are strong lived 

experiences to natural disasters. This means that for long-lived 

residents the awareness of the associated risks is high, and peoples’ 

collective experience and insights positions us well to improve 

programs and initiatives to build capacity for community-led recovery 

after extreme weather events and other major disruptions. Emergency 

Relief Centres and Neighbourhood Safer Places also present 

opportunity for physical adaption to support community resilience 

through modifications to be able to operate off-grid, to further support 

community resilience.  

COUNCIL’S ROLE 

 Increase organisational staff resources to recovery and resilience 

 Continue to update our built environment and assets with climate 

adaptation in mind, prioritising renewable energy.  

 Provide educational opportunities that build community capacity 

and resilience.  

 

COMMUNITY OPPORTUNITIES 

 Volunteer with local CFA, SES, or other support networks  

 Review your home for preparedness to the various natural 

disasters predicted for the region.  

 

COLLABORATION 

 Work together to create respectful relationships that build 

resilience in difficult times 

TOPIC SUMMARY 

 Co-ordinated and informed response 

 Adaptation projects 

 Community readiness and resilience 

 Safe places  
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Key for resources, for action tables in each theme 

 Internal Can be resourced with existing internal staff and 

operational funds 

$ <$50,000 

$$ $50,000 - $100,000 

$$$ $100,000 + 

All indicative costs and subject to staff resourcing & funding 

Theme: Adaptation & Emergency Response 

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 

V
IS

IO
N

 

 
Our community is well aware of the risks that may occur and have in place plans making us feel prepared and safe. Everyone has a part to play including 
children - “we’re all in it together!” 
 
Safe community hubs are established with reliable renewable energy and communications and we know how to look after ourselves for at least 72 hours, so 
that emergency services can help those most vulnerable. We value indigenous wisdom and knowledge which is applied to land management. We look after 
native wildlife understanding the important role they play.  
 

# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe 

Status 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

A+ER1 Assuring energy for Emergency Management sites: 

1.1 Continue to retrofit Emergency Relief Centres and 

Neighbourhood Safer Places to ensure they can withstand 

power outages, prioritising off-grid solar power and 

community batteries.   

1.2 Ensure the Municipal Emergency Operation Coordination 

Centres (Gisborne and Kyneton shire offices) and the 

Woodend Depot can withstand power outages, prioritising off-

grid solar power and community batteries. 

 $$$ 

 

Commenced 

(ongoing) 

 

Facilities 
Manage-
ment 

 Environment 

 Emergency 

Management  

Key for status and priority rating 

Commenced Ongoing till 2030 

Very High 2024-25 

High 2025-26 

Medium 2027-30 

As opportunity arises Actively responding to resource availability 

*Collaborators yet to be formalised 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources  

Status 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

A+ER2 Building capacity for community led recovery:  

Provide opportunities that build capacity and enable 

community-led planning and community-led recovery through 

co-designed workshops and programs.   

 

 

 

 

$$ As 

resources 

allow or 

opportunity 

arises  

 

Recovery 

  

 Environment 

 Community 

Development 

 SES 

 CFA 

 NHHs / CHs 

 Community 

groups across 

the shire  

A+ER3 Places to Respond and Recover: 

Provide resources to assist community organisations to 

prepare their facilities for providing disaster response services 

and to become local 'hubs' for community recovery programs 

 

 

 

 

$ As 

resources 

allow or 

opportunity 

arises  

 

 

Recovery   Community 

Dev. 

 Environment 

 SCCH 

 NHH / CHs  

A+ER4 Household Preparedness education:  

1.1 Identify additional resources to deliver information 

sessions, discussions and home preparedness workshops in 

partnership with VicSES and CFAs to improve confidence 

and resilience in the community and Council.  

1.2 Further promote the Home Preparedness Tools 

developed by VicSES and CFA. 

 $ As 

resources 

allow or 

opportunity 

arises  

 

Emergency 

Manageme

nt 

 SES 

 CFA 
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# Action Co-Benefits Resources Timeframe 

Status 

Priority 

Lead Collaborators* 

A+ER5 Build Council capacity 

Further embed and enhance training for volunteer staff 

allocated to Emergency Recovery Centres by developing 

eLearning modules that shares research and methodology for 

community resilience, community-led recovery and building 

social capital in times of disaster 

 $ As 

resources 

allow or 

opportunity 

arises  

 

Emergency 

Management  

 People and 

Learning 

 Community 

support 

groups and 

volunteers  

A+ER6 Recovery and Resilience Coordination 

Secure additional resources within Council, to enable 

"preparedness" to be addressed alongside Council’s 

emergency management roles and responsibilities, provide 

continuity in communications with the community and 

relationships with emergency relief and community support 

organisations, and enable actions listed for this theme to be 

enacted. 

 $$$  

 

Very High Community 

Strengthen-

ing 

 Environment 
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Monitoring and Evaluation 

Monitoring the progress and effective delivery of the actions in this plan is critical to the success of our approach to climate change.  

Council has listened to its community and the idea of shift to trailing and piloting solutions as opposed to feasibility and opportunity 

studies – making evaluation all the more important. The following actions will be put in place to ensure this plan results in tangible 

success stories.  

# Action Timeframe Lead Collaborator 

M&E1 Governance  

Transition from the ‘Cool-ER Changes’ Engagement project steering group to 

a Climate Emergency Working Group, with key organisational 

representatives, comprising of council staff, state agencies and community 

members, to monitor and guide the implementation of this plan.  

2023-2024  

(ongoing) 

Environment  

M&E2 Organisational training and capacity building  

Develop climate change training modules to ensure all departments are 

equipped to evaluate programs and projects against the principles and 

priorities of the Climate Emergency Response Plan. 

2024-2025 Environment   People and 

Learning 

M&E3 Reporting  

Provide updates on implementation progress through the Annual 

Environment Report or other public annual reporting framework  

Ongoing Environment  Comms and 

Engagement 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 2023 

 

Item PE.1 - Attachment 1 Page 50 

  

 

 
 

DRAFT – Climate Emergency Plan 
Macedon Ranges Shire is located on Dja Dja Wurrung, Taungurung and  

Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Country. Page 45 

 

  

M&E4 Communications  

Establish an online interface to keep community members and partners up-to-

date with the progress of actions of the Climate Emergency Plan.   

2023- 2024 Environment  Comms 

 Project 

partners 

 Community 

groups  

M&E5 Climate KPI’s   

Develop Key Performance Indicators for the organisation relating to the 

implementation of this plan. 

2024-2025 Environment  People and 

Learning  

M&E6 Community Connections and Support 

Alongside the implementation of this plan, Council will continue to support 

residents to enact plans developed through Cool Changes and to assess and 

celebrate the effectiveness of local action. Council will also support and 

maintain communications to share learnings and experiences amongst the 

community, for example, through local forums.   

On-going Environment  MRSG 
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Council’s Advocacy Commitments 

In addition to Council and the community working together to take action to address climate change, there is also a role for 
Council to formally advocate for increased action by other levels of government, statutory authorities, and relevant 
organisations. Advocacy can be in the form of formal submissions or presentations to consultation processes, participation 
in discussions and projects to source support or drive change for climate action, or more proactively on areas of key 
concern for the shire.  

Through the development of this plan, key areas for advocacy have been identified:  

 Diverse and climate ready housing: Advocate for planning scheme policy and related regulations to deliver more diverse 

housing options, including increased environmental performance standards, smaller footprints, flexibility for use in different 

stages of life, and connection to and provision of shared transport infrastructure and public open space. 

 Energy trading: Advocate for changes to legislation and improvements to power infrastructure to enable micro-grids and 

energy trading with neighbours and local areas to be established and supported. 

 Communications: Work with communication service providers and emergency management agencies to increase the portable 

telecommunications units throughout the shire, prioritising Emergency Relief Centres. 

 Pedestrian access and public transport: Advocate for the installation of safe level crossings for pedestrians, and for 

improved services and connections in public transport. Advocate for review of train and bus suitability and adequate shelter for 

future climate scenario. 

 Ethical Finance: Lead by example by continuing to increase the divestment of council funds from financial institutions that fund 

fossil fuel projects, and promote the benefits of divestment to local businesses and community groups. 
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• IPCC: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 

Change 

• MRSG: Macedon Ranges Sustainability Group  

• VECO: Victorian Energy Collaboration  

• FOGO: Food Organics Garden Organics  

• NCCMA: North Central Catchment Management 

Authority  

• MW: Melbourne Water 

• CW: Coliban Water  

• GWW: Greater Western Water 

• SRW: Southern Rural Water  

• DEECA: Dept Environment, Energy and Climate 

Action 

• PV: Parks Victoria  

• SV: Sustainability Victoria 

• SCCH: Sunbury and Cobaw Community Health 

• NHH/CH: Neighbourhood and Community 

houses  

• HLC: Healthy Loddon Campaspe 

• CVGA: Central Vic. Greenhouse Alliance  

• BUGs: Bicycle User Groups  

• PTV: Public Transport Victoria  

• C4NET: Centre for New Energy Technology 

 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 2023 

 

Item PE.1 - Attachment 1 Page 53 

 

 

 
 DRAFT – Climate Emergency Response Plan 

Macedon Ranges Shire is located on Dja Dja Wurrung, Taungurung and 

Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Country. 

 

Page 48 

 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item PE.2 - Attachment 1 Page 54 

  

An assessment of the ecological values of 

Barrm Birrm, Riddells Creek 

Prepared for the Macedon Ranges Shire Council 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item PE.2 - Attachment 1 Page 55 

  

An ecological assessment of Barrm Birrm – August 2023 2 

An assessment o f the ecological values of Barrm Birrm, Riddells Creek 

Final report - Version 1.3, August 2023 

This report and associated field surveys are the work of Geordie Scott-Walker and Karl Just. The project 

was commissioned by the Macedon Ranges Shire Council and its findings are intended for use by this 

Council and should not be applied by other parties out of context on sites other than Barrm Birrm. 

Geordie Scott-Walker 

Ecological Consultant 

Castlemaine, Victoria 

geordiescottwalker@gmail.com 

Karl Just 

Ecological Consultant 

Castlemaine, Victoria 

karl@consultantecologist.com 

Cover image: Barrm Birrm and backdrop of Macedon Ranges, viewed from farmland to the south-east. 
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1. Introduction
Barrm Birrm is the ‘place of many yam roots’ that forms the foothills on the western outskirts of Riddells 

Creek in the Macedon Ranges of central Victoria1. The site is 118.6 hectares of privately owned land that 

includes 162 allotments ranging in size from 0.3 hectares  to 5.2 hectares. Macedon Ranges Shire Council

commissioned the preparation of this assessment to identify the current ecological values and threats at 

Barrm Birrm.  

In the 1970s, owners of 120 hectares (‘Shone and Sholtz’) used a subdivision plan from the 1890s to sell 

162 lots of land at Barrm Birrm. Council at that time (Romsey Council) informed owners they would be 

unable to develop the land due to highly erodible soils. This policy remains in order today and explains 

the lack of development. 

In accordance with the Macedon Ranges Biodiversity Strategy, Council is taking steps to ensure that 

Barrm Birrm is given appropriate long-term land protection. This report provides a rationale for 

protection of the land and recommends land management actions that will help to maintain and enhance 

biodiversity, control threats and reduce the current level of human disturbances. 

Land management objectives 
 Protect and enhance the ecological values and biodiversity of Barrm Birrm.

 Manage threatening processes and reduce inappropriate human disturbances; and

 Maintain the viability of indigenous plant and animal populations as well as the health and

condition of native vegetation and ecological communities.

1 The name Barrm Birrm was coined in 2005 by Riddells Creek Landcare in consultation with the Victorian 
Aboriginal Corporation for Languages (Riddells Creek Landcare 2022). 
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2. Study site

The study area includes all parts of Barrm Birrm as shown on figures 1 and 2. This includes all land east 

of Gap Road from the Riddells Creek Cemetery north to 359 Gap Road. The northern and western site 

perimeter follows the southern boundary of 359 Gap Road to the intersection with public land at 

Conglomerate Gully Flora Reserve (FR). The southern boundary aligns and links from the flora reserve to 

the Cemetery. Council-owned land is shown in Figure 2, to which the environmental works plan applies 

(section 7).  

Prince of Wales Terrace, Prince Alfred Street and Princess Street are three public road easements running 

through Barrm Birrm from north to south, which are not maintained for vehicle use. Numerous informal 

trails, several old 4WD tracks and unpermitted motorbike trails criss-cross the site, forming a network of 

walking tracks (visible on Open Street Map). 

Council currently owns 55 parcels that equate to 26.29 ha of land (approximately 22% of the site). 

Properties at Barrm Birrm are subject to the following zones and overlays under the Macedon Ranges 

Planning Scheme: 

 Schedule 1 to Clause 35.06 Rural Conservation Zone (RCZ1)

 Schedule 1 to the Significant Landscape Overlay (SLO1)

 Schedule 7 to the Restructure Overlay (RO7) – the “Shone/Shultz” Restructure Plan

 Schedule 9 to the Vegetation Protection Overlay (VPO9)

 Bushfire Management Overlay (BMO)

2.1. Catchment and landform

Located within the Port Phillip and Westernport Regional Catchment Management Area and the custodial 

lands of the Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation, Barrm Birrm forms the 

southern-most hill of the Robertson and Macedon ranges. The landscape comprises low, rolling hills of 

Palaeozoic geology that rise from east to west, ascending to the north-south ridge known locally as 

Lightwood Hill (620 m elevation). The slopes bounding Lightwood Hill form a series of gentle crests 

abridged by natural drainage lines. The site elevation drops to around 450 m along parts of the eastern 

boundary with Gap Road/Royal Parade.  

Figure 2 illustrates how most of the small allotments at Barrm Birrm (c. 0.4 ha) occupy the lower and 

middle slopes of the eastern fall, while the upper slopes and western fall are defined by larger parcels of 

land (>8 ha) (Figure 2). 
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Local water catchments 

Due to the size, landscape position and topography at Barrm Birrm the forested slopes function as 

headwaters to four sub-catchments to Riddells Creek (DELWP 2018a). Drainage lines on the western fall 

join an unnamed waterway that flows south through Conglomerate Gully Flora Reserve prior to the 

confluence with Riddells Creek, while the eastern slopes drain into Sandy Creek, Murnong Creek and 

several other sub-catchments. These waterways all converge with Riddells Creek, which flows into 

Jacksons Creek (Hume City Council) followed by Maribyrnong River, at Sydenham Park (Brimbank City 

Council) in Keilor North. The catchment terminates with flows entering Port Phillip Bay approximately 

50 km to the south, with the watercourse meandering through Macedon Ranges, Hume, Brimbank, 

Moonee Valley, Maribyrnong and Melbourne local government areas (LGA). 

Surface geology, soils, and climate 

Government surface geology mapping held by DELWP (2023a) suggests Barrm Birrm comprises fluvial 

conglomerates and metamorphosed sediments (hornfels rock) derived from three types of underlying 

parent materials (see also VandenBerg 2005 and Thomas 1932). Goat Rocks conglomerate (Silurian to 

Devonian) is concentrated on the western fall and ridge (Lightwood Hill) and is synonymous with areas 

described by Baxter et al. (1994) as ‘Kerrie Conglomerate’ (Photo 1). Riddell Sandstone (Middle 

Ordovician) is recorded from upper and middle slopes of the eastern fall and Riddell Sandstone (Upper 

Ordovician) on the lower slopes and southern parts of Barrm Birrm’s eastern fall. Goat Rocks 

conglomerate is a naturally restricted geological feature found on the eastern end of the Macedon Range, 

most recently described by VandenBerg (2009) as massive pebble to boulder conglomerate with a closed 

framework of sandstone, quartzite, chert and gritstone clasts derived from Ordovician rocks with minor 

vein quartz. 
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Photo 1. Conglomerate rock outcrop on the upper slopes of Barrm Birrm. 

Soil types broadly comprise well-drained stony, shallow earths (DELWP 2023) but are likely to have high 

spatial variability and could include a range of types with seasonal waterlogging likely to predominate in 

some areas. The soils range from shallow, uniform profiles to texture contrast (duplex) soils with brown, 

red, yellow or grey horizons, often with a sandy loam or clay loam topsoil and clay subsoil (Baxter et al. 

1994). Colluvial deposits of sand, silt and gravel are mapped from northern and eastern low slopes the 

drain into Sandy Creek (DELWP 2023a) and these are likely to be fertile with high moisture retention 

compared to shallow, rocky soils on exposed areas of Barrm Birrm’s upper slopes. Soil types and 

topography are strong determinants of Barrm Birrm’s plant communities. 

The region has a cool climate with a mean maximum temperature of 9.2°C in July at the Kilmore Gap 

weather station (BOM 2023a). The historical rainfall in this area is c. >700 mm per annum, where 

precipitation is lower than potential evaporation from November to March (Jeffery 1981).  

Aspects of the land capability and terrain of Barrm Birrm are described by Jeffrey (1981) and the site is 

broadly referrable to the Mt. Charlie Land System. 
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2.2. Historical land disturbance 

Detailed information on the land use history of Barrm Birrm is difficult to access and may be poorly 

documented. Milne & Best (2005) suggest that most of the land was used for timber harvesting for 

firewood and charcoal, similar with other parts of the Macedon Ranges, but with little soil disturbance 

resulting from gentle silvicultural practices. The lack of old trees is evidence of the history of timber 

extraction from the site. Milne & Best (2005) also suggest that little or no stock grazing has occurred, and 

that this land use history explains the current high quality of understorey vegetation as well as the lack of 

hollows in forest that is estimated to be regrowth of fifty years age or more.  

The spatial footprint of government fire history data held by DELWP (2022a) suggests that bushfires and 

prescribed burns have not happened at Barrm Birrm in the last fifty years. The footprint of the major 

Macedon Range bushfires of 1939, 1965 and 1983 are all within the vicinity of Barrm Birrm and it is 

possible that the mapped boundaries of these bushfires could be inaccurate. Residues of charcoal are 

present on trees at the site, demonstrating that fire events have occurred at some time in preceding 

decades, however the site is clearly long unburnt with a gradual accumulation of coarse woody debris 

evident on the forest floor in some parts of the site. It is not known what gold mining or fossicking history 

may have occurred at Barrm Birrm. 

2.3. Community interest 

Riddells Creek Landcare was formed in 2005 with the specific aim to protect Barrm Birrm. The Landcare 

group has put significant effort into raising local community awareness of the environmental values of the 

site. This was achieved initially through the production of the report A Statement of Significance for the 

Riddell Ranges Estate (Milne & Best 2005). Detailed study to identify and document the flora of Barrm 

Birrm led to the production of the field guide Macedon Ranges Flora: 1. A photographic guide to the flora of 

Barrm Birrm, Riddells Creek (Best and Francis 2008), and to records of flora being stored at NatureShare, an 

open access flora and fauna database created by Riddells Creek Landcare. The research led to the 

discovery and formal description of a new plant sub-species not previously known to science, the Hairy-

leaf Triggerplant Stylidium armeria subsp. pilosifolium (Best et al. 2009). Hairy-leaf Triggerplant is a narrow-

range endemic to the Macedon Ranges LGA that is also a threatened taxon currently listed as Critically 

Endangered under the Victorian Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988 (DELWP 2022b). 

Riddells Creek Landcare encourage the local community to explore and enjoy Barrm Birrm and to 

participate in community-led field activities to learn about the site’s biodiversity values and address land 

management issues. These activities include regular weeding working bees, rubbish removal and citizen 

science events. 
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2.1. Areas of Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Sensitivity 

Parts of Barrm Birrm are a recognised area of Aboriginal Heritage Sensitivity, including the lower eastern 

slopes near Sandy Creek and an envelope of land buffering a waterway outside the site (Murnong Creek).  

'Areas of cultural heritage sensitivity' are defined in the Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2018 and relate to 

landforms and soil types where Aboriginal places are more likely to be found. This includes land within 

200 metres of named waterways. This means a cultural heritage management plan may be required before 

any high impact activities are undertaken, particularly close to waterways but possibly in other areas too. 

The cultural significance of Barrm Birrm to Traditional Owner groups is currently not well known. 

However, an investigation into these values is being carried out concurrently with this ecological 

assessment by the Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation. 
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Figure 1. Landscape features surrounding Barrm Birrm. 
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3. Assessment methods 

This ecological assessment was completed over spring-summer 2022-2023. A combination of desktop 

assessment and field surveys were completed. Desktop analysis included research into past assessments of 

the land such as flora and fauna surveys. Data held in the Victorian Biodiversity Atlas (VBA), Atlas of 

Living Australia (ALA) and iNaturalist was reviewed. The Victorian Government’s publicly available 

spatial data was used to identify modelled Ecological Vegetation Classes (EVCs), fire history, terrain and 

surface geology.  

Field surveys provide an up-to-date assessment of the current ecological attributes of the site that includes 

samples of the flora, large trees, vegetation, and biodiversity threats. Field assessments were completed 

over 7 visits between August 2022 and February 2023 intended to document as much of the seasonally 

variable flora as possible. 

Maps in this report are based on georeferenced spatial data collected in the field using a GPS accurate to 

±5 m in average conditions. The preparation of vegetation (EVC) maps also involved Aerial Photography 

Interpretation using a Geographical Information System. 

Survey limitations 

The survey was completed in spring-summer during the final of three relatively wet years under La Niña 

climatic conditions, which brought above-average rainfall to the south east of Australia (BOM 2023b). 

Conditions were satisfactory for the purpose of identifying and documenting many plant species, however 

additional surveys conducted over multiple seasons would discover more species, which may include rare 

or threatened species, particularly orchids. It is noted that fauna, fungi, invertebrates, non-vascular plants 

and some vascular plants such as orchids are more cryptic than most of the flora and have not been 

subject to detailed surveys, so the overall diversity of the site is currently undocumented. 
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4. Biodiversity values 

4.1. Flora 

The Atlas of Living Australia has 1434 plant records from Barrm Birrm (ALA 2023a). This collection, after 

being vetted to bring older plant names into alignment with the taxonomy used by the VBA and VicFlora 

includes a total of 226 taxa of vascular plant taxa (Appendix 1).  

During the field survey a total of 247 vascular plant taxa were recorded (Appendix 2). Species include 188 

native taxa (indigenous to the study area), 50 exotics, 7 Victorian native species that are non-indigenous to 

the study area, and two species of uncertain origin, Cassinia sifton (Drooping Cassinia) and Juncus bufonius 

(Toad Rush) (VicFlora 2023). At least seven weed species listed under the Catchment and Land Protection Act 

1996 are currently present at Barrm Birrm (Table 1) (Agriculture Victoria 2023). 

Threatened species 

Four species recorded from the field survey are threatened species listed on the Victorian Flora and Fauna 

Guarantee Act 1988 (FFG Act) (Table 2). Two other species, Eucalyptus cephalocarpa (Mealy Stringybark) and 

E. aromaphloia (Scentbark), are listed on the IUCN Red List of Endangered Plants (Fensham et al. 2019ab, 

2020) (Table 2). Listings under the IUCN Red List of Endangered Plants have no statutory basis in 

Australia and are included here for information purposes. 

Two other threatened species, the closely related Pterostylis clivosa (Mountain Midget Greenhood) and P. 

rubescens (Mountain Red-tip Greenhood) were not recorded during the field survey but have been 

documented in past surveys (ALA 2023a). These species are cryptic ground orchids that may necessitate a 

targeted autumn survey to confirm their presence at Barrm Birrm. 

Regionally significant flora 

The following taxa are considered to have regionally significant populations at Barrm Birrm: Brachyscome 

diversifolia (Tall Daisy), Calochilus herbaceus (Leafless Beard-orchid), Chrysocephalum apiculatum ssp. congestum 

(Plains Everlasting), Chrysocephalum baxteri (White Everlasting), Chrysocephalum semipapposum ssp. lineare 

(Clustered Everlasting), Cryptandra amara s.s. (Bitter Cryptandra), Drosera macrantha ssp. macrantha 

(Climbing Sundew), Hypoxis hygrometrica var. villosisepala (Golden Weather-glass), Lepidosperma curtisiae 

(Little Sword-sedge), Leptoceras menziesii (Hare Orchid), Persoonia chmaepeuce (Dwarf Geebung), Sebaea ovata 

(Yellow Sebaea), Senecio odoratus (Scented Groundsel) and Viola cleistogamoides (Hidden Violet). 
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Regionally significant species include those considered to be naturally rare or that are known or suspected 

to have a significantly depleted or threatened local population. The determination is made at the scale of 

the Macedon Ranges LGA or the broader Central Victorian Uplands bioregion and is based on an 

assessment of the reporting frequency of each taxon in the VBA vetted against the field survey experience 

of the authors. 

Table 1. Declared noxious weeds recorded from Barrm Birrm. 

Listing status according to the Port Phillip and Westernport Region under the Catchment and Land Protection Act 1996. 

Species Occurrence notes 

Regionally controlled 

Genista linifolia 
Flax-leaf Broom 

A small infestation is present at two locations along the edge of Gap Road (). 

Nassella trichotoma 
Serrated Tussock 

A small infestation occurs on a disused road easement along the north-western site boundary 
about 200 m south-west of Gap Road.  

Rubus anglocandicans 
Common Blackberry 

Scattered widely throughout Barrm Birrm but usually recorded from damp areas on or near 
drainage lines. Locally common outside of Barrm Birrm. 

Ulex europaeus 
Gorse 

Scattered throughout the site in small patches near watercourses and damp sites, usually close 
to Gap Road. 

Watsonia meriana var. 
bulbillifera 
Bulbil Watsonia 

Restricted to disturbed areas and damp depressions on lower slopes near to Gap Road. 

Regionally restricted 

Allium triquetrum 
Angled Onion 

Occurs on disturbed areas near the southern boundary next to the Cemetery, near Gap Road. 

Cirsium vulgare 
Spear Thistle 

Occasional in damp or disturbed areas (e.g., along Gap Road). 

4.2. Plant communities 

The description of vegetation types in this report is based on the Victorian Ecological Vegetation Class 

(EVC) topology (DELWP 2023b) which classifies native vegetation using a range of attributes such as 

topography, soil, climate and geomorphology.  

Victorian Government EVC modelling at the 1:25,000 scale suggests that Barrm Birrm is characterised by 

two EVCs, Heathy Dry Forest and Grassy Dry Forest, with a minor extent of Riparian Woodland present 

along the far eastern boundary (DELWP 2018b). The modelling also suggests that four other EVC’s are 

likely to be found within a kilometre, being Grassy Forest, Herb-rich Foothill Forest, Lowland Forest and 

Valley Grassy Forest.  

The field survey identified and mapped the extent of four EVCs present at Barrm Birrm (Table 3, Figure 

3, Photographs 1–4). A small dam is also present in the northern part of Barrm Birrm that is not 

referrable an EVC, comprising an open body of water fringed by Leptospermum continentale (Prickly Tea-

tree) and semi-aquatic grasses and herbs. 
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Table 2. Threatened flora species recorded at Barrm Birrm in spring-summer 2022-23. 

Species Lifeform Listed status1 Distribution, abundance, and taxonomic notes 

Acacia leprosa 
var. uninervia 
Large-leaf 
Cinnamon 
Wattle 

Upright shrub 
to 5 m tall 

FFG: 
Endangered 

Scattered across lower slopes on the eastern side of Lightwood Hill. The 
Barrm Birrm population comprises an estimated c. 50–250 mature 
individuals. 

Acacia leprosa var. uninervia is locally common in forests north-east of 
Melbourne and has also been recorded from north-east Victoria at Mount 
Buffalo and in NSW. The hills around Riddells Creek are part of the 
western range limit of this variant. 

Acacia 
nanodealbata 
Dwarf Silver 
Wattle 

Upright shrub 
to 6 m tall 

FFG: 
Vulnerable 

Scattered throughout dry to damp forests of mid- to upper east-facing 
slopes. The Barrm Birrm population includes an estimated c. 50–250 
mature individuals. 

Acacia nanodealbata has a disjunct distribution in forests of the Otway Range, 
Creswick, Glenlyon, Macedon Ranges and Healesville-Warburton. Voucher 
records suggest it also occurs in the ACT. The population at Barrm Birrm 
is notable for its atypical occurrence on relatively dry, skeletal soils. 

Eucalyptus 
aromaphloia 
Scentbark 

Tree to 18 m 
tall 

IUCN: 
Vulnerable 

Common and widespread, but most abundant in dry to damp forests of 
lower and middle east-facing slopes. The Barrm Birrm population includes 
as estimated c. 250–1000 mature individuals. 

Eucalyptus aromaphloia is endemic to Victoria, recorded from a broad 
distributional belt through central Victoria from Gariwerd (Grampians NP), 
south-west to the Macedon Range with a coastal outlier in the Otway Range 
(e.g., at Anglesea). The hills around Riddells Creek form the eastern range 
limit for the species. 

Eucalyptus 
cephalocarpa 
Mealy 
Stringybark 

Tree to 20 m 
tall 

IUCN: 
Vulnerable 

Widespread; most abundant on infertile, rocky soils but much less 
abundant than other canopy species and sparse or absent from areas of 
Herb-rich Foothill Forest (EVC 23). The Barrm Birrm population includes 
an estimated c. 100–500 mature individuals. 

Eucalyptus cephalocarpa is a predominantly southern Victorian species 
(Mornington Peninsula east to Mallacoota, also found in far southeast 
NSW) but inland populations have been recorded as far north as 
Castlemaine (central Victoria) and Kinglake (Central Highlands). The hills 
around Riddells Creek are part of the north-western range limit of the 
species.  

Senecio 
microbasis 
Slender 
Fireweed 

Erect herb to 
0.6 m tall 

FFG: 
Vulnerable 

Sparsely recorded from dry forests on shallow, rocky soils on east-facing 
slopes and near rock outcrops on or near Lightwood Ridge and the western 
slopes. This species is can easily be mistaken with the more common and 
widespread Senecio phelleus (Stony Fireweed) and its distribution at Barrm 
Birrm is currently poorly documented, the population size estimated at c. 
50–250 mature individuals. 

In Victoria Senecio microbasis is known from dry woodlands and forests of 
rocky sites concentrated around parts of north-east Victoria, the Victorian 
Alps and East Gippsland. Records from central Victoria are disjunct and 
include vouchered specimens from Barrm Birrm, Mount Buangor State 
Park and Warrandyte State Park. 

Stylidium 
armeria subsp. 
pilosifolium 
Hairy-leaf 
Triggerplant 

Low herb with 
an erect 
flowering 
stem to 0.2 m 
tall 

FFG: 
Critically 
Endangered 

Recorded from drier forests where it occupies areas of shallow, rocky soils 
of Grassy Dry Forest and Heathy Dry Forest. At Barrm Birrm this taxon 
may be sympatric with the common and widespread S. armeria subsp. 
armeria, which typically occupies more fertile sites. Within areas of suitable 
habitat, the subspecies is locally abundant and the Barrm Birrm population 
is likely to exceed 1000 mature individuals. 

Stylidium armeria subsp. pilosifolium was described by Best et al. in 2009 
based on a type specimen collected from Barrm Birrm. The subspecies is 
endemic to the Macedon Ranges LGA where it has only been vouchered 
from Barrm Birrm, however VBA records suggest additional populations 
occur on public land at Lerderderg State Park, Mount Charlie Flora 
Reserve, Mount Tennerrife and Conglomerate Gully Flora Reserve. 

1 FFG – Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988; IUCN – International Union for Conservation of Nature Red List of threatened 
species (note this is a non-statutory advisory list included for information purposes only). 
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Photo 2. Heathy Dry Forest characterised by low Eucalypt canopy with 
abundant grass-trees and a sparse, grassy ground layer. 

 

Photo 3. Grassy Dry Forest characterised by a Eucalypt canopy, scattered 
understorey shrubs and a dense ground layer of Rytidosperma pallidum. 

 

Photo 4. Herb-rich Foothill Forest characterised by relatively tall Messmate 
Stringybark canopy with herb-rich ground layer with abundant Bracken. 

 

Photo 5. Grassy Forest characterised by Eucalypt canopy with scattered shrubs and 
herb-rich grassy ground layer. 
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Table 3. The distribution and characteristics of Ecological Vegetation Classes at Barrm Birrm. 

BCS – Bioregional Conservation Significance in the Central Victorian Uplands bioregion (DSE 2013). LC – Least Concern, D – Depleted, VU – Vulnerable. 
† – Percentage extent is calculated using the full area of Barrm Birrm (119.52 ha) noting the areas of each EVC include road easements, tracks and trails that are commonly unvegetated. 

EVC BCS Extent † Distribution and habitat General description and 

ecological features 

Canopy dominants and 

characteristic flora 

Qualitative condition and management issues 

ha %  

Heathy 

Dry 

Forest 

(EVC 20) 

LC 13 11 Occupies shallow, stony earths 

on nutrient poor substates of 

middle to upper slopes, 

becoming prominent on steep 

upper slopes and more 

widespread on 

topographically exposed 

aspects. 

A low, open eucalypt forest 

sometimes stunted to 5 m tall with 

a sparsely vegetated understorey 

often characterised by narrow-

leaved, prickly shrubs, and tussock 

grasses with a low cover of herbs 

compared to other local EVCs. 

Austral Grass-tree (Xanthorrhoea 

australis) and low shrubs are 

distinctive features. 

Eucalyptus dives, E. 

cephalocarpa, E. aromaphloia 

Acacia gunnii, Cryptandra 

amara, Gompholobium huegelii, 

Monotoca scoparia, Podolobium 

procumbens, Rytidosperma 

pallidum, Xanthorrhoea australis. 

Excellent condition. Intact canopy and understory 

with exceptionally low weed cover. Low to moderate 

abundance of coarse woody debris and few large logs 

are present. Limited tree hollows are likely to be 

present, although any small hollows that are present 

have significant habitat value. Old cross-terrain 

vehicle tracks readily erode after heavy rain events, 

and this causes downslope vegetation disturbance. 

Grassy 

Dry 

Forest 

(EVC 22) 

D 62 52 Common and widespread 

across the eastern slopes 

including moderate to steep 

slopes as well as drier parts of 

the lower slopes where it 

intergrades with Grassy Forest 

across gently undulating 

terrain. 

Eucalypt forest up to c. 20 m tall 

with an open understorey of 

occasional shrubs and a dense 

ground layer dominated by 

drought-tolerant grasses and 

herbs. The EVC is naturally 

species-rich and can have large 

populations of orchids. Several 

plant species are restricted to areas 

in or near damp gullies within this 

EVC, including Allocasuarina 

littoralis, Brachyscome diversifolia, 

Chrysocephalum apiculatum, Craspedia 

variabilis, Grevillea alpina, Tetratheca 

ciliata and Persoonia chamaepeuce. 

Eucalyptus obliqua, E. 

aromaphloia, Acrotriche serrulata, 

Comesperma volubile, Coronidium 

scorpioides, Daviesia leptophylla, 

Dillwynia cinerascens, Grevillea 

alpina, Hovea heterophylla, 

Leptorhynchos tenuifolius, 

Lomandra filiformis subsp. 

filiformis, Microseris walteri, 

Opercularia varia, Ozothamnus 

obcordatus, Pimelea linifolia, 

Rhytidosporum procumbens. 

Rytidosperma pallidum, Stylidium 

armeria subsp. pilosum, Senecio 

phelleus. 

Excellent condition. Intact canopy and high-quality 

understorey with low herbaceous weed cover. Shrub 

and climber weeds are sparsely scattered throughout 

the EVC, the most significant weed threats posed by 

garden plants dispersed by wildlife, including non-

indigenous native shrubs. The quantity of coarse 

woody debris is low overall, although parts of this 

EVC have a high concentration of logs and debris 

that provide high habitat value. Limited tree hollows 

are likely to be present. Old cross-terrain vehicle 

tracks readily erode after heavy rain events, and this 

causes downslope vegetation disturbance. Trails and 

gullies on the middle to lower slopes show active 

gully erosion (and may also experience tunnel 

erosion, which is not as easy to detect). 
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EVC BCS Extent † Distribution and habitat General description and 

ecological features 

Canopy dominants and 

characteristic flora 

Qualitative condition and management issues 

ha %  

Herb-rich 

Foothill 

Forest 

(EVC 23) 

D 17 14 Occurs on middle to upper 

slopes on the eastern side of 

Lightwood Ridge where 

restricted to sheltered, 

relatively fertile well-drained 

soils on south-facing aspects 

and along the upper reaches 

of local watercourses. HRFF 

also envelopes part of 

Lightwood Ridge along a 

minor saddle and both upper 

and lower slopes on the 

western face. 

Mature eucalypt canopy to c. 25 m 

tall with a small tree/large shrub 

layer and high cover and diversity 

of herbaceous ground flora 

including grasses, herbs and 

ground orchids. This EVC 

supports the tallest trees at Barrm 

Birrm owing to the sheltered 

landscape position. 

Eucalyptus obliqua, Acaena 

novae-zelandiae, Arthropodium 

milleflorum, Asperula scoparia, 

Cassinia aculeata, Chiloglottis 

valida, Dianella revoluta, 

Dichondra repens, Geranium sp. 

2, Hydrocotyle laxiflora, 

Lagenophora sublyrata, 

Lomandra longifolia subsp. 

exilis, Olearia lirata, Poa 

labillardierei, Pteridium 

esculentum, Senecio odoratus, 

Senecio prenanthoides, Stellaria 

pungens, Veronica calycina. 

Exceptionally good condition. Intact canopy and 

understorey with a low to moderate cover of 

herbaceous weeds (notably Anthoxanthum odoratum). 

Coarse woody debris is well developed in many areas 

(associated with recent storm damage to canopy 

trees). Motorbike trails have caused disturbance and 

gully vehicle/track crossings have resulted in 

vegetation disturbance and affected local hydrology. 

Localised canopy dieback to eucalypts close to 

waterway crossings is inferred as a local hydrological 

impact. 

Grassy 

Forest 

(EVC 128) 

VU 28 23 Occupies the low slopes along 

Gap Road at around 440–470 

m elevation on relatively deep, 

fertile colluvial soils. This EVC 

also continues shortly upslope 

from the core patches as a 

narrow band along drainage 

lines (abridged by undulating, 

drier slopes characterised by 

GDF).  

Forest up to c. 20 m tall with 

diverse canopy species 

composition, and a species-rich 

herbaceous understorey 

characterised by lilies, grasses and 

a diversity of broadleaf herbs. 

Drainage lines have a high cover of 

understorey shrubs and some 

locally restricted species (e.g., 

Gahnia radula). 

 

Eucalyptus obliqua, E. radiata 

subsp. radiata, E. aromaphloia, 

Acacia mearnsii, Austrostipa 

pubinodis, Billardiera mutabilis, 

Brunonia australis, Bursaria 

spinosa, Exocarpos cupressiformis, 

Gahnia radula, Microlaena 

stipoides, Stylidium armeria 

subsp. armeria, Thysanotus 

tuberosus, Wurmbea dioica. 

Excellent condition. A species-rich, high-quality 

example of Grassy Forest with a young canopy of 

mixed eucalypts. Ground-layer diversity is 

remarkably high with abundant herbaceous species. 

Coarse woody debris is low. Localised eucalypt 

dieback has allowed understorey shrubs and small 

trees to become abundant, including Cassinia 

longifolia, the semi-parasitic Exocarpos cupressiformis, 

and near damp sites by Acacia mearnsii. 
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4.3. Fauna 

The Atlas of Living Australia has 293 fauna records from Barrm Birrm (ALA 2023b). This collection, after 

being vetted to bring taxon names into alignment with the current taxonomy used by the VBA, includes a 

total of 94 species including two amphibians, 32 birds, 51 invertebrates, 7 mammals, 1 mollusc and 1 

reptile (Appendix 3). In addition, Council recorded thirty-nine bird species on 23 September 2022 

(lodged in Birdata).  

Historic and recent observations indicate that Barrm Birrm supports habitat for many species of iconic 

Australian fauna. Examples of such species include Australian Magpie (Gymnorhina tibicen), Eastern Banjo 

Frog (Limnodynastes dumerilii), Eastern Grey Kangaroo (Macropus giganteus), Koala (Phascolarctos cinereus), 

Kookaburra (Dacelo novaeguineae), Red Wattlebird (Anthochaera carunculata), Short-beaked Echidna 

(Tachyglossus aculeatus), Southern Blue-tongue (Tiliqua nigrolutea), Krefft’s Glider (Petaurus notatus), 

Sulphur-crested Cockatoo (Cacatua galerita), Swamp Wallaby (Wallabia bicolor) and Wedge-tailed Eagle 

(Aquila audax) (ALA 2023b). 

Threatened species that are known or likely to occur at Barrm Birrm are listed in Table 4. Further to this 

list, the Brown-headed Honeyeater (Melithreptus brevirostris) was recorded on site in the September 

assessment, which is a component species of the FFG Act-listed Victorian temperate-woodland bird community, 

noting that dry forests are excluded from the definition of the threatened community (SAC 2000).  

Table 4. Threatened fauna species with potential to occur at Barrm Birrm. 

Species Listed status Occupancy notes 

Callocephalon fimbriatum 

Gang-gang Cockatoo 

EPBC: 
Vulnerable 

Recorded foraging in eucalypt canopy at Barrm Birrm on 23 September 
2022 (observations lodged with Birdata). See text below for more detail on 
this taxon.  

Ninox strenua  

Powerful Owl 

FFG: 
Vulnerable 

Historically recorded on site in the ALA. Known from forested sites 
throughout the Macedon Range. Powerful owl are likely to hunt suitable 
prey at Barrm Birrm and may roost in tall trees in sheltered sites but 
requires hollows for nesting. 

Phascogale tapoatafa  

Brush-tailed Phascogale 

FFG: 
Vulnerable 

Wide-ranging species known from dry forests and woodlands throughout 
central Victoria. Requires large patches of forest to sustain viable 
populations. 

Pseudophryne bibronii 

Bibron’s Toadlet/Brown Toadlet 

FFG: 
Endangered 

Known from a wide range of habitats including dry forests, where 
individuals occupy damp sites under leaf litter and logs.  
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Gang-gang Cockatoo (Callocephalon fimbriatum) 

Recently listed as Endangered on the Commonwealth Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Act 1999 

(EPBC Act) in March 2022, the Gang-gang Cockatoo is endemic to south-east Australia. The species’ range 

includes parts of New South Wales and Australian Capital Territory (ACT), Victoria and South Australia 

and is the faunal emblem of the ACT (DAWE 2022a). Gang-gang Cockatoos are best adapted to cool 

climates where they occupy temperate eucalypt forests and woodlands and are most common at higher 

elevations and more southern latitudes. These cockatoos predominantly feed in eucalypt canopies, often 

in groups of up to 25 individuals, and form monogamous breeding pairs that prefer old growth forests 

and woodlands for nesting, loafing and roosting.  

The Conservation Advice for Gang-gang Cockatoo identifies a range of habitats and associated features 

that represent habitat critical to the survival of Gang-gang Cockatoos (DAWE 2022a). Critical habitat 

includes all foraging habitat during the breeding and non-breeding season, which includes the open 

forests of Barrm Birrm where winter canopy foraging is now known to occur. Stands of suitable hollow-

bearing trees with known or potential Gang-gang Cockatoo hollow chambers (20 cm in floor diameter, 

50.5 cm deep and around 7.5 m above the ground) (Davey & Mulvaney 2020, Davey et al. 2021) are also 

part of this definition, including stands that are likely to become hollow-bearing in future years if they are 

within or adjacent to known breeding areas (DAWE 2022a).  

Further assessment is required to ascertain the quality of potential Gang-gang Cockatoo breeding habitat 

at Barrm Birrm.  

4.4. Habitat and landscape values 

Barrm Birrm is part of an extensive, contiguous and relatively intact forested landscape that spans the 

foothills and more elevated slopes of the Macedon Range and provides a regional link between habitats of 

the plains to upland areas of the Macedon and Lerderderg ranges. Key public land reserves in this matrix 

include Conglomerate Gully FR, Mount Charlie FR, T Hill FR and Mount Teneriffe, which are linked to 

the Macedon Regional Park and Lerderderg State Park via forested areas of private land. 

The varied terrain and surface geology of Barrm Birrm gives rise to a diversity of habitats and provides an 

example of the natural ecological transitions to be found across foothills of the southern Macedon Range. 

Habitat diversity is exemplified by the presence of four EVCs and associated intra-EVC habitats found in 

dry sclerophyll forests within riparian sites, on areas of rocky outcrops and on embankments and road 

cuttings that support locally unique plant assemblages, including flora species uniquely adapted to survive 

on the soils and climate of this site and a rich assemblage of terrestrial orchid species. 
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The diversity and exceptional quality of vegetation at Barrm Birrm supports suitable habitat for many 

plant species including significant habitat for four Victorian FFG Act listed taxa and two species listed on 

the advisory IUCN Red List. The EPBC-listed Gang-gang Cockatoo also uses the site although the extent 

and overall value of the habitat requires further investigation. Barrm Birrm provides critical habitat for a 

large population of the Critically Endangered Hairy-leaf Triggerplant. 

Mesic gullies in dry forest landscapes are important habitat resources for mammals and avifauna, during 

and outside of drought periods to enable survival and breeding. These important habitat qualities are 

associated with the productive conditions supported by riparian habitats (Mac Nally et al. 2000, Soderquist 

and Mac Nally 2000). Barrm Birrm supports numerous riparian corridors that may function as potential 

faunal refuges during drought and following bushfires.  

Upper catchment values 

Lightwood Hill is bounded by steep, rocky crests that may be important sites for groundwater recharge 

(Baxter et al. 1994). These slopes form the upper watershed for a series of drainage lines that feed into 

Riddells Creek, Jacksons Creek and Maribyrnong River and play an important role in catchment 

processes including water and soil filtration. The upper catchment condition plays a significant role in 

regulating hydrological processes that affect downstream communities and water users, highlighting the 

importance of protecting the forested upper catchment in an undisturbed state. 
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5. Biodiversity threats and land disturbances 

The majority of Barrm Birrm is unfenced privately owned properties and its land tenure insecure and 

future land uses uncertain. Any land development proposals that require vegetation removal are likely to 

have significant negative impacts on biodiversity. 

Land use entitlements 

Timber removal, rubbish dumping, and bush camping are considered illegal when they are conducted 

without the written consent by the land owners on whose property/ies they occur. Private landholders 

therefore have legal entitlements to undertake various activities including native vegetation removal to 

obtain reasonable amounts of wood for personal use on individual properties, in accordance with the 

exemptions outlined in Section 52.17 of the Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme. However, in most cases 

where vegetation disturbance or clearing occurs, for example to establish a camping area, or other 

activities causing soil compaction, vegetation removal and formation of new tracks, these activities almost 

always trigger the requirement for a planning permit and individual landholders are encouraged to 

contact Council to discuss proposals for vegetation removal on privately owned allotments at Barrm 

Birrm. 

5.1. Timber removal and dumping of rubbish 

Timber removal diminishes an important habitat resource for wildlife, and often happens during firewood 

collection or when land managers try to ‘tidy up.’ Logs and fallen woody debris have immense ecological 

value as food and shelter for many species of invertebrates, amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals 

(Lindenmayer et al. 2002). Historical firewood harvesting and tree clearing at Barrm Birrm is likely to 

have been the most significant post-colonial land use disturbance due to the impacts of removing coarse 

woody debris, large old trees and tree hollows, the latter being critical for arboreal fauna.  

Illegal rubbish dumping and any clearing associated with bush camping causes soil and vegetation 

disturbance, soil compaction and has the potential to introduce new pests and diseases (see sections 5.3 to 

5.5 below). 
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5.2. Track construction, erosion and altered hydrology 

Historical road construction for private land access, recreational 4WD track construction, motorbike and 

mountain biking trail disturbances cause significant soil and vegetation loss and promote erosion. Walking 

trails and motorbike tracks that run up and down the slopes of Barrm Birrm have the effect of 

concentrating water flows over bare ground that become channelised and this leads to soil erosion causing 

downslope sedimentation. Altered hydrology along several of the Barrm Birrm watercourses may be part 

of the reason that canopy dieback has occurred on eucalypts near roads that cross these sites, because of 

excessive waterlogging.  

 

Photo 6. Soil slumping clear along the bank of a gully. 

 

Photo 7. Gully erosion and bank slumping that runs along a 
walking trail. 

 

Photo 8. Rocks and soil deposited from an old 4WD track 
running upslope of the road in view in this image. 

 

Photo 9. Downslope view of the location in photo 8, showing 
rocks and soil burying native vegetation. 
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Photo 10. An example of timber removal for firewood, 
resulting in a loss of coarse woody debris. 

 

Photo 11. A bushland motorbike trail that has resulted in 
vegetation disturbance and erosion. 

5.3. Weeds 

Exotic and non-indigenous native species present at Barrm Birrm comprises species that are naturalised 

in Victorian ecosystems, and function as environmental weeds that displace native species and alter 

wildlife habitats. The potential negative effects of weeds to biodiversity varies by weed species, but at 

Barrm Birrm perennial species pose the greater threat compared to annual (short-lived) weeds. Of the 

range of weeds recorded on site, the most invasive group of plants is woody weeds that include non-

indigenous Australian shrub species. If Barrm Birrm is affected at any time by a bushfire, weed 

management issues are likely to worsen because of fire-mediated weed invasion processes. 

Specific environmental weed management priorities for Barrm Birrm are listed in Appendix 4. 

5.4. Pest animals 

Pest animals are likely to be common and widespread in the local landscape around Barrm Birrm and 

local pest species will be present at Barrm Birrm at times. Observations of pest activity were limited in the 

field survey to occasional deer activity and exotic birds, noting that the presence of pest species may not be 

obvious or easy to detect without a targeted survey. Specific pest animal impacts vary by species and local 

context, and the following list indicates pests that pose a considerable risk to the environmental values 

present at Barrm Birrm through a range of competitive effects.  

Mammals:  Black Rat (Rattus rattus), Cat (Felis catus), House Mouse (Mus musculus), Fox (Vulpes vulpes), 

Sambar (Cervus unicolor). 

Birds:  Common Starling (Sturnus vulgaris), Eurasian Blackbird (Turdus merula). 

Invertebrates:  Black Portuguese Millipede (Ommatoiulus moreleti), European Honey Bee (Apis mellifera), 

European Wasp (Vespula germanica), Redlegged Earth Mite (Halotydeus destructor). 
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5.5. Phytophthora dieback 

Phytophthora cinnamomi is an introduced soil-borne pathogen that causes decline in susceptible native plant 

species. ‘Dieback caused by the root-rot fungus Phytophthora cinnamomi’ is listed as a key threatening 

process under the Commonwealth EPBC Act (DoEE 2018) and the disease is present in some of Council’s 

bushland reserves (MRSC 2008). The interaction of P. cinnamomi with other plant stressors including fires, 

drought and waterlogging can worsen disease impacts (DoEE 2018). 

Distinctive spotting characteristics of P. cinnamomi presence were observed from several areas of Barrm 

Birrm during the field survey. Chlorotic foliage of Xanthorrhoea australis (Austral Grass-tree), a highly 

susceptible species, and high densities of decayed materials of this plant species were found spread 

throughout a small patch of Heathy Dry Forest east of Prince Alfred Street (Figure 4). To confirm the 

presence of the disease at Barrm Birrm the disease must be isolated in soil samples collected from the site. 

Human activities have the potential to spread P. cinnamomi. Some of the main ways the disease can be 

spread include construction and maintenance of roads, trails and firebreaks, management of drainage, 

movement of machinery, equipment and vehicles between sites and along roads and tracks for 

management of pest animals and plants, recreational land uses including bush walking, bike, motorbike 

and horse riding, 4WD use, camping, planting out propagated materials, and emergency service works 

such as fire management (DSE 2008).  

 

Photo 12. Dead Xanthorrhoea australis among living specimens, 
indicative of Phytophthora cinnamomi effects. 

 

Photo 13. Chlorosis of Xanthorrhoea australis in the foreground 
is symptomatic of the presence of Phytophthora cinnamomi. 
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5.6. Fire regimes that cause declines in biodiversity 

Fire regimes that cause declines in biodiversity is a listed key threatening process (KTP) under the 

Commonwealth EPBC Act. The fire KTP includes the full range of fire-related ecological processes that 

directly or indirectly cause persistent declines in the distribution, abundance, genetic diversity or function 

of a species or ecological community (DAWE 2022b). What constitutes a suitable fire regime at Barrm 

Birrm and within the surrounding forested landscape is not known and requires detailed analysis to 

determine. Such a regime will depend on the ecological requirements and fire-sensitivity of resident 

species as well as the specific goals of land and biodiversity management. With a projected increase in the 

number of fire danger days and fire weather for south-east Australia, the threat of fire-related declines in 

biodiversity will increase. For threatened flora and fauna, fire threats are likely to intensify due to threat 

interactions, for example bushfires that are preceded with or followed by droughts and the effects of 

increased post-fire herbivory, predation and disease spread (DAWE 2022b).  

Barrm Birrm currently supports exceptional quality vegetation in a long-unburnt state. Many of the 

resident flora species are long-lived and can persist and successfully recruit in the absence of fire. This 

feature is evidenced by the diverse composition of the site in the absence of fire for many decades, making 

Barrm Birrm an unburnt refuge for flora and fauna. Most of the site has a low fuel hazard risk due to the 

intact grassy ground layer, sparse shrub cover across most of the site and patchily distributed coarse 

woody debris, and this condition will be stable in the absence of major disturbances such as bushfires, 

planned burns, timber extraction or other vegetation clearing. For example, the principal areas where 

fuel loads are highest follow the edge of Gap Road, where the greatest edge effects occur, and recent 

canopy disturbances/dieback have promoted shrubby understories characterised by Cassinia longifolia 

(Shiny Cassinia) and non-indigenous woody weeds (predominantly Acacia species).  

Planned burns in forested landscapes stimulates the growth of understorey shrubs that attain high fuel 

loads within several years of fire. Such disturbances promote rather than reduce elevated fuels in forested 

landscapes, increasing the risk of high severity bushfire effects and maintaining the need for regular fuel 

reduction burns. For example, Dixon et al. (2018) demonstrated that probabilities of high, very high or 

extreme fuel hazards was highest 0.5 to 12 years post-fire and lowest in long unburnt forests in their study 

of 81 eucalypt forest and woodland sites in Namadgi National Park. Spatial modelling of the 2019-20 

bushfire severity for eastern Australia can be used to identify many sites where recent pre-fire disturbances 

such as logging are associated with high fire severity, which is likely due to the combined effects of 

extreme fire weather and elevated post-logging forest fuels, which are not dissimilar to shrubby regrowth 

following planned burns. Fuel reduction burns also increase the risk of weed invasion, disease spread, tree 

dieback and require fire breaks. 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item PE.2 - Attachment 1 Page 82 

  

An ecological assessment of Barrm Birrm – August 2023  29 

Planned burns will only be appropriate at Barrm Birrm when conducted under strict guidance for 

ecological and cultural heritage reasons and such activities must be supported by detailed pre- and post-

fire monitoring to ensure the effects of individual fires and cumulative fire effects over time are 

documented and evaluated. The restricted shrubby patches can be reduced through manual thinning 

combined with re-establishment of a healthy eucalypt canopy. 

5.7. Climate change 

Victoria has undergone a temperature increase of 1.2°C since 1910, a decrease in average rainfall and a 

significant increase in fire danger in spring (DELWP 2019). Under high emissions, it is projected that 

Victoria will undergo an increase in the average annual temperature by up to 2.4°C, a decline in cool 

season rainfall, experience more intense downpours, double the number of hot days and experience 

longer fire seasons with up to double the number of high fire danger days (DELWP 2019). Climate 

change is likely to cause changes to regional flora and fauna species distributions, increase risk exposure 

to individual populations from climate-induced disturbances, and may cause population declines through 

the effects of reduced habitat suitability. At Barrm Birrm, declines in habitat quality and habitat suitability 

may be important for locally rare or threatened species, and climate disturbances may lead to increased 

erosion caused by heavy rain events and an increase in disease spread. 
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6. Land protection 

6.1. Statement of significance 

Barrm Birrm is a natural bushland area of approximately 119 hectares that has significant scientific, social 

and catchment values. Set in the foothills of the Macedon Ranges, Barrm Birrm supports at least four 

species of Victorian-listed threatened flora, habitat for the EPBC-listed, threatened Gang-Gang Cockatoo, 

supports extensive areas of four foothill forest communities, including approximately 27 hectares of a high 

quality remnant of the Victorian vulnerable EVC Grassy Forest (EVC 128) and extensive areas of 

relatively intact species-rich forest communities.  

The size of Barrm Birrm, its degree of intactness, connectivity with other areas of forested public and 

private land and its importance to regional climate adaptation provide a strong basis for its acquisition by 

Council to establish a permanently protected nature conservation reserve.  

Hosting a significant, large population of the Critically Endangered Macedon Ranges endemic, Hairy-leaf 

Triggerplant and the type locality for the taxon, Barrm Birrm is one of few areas that provides very high-

quality habitat for the species and an opportunity to provide long-term population management to ensure 

in situ conservation. The diversity of orchid species and likely exceptionally large orchid populations 

contributes to the scientific, social and antiquity values of Barrm Birrm. 

The Riddells Creek community puts significant value on Barrm Birrm for its social and environmental 

aesthetic and its ecological values. This is demonstrated by the Riddells Creek Landcare group, the 

formation of which was due to an interest by community members in the protection of Barrm Birrm from 

inappropriate development. The site therefore has rich social connections for local community members. 

The site may also have high cultural value to traditional custodians of the land, the Wurundjeri people, 

however this is to be investigated further through engagement of the Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung 

Aboriginal Corporation to undertake cultural heritage assessments of the land.  

6.2. Recommended management actions 

The actions outlined in Table 5 are applicable to all areas of Barrm Birrm except where these are only 

relevant to Council owned land. As new allotments come into Council ownership the parcels should be 

assessed to identify any specific management needs based on the site condition at the time of acquisition. 

In the absence of active management of the privately owned allotments some land management issues, 

such as weed invasion may worsen over time. Wherever possible, private landholders are encouraged to 

adopt any actions outlined in this section that may serve to improve the condition of their native 

vegetation and biodiversity. 
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Planned burns 

Planned burning is inappropriate at Barrm Birrm and no recommendations are made for burning any 

part of the site for the life of this management plan (see section 5.6). The only exceptions may be small-

scale ecological burns which may be beneficial for the purpose of weed management or as cultural burns 

conducted under guidance from Traditional Custodians. 

If ecological burning is undertaken now or in to the future, as part of this action the allocation of budget 

to control pest weeds and animals post burn is critical. 

Table 5. Recommended site protection and land management actions at Barrm Birrm. 

Priority levels are: High – begin action within 1-2 years, Medium – 2-5 years, Low – 5-10 years. 

Item Action Priority level 

Permanent land and biodiversity protection 

A1 Investigate planning controls on private land to protect the ecological values of the site. Medium 

A2 Covenant to protect all amalgamated allotments through on-title security, such as a Section 173 
agreement under the Planning and Environment Act 1987 or an agreement with Trust for Nature to 
register a covenant under the Nature Trust Conservation Act 1972, or enter an agreement with the 
Secretary to the Victorian Department of Energy, Environment and Climate Action (DEECA) under 
section 69 of the Conservation, Forests and Lands Act 1987.  

Low 

A3 Develop a management plan for consolidated allotments that considers the range of land management 
issues, land uses and biodiversity values at the time. The plan should consider the full range of threats 
to biodiversity and fire management for biodiversity conservation. 

Low 

Pest plant and animal and disease management 

B1 Plan for and secure multi-year funding for a staged weed control program across all Council owned 
properties at Barrm Birrm. Note the need to source additional funds to manage new properties that 
come into Council ownership over time. 

High 

B2 Implement weed control on Council owned land and on public road easements as set out in the 
environmental works plan (section 7) and with reference to the priority weeds listed in Appendix 4. 

Where feasible, undertake a survey of the current Council owned land boundaries so land 
management actions can be undertaken by contractors on Council properties. Commence this action 
on larger blocks. 

High 

B3 Encourage private land holders to conduct weed control to prevent weed spread, based on the target 
weeds listed in Appendix 4. Council should supply practical advice to landholders about suitable 
methods for weed control. 

Medium 

B4 Investigate the suspected occurrence of Phytophthora cinnamomi (PC) by commissioning soil core testing 
by a suitably qualified and experienced research laboratory. Wherever possible include private land 
holdings in any assessments. If PC is detected, then investigate disease management options and 
develop a disease management strategy for the site that ensures hygiene and containment are priority 
actions. 

High 

B5 Undertake a literature review to investigate the risk posed by Phytophthora cinnamomi to locally 
indigenous plants and vegetation communities; identify any knowledge gaps to overcome through 
research. 

Medium 

B6 Raise awareness about the weed threat posed by non-indigenous native species with local community 
and nurseries, for example through the production of an information pamphlet and articles in local 
media. 

Medium 

B7 Follow any land disturbances, investigate the need for targeted revegetation on Council properties. 
The aim of revegetation is to restore the original Ecological Vegetation Class in the area. Refer to 
Appendix 5 for basic revegetation guidelines. 

Low 

B8 Document the occurrence of pest animals through targeted surveys and investigate the level of threat 
posed. This action should be conducted in collaboration with interested members of the community, 
ideally through the auspices of Riddells Creek Landcare. 

Medium 
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Item Action Priority level 

B9 Minimise the introduction of new pests and diseases by setting up appropriate hygiene procedures for 
Council and contractors. Raise awareness of pest and disease issues by sharing educational materials 
such as the ‘Arrive Clean, Leave Clean’ guidelines (DoE 2015). 

Medium 

Access controls and prohibited land uses 

C1 Maintain all Council gates, barrier structures and signage to prevent 4WD access and consult with 
neighbouring land holders to identify additional access and investigate management options to better 
control these points. 

High 

C2 Investigate surveillance options to monitor and restrict illegal motorbike use Birrm. This may require 
a range of actions such as raising awareness in the local community about this issue, increase signage at 
access points as well as taking more direct action where appropriate. 

High 

C3 Investigate safe options for local community members to report on illegal activities taking place, for 
example to document and report any illegal fires, dumping of rubbish, unpermitted camping and 
timber removal. 

High 

C4 Consult with Parks Victoria, State Government, and other relevant organisations with experience in 
managing illegal land use to investigate available options. 

Medium 

Erosion management 

D1 Monitor all known erosion sites recorded from track margins and along gullies, including any new 
detections of gully erosion. Photopoints can be installed at all major gully sites and the extent of 
erosion, and any associated impacts mapped in the field. 

Medium 

D2 Investigate erosion control options for high-risk sites where negative impacts to biodiversity are likely 
to result. Suitable erosion control measures are likely to include actions to stabilise upslope source 
areas to limit soil loss, actions that increase rainwater infiltration and capture suspended sediments. To 
reduce any downslope erosion impacts, it may be necessary to install sediment traps and coir bunding. 

Medium 

D3 Consult with Melbourne Water to develop strategies for erosion control in upper catchment areas. Medium 

D4 Prevent the construction of new pedestrian or vehicle tracks. Retain any trees and logs that fall over 
existing trails except where clearance is required for safety or egress, or if trail blockages will lead to 
further vegetation disturbance from people or vehicles creating new paths around these barriers. 

Ongoing / as 
needed 

Threatened species and habitat management 

E1 Develop a threatened species management program for Gang-gang Cockatoo that includes monitoring 
methods and actions to increase habitat suitability for the species, for example by installing specially 
designed nest boxes. Design and implementation should be based on guiding actions set out in the 
Conservation Advice for the species (DAWE 2022a). Engage the local community on this work by using 
citizen science activities. 

Medium 

E2 Develop survey guidelines and a monitoring procedure for threatened flora known that includes 
structured survey methods and ensures the data is compatible with IUCN Red List assessments used 
by Victorian and Commonwealth governments. Key information to record include the number of 
mature individuals, the species’ ecology and disturbance response, and identification of threats and 
threat-abatement measures. Priority species include Stylidium armeria subsp. pilosifolium (Hairy-leaf 
Trigger-plant), Senecio microbasis (Slender Fireweed), Acacia nanodealbata (Dwarf Silver Wattle) and any 
threatened orchid species found to be present. 

Medium 

E3 As new properties come into Council ownership over coming decades and as more disturbances affect 
the condition of native vegetation, develop targeted land management guidelines for all threatened 
species that aim to maintain and enhance local populations so that these are viable in the long-term. In 
the short to medium term, it is unlikely that the known threatened plant populations will decline 
rapidly given that the land is not used for commercial extractive purposes and in principle cannot be 
developed. 

Low 

E4 Investigate options for increasing the density of tree hollows. Preliminary options include strategic tree 
thinning to reduce inter-tree competition in regrowth stands of dry forests, or the use of novel hollow-
creation methods such as HollowHog. 

Low 

E5 Retain fallen trees, logs, and branches to increase the amount of coarse woody debris habitat. If any 
ecological thinning is conducted, ensure that thinned materials are kept on site to enhance habitat 
values for common fauna species that will benefit from this resource. For any fallen woody material 
that is to be removed from tracks or trails, relocate this material into nearby bushland taking care to 
locate it in an area that minimises disturbance to understorey vegetation. 

Ongoing 
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Item Action Priority level 

Fire management 

F1 Collaborate with Traditional Custodians; identify and assess the appropriateness of cultural burns that 
promote traditional fire-stick practices and that supported by Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Elders and 
the local community. 

Low 

F2 Avoid the use of planned burns unless a clear and strong ecological benefit will result, which is unlikely 
to have negative effects on the known flora and fauna species and ecological communities. Planned 
burning may be appropriate for strategic weed control in select cases where the aim is to promote a 
mass-recruitment of hard-seeded leguminous weeds (e.g., non-indigenous Acacia species) to deplete 
the weed seed-bank, noting there are risks associated with doing this if adequate resources are not 
available for follow-up weed control. Conversely, a high severity wildfire at Barrm Birrm would 
promote a significant flush of weeds that would be difficult to manage at a large scale. 

Ongoing 

F3 Following any wildfire/s that impact Barrm Birrm, undertake post-fire assessments of fire severity and 
identify post-fire risks to biodiversity. Concentrate effort on wildlife rescue, threatened species 
protection (e.g., fencing sensitive plants to protect from post-fire grazing threat), weed and pest animal 
control, and disease spread. 

N/A 

Ecological monitoring and research 

G1 Assess fixed photopoints at least every two years to document visual changes to the site. Install 
photopoints at new sites where visual records can enhance site management and reporting.  

High 

G2 Monitor the effects of major climatic events, including but not limited to droughts, floods or high 
rainfall events and storms, and identify the risk of biodiversity decline from with these events and any 
threat abatement actions. 

As required 

G3 Undertake targeted fauna surveys for reptiles, amphibians, birds, mammals and invertebrates using a 
variety of permitted survey techniques such as spotlighting, camera trapping, paver and tile surveys 
and anabat detection. Document all findings in relevant government databases and project reports. 
Such surveys provide suitable opportunities for small numbers of volunteer participation (e.g., through 
Council’s existing biodiversity monitoring program). Consult with private land holders to find 
opportunities to conduct fauna surveys on private land. 

High 

G4 If Barrm Birrm is subject to wildfire or planned burns ensure that post-burn orchid surveys are 
completed for several years over multiple seasons, to identify a suite of species that are fire-stimulated 
or fire-dependent and estimate the population size and reproductive success of these populations 
using structured survey methods. This will present an important opportunity to search for new species 
at the site and to better understand the population ecology of resident species. 

As required 

Community engagement 

H1 Offer local community members opportunities to be involved in flora and fauna monitoring, for 
example through Council’s biodiversity monitoring program (see action G3). The Birds in Schools 
program and other BirdLife Australia bushfire recovery initiatives may have resources available to 
support the development of a monitoring program for threatened bird species.  

High 

H2 Increase community knowledge and awareness of Barrm Birrm’s biodiversity and environmental 
values through field excursions and presentations, preferably through the auspices of Riddells Creek 
Landcare. 

High 

H3 Support the work of Riddells Creek Landcare in their effort to protect Barrm Birrm. Support can be 
provided through financial assistance to maintain or improve existing works programs (e.g., weed 
control), develop promotional materials about the site, assistance in educating Riddells Creek residents 
about the issues associated with rubbish dumping and motorbike activity, or support through in-kind 
field-based project collaboration. 

High 
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7. Environmental works plan for Council land 

Barrm Birrm has been divided into six management zones, the first five of which have Council-owned 

properties and are subject to the management recommendations provided in this section (Figure 4). The 

proposed works for the next ten years include weed control, photopoint monitoring at four locations, and 

soil testing for the presence of Phytophthora cinnamomi (Table 7). Additional works may be required under 

Council’s management of the land, and management should be responsive to changing site conditions.  

The objective of this works plan is focussed primarily on reducing the threat of woody and herbaceous 

weeds based on staged works across five management zones. Each management zone is given treatments 

over the ten-year period, noting that the sixth zone is entirely privately owned and has some 

environmental weed infestations that require control. 

Photopoints 

The locations of four photopoints are given in Table 6. Each point includes multiple photos to capture a 

variety of features; Council holds baseline photos. 

Table 6. Four photopoints established at Barrm Birrm in February 2023. 

Coordinate Reference System: GDA 1994 MGA Zone 55. 
Photopoint Easting Northing Focal points 

A 292819 5853910 Initial stages of gully erosion developing along the margins of a walking/bike trail; 

Herb-rich Foothill Forest and Grassy Dry Forest EVCs (EVC edge/transition).  

B 293037 5853780 Potential Phytophthora cinnamomi infected site; Heathy Dry Forest and Grassy Dry 

Forest EVCs (EVC edge/transition). 

C 293359 5853776 Effects of canopy dieback (over-abundant understorey shrubs including Cassinia 

longifolia and Exocarpos cupressiformis), Grassy Forest EVC (grassy); diverse ground 

flora; small thicket of Pomaderris racemosa. 

D 293314 5853184 Disturbed area with abundant Cassinia longifolia (adjacent roadside); walking trail 

corridor; contrast with neighbouring property (cemetery); Grassy Forest EVC 

(shrubby). 

Guidelines for other works 

If at any time Council identifies a need to conduct pest animal control, fencing, revegetation or protect 

trees from planned disturbances, the Management standards for native vegetation offset sites (DELWP 2021) 

provide a point of reference for basic information on these activities. For any future revegetation work, 

planting densities can be adopted using the Native vegetation gain scoring manual (DELWP 2017) based on 

the relevant EVC for the planting site to calculate the planting densities.  
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There is no current need for revegetation on Council allotments at Barrm Birrm. If revegetation is 

required later Appendix 5 provides an advisory list of suitable species to use, noting the need to do a 

thorough assessment of any planting site to identify its capacity for natural regeneration and the risks 

associated with soil disturbance caused by planting, such as potential weed and disease spread. 

If revegetation becomes necessary and requires planting nursery-grown stock, all tube stock plantings 

should be staked and guarded to provide frost and grazing protection. This will also make plantings more 

visible and improve maintenance efficiency while guards are in place. Guards can be removed as soon as 

plants are established. 

All plantings should be watered-in twice at planting and then regularly for at least six months unless there 

is sufficient rainfall. Spring plantings require summer watering to combat the added risk of plant failure 

associated with the shorter onset of summer drought compared to autumn plantings. Take precautions to 

ensure that soils are not moved into or out of the site via planting equipment due to the risk of disease 

spread. 

Mulch is not required around plantings but could be used in certain situations where weed growth is likely 

to be high in planted areas, or to provide added soil-water conservation prior to summer drought. High 

density planting of ground layer species will not be appropriate to mulch because of the planting density 

but mulch can be applied to widely spaced woody tree and shrub plantings. 
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Table 7. Ten year works plan for Barrm Birrm. 

Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

Year 1 
1.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is required and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes proper contingencies 
for medium to high-risk 
scenarios. 

1.2 Weed control in Zone 1: survey and control all high 
priority target weeds on Council owner properties 
and treat low priority target weeds if resources allow. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should start from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Record GPS locations of the 
main weed control sites and targeted species (for 
efficient resurvey in later years and to develop a weed 
distribution map). Cut and paint or ring-bark mature 
woody weeds and leave small plants to develop in size 
for treatment in later years (unless trace infestations 
are met, then cut-paint, spot spray or hand weed 
plants). Herbaceous weeds can be manually removed 
where practical, or spot sprayed if necessary, taking 
care to avoid off-target herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

Year 2 
2.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is needed and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes proper contingencies 
for medium to high-risk 
scenarios. 
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Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

2.2 Weed control in Zone 2: survey and control all high 
priority target weeds on Council owner properties 
and treat low priority target weeds if resources allow. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Record GPS locations of the 
main weed control sites and targeted species (for 
efficient resurvey in later years and to develop a weed 
distribution map). Cut and paint or ring-bark mature 
woody weeds and leave small plants to develop in size 
for treatment in later years (unless trace infestations 
are encountered, then cut-paint, spot spray or hand 
weed plants). Herbaceous weeds can be manually 
removed where practical, or spot sprayed if necessary, 
taking care to avoid off-target herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

2.3 Phytophthora soil/root sampling: collect soil and 
plant roots from potential Phytophthora cinnamomi 
disease sites and have these tested in a laboratory by 
an appropriate service provider. Sample from all 
suspected disease sites if possible. 

Sampling protocol and field 
collection methods to be advised 
by the service provider. Disease 
presence/absence determined 
for each test site. If test results 
are inconclusive, then re-test 
using new samples at a suitable 
time. 

2.4 Photopoint monitoring: revisit all established 
photopoints and record new photographs by 
replicating the framing and depth of field of the 
original photos as closely as possible. 

Assessor/s collect high quality 
photographs at each site, having 
copies of original photographs 
and photo specifications with 
them in the field to accurately 
replicate the original photos. All 
photos are collated and backed 
up on Council systems and 
compiled into a comparative 
report or slideshow. 

Year 3 
3.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is required and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors, and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes appropriate 
contingencies for medium to 
high-risk scenarios. 
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Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

3.2 Weed control in Zone 3: survey and control all high 
priority target weeds on Council owner properties 
and treat low priority target weeds if resources allow. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Record GPS locations of the 
main weed control sites and targeted species (for 
efficient resurvey in later years and to develop a weed 
distribution map). Cut and paint or ring-bark mature 
woody weeds and leave small plants to develop in size 
for treatment in later years (unless trace infestations 
are encountered, then cut-paint, spot spray or hand 
weed plants). Herbaceous weeds can be manually 
removed where practical, or spot sprayed if necessary, 
taking care to avoid off-target herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

Year 4 
4.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is required and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes appropriate 
contingencies for medium to 
high-risk scenarios. 

4.2 Weed control in Zone 4: survey and control all high 
priority target weeds on Council owner properties 
and treat low priority target weeds if resources allow. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Record GPS locations of the 
main weed control sites and targeted species (for 
efficient resurvey in later years and to develop a weed 
distribution map). Cut and paint or ring-bark mature 
woody weeds and leave small plants to develop in size 
for treatment in later years (unless trace infestations 
are encountered, then cut-paint, spot spray or hand 
weed plants). Herbaceous weeds can be manually 
removed where practical, or spot sprayed if necessary, 
taking care to avoid off-target herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 
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Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

4.3 Photopoint monitoring: revisit all established 
photopoints and record new photographs by 
replicating the framing and depth of field of the 
original photos as closely as possible. 

Assessor/s collect high quality 
photographs at each site, having 
copies of original photographs 
and photo specifications with 
them in the field to accurately 
replicate the original photos. All 
photos are collated and backed 
up on Council systems and 
compiled into a comparative 
report or slideshow. 

Year 5 
5.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is required and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes appropriate 
contingencies for medium to 
high-risk scenarios. 

5.2 Weed control in Zone 5: survey and control all high 
priority target weeds on Council owner properties 
and treat low priority target weeds if resources allow. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Record GPS locations of the 
main weed control sites and targeted species (for 
efficient resurvey in later years and to develop a weed 
distribution map). Cut and paint or ring-bark mature 
woody weeds and leave small plants to develop in size 
for treatment in later years (unless trace infestations 
are encountered, then cut-paint, spot spray or hand 
weed plants). Herbaceous weeds can be manually 
removed where practical, or spot sprayed if necessary, 
taking care to avoid off-target herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

Year 6 
6.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is required and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes proper contingencies 
for medium to high-risk 
scenarios. 
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Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

6.2 Weed control in Zone 1 (second round of treatment): 
use GPS data from the first round of treatment to 
locate and inspect all previous weed control sites. 
Undertake further weed control where necessary. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Update GPS data with any new 
locations where weed control is completed, including 
target species (for efficient resurvey in later years and 
to develop a weed distribution map). Cut and paint or 
ring-bark mature woody weeds and leave small plants 
to develop in size for treatment in later years (unless 
trace infestations are encountered, then cut-paint, 
spot spray or hand weed plants). Herbaceous weeds 
can be manually removed where practical, or spot 
sprayed if necessary, taking care to avoid off-target 
herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

6.3 Photopoint monitoring: revisit all established 
photopoints and record new photographs by 
replicating the framing and depth of field of the 
original photos as closely as possible. 

Assessor/s collect high quality 
photographs at each site, having 
copies of original photographs 
and photo specifications with 
them in the field to accurately 
replicate the original photos. All 
photos are collated and backed 
up on Council systems and 
compiled into a comparative 
report or slideshow. 

Year 7 
7.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is needed and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes appropriate 
contingencies for medium to 
high-risk scenarios. 
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Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

7.2 Weed control in Zone 2 (second round of treatment): 
use GPS data from the first round of treatment to 
locate and inspect all previous weed control sites. 
Undertake further weed control where necessary. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Update GPS data with any new 
locations where weed control is completed, including 
target species (for efficient resurvey in later years and 
to develop a weed distribution map). Cut and paint or 
ring-bark mature woody weeds and leave small plants 
to develop in size for treatment in later years (unless 
trace infestations are encountered, then cut-paint, 
spot spray or hand weed plants). Herbaceous weeds 
can be manually removed where practical, or spot 
sprayed if necessary, taking care to avoid off-target 
herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

Year 8 
8.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is needed and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes appropriate 
contingencies for medium to 
high-risk scenarios. 

8.2 Weed control in Zone 3 (second round of treatment): 
use GPS data from the first round of treatment to 
find and inspect all earlier weed control sites. 
Undertake further weed control where necessary. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Update GPS data with any new 
locations where weed control is completed, including 
target species (for efficient resurvey in later years and 
to develop a weed distribution map). Cut and paint or 
ring-bark mature woody weeds and leave small plants 
to develop in size for treatment in later years (unless 
trace infestations are encountered, then cut-paint, 
spot spray or hand weed plants). Herbaceous weeds 
can be manually removed where practical, or spot 
sprayed if necessary, taking care to avoid off-target 
herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 
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Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

8.3 Photopoint monitoring: revisit all established 
photopoints and record new photographs by 
replicating the framing and depth of field of the 
original photos as closely as possible. 

Assessor/s collect high quality 
photographs at each site, having 
copies of original photographs 
and photo specifications with 
them in the field to accurately 
replicate the original photos. All 
photos are collated and backed 
up on Council systems and 
compiled into a comparative 
report or slideshow. 

Year 9 
9.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is needed and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes appropriate 
contingencies for medium to 
high-risk scenarios. 

9.2 Weed control in Zone 4 (second round of treatment): 
use GPS data from the first round of treatment to 
find and inspect all earlier weed control sites. 
Undertake further weed control where necessary. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Update GPS data with any new 
locations where weed control is completed, including 
target species (for efficient resurvey in later years and 
to develop a weed distribution map). Cut and paint or 
ring-bark mature woody weeds and leave small plants 
to develop in size for treatment in later years (unless 
trace infestations are encountered, then cut-paint, 
spot spray or hand weed plants). Herbaceous weeds 
can be manually removed where practical, or spot 
sprayed if necessary, taking care to avoid off-target 
herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

Year 10 
10.1 Seasonal works planning: report all target areas 

where weed control is required and define weed 
control timing, treatment methods and weed disposal 
procedures. Where revegetation or other works are 
needed, conduct necessary preparations during the 
project planning phase where possible. 

Yearly tasks clearly defined in a 
project report that can be 
referred to by land 
management staff, managers, 
contractors and project 
stakeholders. Project plan is 
agreed between parties and 
includes appropriate 
contingencies for medium to 
high-risk scenarios. 
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Management 
action 

Tasks Target standard 

10.2 Weed control in Zone 5 (second round of treatment): 
use GPS data from the first round of treatment to 
find and inspect all earlier weed control sites. 
Undertake further weed control where necessary. 
Priority weeds are listed in Appendix 4. Treatments 
should commence from July to August to improve the 
detection and accurate identification of Acacia spp. 
(many species flower in from mid-winter through to 
early spring and can be confused with locally 
indigenous species). Update GPS data with any new 
locations where weed control is completed, including 
target species (for efficient resurvey in later years and 
to develop a weed distribution map). Cut and paint or 
ring-bark mature woody weeds and leave small plants 
to develop in size for treatment in later years (unless 
trace infestations are encountered, then cut-paint, 
spot spray or hand weed plants). Herbaceous weeds 
can be manually removed where practical, or spot 
sprayed if necessary, taking care to avoid off-target 
herbicide damage. 

Complete control/removal of all 
large woody and herbaceous 
weeds. GPS documentation of 
all target weeds, including any 
plants that were not treated. 
Document all works in a daily 
works record and compile an 
end of project report with 
photographs. 

10.3 Photopoint monitoring: revisit all established 
photopoints and record new photographs by 
replicating the framing and depth of field of the 
original photos as closely as possible. 

Assessor/s collect high quality 
photographs at each site, having 
copies of original photographs 
and photo specifications with 
them in the field to accurately 
replicate the original photos. All 
photos are collated and backed 
up on Council systems and 
compiled into a comparative 
report or slideshow. 

10.4 Project evaluation and reporting: collate all project 
reports and any other documentation from the past 
ten years. Summarise the completed works, project 
outcomes and major successes and challenges. 
Distribute this within Council and to relevant 
stakeholders. 

Historic works accurately 
depicted in a summary report 
that clearly demonstrates the 
activities completed and results 
of the work. Reporting 
disseminated to relevant parties 
and given an opportunity to 
provide report feedback.  

10.5 Works plan revision/update: using the report 
prepared for item 10.4 and in consultation with 
relevant stakeholders and knowledge holders, 
complete a new project plan for Council owned 
parcels at Barrm Birrm that considers latest 
information, and a better understanding of 
biodiversity and threats present at the site. The scope 
of this report can be based on conditions at the time, 
and may vary from short (3 year) to long-term (>10 
year) project planning, noting the possibility that a 
new, detailed ecological assessment of the land may 
be a valuable companion to the works plan to verify 
that past land management works and future 
proposed works are appropriate for the site.  

A new work plan is prepared 
and endorsed by Council and 
relevant stakeholders, with 
opportunities for feedback from 
and, where relevant, active 
consultation with key 
stakeholders. 
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Appendix 1. A compilation of databased plant species 

records from Barrm Birrm. 

This species list includes all taxa in the ALA recorded from Barrm Birrm at species level or intraspecific rank, as of 14 February 

2023 (ALA 2023a). The source of these records include NatureShare, iNaturalist Australia, Victorian Biodiversity Atlas (VBA), 

Australia’s Virtual Herbarium, Western Australian Herbarium (PERTH) AVH data, Western Australia, Department of 

Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, and the Western Australian Herbarium. The species names have been updated to 

reflect the taxonomy used by the VBA (DELWP 2023) and VicFlora (2023), unless otherwise specified. The list does not include 

flora species recorded during field surveys completed as part of this assessment, which are given in Appendix 2. 

Origin: Conservation status: 

# Non-indigenous Victorian taxa 

* Exotic or non-indigenous Australian taxa 

⌀ Uncertain origin (assigned by VicFlora 2023) 

† Thelymitra pallidifructus is not currently recognised by VicFlora or 
the VBA but has been included here for information purposes (see 
Bates 2010 for a formal species description). 

IUCN International Union for Conservation of 
Nature 

FFG Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988 

CR Critically Endangered 

EN Endangered 

VU Vulnerable 

 

Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA taxon 

number 
Conservation 

Status 

* Acacia baileyana Cootamundra Wattle 500014  

 Acacia dealbata subsp. dealbata Silver Wattle 505875  

* Acacia elata Cedar Wattle 500031  

# Acacia floribunda White Sallow-wattle 500036  

 Acacia genistifolia Spreading Wattle 500038  

 Acacia gunnii Ploughshare Wattle 500041  

# Acacia howittii Sticky Wattle 500044  

 Acacia implexa Lightwood 500045  

* Acacia iteaphylla Flinders Range Wattle 505015  

 Acacia leprosa var. uninervia Large-leaf Cinnamon-wattle 505141 EN (FFG) 

# Acacia longifolia Sallow Wattle 505128  

 Acacia mearnsii Black Wattle 500056  

 Acacia melanoxylon Blackwood 500057  

 Acacia nanodealbata Dwarf Silver Wattle 500064 VU (FFG) 
 Acacia paradoxa Hedge Wattle 500072  

# Acacia pravissima Ovens Wattle 500077  

* Acacia prominens Gosford Wattle 503649  

 Acacia provincialis Wirilda 504209  

 Acacia pycnantha Golden Wattle 500078  

 Acacia stricta Hop Wattle 500091  

 Acacia ulicifolia Juniper Wattle 500098  

 Acacia verniciflua s.l. Varnish Wattle 500099  

 Acacia verticillata subsp. verticillata Prickly Moses 504213  

 Acaena novae-zelandiae Bidgee-widgee 500105  

 Acrotriche prostrata Trailing Ground-berry 500122  

 Acrotriche serrulata Honey-pots 500123  

* Agapanthus praecox subsp. orientalis Agapanthus 503638  

* Aira caryophyllea subsp. caryophyllea Silvery Hair-grass 500164  

* Allium triquetrum Angled Onion 500179  

 Allocasuarina littoralis Black Sheoak 500677  
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Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA taxon 

number 
Conservation 

Status 

 Amyema pendula subsp. pendula (s.s.) Drooping Mistletoe 505169  

* Anthoxanthum odoratum Sweet Vernal-grass 500236  

* Arctotheca calendula Cape weed 500255  

 Arthropodium strictum s.s. Chocolate Lily 505126  

 Asperula scoparia subsp. scoparia Prickly Woodruff 500284  

 Austrostipa rudis Veined Spear-grass 503289  

 Austrostipa semibarbata Fibrous Spear-grass 503291  

* Billardiera fusiformis Bluebell Creeper 503202  

 Billardiera mutabilis Common Apple-berry 504291  

 Bossiaea prostrata Creeping Bossiaea 500440  

 Brachyloma ciliatum Fringed Brachyloma 500482  

 Brachyscome diversifolia Tall Daisy 500456  

* Briza maxima Large Quaking-grass 500495  

 Brunonia australis Blue Pincushion 500508  

 Burchardia umbellata Milkmaids 500512  

 Bursaria spinosa subsp. spinosa Sweet Bursaria 500515  

 Caesia parviflora Pale Grass-lily 500518  

 Caladenia carnea s.s. Pink Fingers 503680  

 Caladenia clavigera Plain-lip Spider-orchid 500528  

 Caladenia moschata Musk Hood-orchid 500535  

 Caladenia praecox Early Hood-orchid 500543  

 Calochilus robertsonii s.l. Purple Beard-orchid 500589  

 Calochilus therophilus Slender Beard-orchid 500505  

 Calochlaena dubia Common Ground-fern 500887  

 Cassinia aculeata Common Cassinia 500666  

 Cassinia longifolia Shiny Cassinia 500668  

Ø Cassinia sifton Drooping Cassinia 500667  

 Cassytha glabella f. dispar Slender Dodder-laurel 504681  

 Cassytha pubescens s.s. Downy Dodder-laurel 500674  

* Centaurium tenuiflorum Slender Centaury 500705  

 Cheilanthes sieberi subsp. sieberi Narrow Rock-fern 500733  

 Chiloglottis valida Common Bird-orchid 504888  

* Cirsium vulgare Spear Thistle 500782  

 Clematis aristata Mountain Clematis 500788  

 Clematis microphylla s.s. Small-leaved Clematis 507386  

 Comesperma volubile Love Creeper 500801  

 Coronidium scorpioides s.s. Button Everlasting 501626  

 Correa reflexa var. reflexa Common Correa 504370  

 Corunastylis morrisii Bearded Midge-orchid 502715  

 Craspedia variabilis Variable Billy-buttons 504650  

 Cryptandra amara s.s. Bitter Cryptandra 504317  

 Cymbonotus preissianus Austral Bear’s-ear 500903  

* Cynara cardunculus subsp. flavescens Artichoke Thistle 500906  

* Cytisus scoparius English Broom 500947  

 Daviesia leptophylla Narrow-leaf Bitter-pea 501000  

 Deyeuxia quadriseta Reed Bent-grass 501023  

 Dianella revoluta var. revoluta s.l. Black-anther Flax-lily 504413  

 Dichelachne sciurea spp. agg. Short-hair Plume-grass 501034  

 Dichondra repens Kidney-weed 501036  

 Dillwynia cinerascens s.s. Grey Parrot-pea 505931  

 Dillwynia sericea Showy Parrot-pea 501058  

 Dipodium roseum s.s. Rosy Hyacinth-orchid 504889  

* Disa bracteata South African Orchid 505483  

 Diuris chryseopsis Golden Moths 505423  

 Diuris orientis Wallflower Orchid 501079  

 Diuris pardina Leopard Orchid 501080  
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Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA taxon 

number 
Conservation 

Status 

 Diuris sulphurea Tiger Orchid 501085  

 Dodonaea viscosa Sticky Hop-bush 501095  

* Dodonaea viscosa ‘Purpurea’ Purple Hop-bush 505413  

 Drosera auriculata Tall Sundew 501102  

 Drosera macrantha subsp. macrantha Climbing Sundew 501106  

 Drosera peltata s.s. Pale Sundew 528434  

 Epacris impressa var. impressa Common Heath 504478  

 Epilobium hirtigerum Hairy Willow-herb 501179  

* Erica lusitanica Spanish Heath 501210  

 Eriochilus cucullatus s.s. Parson’s Bands 528694  

 Eucalyptus aromaphloia Scentbark 501248 VU (IUCN) 
 Eucalyptus cephalocarpa s.s. Mealy Stringybark 503733  

 Eucalyptus dives Broad-leaf Peppermint 501272  

 Eucalyptus obliqua Messmate Stringybark 501304  

 Eucalyptus radiata s.l. Narrow-leaf Peppermint 501313  

 Eucalyptus viminalis Manna Gum 501323  

 Euchiton japonicus s.s. Creeping Cudweed 501466  

 Euchiton sphaericus Annual Cudweed 501471  

 Exocarpos cupressiformis Cherry Ballart 501350  

 Gahnia radula Thatch Saw-sedge 501394  

 Galium gaudichaudii Rough Bedstraw 501409  

 Genista linifolia Flax-leaf Broom 501421  

 Geranium sp. 2 Variable Crane’s-bill 505343  

 Glossodia major Wax-lip Orchid 501445  

 Gompholobium huegelii Common Wedge-pea 501481  

 Gonocarpus tetragynus Common Raspwort 501489  

 Goodenia ovata Hop Goodenia 501507  

 Grevillea alpina Cat’s Claw Grevillea 501526  

 Grevillea rosmarinifolia Rosemary Grevillea 501550  

# Grevillea rosmarinifolia hybrids Rosemary Grevillea hybrids 507475  

 Hakea decurrens subsp. physocarpa Bushy Needlewood 505071  

* Hakea laurina Pincushion Hakea 505747  

 Hardenbergia violacea Purple Coral-pea 501596  

* Holcus lanatus Yorkshire Fog 501692  

 Hovea heterophylla Common Hovea 501705  

 Hydrocotyle laxiflora Stinking Pennywort 501723  

 Hypericum gramineum spp. agg. Small St John’s Wort 501741  

* Hypochaeris radicata Flatweed 501748  

 Indigofera australis Austral Indigo 501761  

* Ipheion uniflorum Spring Star-flower 503783  

 Isotoma fluviatilis subsp. australis Swamp Isotome 501793  

* Juncus capitatus Capitate Rush 501813  

 Juncus gregiflorus Green Rush 501820  

 Juncus holoschoenus Joint-leaf Rush 501821  

 Juncus pallidus Pale Rush 501830  

 Juncus planifolius Broad-leaf Rush 501833  

 Juncus subsecundus Finger Rush 501843  

 Kennedia prostrata Running Postman 501847  

 Lachnagrostis filiformis s.l. Common Blown-grass 500151  

 Lagenophora stipitata Common Bottle-daisy 501863  

 Lepidosperma laterale Variable Sword-sedge 501923  

 Leptoceras menziesii Hare Orchid 500540  

 Leptorhynchos tenuifolius Wiry Buttons 501947  

 Leptospermum continentale Prickly Tea-tree 501956  

 Leucopogon virgatus var. virgatus Common Beard-heath 504391  

 Lobelia pedunculata s.s. Matted Pratia 505038  
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VBA taxon 

number 
Conservation 

Status 

 Lomandra filiformis subsp. coriacea Wattle Mat-rush 504709  

 Lomandra longifolia Spiny-headed Mat-rush 502046  

 Luzula meridionalis var. flaccida Common Woodrush 502070  

 Lythrum hyssopifolia Small Loosestrife 502092  

* Medicago sativa subsp. sativa Lucerne 502141  

 Microseris walteri Yam Daisy 503887  

 Microtis parviflora Slender Onion-orchid 502187  

 Monotoca scoparia Prickly Broom-heath 502220  

* Narcissus spp. Narcisssus 508798  

* Nassella trichotoma Serrated Tussock 502263  
 Olearia argophylla Musk Daisy-bush 502299  

 Olearia lirata Snowy Daisy-bush 502312  

 Olearia myrsinoides Silky Daisy-bush 502316  

 Opercularia ovata Broad-leaf Stinkweed 502341  

 Opercularia varia Variable Stinkweed 502344  

 Oxalis exilis Shady Wood-sorrel 502381  

 Oxalis perennans Grassland Wood-sorrel 502386  

* Oxalis pes-caprae Soursob 502387  

 Oxalis spp. Wood Sorrel 508835  

 Ozothamnus obcordatus Grey Everlasting 501620  

 Pauridia vaginata Yellow Star 503778  

 Persoonia chamaepeuce Dwarf Geebung 502470  

 Pimelea curviflora s.s. Curved Rice-flower 504832  

 Pimelea humilis Common Rice-flower 502523  

 Pimelea linifolia subsp. linifolia Slender Rice-flower 504819  

 Plantago varia Variable Plantain 502566  

 Platylobium montanum subsp. prostratum Mountain Flat-pea 528674  

 Poa sieberiana Grey Tussock-grass 502608  

 Podolobium procumbens Trailing Podolobium 502396  

 Pomaderris racemosa Cluster Pomaderris 502671  

 Poranthera microphylla s.s. Small Poranthera 507704  

 Prasophyllum brevilabre Short-lip Leek-orchid 502703  

 Pteridium esculentum Austral Bracken 502777  

 Pterostylis alpina s.s. Mountain Greenhood 504873  

 Pterostylis clivicola Mountain Midget Greenhood 507804 EN (FFG) 
 Pterostylis concinna Trim Greenhood 502789  

 Pterostylis decurva Summer Greenhood 502793  

 Pterostylis melagramma Tall Greenhood 504131  

 Pterostylis nutans Nodding Greenhood 502806  

 Pterostylis parviflora s.s. Tiny Greenhood 504033  

 Pterostylis rubescens Mountain Red-tip Greenhood 528690 EN (FFG) 
 Pultenaea daphnoides Large-leaf Bush-pea 502844  

 Rhytidosporum procumbens White Marianth 500402  

* Romulea rosea var. australis s.s. Common Onion-grass 504113  

* Rosa rubiginosa Sweet Briar 502950  

* Rubus fruticosus spp. agg. Blackberry 502952  

 Rytidosperma caespitosum Common Wallaby-grass 500961  

 Rytidosperma geniculatum Kneed Wallaby-grass 500965  

 Rytidosperma pallidum Silvertop Wallaby-grass 500973  

 Rytidosperma penicillatum Weeping Wallaby-grass 500974  

 Senecio glomeratus subsp. glomeratus Annual Fireweed 507141  

 Senecio hispidulus s.s. Rough Fireweed 504959  

 Senecio linearifolius var. linearifolius Fireweed Groundsel (type variant) 505520  

 Senecio microbasis Slender Fireweed 507171 VU (FFG) 
 Senecio odoratus Scented Groundsel 503120  

 Senecio phelleus Stony Fireweed 507176  
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Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA taxon 

number 
Conservation 

Status 

 Senecio picridioides Hawkbit Fireweed 504961  

 Senecio prenanthoides Beaked Fireweed 503126  

 Senecio quadridentatus Cotton Fireweed 503124  

 Solanum laciniatum Large Kangaroo Apple 503179  

 Stackhousia monogyna s.s. Creamy Candles 528493  

 Stylidium armeria subsp. armeria Common Triggerplant 528632  

 Stylidium armeria subsp. pilosifolium Hairy-leaf Triggerplant 528495 CR (FFG) 
 Stylidium graminifolium s.l. Grass Triggerplant 503303  

 Styphelia humifusa Cranberry Heath 500304  

 Tetratheca ciliata Pink-bells 503351  

 Thelymitra aristata Great Sun-orchid 503362  

 Thelymitra ixioides s.s. Spotted Sun-orchid 505005  

 Thelymitra juncifolia Rush-leaf Sun-orchid 504016  

 Thelymitra pallidifructus † N/A N/A  

 Themeda triandra Kangaroo Grass 503387  

 Thysanotus patersonii Twining Fringe-lily 503399  

 Thysanotus tuberosus subsp. tuberosus Common Fringe-lily 504998  

 Tricoryne elatior Yellow Rush-lily 503421  

* Ulex europaeus Gorse 503471  

* Vellereophyton dealbatum White Cudweed 503491  

 Veronica calycina Hairy Speedwell 503503  

 Veronica gracilis Slender Speedwell 503506  

 Viola betonicifolia Showy Violet 503526  

 Viola hederacea sensu Thiele & Prober Ivy-leaf Violet 505794  

* Vulpia bromoides Squirrel-tail Fescue 503544  

 Wahlenbergia multicaulis Branching Bluebell 503560  

 Wahlenbergia stricta subsp. stricta Tall Bluebell 503559  

 Wurmbea dioica subsp. dioica Common Early Nancy 504082  

 Xanthorrhoea australis Austral Grass-tree 503587  

 Xerochrysum viscosum Shiny Everlasting 501633  
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Appendix 2. Plant species recorded from Barrm Birrm in 

spring-summer 2022-23. 

Flora records from this assessment have been entered into the VBA under project 7015.  

Key to origin: # – Non-indigenous Victorian taxa; * – Exotic or non-indigenous Australian taxa; ⌀ – Uncertain origin 

Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA 
taxon 

number 

* Acacia baileyana x dealbata subsp. dealbata Cootamundra Wattle x Silver Wattle hybrid 505414 

* Acacia baileyana Cootamundra Wattle 500014 

 Acacia dealbata subsp. dealbata Silver Wattle 505875 

* Acacia decurrens Early Black-wattle 500028 

# Acacia floribunda White Sallow-wattle 500036 

 Acacia genistifolia Spreading Wattle 500038 

 Acacia gunnii Ploughshare Wattle 500041 

# Acacia howittii Sticky Wattle 500044 

 Acacia leprosa var. uninervia Large-leaf Cinnamon-wattle 505141 

# Acacia longifolia subsp. longifolia Sallow Wattle 500053 

 Acacia mearnsii Black Wattle 500056 

 Acacia melanoxylon Blackwood 500057 

 Acacia nanodealbata Dwarf Silver Wattle 500064 

 Acacia paradoxa Hedge Wattle 500072 

# Acacia pravissima Ovens Wattle 500077 

* Acacia prominens Gosford Wattle 503649 

 Acacia provincialis Wirilda 504209 

 Acacia pycnantha Golden Wattle 500078 

# Acacia salicina Willow Wattle 500083 

 Acacia stricta Hop Wattle 500091 

 Acacia verniciflua s.l. Varnish Wattle 500099 

 Acacia verticillata subsp. verticillata Prickly Moses 504213 

 Acaena agnipila Hairy Sheep’s Burr 500104 

 Acaena novae-zelandiae Bidgee-widgee 500105 

* Acetosella vulgaris Sheep Sorrel 502966 

 Acrotriche serrulata Honey-pots 500123 

 Adiantum aethiopicum Common Maidenhair 500129 

* Agapanthus praecox subsp. orientalis Agapanthus 503638 

* Agrostis capillaris var. capillaris Brown-top Bent 504225 

* Aira elegantissima Delicate Hair-grass 500166 

* Allium triquetrum Angled Onion 500179 

 Allocasuarina littoralis Black Sheoak 500677 

 Amyema pendula subsp. pendula (s.s.) Drooping Mistletoe 505169 

 Anthosachne scabra (glabrous form) Common Wheat-grass 507102 

* Anthoxanthum odoratum Sweet Vernal-grass 500236 

* Aphanes arvensis Parsley Piert 500239 

 Aphelia pumilio Dwarf Aphelia 500243 

* Arbutus unedo Irish Strawberry Tree 500253 

 Arthropodium milleflorum s.s. Pale Vanilla-lily 505125 

 Arthropodium strictum s.s. Chocolate Lily 505126 

 Asplenium flabellifolium Necklace Fern 500288 

 Austrostipa pubinodis Tall Spear-grass 503288 

 Austrostipa rudis subsp. rudis Veined Spear-grass 504942 

* Billardiera fusiformis Bluebell Creeper 503202 

 Billardiera mutabilis Common Apple-berry 504291 
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Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA 
taxon 

number 

 Bossiaea prostrata Creeping Bossiaea 500440 

 Brachyscome diversifolia Tall Daisy 500456 

* Briza maxima Large Quaking-grass 500495 

 Brunonia australis Blue Pincushion 500508 

 Burchardia umbellata Milkmaids 500512 

 Bursaria spinosa subsp. spinosa Sweet Bursaria 500515 

 Caladenia carnea s.s. Pink Fingers 503680 

 Caladenia praecox Early Hood-orchid 500543 

 Calochilus herbaceus Leafless Beard-orchid 505420 

 Calochilus robertsonii s.l. Purple Beard-orchid 500589 

 Calochilus therophilus Slender Beard-orchid 500505 

 Cassinia aculeata Common Cassinia 500666 

 Cassinia longifolia Shiny Cassinia 500668 

⌀ Cassinia sifton Drooping Cassinia 500667 

 Cassytha glabella Slender Dodder-laurel 500671 

* Centaurium erythraea Common Centaury 500702 

 Centrolepis strigosa subsp. strigosa Hairy Centrolepis 500716 

* Cerastium glomeratum s.l. Common Mouse-ear Chickweed 500719 

 Cheilanthes sieberi subsp. sieberi Narrow Rock-fern 500733 

 Chiloglottis valida Common Bird-orchid 504888 

* Chlorophytum comosum Spider Plant 505405 

 Chrysocephalum apiculatum subsp. congestum Plains Everlasting 504281 

 Chrysocephalum baxteri White Everlasting 501608 

 Chrysocephalum semipapposum subsp. lineare Clustered Everlasting 903682 

* Cicendia filiformis Slender Cicendia 500776 

* Cirsium vulgare Spear Thistle 500782 

 Comesperma volubile Love Creeper 500801 

 Coronidium scorpioides s.s. Button Everlasting 501626 

 Correa reflexa var. reflexa Common Correa 504370 

* Cortaderia selloana Pampas Grass 500825 

 Cotula australis Common Cotula 500846 

 Craspedia variabilis Variable Billy-buttons 504650 

 Crassula decumbens var. decumbens Spreading Crassula 500860 

 Crassula sieberiana s.s. Sieber Crassula 504378 

 Cryptandra amara s.s. Bitter Cryptandra 504317 

 Cymbonotus preissianus Austral Bear’s-ear 500903 

 Daucus glochidiatus Australian Carrot 500989 

 Daviesia leptophylla Narrow-leaf Bitter-pea 501000 

 Deyeuxia quadriseta Reed Bent-grass 501023 

 Dianella revoluta var. revoluta s.l. Black-anther Flax-lily 504413 

 Dichelachne rara Common Plume-grass 503792 

 Dichelachne sieberiana Rough Plume-grass 503791 

 Dichondra repens Kidney-weed 501036 

 Dillwynia cinerascens s.s. Grey Parrot-pea 505931 

 Dillwynia sericea Showy Parrot-pea 501058 

 Dipodium roseum s.s. Rosy Hyacinth-orchid 504889 

* Disa bracteata South African Orchid 505483 

 Diuris pardina Leopard Orchid 501080 

 Diuris sulphurea Tiger Orchid 501085 

 Drosera auriculata Tall Sundew 501102 

 Drosera macrantha subsp. macrantha Climbing Sundew 501106 

* Ehrharta erecta var. erecta Panic Veldt-grass 501128 

 Epacris impressa var. impressa Common Heath 504478 

 Epilobium billardierianum subsp. cinereum Grey Willow-herb 504445 

* Erica lusitanica Spanish Heath 501210 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item PE.2 - Attachment 1 Page 108 

  

An ecological assessment of Barrm Birrm – August 2023  55 

Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA 
taxon 

number 

 Eucalyptus aromaphloia Scentbark 501248 

 Eucalyptus cephalocarpa s.s. Mealy Stringybark 503733 

 Eucalyptus dives Broad-leaf Peppermint 501272 

 Eucalyptus obliqua Messmate Stringybark 501304 

 Eucalyptus radiata subsp. radiata Narrow-leaf Peppermint 503828 

 Eucalyptus viminalis subsp. viminalis Manna Gum 504463 

 Euchiton japonicus s.s. Creeping Cudweed 501466 

 Exocarpos cupressiformis Cherry Ballart 501350 

* Freesia spp. Freesia 508446 

 Gahnia radula Thatch Saw-sedge 501394 

 Galium gaudichaudii subsp. gaudichaudii Rough Bedstraw 528457 

* Gamochaeta purpurea s.s. Spiked Cudweed 504336 

* Genista linifolia Flax-leaf Broom 501421 

 Geranium potentilloides var. potentilloides Soft Crane’s-bill 505340 

 Geranium sp. 2 Variable Crane’s-bill 505343 

 Geranium sp. 5 Naked Crane’s-bill 505346 

 Glossodia major Wax-lip Orchid 501445 

 Glycine clandestina Twining Glycine 501455 

 Gompholobium huegelii Common Wedge-pea 501481 

 Gonocarpus tetragynus Common Raspwort 501489 

 Goodenia ovata Hop Goodenia 501507 

 Grevillea alpina Cat’s Claw Grevillea 501526 

# Grevillea rosmarinifolia Rosemary Grevillea 501550 

 Hakea decurrens subsp. physocarpa Bushy Needlewood 505071 

 Hardenbergia violacea Purple Coral-pea 501596 

* Holcus lanatus Yorkshire Fog 501692 

 Hovea heterophylla Common Hovea 501705 

 Hyalosperma demissum Moss Sunray 501643 

 Hydrocotyle callicarpa Small Pennywort 501718 

 Hydrocotyle foveolata Yellow Pennywort 501720 

 Hydrocotyle laxiflora Stinking Pennywort 501723 

 Hypericum gramineum spp. agg. Small St John’s Wort 501741 

* Hypochaeris glabra Smooth Cat’s-ear 501747 

* Hypochaeris radicata Flatweed 501748 

 Hypoxis hygrometrica var. villosisepala Golden Weather-glass 504591 

 Indigofera australis Austral Indigo 501761 

* Iris germanica German Iris 501763 

* Isolepis levynsiana Tiny Flat-sedge 500936 

 Isotoma fluviatilis subsp. australis Swamp Isotome 501793 

 Juncus amabilis Hollow Rush 501803 

* Juncus articulatus subsp. articulatus Jointed Rush 501806 

⌀ Juncus bufonius Toad Rush 501810 

* Juncus bulbosus Bulbous Rush 501811 

* Juncus capitatus Capitate Rush 501813 

 Juncus holoschoenus Joint-leaf Rush 501821 

 Juncus pallidus Pale Rush 501830 

 Juncus pauciflorus Loose-flower Rush 501831 

 Juncus planifolius Broad-leaf Rush 501833 

 Kennedia prostrata Running Postman 501847 

 Lagenophora stipitata Common Bottle-daisy 501863 

 Lagenophora sublyrata Slender Bottle-daisy 501861 

* Leontodon saxatilis subsp. saxatilis Hairy Hawkbit 501895 

 Lepidosperma curtisiae Little Sword-sedge 501925 

 Lepidosperma laterale var. laterale Variable Sword-sedge 504700 

 Leptoceras menziesii Hare Orchid 500540 
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Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA 
taxon 

number 

 Leptorhynchos squamatus subsp. squamatus Scaly Buttons 505610 

 Leptorhynchos tenuifolius Wiry Buttons 501947 

 Leptospermum continentale Prickly Tea-tree 501956 

 Leucopogon virgatus var. virgatus Common Beard-heath 504391 

 Lobelia pedunculata s.s. Matted Pratia 505038 

 Lomandra filiformis subsp. coriacea Wattle Mat-rush 504709 

 Lomandra filiformis subsp. filiformis Wattle Mat-rush 504710 

 Lomandra longifolia subsp. longifolia Spiny-headed Mat-rush 504714 

 Lomandra longifolia subsp. exilis Cluster-headed Mat-rush 504713 

 Luzula meridionalis var. densiflora Common Woodrush 502069 

 Luzula meridionalis var. flaccida Common Woodrush 502070 

* Lycium ferocissimum African Box-thorn 502078 

* Lysimachia arvensis Pimpernel 500223 

 Microlaena stipoides var. stipoides Weeping Grass 502179 

 Microseris walteri Yam Daisy 503887 

 Microtis spp. Onion Orchid 508739 

 Millotia tenuifolia var. tenuifolia Soft Millotia 502192 

 Monotoca scoparia Prickly Broom-heath 502220 

# Myoporum insulare Common Boobialla 502239 

* Narcissus spp. Narcissus 508798 

* Nassella trichotoma Serrated Tussock 502263 

 Olearia argophylla Musk Daisy-bush 502299 

 Olearia lirata Snowy Daisy-bush 502312 

 Olearia myrsinoides Silky Daisy-bush 502316 

 Opercularia varia Variable Stinkweed 502344 

 Oxalis perennans Grassland Wood-sorrel 502386 

* Oxalis purpurea Large-flower Wood-sorrel 502388 

 Ozothamnus obcordatus Grey Everlasting 501620 

 Persoonia chamaepeuce Dwarf Geebung 502470 

 Pimelea curviflora subsp. sericea Curved Rice-flower 504145 

 Pimelea humilis Common Rice-flower 502523 

 Pimelea linifolia subsp. linifolia Slender Rice-flower 504819 

* Pinus radiata var. radiata Radiata Pine 505190 

# Pittosporum undulatum Sweet Pittosporum 502543 

* Plantago lanceolata Ribwort 502561 

 Plantago varia Variable Plantain 502566 

 Poa ensiformis Sword Tussock-grass 502590 

 Poa labillardierei var. labillardierei Common Tussock-grass 504694 

 Poa sieberiana var. sieberiana Grey Tussock-grass 504835 

 Podolepis decipiens Common Podolepis 903502 

 Podolobium procumbens Trailing Podolobium 502396 

 Pomaderris racemosa Cluster Pomaderris 502671 

 Poranthera microphylla s.s. Small Poranthera 507704 

 Pteridium esculentum Austral Bracken 502777 

 Pterostylis melagramma Tall Greenhood 504131 

 Pterostylis nutans Nodding Greenhood 502806 

 Pterostylis parviflora s.s. Tiny Greenhood 504033 

* Quercus robur English Oak 502884 

 Rhytidosporum procumbens White Marianth 500402 

* Rubus anglocandicans Common Blackberry 502959 

 Rytidosperma geniculatum Kneed Wallaby-grass 500965 

 Rytidosperma pallidum Silvertop Wallaby-grass 500973 

 Rytidosperma spp. Wallaby Grass 508414 

 Schoenus apogon Common Bog-sedge 503039 

 Sebaea ovata Yellow Sebaea 503092 
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Origin Taxon name Common name 
VBA 
taxon 

number 

 Senecio glomeratus subsp. glomeratus Annual Fireweed 507141 

 Senecio hispidulus s.s. Rough Fireweed 504959 

 Senecio linearifolius var. linearifolius Fireweed Groundsel (type variant) 505520 

 Senecio microbasis Slender Fireweed 507171 

 Senecio odoratus Scented Groundsel 503120 

 Senecio phelleus Stony Fireweed 507176 

 Senecio prenanthoides Beaked Fireweed 503126 

* Sherardia arvensis Field Madder 503138 

 Siloxerus multiflorus Small Wrinklewort 502983 

 Solenogyne dominii Smooth Solenogyne 503195 

* Sonchus asper s.s. Rough Sow-thistle 505712 

* Sonchus oleraceus Common Sow-thistle 503204 

 Stackhousia monogyna s.s. Creamy Candles 528493 

 Stellaria pungens Prickly Starwort 503255 

 Stuartina muelleri Spoon Cudweed 503300 

 Stylidium armeria subsp. armeria Common Triggerplant 528632 

 Stylidium armeria subsp. pilosifolium Hairy-leaf Triggerplant 528495 

 Stylidium graminifolium s.s. Grass Triggerplant 504971 

 Styphelia humifusa Cranberry Heath 500304 

 Tetratheca ciliata Pink-bells 503351 

 Thelymitra spp. Sun Orchid 509134 

 Themeda triandra Kangaroo Grass 503387 

 Thysanotus patersonii Twining Fringe-lily 503399 

 Thysanotus tuberosus subsp. tuberosus Common Fringe-lily 504998 

* Trifolium dubium Suckling Clover 503427 

 Triptilodiscus pygmaeus Common Sunray 501640 

* Ulex europaeus Gorse 503471 

 Veronica calycina Hairy Speedwell 503503 

 Viola cleistogamoides Hidden Violet 505056 

 Viola hederacea sensu Thiele & Prober Ivy-leaf Violet 505794 

 Vittadinia gracilis Woolly New Holland Daisy 503539 

 Wahlenbergia capillaris s.s. Tufted Bluebell 504123 

 Wahlenbergia gracilenta s.s. Hairy Annual-bluebell 504124 

 Wahlenbergia stricta subsp. stricta Tall Bluebell 503559 

* Watsonia meriana var. bulbillifera Bulbil Watsonia 503562 

# Westringia glabra Violet Westringia 503570 

 Wurmbea dioica Common Early Nancy 503581 

 Xanthorrhoea australis Austral Grass-tree 503587 

 Xerochrysum viscosum Shiny Everlasting 501633 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item PE.2 - Attachment 1 Page 111 

  

An ecological assessment of Barrm Birrm – August 2023  58 

Appendix 3. Fauna species recorded from Barrm Birrm. 

The species list includes all taxa recorded in the ALA from Barrm Birrm as of 15 February 2023 (ALA 2023b), bird species 

collected by Council on 23 September 2022 (recorded on BirdData), and incidental fauna species recorded during field surveys. 

The source of ALA records includes NatureShare, iNaturalist Australia, Victorian Biodiversity Atlas (VBA), BioCollect, Echidna-

CSI, BowerBird, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation, and the Australian National Insect Collection. 

The nomenclature reflects the taxonomy in use by the ALA except where a more up-to-date taxon or common name is in use in 

Victoria. Many invertebrates do not currently have a formal common name adopted by the ALA. 

Key to status: EN – Endangered; VU – Vulnerable; MTS – Migratory Terrestrial Species; EPBC – Environment Protection and 

Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999; FFG – Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988 

Taxon name Common name Status 

Amphibians 

Crinia signifera Common Froglet  
Limnodynastes dumerilii Eastern Banjo Frog  
Mammals  

Macropus giganteus Eastern Grey Kangaroo  
Petaurus notatus  Krefft’s Glider  
Phascolarctos cinereus Koala  
Pseudocheirus peregrinus Common Ringtail Possum  
Tachyglossus aculeatus Short-beaked Echidna  
Vespadelus vulturnus Little Forest Bat  
Wallabia bicolor Swamp Wallaby  
Molluscs 

Limax maximus Leopard Slug  
Reptiles   

Tiliqua nigrolutea Southern Blue-tongue  
Birds 

Acanthiza lineata Striated Thornbill  
Acanthiza nana Yellow Thornbill  
Acanthiza pusilla Brown Thornbill  
Acanthiza reguloides Buff-rumped Thornbill   
Acanthorhynchus tenuirostris Eastern Spinebill  
Anthochaera carunculata Red Wattlebird  
Aquila audax Wedge-tailed Eagle  
Ardea pacifica  White-necked Heron  
Cacatua galerita  Sulphur-crested Cockatoo  
Cacatua tenuirostris  Long-billed Corella    
Cacomantis flabelliformis  Fan-tailed Cuckoo  
Caligavis chrysops  Yellow-faced Honeyeater  
Callocephalun fimbriatum  Gang-gang Cockatoo VU (EPBC) 

Chalcites lucidus  Shining Bronze-Cuckoo  
Chenonetta jubata  Australian Wood Duck  
Colluricincla harmonica  Grey Shrike-thrush  
Coracina novaehollandiae  Black-faced Cuckoo-shrike  
Corcorax melanorhamphos  White-winged Chough  
Cormobates leucophaea  White-throated Treecreeper  
Corvus mellori  Little Raven  
Dacelo novaeguineae  Laughing Kookaburra  
Dicaeum hirundinaceum  Mistletoebird  
Gerygone fusca  Western Gerygone  
Gymnorhina tibicen  Australian Magpie  
Heteroscenes pallidus  Pallid Cuckoo  
Malurus cyaneus  Superb Fairy-wren  
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Taxon name Common name Status 

Birds (continued) 

Melithreptus brevirostris  Brown-headed Honeyeater    
Myiagra cyanoleuca  Satin Flycatcher MTS 

Myiagra rubecula  Leaden Flycatcher  
Ninox strenua  Powerful Owl VU (FFG) 

Oriolus sagittatus  Olive-backed Oriole  
Pachyceph pectoralis  Golden Whistler  
Pachyceph rufiventris  Rufous Whistler  
Pardalotus punctatus  Spotted Pardalote  
Pardalotus striatus  Striated Pardalote  
Passer domesticus  House Sparrow  
Petroica boodang  Scarlet Robin  
Phaps chalcoptera  Common Bronzewing  
Phylidonyris novaehollandiae  New Holland Honeyeater  
Platycercus elegans  Crimson Rosella  
Podargus strigoides  Tawny Frogmouth  
Rhipidura fuliginosa  Grey Fantail  
Rhipidura leucophyrs  Willie Wagtail  
Sericornis frontalis  White-fronted Scrubwren  
Strepera graculina  Pied Currawong  
Strepera versicolor  Grey Currawong  
Todiramphus sanctus  Sacred Kingfisher  
Turdus merula  Common Blackbird  
Zanda funereus  Yellow-tailed Black-Cockatoo  
Zosterops lateralis  Silvereye  
Invertebrates  

Adversaeschna brevistyla   

Aedes alboannulatus   

Anax papuensis Australian Emperor  
Araneus talipedatus   

Australomisidia pilula   

Austrogomphus guerini   

Austrolestes analis   

Belenois java Caper White  
Certonotus nitidulus   

Chrysolarentia vicissata   

Commius elegans   

Cryptobothrus chrysophorus Golden Band-wing  
Delias aganippe Wood White  
Diplacodes bipunctata   

Epidesmia hypenaria   

Erina hyacinthina Common Dusky Blue  
Eriophora pustulosa   

Geitoneura acantha Eastern Ringed Xenica  
Geitoneura klugii Klug's Xenica  
Goniaea austrsiae Gumleaf Grasshopper  
Invertebrates (continued)   

Harmonia conformis   

Hemicordulia tau   

Heteronympha merope Common Brown  
Heteronympha penelope   

Junonia villida   

Leptomyrmex erythrocephalus   

Leptotarsus costalis   

Leptotarsus luteisubcostatus   

Myrmecia gulosa   

Myrmecia pilosula   

Nephila edulis Australian Golden Orb-weaving Spider  
Ogyris olane Olane Azure  
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Taxon name Common name Status 

Invertebrates (continued) 

Orthetrum caledonicum   

Peltoschema orphana   

Phaulacridium vittatum Wingless Grasshopper  
Phelotis cognata   

Pollanisus viridipulverulenta   

Praxis edwardsii   

Pseudalmenus chlorinda   

Rhitz modesta Upland Heath Grasshopper  
Rhytidoponera metallica   

Stenoptilia zophodactylus   

Syllitus rectus   

Taxeotis intextata   

Trapezites phigalioides Phigalioides Skipper  
Tryonocryptus gigas   

Turneromyia bassiana   

Uresiphita ornithopteralis   

Vanessa kershawi Australian Painted Lady  
Wingia aurata   

Zizina Otis Common Grass-blue  
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Appendix 4. Priority weed species at Barrm Birrm. 

Priority weeds classes selected species listed in Appendices 1 and 2 by lifeform. The list includes woody weeds (trees, shrubs and 

woody climbers) and perennial herbs and grasses including all geophytes except for Romulea rosea (Onion Grass); annual herbs 

and grasses are excluded and should be managed on a case-by-case basis where they are deemed to be persistently over-abundant 

or a threat to individual restoration projects, where resources permit. Two species of short-lived perennial grasses, Anthoxanthum 

odoratum (Sweet Vernal-grass) and Holcus lanatus (Yorkshire Fog) often increase in abundance during productive, winter-wet years 

and decrease during dry years and drought and can appear to pose a high threat to biodiversity during these productive years, 

noting that Sweet Vernal-grass is common in Herb-rich Foothill Forest and disturbed areas of other EVCs while Yorkshire Fog is 

likely to only occur in particularly damp sites. These two species have been excluded from the list below as their management 

requirements are consistent with the approach outlined for annual grasses and herbs. 

For further information on the risk rating of individual weed species and for appropriate methods for control and eradication, 

consult the latest version of the Advisory List of Environmental Weeds in Victoria (White et al. 2022) and the Victorian Government’s 

Weeds at the Early Stages of Invasion project resources, including the Early Invader Manual (Blood et al. 2019). 

In the table below all species suffixed with a ‘1’ were not detected during the field survey (Appendix 2) but may be present and 

should be considered priority weeds if found.  

Taxon Name Common Name Priority Level 

Woody weeds (trees, shrubs and woody climbers) 

Acacia baileyana Cootamundra Wattle High 

Acacia baileyana x dealbata subsp. dealbata Cootamundra Wattle x Silver Wattle hybrid High 

Acacia decurrens 1 Early Black-wattle High 

Acacia elata 1 Cedar Wattle High 

Acacia floribunda White Sallow-wattle High 

Acacia howittii Sticky Wattle High 

Acacia iteaphylla 1 Flinders Range Wattle High 

Acacia longifolia subsp. longifolia Sallow Wattle High 

Acacia pravissima Ovens Wattle High 

Acacia prominens Gosford Wattle High 

Acacia salicina Willow Wattle High 

Arbutus unedo Irish Strawberry Tree High 

Cytisus scoparius 1 English Broom High 

Dodonaea viscosa 'Purpurea' 1 Purple Hop-bush High 

Erica lusitanica Spanish Heath High 

Genista linifolia Flax-leaf Broom High 

Grevillea rosmarinifolia hybrids 1 Rosemary Grevillea hybrids High 

Hakea laurina Pincushion Hakea High 

Lycium ferocissimum African Box-thorn High 

Myoporum insulare Common Boobialla High 

Pinus radiata var. radiata Radiata Pine High 

Pittosporum undulatum Sweet Pittosporum High 

Rosa rubiginosa Sweet Briar High 

Quercus robur English Oak High 

Rubus anglocandicans Common Blackberry High 

Ulex europaeus Gorse High 

Westringia glabra Violet Westringia High 

Billardiera fusiformis  Bluebell Creeper High 

Geophytes 

Allium triquetrum Angled Onion Low 

Chlorophytum comosum Spider Plant High 
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Taxon Name Common Name Priority Level 

Geophytes (continued) 

Disa bracteata South African Orchid High 

Freesia spp. Freesia High 

Ipheion uniflorum 1 Spring Star-flower Low 

Narcissus spp. Narcissus High 

Oxalis pes-caprae 1 Soursob High 

Oxalis purpurea Large-flower Wood-sorrel Low 

Watsonia meriana var. bulbillifera Bulbil Watsonia High 

Perennial grasses 

Agrostis capillaris var. capillaris Brown-top Bent Low 

Ehrharta erecta var. erecta Panic Veldt-grass Low 

Nassella trichotoma Serrated Tussock High 

Perennial herbs 

Acetosella vulgaris Sheep Sorrel Low 

Agapanthus praecox subsp. orientalis Agapanthus High 

Cortaderia selloana Pampas Grass High 

Cynara cardunculus subsp. flavescens Artichoke Thistle High 

Hypochaeris radicata Flatweed Low 

Iris germanica German Iris High 

Juncus articulatus subsp. articulatus Jointed Rush Low 

Juncus bulbosus Bulbous Rush Low 

Leontodon saxatilis subsp. saxatilis Hairy Hawkbit Low 

Medicago sativa subsp. sativa 1 Lucerne Low 

Plantago lanceolata Ribwort Low 
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Appendix 5. Plant species recommended for use in 

ecological restoration projects at Barrm Birrm. 

The list below excludes species that are likely to be exceedingly difficult to use in revegetation and require specialist knowledge to 

propagate, for example terrestrial orchids and small annual herbs. However, the list still includes some locally occurring species 

that are not widely available from commercial nurseries and may be difficult to acquire but are common features of the native 

vegetation at Barrm Birrm. At species that are not available from nurseries can still be considered a part of revegetation where 

they re-establish at the site through other means (i.e., natural regeneration on restoration sites). 

Taxon Name Common Name Suitable habitat and planting considerations 

Trees (Eucalyptus only) 

Eucalyptus aromaphloia Scentbark GF, GDF, HDF 

Eucalyptus cephalocarpa Mealy Stringybark GF, GDF, HDF 

Eucalyptus dives Broad-leaf Peppermint GF, GDF, HDF 

Eucalyptus obliqua Messmate Stringybark GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Eucalyptus radiata subsp. radiata Narrow-leaf Peppermint GF 

Eucalyptus viminalis subsp. viminalis Manna Gum GF, GDF 

Upright shrubs (excluding Acacia) 

Bursaria spinosa subsp. spinosa Sweet Bursaria GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Daviesia leptophylla Narrow-leaf Bitter-pea GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Dillwynia cinerascens Grey Parrot-pea GF, GDF, HRFF 

Dillwynia sericea Showy Parrot-pea GF, GDF, HDF 
Goodenia ovata Hop Goodenia GF, HRFF, along drainage lines or on sheltered 

slopes 

Grevillea alpina Cat's Claw Grevillea GF, GDF 

Hakea decurrens subsp. physocarpa Bushy Needlewood GDF 

Indigofera australis Austral Indigo GF, GDF, HRFF 

Leptospermum continentale Prickly Tea-tree GF, riparian sites 

Monotoca scoparia Prickly Broom-heath GDF, HDF 

Olearia argophylla Musk Daisy-bush HRFF, riparian and sheltered sites 

Olearia lirata Snowy Daisy-bush HRFF 

Ozothamnus obcordatus Grey Everlasting GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Pimelea linifolia subsp. linifolia Slender Rice-flower GDF, HDF 
Pomaderris racemosa Cluster Pomaderris GF, GDF, HRFF on riparian sites or sheltered 

slopes 

Pultenaea daphnoides Large-leaf Bush-pea GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Low shrubs 

Acrotriche prostrata Trailing Ground-berry GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Acrotriche serrulata Honey-pots GF, GDF, HDF 

Brachyloma ciliatum Fringed Brachyloma HDF 

Cryptandra amara Bitter Cryptandra HDF 

Gompholobium huegelii Common Wedge-pea GDF, HDF 

Hovea heterophylla Common Hovea GF, GDF, HDF 

Kennedia prostrata Running Postman GF, GDF, HDF 

Leucopogon virgatus var. virgatus Common Beard-heath GF, GDF, HDF 

Olearia myrsinoides Silky Daisy-bush GF, GDF 

Persoonia chamaepeuce Dwarf Geebung GDF, HDF 

Pimelea curviflora subsp. sericea Curved Rice-flower GF 

Pimelea humilis Common Rice-flower GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Platylobium montanum subsp. prostratum Mountain Flat-pea GF, GDF, HRFF 

Podolobium procumbens Trailing Podolobium GDF, HDF 

Styphelia humifusa Cranberry Heath GF, GDF 
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Taxon Name Common Name Suitable habitat and planting considerations 

Low shrubs (continued) 

Tetratheca ciliata Pink-bells GF, GDF 

Ferns 

Calochlaena dubia Common Ground-fern HRFF 

Pteridium esculentum Austral Bracken HRFF 

Scramblers and climbers 

Billardiera mutabilis Common Apple-berry GF, GDF 

Clematis aristata Mountain Clematis GF, GDF, HRFF 

Clematis microphylla s.s. Small-leaved Clematis GF, GDF, HRFF 

Comesperma volubile Love Creeper GF, GDF, HRFF 

Glycine clandestina Twining Glycine GF, GDF, HRFF 

Hardenbergia violacea Purple Coral-pea GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Graminoids (excluding grasses) 

Dianella revoluta var. revoluta Black-anther Flax-lily GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Gahnia radula Thatch Saw-sedge GF along drainage lines in sodden areas 

Juncus amabilis Hollow Rush Riparian sites 

Juncus gregiflorus Green Rush Riparian sites 

Juncus holoschoenus Joint-leaf Rush Riparian sites 

Juncus pallidus Pale Rush Riparian sites 

Juncus pauciflorus Loose-flower Rush Riparian sites 

Lepidosperma curtisiae Little Sword-sedge HDF 

Lepidosperma laterale var. laterale Variable Sword-sedge GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Lomandra filiformis subsp. coriacea Wattle Mat-rush GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Lomandra filiformis subsp. filiformis Wattle Mat-rush GF, GDF, HRFF 

Lomandra longifolia subsp. exilis Cluster-headed Mat-rush GDF, HDF 

Lomandra longifolia subsp. longifolia Spiny-headed Mat-rush HRFF 

Grasses 

Anthosachne scabra Common Wheat-grass GF 

Austrostipa pubinodis Tall Spear-grass GF, GDF 

Austrostipa rudis subsp. rudis Veined Spear-grass GF, GDF 

Austrostipa semibarbata Fibrous Spear-grass GF, GDF 

Deyeuxia quadriseta Reed Bent-grass GF, GDF, HRFF 

Dichelachne rara Common Plume-grass GF, GDF, HRFF 

Dichelachne sieberiana Rough Plume-grass GF, GDF, HRFF 

Microlaena stipoides var. stipoides Weeping Grass GF, HRFF 

Poa ensiformis Sword Tussock-grass Riparian sites 

Poa labillardierei var. labillardierei Common Tussock-grass GF, HRFF on riparian sites or sheltered slopes 

Poa sieberiana var. sieberiana Grey Tussock-grass GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Rytidosperma caespitosum Common Wallaby-grass GF 

Rytidosperma geniculatum Kneed Wallaby-grass GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Rytidosperma pallidum Silvertop Wallaby-grass GDF, HDF 

Rytidosperma penicillatum Weeping Wallaby-grass GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Themeda triandra Kangaroo Grass GF 

Herbs 

Acaena agnipila Hairy Sheep's Burr GF 

Acaena novae-zelandiae Bidgee-widgee HRFF, or in GF and GDF in riparian sites 

Arthropodium milleflorum Pale Vanilla-lily GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Arthropodium strictum Chocolate Lily GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Asperula scoparia subsp. scoparia Prickly Woodruff GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Bossiaea prostrata Creeping Bossiaea GF, GDF, HRFF 

Brachyscome diversifolia Tall Daisy GF, GDF, HRFF 

Brunonia australis Blue Pincushion GF, GDF, HRFF 

Burchardia umbellata Milkmaids GF, GDF, HRFF 

Caesia parviflora Pale Grass-lily GF, GDF, HRFF 
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Taxon Name Common Name Suitable habitat and planting considerations 

Herbs (continued) 

Chrysocephalum apiculatum subsp. 
congestum Plains Everlasting GF 

Chrysocephalum baxteri White Everlasting HDF 

Chrysocephalum semipapposum Clustered Everlasting GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Coronidium scorpioides Button Everlasting GF, GDF, HRFF 

Craspedia variabilis Variable Billy-buttons GF, GDF, HRFF 

Cymbonotus preissianus Austral Bear's-ear GF, GDF, HRFF 

Dichondra repens Kidney-weed GF, GDF, HRFF 

Geranium potentilloides var. potentilloides Soft Crane's-bill HRFF 

Geranium sp. 2 Variable Crane's-bill GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Gonocarpus tetragynus Common Raspwort GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Isotoma fluviatilis subsp. australis Swamp Isotome Riparian sites 

Lagenophora stipitata Common Bottle-daisy HRFF 

Lagenophora sublyrata Slender Bottle-daisy HRFF 

Leptorhynchos tenuifolius Wiry Buttons GF, GDF, HDF 

Lobelia pedunculata Matted Pratia HRFF 

Microseris walteri Yam Daisy GF, GDF, HDF 

Opercularia ovata Broad-leaf Stinkweed GF, GDF 

Opercularia varia Variable Stinkweed GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Oxalis exilis Shady Wood-sorrel GF, HRFF 

Oxalis perennans Grassland Wood-sorrel GF, GDF, HRFF 

Plantago varia Variable Plantain GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Podolepis decipiens Common Podolepis GF, GDF 

Rhytidosporum procumbens White Marianth GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Senecio glomeratus subsp. glomeratus Annual Fireweed GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Senecio hispidulus Rough Fireweed GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 
Senecio linearifolius var. linearifolius Fireweed Groundsel HRFF 

Senecio microbasis Slender Fireweed GDF, HDF 

Senecio odoratus Scented Groundsel GF, HRFF 

Senecio phelleus Stony Fireweed GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Senecio prenanthoides Beaked Fireweed GF, HRFF 

Senecio quadridentatus Cotton Fireweed GF 

Solenogyne dominii Smooth Solenogyne GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Stackhousia monogyna  Creamy Candles GF, GDF, HRFF 

Stellaria pungens Prickly Starwort HRFF 

Stylidium armeria subsp. armeria Common Triggerplant GF 

Stylidium armeria subsp. pilosifolium Hairy-leaf Triggerplant GDF, HDF 

Thysanotus patersonii Twining Fringe-lily GF, GDF 

Thysanotus tuberosus subsp. tuberosus Common Fringe-lily GF, GDF, HDF 

Tricoryne elatior Yellow Rush-lily GF 

Veronica calycina Hairy Speedwell GF, GDF, HRFF 

Veronica gracilis Slender Speedwell GF 

Viola cleistogamoides Hidden Violet GF, GDF 

Viola hederacea Ivy-leaf Violet GF, GDF, HRFF 

Vittadinia gracilis Woolly New Holland Daisy GF, GDF 

Wahlenbergia capillaris Tufted Bluebell GF, GDF 

Wahlenbergia stricta subsp. stricta Tall Bluebell GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Wurmbea dioica subsp. dioica Common Early Nancy GF, GDF, HDF, HRFF 

Xerochrysum viscosum Shiny Everlasting GF, GDF, HDF 
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Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Community Statement 

The Wurundjeri people have been caring for Country since the beginning of time. 
Our message is that Wurundjeri people have a deep understanding and knowledge 
of Country and that Wurundjeri’s connection should be respected and valued. 

The Wurundjeri have an unbroken relationship with Country, caring for this land, its 
waterways, its plants, and animals. A core purpose of Wurundjeri Woi-Wurrung 
Corporation is the protection, preservation and revitalisation of Wurundjeri culture 
and cultural practices.  

There is a deep cultural obligation and birthright to look after Country and keep it 
healthy. Country to us includes the land, water, plants, animals, and spirits of the 
traditional lands. Country is known through the Songlines of the Ancestors who lived 
here for thousands of years.  

Today our Country is shared with Victorians from many different backgrounds. In 
addition, people from all across Australia and even internationally visit our Country. 
We believe that Wurundjeri people must take a leading role in working with all 
communities on matters of Country.  

As Traditional Owners we seek to build solid, working relationships and partnerships 
across our Traditional Country to protect, manage, and restore the land and water 
today and for the future generations.  

We have the right and the obligation to speak for Country. 

 

[Introduction to the Wurundjeri Community Response to the Macedon Ranges Shire 
Council Statement of Planning Policy (Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Aboriginal Cultural 
Heritage Corporation 2019)] 
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Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people retain their custodianship over their cultural lands. Indigenous 
Sovereignty has never been ceded.  
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Introduction 

Macedon Ranges Shire Council engaged the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal 
Corporation to undertake a cultural heritage assessment at Barrm Birrm. The assessment will help to 
increase the Council’s understanding of the cultural values of the area and inform future management 
actions. 

The information contained in the report may not be inclusive of all the local cultural values and does 
not reduce any legal or compliance requirements regarding property development, planning controls, 
land clearing, or the removal of cultural heritage material.  

Background and Value 

‘Barrm Birrm’ (place of many yam roots) is an expanse of open forest overlooking Riddells Creek.  

The former Shone and Schultz sub-division has high quality woodlands in private and Council 
ownership. The 118.6 hectare site was subdivided in the 1880s into over 161 allotments ranging in 
size from 0.3 hectares to 5.2 hectares. The inappropriate subdivision was sold to private owners in the 
1970s by a property developer called Shone & Shultz. Over the years some landowners have 
transferred the titles of their land to Council but most of the lots (107) remain in private ownership. 
The lots cannot be built on for a range of reasons including planning scheme restrictions, lack of 
services, fire risk concerns and the high value native vegetation on the site.  

The land supports high conservation values and a number of threatened flora species. Council’s 
Biodiversity Strategy 2018 outlines a series of actions aimed at achieving the transfer of Barrm Birrm 
properties to public ownership and creation of a nature conservation reserve.  

Council’s Natural Environmental Strategy 2009 – 2012, identified that the land has significant 
environmental and biodiversity values. The lower slopes of the land are classified as “grassy forest”, 
which has a conservation value of ‘vulnerable.’  

The site contains native vegetation of high conservation significance on the southeast side of the 
Macedon Ranges. Mapped as mostly Grassy Dry Forest EVC, it has over 27 species of native orchids 
and the only plant endemic to the Macedon Ranges Shire – the Hairy-leaf Triggerplant. The site plays 
an important landscape connectivity role, adjoining public land at Conglomerate Gully Reserve and 
providing habitat links through to T Hill Flora Reserve and Mount Charlie Reserve. 

To date, 220 native plant species, including 29 orchid species have been identified in the subdivision.  

Barrm Birrm is located within the traditional land of the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung language group, and 
the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation is the Registered Aboriginal 
Party responsible for the management of Aboriginal cultural heritage in this area under the Aboriginal 
Heritage Act 2006.  

The bushland of Barrm Birrm is very special to the local residents, particularly members of Riddells 
Creek Landcare, who have been advocating for the site’s protection and sensitive management.  
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Purpose of the Study  

The purpose of the project is to undertake a Cultural Heritage Assessment and tangible Cultural 
Heritage Survey to identify areas of cultural heritage sensitivity and significance, and inform future 
management of the site.  

Method 

The information in this report is drawn from a number of sources, but primarily has arisen from a field 
trip and research undertaken by the Heritage and Research Units of the Wurundjeri Woi-Wurrung 
Cultural Heritage Aboriginal Corporation.  

Wurundjeri Woi-Wurrung Cultural Aboriginal Corporation  

The Wurundjeri Woi wurrung Cultural Heritage Aboriginal cares for over 7,000km² of country, 
encompassing land from the northern banks of the Werribee River, moving east across the vast 
volcanic plains of Western Victoria and the rolling hills of Lerderberg State Park, to the dense, lush 
forests of the Yarra Ranges as far as the eastern tributaries of the Yarra River near Baw Baw Village. It 
borders Dja Dja Wurrung country in the Macedon Ranges Shire and includes the major settlements of 
Gisborne, Riddells Creek, Macedon and Romsey. 

The Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Council under the Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Act 2006 approved the 
Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung RAP area in 2008.  

 

 

Figure 1: Wurundjeri RAP boundaries (in yellow) (First Peoples – State Relations 2023) 
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Barrm Birrm Study Area Description  

The study area is part of the cultural landscape of Barrm Birrm, which extended throughout the 
Riddells Creek area connecting to the Macedon Ranges cultural landscape within Wurundjeri Woi-
wurrung Country.  

The Macedon Ranges cultural landscape is part of a travel route between Wurundjeri and Dja Dja 
Wurrung Country, with Mount Macedon being used as an important guiding landscape feature for this 
route. At the far end of the Mt Macedon plateau is Hanging Rock, another culturally significant area.   

The modern demarcation of Barrm Birrm today is bounded by the study area. The study area covers 
118.6 hectares comprised of privately owned parcels and public land managed by the Macedon 
Ranges Shire Council within the township of Riddells Creek, approximate 55 km northwest of the 
Melbourne CBD.  

The study area is bordered by Gap Road to the north, Royale Parade to the east, Somerville Road to 
the South and a rural conservation zone to the west. The southeast corner borders with the Riddells 
Creek Cemetery established in 1869.  

The study area is bordered by culturally sensitive waterways with Sandy Creek to the north and Wimbi 
Creek to the south. A small watercourse, Murnong Creek, has its source in Barrm Birrm. Barrm Birrm 
is bordered by a ridge on the western boundary which feeds tributaries of Sandy Creek, Murnong 
Creek (formerly known as Riddells Creek Main Drain) and Wimbi Creek. From Barrm Birrm it runs in a 
southerly direction through the township and joins Riddells Creek just south of the Bendigo railway 
line (Sandy 2020:156).  

Post-colonial demarcation of land is not reflective of how Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people engaged 
and continue to engage with Barrm Birrm.  

Geographic region  

The geographic region is based on major waterways that surround the Macedon Ranges that have 
sustained Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung peoples for thousands of years. For the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung 
people connection to Country is reinforced by indivisible intangible and cultural values that are 
imbued in the landscape, particularly waterways which are seen to be the ‘life blood’ of the 
Woiwurrung culture (Wurundjeri Woiwurrung Aboriginal Corporation, 2020, p. 127). 

The geographic region is bound to the north by tributaries of Bolinda Creek and Riddells Creek, to the 
east by Bolinda Creek and Emu Creek, to the south by a portion of Jacksons Creek and Blind Creek, 
and to the west by tributaries of Kororoit Creek.  
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Map 1: Map of the geographic region (in red) and Barrm Birrm (in pink) with Aboriginal cultural heritage places registered in the area (black symbols). Areas of cultural heritage sensitivity are 
shown in green, waterways are shown in blue. Map source: Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Register Information System (ACHRIS). 
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Archaeological Records 

A search of the Victorian Aboriginal Heritage Register (VAHR) on 22 June 2023 (undertaken by a 
qualified Heritage Advisor) identified 262 previously recorded Aboriginal places within the geographic 
region, comprising 745 components. 
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Map 1: Map of the geographic region (in red) and Barrm Birrm (in pink) with Aboriginal cultural 
heritage places registered in the area (black symbols). Areas of cultural heritage sensitivity are shown 
in green, waterways are shown in blue. Map source: Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Register Information 
System (ACHRIS).). Place types include artefact scatters (n=187), low density artefact distributions 
(LDADs) (n=46), culturally modified scarred trees (n=10), earth features (n=9), quarries (n=4), 
Aboriginal cultural places (n=4) and stone features (n=2).  

 

 
Figure 2 Aboriginal Places within the geographic region 
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Thirty-three previously registered Aboriginal places are located within the municipality of Riddells 
Creek, consisting of artefact scatters (n=28) and LDADs (n=5). As shown in Map 1, Aboriginal cultural 
heritage places in the geographic region have been found in close proximity to waterways, which are 
recognised as being areas of cultural heritage sensitivity. Other sensitive landforms include alluvial 
terraces, ridgelines and elevated ground close to permanent and ephemeral waterways. 

Archaeological investigations within Victoria are mainly driven by the development of land and 
associated impacts to known or potential Aboriginal cultural heritage. Impacts to Aboriginal cultural 
heritage in Victoria are managed and protected under the Victorian Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006 and 
Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2018 mainly through Cultural Heritage Management Plans (CHMPs) 
and Cultural Heritage Permits (CHPs) as defined by the Acts and Regulations. Under this legislation, 
‘high-impact’ activities require a cultural heritage assessment if they propose impacts in defined areas 
of cultural heritage sensitivity. If sites are identified, these places are registered with the Victorian 
Aboriginal Heritage Register (VAHR), a state database that collates all known Aboriginal places in 
Victoria.  Aboriginal cultural heritage places are most commonly registered with the VAHR as known 
‘sites’ following assessments at the locations of proposed infrastructure and land developments. 

A relatively small number of archaeological investigations have occurred within the geographic region, 
due to the slow urbanisation of the region since the enactment of the Victorian Aboriginal Heritage 
Act 2006 and the inaccessibility of the Macedon Ranges. The Victorian Aboriginal Heritage Register 
(VAHR) is therefore not an accurate reflection of the tangible cultural heritage within the geographic 
region and does not reflect the ongoing intangible connection Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people have 
to Barrm Birrm, Riddells Creek and their Country. Given the lack of formal surveys outside areas of 
cultural heritage sensitivity (as defined by the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006), it is highly likely that 
numerous places are yet to be identified. 

The closest registered Aboriginal places are two artefact scatters approximately 100 metres from the 
study area (VAHR 7823-0198 and VAHR 7823-0199) identified during the preparation of a CHMP. They 
were found within 90 metres of Sandy Creek, one on the crest of a rise, and the other in open 
grassland. Their current condition is unknown.  

Geomorphology and geology  

Geomorphology  

The geographic region is located within the terrain of Victoria’s Western Uplands (Figure 3) which 
varies considerably depending on age, and to a lesser extent, the volcanic parent material of the 
Western Plains (Rosengren, 1999). The Western Uplands is characterised by a suite of residual 
Palaeozoic (550 – 250 million years ago) bedrock formations that have undergone episodes of 
differential erosion (Agriculture Australia, 2023a). Flat to undulating plains are primarily composed of 
these lava flows (Joyce, 2003). The younger flows retain their original stony rises and rocky outcrops, 
whereas the older lava flows have undergone extensive weathering and, in some instances, the 
complete decomposition of the rock (Rosengren, 1999) to form undulating plains and plateaus (Joyce, 
2003).    

The Western Uplands comprises a composite of low-lying landscapes such as gentle slopes and 
volcanic plains interspersed with low relief summits including Mount William (1167m), Mount 
Macedon (1001m) and Mount Buangor (966m) (Agriculture Australia, 2023a). Mesozoic (250 – 65 
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million years ago) palaeosurfaces are associated with the plateaus of Mount Cole, Mount Macedon 
and Mount Buangor and fault scarps have been formed through localized dissection in combination 
with tectonic activity (Agriculture Australia, 2023a). Volcanic plains extend throughout the Western 
Uplands and feature conglomerations of scoria cones across a relatively flat to undulating and 
dissected landscape as well as lakes and swamps that have formed as a result of lava damming (Joyce 
et al., 1991).  

The Western Uplands landscapes have experienced extensive subaerial exposure, weathering, and 
erosion, which has produced deep regolith (Joyce et al., 1991). Stream dissection has caused alluvial 
deposition events along valleys and out onto the plains. Newer Volcanic activity has caused the 
damming and displacement of streams that intersect the plains landform, which has influenced lateral 
stream development (Joyce et al., 1991).  

There are three primary subregions that exist within the Western Uplands: the Dissected Uplands, the 
Grampians, and the Tablelands. The subregion that exists within the study area is the Dissected 
Uplands. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Figure 3: Map of tier one geomorphological divisions in Victoria (source: Agriculture Australia, 2023). 

 
Dissected Uplands 

The Dissected Uplands form part of the Western Uplands geomorphological division. The dissected 
uplands are characterised by various interconnected landforms including undulating low hills that 
have been dissected by a dendritic drainage pattern, as well as broad valleys, basaltic volcanic plains, 
and scoria cones (Agriculture Australia, 2023b).  

A mantle of aeolian sediment was laid down on the region’s surface during the Quaternary Period, 
which resulted in the accumulation of calcareous clay and silt to the soils, as well as alluvial deposits 
of varying ages that are prominent on or directly adjacent to basaltic lava flows (Joyce et al., 1991).  
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From the 1850s onwards, alluvium mining and farming activities such as ploughing, grazing, and 
cropping, construction works and landscape clearing have resulted in the continuing erosion of land 
across the Dissected Uplands, including the study area.  

Geomorphological units within the study area  

Geomorphological Unit 2.1.1: Ridges, escarpments, mountains on non-granitic Palaeozoic rocks: 

The study area is situated within Geomorphological Unit 2.1.1, which comprises ridges, escarpments, 
and mountainous landforms on non-granitic Palaeozoic rock formations (Agriculture Australia, 2023c). 
Generally, landscapes associated with the Palaeozoic sedimentary rocks are characterised by a series 
of undulating low hills that have been dissected by dendritic drainage systems that were formed due 
to waterways following the natural slope of terrain, particularly in mountainous areas (Joyce et al., 
1991). This drainage pattern forms the upper catchments of the Moorabool, Leigh, and Woady Yaloak 
Rivers (Agriculture Australia, 2023c). Ridges, escarpments, and mountains are present in the upper 
catchments of the Wimmera River, Mount William Creek, and Mount Cole Creek drainage networks.  

Differential erosion has occurred in varying degrees across these landscapes, which has resulted in a 
deeply weathered Palaeogene (approximately 66 – 23 million years ago) palaeosurface featuring rocky 
outcrops (Agriculture Australia, 2023c; Joyce et al., 1991).   

Bedrock ridges, fault scarps and monoclines consisting primarily of shales, mudstones and sandstones 
that have experienced intense periods of faulting and folding before more recent metamorphism 
events, resulted in the alteration of sedimentary rocks into metasediments such as slate, schists and 
hornfels (Agriculture Australia, 2023c).  

Geomorphological units within the georegion  

Geomorphological Unit 2.1.2: Hills, valley slopes and plains on non-granitic Palaeozoic rocks: 

The north-eastern, central, and north-western portions of the geographic region are situated within 
Geomorphological Unit 2.1.2, comprising the hills, slopes and plain landforms on non-granitic 
Palaeozoic rock formations which flank the ridges, escarpments, and mountains of Geomorphological 
Unit 2.1.1 (discussed above). Geomorphological Unit 2.1.2 consists of a mosaic of strike ridge, hill and 
valley landforms interspersed with rise and plain landforms (Agriculture Australia, 2023d). The varying 
degrees of undulation (gentle to steep) create a fundamental link between the surrounding 
mountainous terrain and the alluvial plains of the Wimmera River and Mount William Creek.    

Geomorphological Unit 2.1.6: Eruption points and volcanic plains: 

The majority of the geographic region is situated within Geomorphological Unit 2.1.6, comprising 
recently formed basalt volcanic landscapes that formed during the Neogene (~23 – 2.6 million years 
ago) and Quaternary (~2.6 million years ago to recent) Periods. Basalts of the Newer Volcanics have 
filled many large ancient valleys, forming elongated to undulating plains that are generally fringed by 
displaced drainage (Agriculture Australia, 2023e). Eruption points are scattered across these 
landforms in the form of lava cones, composite cones, and low shield volcanoes (Agriculture Australia, 
2023e).   

The basalt plains feature scattered stony rises in pedologically young soils. Stony rises are prominent 
cultural landforms within volcanic landscapes across western Victoria. They are vesicular basalt 



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item PE.2 - Attachment 2 Page 133 

  

6 
 

outcrops that were formed by extensive lava flows which spread radially as a series of lobes 
overlapping one another (Agriculture Australia, 2023e).  Stony rises vary in relief from minor 
undulations to prominent rises, depending on the geological processes by which they are formed 
(Agriculture Australia, 2023e). 

Drainage systems of the basalt plains are poorly developed and alluvial and aeolian sediments typically 
overlie basalts where displaced drainage systems have redeveloped as internal drainage systems 
connected to swamps (Sibley 1967). These swamplands and alluvial plains exist within the basaltic 
landscapes where a defined lateral stream has not developed (Agriculture Australia, 2023e).  

Geomorphological Unit 2.1.7: Terraces and floodplains 

The west of the georegion is flanked by Geomorphological Unit 2.1.7, which is comprised of the alluvial 
terraces and floodplains associated with Burrungma Dalga. Alluvial flats commonly exist on valley 
floors. In the Dissected Uplands, most alluvium sediments have been deposited during drainage 
disruption during periods of volcanism in the Late Neogene Period (Agriculture Australia, 2023f).  

Geology  

The area between Gisborne and Lancefield features the Kerrie Group geological deposits, made up of 
the Goat Rocks Conglomerate and Kirribilly Sandstone likely deposited in the Silurian/Devonian 
periods. The Goat Rocks Conglomerate is a formation of pebble- to boulder-sized clasts within a matrix 
of sandstone, quartzite, chert and gritstone finer particles (Moore et al., 1998; VandenBerg, 2009). 
This unit can be up to 900m thick within the Black Range. Notably, the type locality for the Goat Rocks 
Conglomerate is situated at Conglomerate Gully in Riddells Creek, within approximately 1-2km of 
Barrm Birrm. The Kirribilli Sandstone comprises thin-bedded siltstone or sandstone layers which 
interfinger with the Goat Rocks Conglomerate. A cartographic representation of the geology within 
the Riddells Creek Region including the study area undertaken by the Victoria Geological Survey in 
1859 (Figure 4). 

The cartograph notes that the geology of Barrm Birrm consists of:  

‘Extensive beds of coarse conglomerable (Carbonfs) consisting of almost entirely of smooth 
rounded pebbles of a purple subcrystalline sandstone with almost total absence of quartz 
pebbles, constitute the entire mass of these two parallel ranges with their various spurs 
branches , coarse grained and fine grained partially altered sandstones are starling 
interstratified with them. Thickness probably 500 feet or more’.  

Fine section showing conglomerate beds exposed and weathered into large tabularmass 
bedding obscure but apparent in the section (Victoria Geological Survey, 1859).  

The cartograph also describes sandstone located within the Barrm Birrm, stating:  

‘conglomerates & associated sandstones of these ranges are apparently uncomfortable on the 
lower Silurian rocks. They for extensive outliers & capping along the summits of the hills & are 
probably of the age of the Australian otolithic coal series. Owing to the inaccessible character 
of the country the boundaries have not been traced’ (Victoria Geological Survey, 1859) 
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Figure 4 Gisborne Macedon Mines Department Geological Map (Victoria Geological Survey, 1859) (approximate location of 
the study area in red) https://mapwarper.prov.vic.gov.au/maps/7360#Show_tab 

Native Vegetation: Values and Uses  

The values and uses of the study have links to the types of native vegetation which once flourished in 
the local landscape. Riddells Creek township is located in an area that was rich in different vegetation 
communities, providing habitat for a broad range of species. The diversity is due in part to its location 
on a bioregional boundary area with elements of the Victorian Western Uplands potentially present 
and reflected in diversity. The other reason for the diversity of local species includes different soil 
types, topographic variation and rainfall, as well as landform diversity, with dividing range foothills, 
plains landscapes and volcanic cones all present in the local Macedon Ranges. 

Pre-1750s Vegetation in the geographic region   

The geographic region’s pre-1750s landscape comprises several EVCs that would have occurred on 
various geologies and landforms, providing medicinal, functional and subsistence resources for 
Aboriginal people occupying and traversing the region. These EVCs include (DEECA, 2023b):  

• Lowland Forest (EVC 16) 
• Herb-rich Foothill Forest (EVC 23) 
• Damp Forest (EVC 29) 
• Valley Grassy Forest (EVC 47) 
• Plains Grassy Woodland (EVC 83) 
• Grassy Forest (EVC 128) 
• Riparian Woodland (EVC 641) 
• Plains Sedgy Wetland (EVC 647) 
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• Stream Bank Shrubland (EVC 851))  

The EVCs within the geographic region are summarised below.  

Lowland Forest (EVC 16) 

The Lowland Forest comprises a eucalypt forest (up to 20m tall) that occupies relatively fertile and 
moderately well-drained soils in areas that experience high annual rainfall. The Lowland Forest 
ecosystem is characterised primarily by the diversity of shrubs, herbs, and grasses of the understory 
(DEECA, 2023a). The overstory comprises Red Box (Eucalyptus polyanthemos), the bark of which was 
utilised to manufacture shields, coolamons and other vessels (Nash, 2004); and Messmate Stringybark 
(Eucalyptus obliqua) that was used as tinder for creating fires and the inner bark could also be used to 
manufacture coarse strings for bags and fishing nets (Conservation Collective, 2020). The gum of the 
Golden Wattle (Acacia pycnantha) in the understory could be eaten or used to make a sweet drink, 
the Bark could be used to treat indigestion and the fibres could be used to manufacture string for bags 
and baskets (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d). Tussock Grass (Poa australis spp. agg.) on the ground 
layer could be manufactured into strings for nets and bags (Cumpston, 2020).  

Other species include trees such as the Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon); prostate shrubs including 
the Cranberry Heath (Astroloma humifusum) and Honey-pots (Acrotriche serrulate); medium herbs 
such as Small St John’s Wort (Hypericum gramineum); large tufted graminoids including Austral Grass-
tree (Xanthorrhoea australis) and small shrubs like the Common Rice-flower (Pimelea humilis) (DEECA, 
2023a).  

Herb-rich Foothill Forest (EVC 23) 

The Herb-rich Foothill Forest is comprised of an open eucalypt forest (up to 25m tall) with a sparse to 
dense shrub understory and a dense and species diverse herbaceous and grassy ground layer. These 
ecosystems occur on relatively fertile, moderately well-drained soils on various geologies and in areas 
that experience moderate to high annual rainfall. Typically, species associated with this EVC occupy 
lower slope and gully landforms (DEECA, 2023a).  

The overstory consists of various eucalypt species including Swamp Gum (Eucalyptus ovata), 
Messmate Stringybark (Eucalyptus obliqua) and Manna Gum (Eucalyptus viminalis ssp. viminalis). The 
wood from the Manna Gum was utilised to manufacture coolamons and shields. The manna (sugary 
extrusions on the leaves) could be gathered when they fell to the ground and consumed. The leaves 
of the Manna Gum also have medicinal properties and when burned the smoke could soothe fever 
(Nash, 2004; Maribyrnong City Council, n.d).  

Common Rice-flower (Pimelea humilis), Austral Bracken (Pteridium esculentum), Honey-pots 
(Acrotriche serrulat), Common Apple-berry (Billardiera scandens) and Blackwood (Acacia 
melanoxylon) form the understory of the Herb-rich Foothill Forest ecosystem. The nectar produced 
from the flowers of Honey-pots could be consumed and the Common Apple-berry produces fruits that 
were consumed when ripe (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d). Blackwood could be fashioned into 
weapons including spear-throwers, shields and clubs (Cumpston, 2020). The bark of the Blackwood is 
rich in tannins, which have both antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. The bark was heated 
over the fire and infused with water and used to bathe aching joints (Cumpston, 2020; Nash, 2004; 
Australian National Botanic Gardens, 2000). Blackwood could also be used to create fishing lines, and 
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the leaves could be used to create a fish poison that could stun fish for easy collection (Maribyrnong 
City Council, n.d).  

The herbaceous and grassy ground layer includes Slender Tussock-grass (Poa tenera), which could be 
used to make strings for nets and bags. Other species in the Herb-rich Foothill Forest include medium 
to tiny non-tufted graminoids such as Common Hedgehog-grass (Echinopogon ovatus); 
scramblers/climbers including Twining Glycine (Glycine clandestina); and medium tufted graminoids 
like Common Woodrush (Luzula meridionalis var. flaccida) (DEECA, 2023a).  

Damp Forest (EVC 29) 

Damp Forest ecosystems occur on well-developed, generally colluvial deposits at various elevations 
ranging from sea level to montane. Damp Forests are dominated by a eucalypt tree layer (up to 30m 
tall) over a medium to tall, dense, shrub understory consisting of species typical of wet forest 
environments, intermixed with species more conducive to drier environments. The ground layer is 
often herbaceous and grassy with a suite of moisture-dependent fern species (DEECA, 2023a).  

The overstory is dominated by Messmate Stringybark (Eucalyptus obliqua) whilst the understory 
consists of Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon), Prickly Currant-bush (Coprosma quadrifida) and Victorian 
Christmas-bush (Prostanthera lasianthos). Prickly Currant-bush produces edible, sweet fruits that 
ripen in the summer and the Victorian Christmas-bush was utilised as the drill piece to start fires 
quickly and carefully (although the Austral Mulberry (Hedycarya angustifolia) was preferred) 
(Melbourne Museum, 2023).  

The herbaceous ground layer consists of species such as the Spiny-headed Mat-rush (Lomandra 
longifolia), the strap-shaped leaves of which were gathered from the banks of watercourses to 
manufacture into baskets. Women split each rush before tying them into bundles to be soaked, which 
allowed the fibres to become pliable for weaving (Nash, 2004). The Spiny-headed Mat-rush was also 
used for weaving necklaces, headbands, girdies, mats and bags, as well as aquacultural technologies 
such as eel traps, and agricultural activities such as hunting nets (Cumpston, 2020). The seeds are high 
in protein and could be pounded into a bread mix, whilst the roots were used to treat bites and stings 
(Cumpston, 2020).  

Other species in the Damp Forest ecosystem include trees such as the Musk Daisy-bush (Olearia 
argophylla), medium shrubs including the Prickly Moses (Acacia verticillata), and medium herbs like 
the Bidgee-widgee (Acaena novae-zelandiae).  

Valley Grassy Forest (EVC 47) 

Valley Grassy Forests occur on fertile, well-drained colluvial or alluvial soils on undulating lower slopes 
and valley floor landforms and in areas that experience moderate rainfall regimes. The open eucalypt 
overstory (up to 25m tall) comprises an array of eucalypt species with a preference for more fertile 
conditions. The understory consists of a sparse shrub layer, whilst the ground layer is species-rich and 
consists of herbs, graminoids, lilies and sedges; however, in drier conditions the species diversity of 
the ground layer decreases (DEECA, 2023a).  

The eucalypt overstory consists of species such as Candlebark (Eucalyptus rubida), Yellow Box 
(Eucalyptus melliodora) and Narrow Leaf Peppermint (Eucalyptus radiata s.l.). The leaves of the 
Narrow Leaf Peppermint could be utilised medicinally to treat fevers. The understory comprises 
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species such as Common Heath (Epacris impressa) and Golden Wattle (Acacia pycnantha). The gum 
from the Golden Wattle could be either eaten or infused to make a sweet drink. Bark of the Golden 
Wattle could be used to treat indigestion and the fibres were utilised to manufacture string for baskets 
and bags (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d).  

The ground layer consists of Wattle Mat-rush (Lomandra filiformis) and Kangaroo Grass (Themeda 
triandra). Wattle Mat-rush was both drought and frost resistant and served as an important food 
resource for skippers (Cumpston, 2020) as well as being used to weave dilly bags (Grasslands – 
Biodiversity of South Eastern Australia, n.d). Kangaroo Grass was an important food source as its seeds 
could be ground to make flower for bread and damper (Cumpston, 2020). This grass was skillfully 
cultivated and once formed across a large portion of the Victorian low-lying plains landscape 
(Cumpston, 2020). Kangaroo Grass also served a functional purpose and was utilised to manufacture 
string for nets (Cumpston, 2020).  

Other species conducive to Valley Grassland Forest ecosystems include prostate shrubs such as Thin-
leaf Wattle (Acacia aculeatissima), medium herbs such as Milkmaids (Burchardia umbellata) and large 
tufted graminoids including Reed Bent-grass (Deyeuxia quadriseta) (DEECA, 2023a).  

Plains Grassy Woodland (EVC 55) 

Plains Grassy Woodland throughout this region contains numerous species of value to Wurundjeri 
people for medicine, food, fibre, and tools. 

The Plains Grassy Woodlands consist of an open eucalypt woodland (up to 15m tall) and a sparse shrub 
understory that overlies a species rich grassy and herbaceous ground layer. These ecosystems occupy 
poorly-drained, fertile soils on undulating plains at low elevations (DEECA, 2023a).  

The overstory consists of eucalypt species including River Red Gum (Eucalyptus camaldulensis), Manna 
Gum (Eucalyptus viminali) and Swamp Gum (Eucalyptus ovata). The understory comprises species 
such as the Cranberry Heath (Astroloma humifusum), which produce edible fruits, and the Cherry 
Ballart (Exocarpos cupressiformis), which not only produces edible fruits, but the wood could also be 
used to manufacture spear throwers (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d).  

Beal is the Woi-wurrung name for the River Red Gum. River Red Gum are old and large trees, and 
there are few examples of active regeneration and replacement. The eventual loss of these trees will 
result in a significant change in landscape character. The loss of these trees over time is a risk identified 
by some of the Elders, not only because there may be cultural scarring on the trees, but also becs=ause 
it may make it easier for increased urban expansion to occur.  

Other species that formed part of the Plains Grassy Woodland ecosystem include trees like the 
Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon), small shrubs such as the Common Rice-flower (Pimelea humilis), 
prostate shrubs including Honey-pots (Acrotriche serrulata) and ground ferns like Austral Bracken 
(Pteridium esculentum) (DEECA, 2023a).  

There are numerous food, fibre, art, and medicine plant species associated with this vegetation type 
including Cranes Bill (Geranium sp.), Reeds (Juncus sp.), and Flax Lilly (Dianella sp.). This ecosystem 
also provides habitat for numerous bird species, particularly ducks, waterhens, and swans many of 
which are highly valued food sources. The extent of the Plains Sedgy Wetland is determined by the 
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climate, particularly rainfall, and over time the area would have shrunk and grown according to 
seasonal and long-term climatic cycling. 

Swampy Riparian Woodland (EVC 83) 

Swampy Riparian Woodlands comprise a eucalypt woodland (up to 15m tall) that typically occurrs 
along low energy streams in association with foothill and plains landforms. These ecosystems are 
typically dominated by various medium to large shrub species on stream levees and large tussock 
grasses and sedges that occupy the ground layer (DEECA, 2023a).  

The overstory consists of Eurabbie (Eucalyptus globulus ssp. bicostata) and Swamp Gum (Eucalyptus 
ovata). The understory consists of species such as Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon), Water Pepper 
(Persicaria hydropiper) and Woolly Tea-tree (Leptospermum lanigerum). Woolly Tea-tree could be 
used to create both single and double barbed spears (Melbourne Museum, 2023). The understory 
comprises a suite of ground ferns including Austral Bracken (Pteridium esculentum), Fishbone 
Waterfern (Blechnum nudum), Soft Waterfern (Blechnum minus) and Common Maidenhair (Adiantum 
aethiopicum) (DEECA, 2023a).  

Grassy Forest (EVC 128) 

Grassy Forests often occur in drier, transitional areas between Box Stringybark Forest and Tall Herb-
rich Forest ecosystems. The Grassy Forest comprises a low growing forest (up to 20m tall) and features 
an understory of small to medium sized shrubs and various herbs (DEECA, 2023a).  

The overstory consists of various eucalypt species including Messmate Stringybark (Eucalyptus 
obliqua), Candlebark (Eucalyptus rubida) and Narrow Leaf Peppermint (Eucalyptus radiata s.l.). The 
understory comprises various small, medium and prostate shrubs, as well as large herbs encompassing 
species such as Grey Parrot-pea (Dillwynia cinerascens s.l.), Honey-pots (Acrotriche serrulata), 
Common Heath (Epacris impressa), Annual Fireweed (Senecio glomeratus) and Ivy-leaf Violet (Viola 
hederacea sensu) (DEECA, 2023a).  

Understorey species include a variety of Acacias, many of which had traditional uses, such as sap for 
medicine and adhesives, wood for tools like digging sticks, and as habitat for animals used for food. 
Similar to the Plains Woodland, many of the herbaceous species have food, fibre, and/or medicinal 
properties. Early Nancy (Wurmbia dioica) have edible roots, while Flax Lilies (Dianella sp.) are key fibre 
plants producing fine silk like fibres. These are resources which were once common thoughout the 
Gisborne landscape.   

The ground layer comprises ground ferns such as Austral Bracken (Pteridium esculentum) and 
scramblers/climbers such as Purple Coral-pea (Hardenbergia violacea). The leaves and flowers of the 
Purple Coral-pea could be used to treat ulcers and brewed into a hot drink to remedy chest infections 
(DEECA, 2023; Cumpston, 2020).  

Riparian Woodland (EVC 641) 

Riparian Woodlands are dominated by River Red Gums (up to 15m tall) over a tussock grass understory 
that typically occurs beside permanent watercourses on alluvial deposits. Occasionally, tall shrubs are 
present and amphibious herbs can occur in ephemeral ponds beside creeks. Species conducive to 
these ecosystems can typically withstand regular, but short periods of inundation (DEECA, 2023a).  
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The overstory consists of River Red Gums (Eucalyptus camaldulensis). Canoes were manufactured 
from the bark of River Red Gums as the high-quality wood was resistant to rotting. The bark of the 
River Red Gum was also used to create shelters and fashion shields and coolamons. It is also 
documented that William Barak used the sap from the trunk of the Red Gum to medicinally treat burns 
(Cumpston, 2023).  

The understory of the Riparian Woodland ecosystem comprises various shrub and herb species 
including River Mint (Mentha australis) that could be crushed and inhaled to treat coughs, colds and 
headaches as well as infused into a tea, as its antimicrobial properties could benefit stomach issues as 
well as being utilised as an insect repellant (Cumpston, 2020). Tall Sedge (Carex appressa) that is also 
present in the understory not only provided protection and habitat for birds, fish, amphibians and 
crustaceans; the leaves could also be utilised to manufacture baskets (Cumpston, 2020).  

The understory consists of scrambler and climber species such as Large Bindweed (Calystegia sepium), 
the roots of which could be cooked and kneaded into a dough for consumption.  

Plains Sedgy Wetland (EVC 647) 

Plains Sedgy Wetlands typically occur in ephemerally wet depressions on volcanic plains landforms, in 
areas associated with fertile, silty, peaty or heavy clay paludal soils. Generally, these ecosystems do 
not comprise of an overstory; however, occasionally scattered or fringing eucalypts or tea-tree species 
can occur when rainfall is high enough (DEECA, 2023a).  

Plains Sedgy Wetlands usually consist of sedgy, herbaceous and graminoids vegetation, including 
various aquatic species that can withstand episodic wet to anaerobic conditions; however, species 
richness is relatively low to moderate (DEECA, 2023a). 

These environments provided a habitat for many water birds, fish and amphibians.  

Stream Bank Shrubland (EVC 851) 

Stream Bank Shrublands consist of a tall shrubland (up to 8m tall) overlying an herbaceous and sedgy 
ground layer and occasionally feature a sparse, River Red Gum overstory (up to 15m tall). Often, these 
ecosystems are present along major rivers and streams. Typically, species diversity occurs where 
watercourses comprise rock embankments and flat rocky beds or gravel banks that are often dry, but 
can experience regular episodes of flooding from fast flowing water (DEECA, 2023a).  

Species present in Stream Bank Shrublands include Black Wattle (Acacia mearnsii), Woolly Tea-tree 
(Leptospermum lanigerum), Common Tussock-grass (Poa labillardierei), Common Reed (Phragmites 
australis) and Slender Knotweed (Persicaria decipiens). Black Wattle was an important source of gum. 
A sweet drink could be made from the Black Wattle gum when dissolved with flower nectar in water. 
The gum could also be utilised as resin. Wood from many wattle species could also be used to 
manufacture spears, boomerangs, shields, clubs and handles for axes as well as coolamons, digging 
sticks and fire drills (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d). The twigs and branches from the Woolly Tea-tree 
could also be utilised to manufacture spears and digging sticks; however, they also served medicinal 
purposes as they could be used to treat scabies and inhaled to remedy respiratory problems 
(Maribyrnong City Council, n.d). Not only could Tussock-grass be used to manufacture strings for nets 
and bags, these species provided a habitat for small reptiles and animals as well as stabilizing soils and 
combatting erosion (Cumpston, 2020). The leaves of the Common Reed could be used to manufacture 
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baskets and bags, and the stems could be used as spear shafts (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d; Nash, 
2004).  

Other species present in these ecosystems include trees such as Blackwood (Acacia melanoxylon), 
large tufted graminoids such as Spiny-headed Mat-rush (Lomandra longifolia) and medium to tiny 
non-tufted graminoids like Weeping Grass (Microlaena stipoides var. stipoides) (DEECA, 2023a).  

Pre-1750s Vegetation in the study area  

The pre-1750s landscape in the study area would have encompassed two Ecological Vegetation 
Classes (EVCs), Grassy Dry Forest (ECV 22) and Heathy Dry Forest (EVC 20).  

Heathy Dry Forest (EVC 20) 

Heathy Dry Forests typically occur on shallow, rocky skeletal soils on a range of geologies across a 
variety of different landforms ranging from undulating hills to ridge tops and steep slopes at all 
elevations. The overstory of the Heathy Dry Forest consists of an open eucalypt woodland (up to 20m 
tall) with open crown coverage. The understory is defined by a sparse to dense layer of ericoid-leaved 
shrubs including heaths and peas. The ground layer comprises various graminoid and grass species; 
however, these do not comprise heavy ground coverage in the Heathy Dry Forest ecosystem (DEECA, 
2023a).  

The overstory consists of Broad-leaved Peppermint (Eucalyptus dives) that was used to treat fevers by 
burning the leaves and inhaling the smoke (Jones, 1998); and Red Box (Eucalyptus polyanthemos) and 
Brittle Gum (Eucalyptus mannifera ssp. mannifera) which, similarly to other eucalypt species, secreted 
sap (manna) which could be infused into a tonic to treat gastro-intestinal symptoms (Jones, 1998).  

The understory consists of various species that were utilised by Aboriginal people. Silver Banksia 
(Banksia marginata) could be made into a sweet drink by extracting the nectar from flower heads 
(Cumpston, 2020). The dry cones of the Silver Banksia could also be utilised as water strainers and fire 
carriers (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d). Prickly Broom-heath (Monotoca scoparia) produced white 
edible fruits; however, the green fruits were not edible. The Austral Grass-tree (Xanthorrhoea 
australis) produces a nectar that could be made into a sweet drink. Roots and young leaves of the 
Austral Grass-tree could be both consumed or used to create a resin to attach axe heads and stone 
flakes onto wooden implements (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d).  

Other species include medium shrubs such as the Common Heath (Epacris impressa) and the Golden 
Bush-pea (Pultenaea gunni); medium herbs including the Common Raspwort (Gonocarpus 
tetragynus); and medium tufted graminoids, such as Wattle Mat-rush (Lomandra filiformis) and 
Silvertop Wallaby-grass (Joycea pallida) (DEECA, 2023a). 

Grassy Dry Forest (EVC 22) 

The overstory of the Grassy Dry Forest comprises various eucalypt species (up to 20m tall), and in 
some instances resembles an open woodland ecosystem with a secondary, smaller tree layer 
encompassing various Acacia species. The understory of these ecosystems is generally a sparse, 
medium height shrub layer and the ground surface is dominated by drought tolerant grasses and 
herbs, often including a suite of fern species (DEECA, 2023a).  
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The eucalypt overstory consists of Messmate and Red Stringybark (Eucalyptus obliqua and Eucalyptus 
macrorhyncha respectively), as well as Bundy (Eucalyptus goniocalyx s.l). The understory comprises 
various species, including Silver Wattle (Acacia dealbata), the wood of which could be used to 
manufacture stone axe handles. The gum of the Silver Wattle could be dissolved in water to create a 
sweet drink or mixed with ash to create a resin or paste to seal holes in water vessels (Maribyrnong 
City Council, n.d). The Rice-flower (Pimelea humilis) was also present in the understory, the bark of 
which was stripped, sun dried and then softened by pounding with stones and then spun into a very 
fine but strong thread that could be used to make nets (Nash, 2004). The starchy rhizomes of Austral 
Bracken (Pteridium esculentum) on the ground layer were beaten into a paste with water and baked 
into a bread (Maribyrnong City Council, n.d); however, the juice of the young stems was poisonous 
and not consumed, but rather utilised as medicinal remedy for insect bites and stings (Nillumbik 
Reconciliation Group, n.d; Australian Bush Medicine, 2022). The springy, leathery fronds of the 
bracken fern could also be covered with possum skins and utilised as bedding (Nillumbik Reconciliation 
Group, n.d).  

Other species in the Grassy Dry Forest ecosystem include medium shrubs like the Common Heath 
(Epacris impressa) and large herbs like the Slender Fireweed (Senecio tenuiflorus) as well as medium 
tufted graminoids such as the Black-anther Flax Lily (Dianella revoluta s.l.) (DEECA, 2023a).  

Ecological Vegetation mapping 

Ecological Vegetation mapping from 2005 (DEECA, 2023b) emphasised that pre-1750s vegetation 
across the study area has experienced a rapid decrease, with the plains grassy woodland, valley grassy 
forest and grassy forests only remaining in patches outside the Conglomerate Gully Flora Reserve. 

The mid story species such as Bursaria (Bursaria spinosa) and the range of Acacia species are still 
present within the geographic region. These species were important resources for the Wurundjeri 
people, particularly the wood, sap, and seeds (Zola & Gott, 1992).  

The diversity of ecological vegetation and values within the study area and geographic region is highly 
valued by the Wurundjeri Community and they would like to see as many remnant vegetation patches 
protected as possible.  

Barrm Birrm – Place of Many Yam Roots 

George Augustus Robinson, the Protector of Aborigines from 1839 to 1849, noted in 1840 that the 
basalt plains were covered with ‘millions of Murnong’ (Clark, 1998 in Gott et al., 2015; Gibson-Roy, 
2015). Murnong is a dandelion-like daisy whose tubers were a major food staple for the Wurundjeri 
Woi-wurrung people (Gott, 1983; Gott et al., 2015) until the mid-1840s, when the introduction of 
sheep rendered the species endangered (Tucker Bush, 2020). The Murnong produces white, tuberous 
roots that could either be eaten raw or baked (Tucker Bush, 2020).  

Many plant species were not conducive to hot, dry climatic conditions; therefore, species with 
underground organs (storage roots) such as the Murnong, that could survive unfavorable conditions, 
formed an important food source for Aboriginal people (Gott et al., 2015). Storage roots were 
available all year round, unlike seasonal fruits and seeds (Gott et al., 2015), and often provided more 
than starch. Murnong, for example, has a storage carbohydrate comprising fructose units that do not 
raise the level of glucose in the blood the way starch does (Incoll et al., 1989).  
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Murnong was carefully cultivated, and Aboriginal people would cycle nutrients in the soil using fire, 
which utilised carbon from dead plants and return that carbon to the soil, which promoted its growth 
(Cahir, 2012). Women gathered Murnong using a digging-stick and baskets (refer to Figure 4) (McCrae, 
1912; Gott, 1983) and other dry land roots.  

In western Victoria, baskets were utilised in the cooking:  

The roots are washed and put into a rush basket made on purpose, and placed in the oven in 
the evening to be ready for next morning’s breakfast. When several families live near each 
other and cook their roots together, sometimes the baskets form a pile three feet high (Dawson 
1881). 

Often, baskets were burned during the cooking. Eventually, oven mounds were called “mirrn’yong 
mounds” (Gott, 1983), indicating that Murnong was regularly consumed.  

Terraced landscapes would have been a key site where the Wurundjeri Woi wurrung people are 
known to have propagated Murnong (Microseris sp.) (Gott, 1983).  

 

Figure 5 Women digging roots of the Murnong (J.H Wedge, 1835, State Library of Victoria) 

Local Fauna Resources  

Prior to European contact, the study area would have been rich in subsistence resources. Before 
colonisation and the subsequent land clearing that took place, the forests would have extended 
further. These environments would have provided an extensive habitat for large browser mammals, 
including wallabies and wombats, as well as other ground dwelling animals such as echidnas and 
bandicoots. Various arboreal species would have inhabited forest ecosystems including bats, sugar 
gliders and possums.  

Most grassland fauna utilised grasslands in conjunction with the adjoining ecosystems. The grasslands 
of the Victorian Volcanic Plains are littered with stony rises and surface basalt floaters that would likely 
have provided shelter for burrowing mammals and reptiles (Bird, 2011). Nearby woodlands would 
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have increased the biodiversity of the region as kangaroos, birds and bats require woodland 
environments for both shelter and nesting.  

The wetland environments in the region would have served as a habitat conducive to amphibian 
species such as the Growling Grass Frog, which would have attracted various water birds.  

The State fauna records list a number of important species occurring within the local Riddells Creek 
area. This list is incomplete as the earliest record in the database comes from 1967 and there would 
have been additional species located within the area prior to clearing and land use change. There are 
twelve species recorded on the state register in the study area that are known food sources of 
Aboriginal people. Eels are a well-documented seasonal food source, and there are numerous eel-trap 
locations at strategic places along waterways or in billabongs (Cahir, Clark & Clarke, 2018). The 
Blackfish, also known as ‘Slimies’ are a species of temperate perch often referenced by Wurundjeri 
people as good river fish for eating. Blackfish are highly susceptible to environmental change, with 
nutrient run-off, changes in water pH, and river flow all known to impact negatively on the species. 
Waterbirds are commonly recorded as food, whilst swan eggs are noted as a valuable food in many 
ethnographic records.  

Table 1: List of Species used by Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung People (From Bunce, D. 1859, and Berry 
1991, compiled by Monash University Linguistics team) 

Common Name Scientific Name Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung 
Blackfish 
 

Gadopsis marmoratus Duat (Fish species 
unspecified) 

Short-finned Eel 
 

Anguilla australis Iuk 

Swamp Wallaby 
 

Wallabia bicolor Wimbii(rr) 

Australasian Grebe 
 

Tachybaptus 
novaehollandiae 

Toolome  
(Duck species unspecified) 

Australian Shelduck 
 

Tadorna tadornoides Toolome  
(Duck species unspecified) 

Australian Swan 
 

Cygnus atratus Gunawarra  
(Wife of Bunjil) 

Australian Wood Duck 
 

Chenonetta jubata Toolome  
(Duck species unspecified) 

Chestnut Teal 
 

Anas castanea Toolome  
(Duck species unspecified) 

Pacific Black Duck 
 

Anas superciliosa Toolome  
(Duck species unspecified) 

Brush-tail Possum 
 

Trichosurus vulpecula Walert - Woolert 

Eastern Grey Kangaroo Macropus giganteus Mirrm 
 

Common Wombat Vombatus ursinus Warin 
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The records also show that Riddells Creek is home to the two species representing the Wurundjeri 
moieties, Bunji the Wedge Tailed Eagle (Aquila audax), and Waa the Crow or Raven (Corvus sp.). Bunjil 
is the creator spirit, making the land and the animals before flying high into the night sky, whilst Waa 
played an important role in bringing fire to the people. These species are valued from a cultural 
perspective both as important story beings, and as the basis of the Wurundjeri clan structure, 
particularly relating to marriages and rights to resource-rich places. Other animals of cultural note 
within the survey area include the Nankeen Kestrel (Falco cenchroides), known as Djurt Djurt, a 
messenger for Bunjil (Ellender, Christiansen, & Faithfull, 1999); the Ringtail Possum (Pseudocheirus 
peregrinus); and the Crimson Rosella (Platycercus elegans), Darnum. The Wurundjeri community 
agree that these species form part of Wurundjeri lore and culture, and have value which should be 
recognised in equal consideration to those on the list of locally occurring threatened species. 
Conversations around local species protection plans are important for the Wurundjeri Community and 
the Narrap Team, and the conservation reserve proposed at Barrm Birrm should consult with 
Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung Aboriginal Corporation on how these species will be managed and cared for 
into the future.  

Biodiversity within the landscape  

Following the colonisation of Australia and subsequent dispossession of Aboriginal people from their 
traditional lands (known as Country), the landscape has experienced a rapid decline in native 
biodiversity. Prior to colonisation, Aboriginal people carefully managed Country and utilised fire to 
enhance the soil nutrients and promote vegetation growth for subsistence purposes (Pascoe, 2014). 
Aboriginal fire regimes consciously and deliberately shaped vegetation, including trees, grasslands, 
and scrubs into patterns (Melbourne University, n.d) by using small, cool burns in mosaics within the 
landscape (Cranney, 2020).  

Drastic changes to Country occurred following European colonisation had far-reaching implications 
for the way Aboriginal people managed the land. As settlements expanded and modern farming 
commenced, land clearance, the introduction of hard-hooved species such as sheep and cattle, as well 
as the introduction of exotic vegetation dramatically altered the landscape, which led to a decrease in 
native resource production.  

Historical and Ethno-historical accounts of the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people of 
the Macedon Ranges 

The Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung are the Traditional Owners of a large territory in central-southern 
Victoria that includes much of Melbourne and the Greater Melbourne area. It extends to the Werribee 
River in the west, to the Great Dividing Range and Cobaw Range to the north, and east to Mount Baw 
Baw. 

At contact there were five named Wurundjeri clans. Around the Mount Macedon area lived the 
Gunung Willam Balluk clan, while the Marin Bulluk clan lived between Kororoit Creek and the 
Maribyrnong River and Jackson’s Creek with their ‘headquarters’ near Sunbury (Barwick 1984; Tanner 
2001). The two clans were sometimes referred to collectively by Europeans as the Mount Macedon 
tribe (Fels 1986:105). 

Accounts of the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people in the Mount Macedon area are sparse, given the 
rapidity of European colonisation of the area and a corresponding devastating decline of population, 
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as well as relocation – within a few years most of the country in the Macedon area had been occupied 
by the invaders, and the remaining members of the clans had gravitated to William Thomas’ 
Protectorate camps around Melbourne (Tanner 2001:17). 

Squatter John Aitken was one of the first Europeans to establish a station in the Sunbury area, in 1836. 
In 1853 he recalled how soon after his arrival in the district, he was visited in his tent by “Mount 
Macedon tribe… The number of the tribe, as near as I could guess, was about 100—men, women, and 
children” (Aitken 1899:207). 

Assistant Protector of Aboriginals Edward Stone Parker established a station for supplying blankets 
and food to local Aboriginal people near Sunbury, the Tarrawait depot, also known as the ‘Jackson’s 
Creek temporary Protectorate Station’; Tarrawait is the Woi-wurrung name for Mount Macedon. On 
30 September 1840 he made a census of the Gunung Willam Balluk and Marin Bulluk clans, recording 
12 members of the former and 14 of the latter. It is possible however that other members of these 
clans were elsewhere within their country, or visiting other clans or tribes. 

While no specific Wurundjeri references to the Barrm Birrm study area are known to exist at this time, 
it is located within a wider cultural landscape of great significance. The northwestern part of 
Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung territory is recorded as the location of a cluster or constellation of highly 
significant sites, as detailed below. 

Mount William stone axe quarry 

At Mount William near Lancefield and located on Gunung Willam Balluk clan territory is a large 
greenstone axe quarry covering forty hectares known in Woi-wurrung language as Wil-im-mee Moor-
ring. It was the major source of stone axes in Victoria and they were traded for hundreds of kilometres 
into South Australia and New South Wales. This artefact type has been described as ‘the ultimate all-
purpose heavy duty tool’ in Aboriginal society (McBryde 1984:267). The Mount William site was of 
tremendous economic, social and political importance and there is also evidence that it was a place 
of profound spiritual and cosmological significance (Brumm 2010; McBryde 1978, 1984, 2000). On 18 
February 2008 it was listed on the Commonwealth’s National Heritage List, under the Environment 
Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Commonwealth of Australia 2008). National 
Heritage listed places have outstanding significance to the nation and there are currently only 28 such 
places in Victoria. In 2012 ownership of the site was transferred to the Wurundjeri Corporation 
through the Indigenous Land Corporation (ILC), which had been gifted it by the Macedon Ranges Shire 
Council in September 1997 (Commonwealth of Australia 2012). 

Sunbury Rings 

A number of earthen rings are located on the upper slopes of hills east of Jacksons Creek near Sunbury. 
While there is no evidence as to their purpose, it is thought that they may have been ceremonial 
and/or initiation sites, similar to the bora rings of northern New South Wales and southeast 
Queensland (Frankel 1982; Vines 2001).  

In 2012 ownership of the site was transferred to the Wurundjeri Corporation through the Indigenous 
Land Corporation, which had acquired the property in 2000 (Commonwealth of Australia 2012).  

Notwithstanding the lack of ethnohistorical information about the origin, use and significance of these 
sites, they are of great importance to the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung community today. Vines (2001:27) 
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notes that “Aboriginal sites and areas of land under the custodianship of a local Aboriginal community 
usually have a special significance for Aboriginal people”. This is even more so in the case of places 
like the Sunbury Rings, which are a very rare site type, together with the perception that they were 
once associated with important cultural or spiritual activities.   

The late Wurundjeri Elder Norman Hunter explained to archaeologist Gary Vines that the ring site and 
surrounding land, and its connections with other sites in the vicinity, “is of paramount importance to 
Aboriginal People in the Melbourne area and Victoria as an important place of cultural and spiritual 
significance” (Vine 2000:27). He further suggested that their significance may extend to the location 
of these sites within a broader cultural landscape, with the various rings  

connected by a processional route which followed Kismet Creek Valley… as well as a route 
between hunting and gathering grounds on both the Jackson’s Creek valley and the basalt 
plains to the north west… nearby stone and ochre sources may also have been part of a linked 
group of sites (Vines 2001:25). 

Bashta (2016:100) also outlines Wurundjeri engagement with the site in the years since the 2000 
tranfer: 

The Wurundjeri now manage the landscape surrounding the Sunbury Rings and are trying to 
rehabilitate the surrounding environment including implementing weed eradication projects 
and undertaking new plantings. In addition to the physical management, the Wurundjeri are 
also attempting to strengthen their own cultural understanding of the Sunbury Rings and share 
that understanding with the local community (Kennedy 2015). The Sunbury Rings are a living 
cultural landscape and are significant for their enduring relationship with the Traditional 
Owners. 

Neur 

A waterfall with basalt columns is located just east of Romsey on a small tributary of Five Mile Creek 
– currently with the unflattering name of Romsey South Drain. In 1854 German explorer and naturalist 
William Blandowski (1855:5) visited and photographed the site, noting that “This spot is well known 
to the Mount Macedon tribe, under the name, “Neur,” and is one of their most famous resorts for 
campings, fightings, corrobbories, etc.”  

Yeebra 

Yeebra (precise location not known) is a story site near Mount Macedon. William Barak, the 
Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung ngarangaeta related ‘The Story of Mombulark’ to Ethel Shaw, daughter of 
Joseph Shaw, superintendent at Coranderrk Aboriginal Station (Shaw 194-?). The legend tells of a 
malevolent old man by this name who lived ‘near Macedon… The old blacks called the place “Yeebra,” 
which means the “place of evil people”’. After stealing a Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung child, his parents 
ask Bunjil the creator for assistance. Bunjil directs echidna to dig under Mombulark’s camp and 
destroy it, enabling him to rescue the child from Mombulark, who is then chopped into pieces which 
Bunjil turns into stones (Shaw 194-?: 37). 
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Hanging Rock 

Historian John Poulter (2011:2,6; 2017:12-13) reports a family history that Wurundjeri ngurungaeta 
Simon Wonga held the last Wurundjeri initiation ceremony at Hanging Rock in 1851. His cousin, 
William Barak told Alfred Howitt that there were a number of initiation sites across the Kulin nation, 
including two in Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung country, at Melbourne and Mount Macedon (Howitt n.d.). 
Hanging Rock continues to be a place of great significance for the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people. 

Wooling Hill 

The site of the Robertson homestead, at Wooling Hill to the north of Gisbourne, is said to have been 
a favoured meeting place and ceremonial site of Aboriginal people in the area (Moulds and Hutton 
1994:2; Tanner 2001:40). 

Historical land use of Riddells Creek  

The colonisation of the Macedon Ranges and the township of Riddells Creek was a process that 
consisted of ‘interconnected structures, events, and actions’, with the primary goal that of accessing 
and owning land (McNiven & Russell, 2005, p. 3). This process of ‘ownership’ of sovereign land 
throughout Australia was often enacted under a falsely legitimised ‘logic of elimination’ that framed 
the invasion of Country as a ‘legitimate, rightful, and even often beseeched by the colonised’ (Wolfe, 
1994, p. 93; McNiven & Russell , 2005, p. 3) .  

European squatters (invaders) under these frameworks directly dispossessed Wurundjeri Woi-
wurrung people from Country within what is now known as the Macedon Ranges and the township of 
Riddells Creek from the early 1840s.  

Early Expeditions of Riddells Creek 

There is no detailed record of early expeditions into Riddells Creek by Europeans. Sir George Augustus 
Robinson travelled throughout the Macedon region between 15th January to 5th February 1840. He 
undertook a sketch of the clouds of Mt Macedon during his travels (Figure 7) and commented on the 
difficulty of travelling along Macedon Road, which was documented to have ‘been very circuitous 
owing to the hardness of the ground and creeks’ (Robinson, 1977 , p. 4).   
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   Figure 6: Map of Sir 
   George   
  Augustus Robinsons 
   route from  
   9th January 1840 to 
   12th March 1840   
  (Robinson 1977, p.96) 

 

 

Figure 7:  Sir George Augustus Robinsons sketch of the clouds above Mt Macedon (Robinson, 1977 , p. 99) 
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Squatter Settlement of Riddells Creek 

European squatters started occupying the Mount Macedon Ranges region in the early to mid-1840s, 
seeking large runs and pastoral properties that had access to major permanent water sources, 
displacing the Wurundjeri Woi-wurrung people from Country.  

The first recorded squatter to occupy what is now referred to as the township of Riddells Creek was 
Henry Howey in 1837 (Billis & Kenyon , 1932) . 

Henry Howey set up the squatter’s run of Cairn Hill (located within the study area), which was licenced 
eleven years prior to being gazetted on 4 October 1848, covering 25,000 acres (Figure 6).   

The run was taken over by cousins John Carre Riddell (which the township was later named after)  and 
Thomas Ferrier Hamilton in 1839 (Billis & Kenyon , 1932, p. 164; Spreadborough & Anderson, 1983 , 
p. 156).  

John Carre Riddell and Thomas Ferrier Hamilton were Scottish overlanders from Sydney who made a 
trek to the Cairn Hill run. This journey was recounted in The Australasian Newspaper:  

‘gathered a herd of cattle together and set off for Port Phillip. Taking the Mount Macedon 
track, they reached the Howey country, to the south of the mount, towards the end of '39. 
There they squatted, and the next year they were granted a licence to graze stock over an area 
of 25,000 acres (The Australasian, 1935). 

The Cairn Hill run was fortified on 23 June 1868 (Spreadborough & Anderson, 1983 , p. 156). 

 

Figure 6 Cairn Hill Pastoral Run (Spreadborough & Anderson, 1983 ) 

The surrounding population of the township of Riddells Creek grew between 1858 to 1861 with the 
construction of the Melbourne to Woodend railway and associated railway bridge in 1859.  

Smith’s nursey was established in Riddells Creek (directly southwest of the study area) in 1863 and is 
one of the oldest nurseries in Victoria. The nursery is historically significant under the Victorian 
Heritage Register for its participation in the trade in Australian native trees and plants, both existing 
and cultivated, which were sourced from the Mount Macedon slopes and ranges (Heritage Council 
Victoria, 2011).  
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A painting of Riddells Creek by Australian artist Ernest Decimus Stocks in 1888 (Figure 7) depicts 
pastoral activities occurring within Riddells Creek: the fencing and colonial demarcation of land, the 
introduction of cattle to the landscape, the clearing of land for pastoral activities and the construction 
of dwellings and outbuildings to support the growing pastoral community. 

 

Figure 7: Painting of Riddells Creek by Ernest D. Stocks 1888 (Stocks , 1888) 

The urbanisation of Riddells Creek continued into the 20th Century, and according to The Australian 
Handbook Shippers and Importers Directory, by 1930 the population had reached 600 people (Figure 
8) (Gordon and Gotch, 1930). The account also notes that Riddells Creek is ‘principally a pastoral 
district, with good soil’ (Gordon and Gotch, 1930), at variance with other townships in the Mount 
Macedon Ranges which were highly dependent on goldmining and forestry. During World War II a flax 
mill was established at Riddells Creek. The flax was harvested and processed by the Women’s Land 
Army (Victorian Places , 2015 ).  

 

Figure 8 Summary of Riddells Creek in 1930 (Gordon and Gotch, 1930) 
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Urbanisation has continued into the 21st century with the town centre sprawling across previously 
pastoral land. Development of satellite towns such as Sunbury and the formalisation of major 
freeways such as the Calder Freeway have added to the urbanisation of Riddells Creek and the 
Macedon Ranges region at large.  

Cartographic Analysis of the study area  

Historical maps from 1839, 1855-1859 and 1937 document the gradually sprawling urbanisation of 
Riddells Creek (Figure 9, Figure 10 and Figure 11 ). 

The study area is represented in an 1839 Survey Map (Figure 9) between the Macedon Ranges and a 
‘thinly wooded middling pasture’ which may be associated with early cow pastures and foddering 
activities.  

 

Figure 9 Loddon 81 Kerrie River (Riddells Creek) Survey Map 1839 (Melbourne Survey Office, 1839)  
(approximate location of the study area in red. 

 
The West Bourke Electoral Plans (1855-1859) (Figure 10) shows that cartographers were able to record 
a more accurate scale of the Mount Macedon Ranges in proximity to the study area. The study area is 
still noted to intersect the middling pasture which transitions to a level open Forrest. There is 
documentation of open gum forests and good sheep pastures to the south of the study area and rich 
grassy timbered land to the east. The study area was not in a gazetted allotment by 1859, but the 
surrounding parcels of land particularly to the west are being demarcated by allotments of land.  
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Figure 10 West Bourke Electoral Plans 1855-1859 (Department of Crown Lands and Survey, 1855-1859 ) 

A 1935 parish plan of Kerrie County of Bourke (Figure 11) shows the study area as a parcel of land held 
by T. Watson. The plan highlights the urbanisation of Riddells Creek with the construction of roadways 
and further subdivision of land throughout the township.  

 
Figure 11 Kerrie County of Bourke Parish Map (Department of Sustainability and Environment, 1937) 

 
Contemporary land use within Barrm Birrm (study area) 

The study area of Barrm Birrm is colloquially referred to as the ‘Shone & Scholz Land’ by locals. Shone 
& Scholz bought the study area in the 1970s, subdividing the land into 161 allotments for a proposed 
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subdivision (Melbourne Water , 2022). The subdivision was later disallowed and saw the land being 
slowly transferred from private ownership into council land as part of the Macedon Shire Council 
voluntary give back scheme to ensure the permanent protection of Barrm Birrm.  

Private parcel owners within the extent of the study area are not able to construct permanent 
structures and the parcels have been solely restricted to camping activities.  This is a result of the 
Macedon Shire Planning scheme restrictions due to the lack of services within the study area, fire risk 
concerns and the high value native vegetation.   

Riddells Creek Landcare has been looking after the community values of Barrm Birrm since 2005, 
undertaking a range of activities, such as community events, clean-up activities such as weeding, 
rubbish collections and undertaking plant recordings (Riddells Creek Landcare , 2023 ). Barrm Birrm 
has 15 kilometres of walking tracks with three main tracks including the Hillside and Kangaroo tracks, 
which are regularly utilised by locals and used for educational purposes by the Riddells Creek Landcare 
(Riddells Creek Landcare , 2023 ).  

Riddells Creek Landcare have commented that camping within the study area has negatively impacted 
the cultural landscape through the creation of informal tracks, the dumping of garden waste, extensive 
damage to grasslands, creation of campsites, and impacts from four-wheel driving and dirt bikes 
(Riddells Creek Landcare , 2023 ).  

Aerial imagery of the study area  

Aerial photography from 2004, 2017 and 2020 (Figure 12, Figure  13 and Figure 14) demonstrates that 
there have been moderate developmental impacts within the study area of Barrm Birrm. The aerial 
imagery shows that the cultural landscape has been modified by pastoral practices, construction of 
dirt access tracks, walking tracks, the formalisation of main roads to the south and east of the study 
area, and the installation of fencing.  

The major disturbance shown in the aerials is the development of a dam-like structure in the 
northwest corner of the study area. The dam construction appears to have been significant in scale 
and would have caused a substantial impact to the ground surface and ecological values within Barrm 
Birrm.   

There have been minimal changes between 2004 and 2020 within the study area. There are no publicly 
documented utilities located within the study area. 
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Figure 12 2004 Aerial of the study area (in red) (GeoVic , n.d.) 

 

 

Figure 13: 2017 Aerial of the study area (in red) (GeoVic , n.d.) 
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Figure 14: 2020 Aerial of the study area (in red)  (GeoVic , n.d.) 

Barrm Birrm Tangible Cultural Heritage Survey 

The survey of tangible cultural heritage values within the study area was conducted by Matt 
Chamberlain (Heritage Unit Manager, Wurundjeri Corporation), Tanya Loos (Biodiversity Projects 
Officer, Macedon Ranges Shire Council) and Natalie Langowski (Heritage Advisor, Wurundjeri 
Corporation) on the 30th of November 2022. Stephanie Grylls (MRSC) and Dr Ross Colliver (local 
resident) also attended the survey at various times throughout the day.  
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Figure 15: Map of the Barrm Birrm study area showing land parcels owned by Macedon Shire Ranges Council in red,  
and privately owned parcels in green. 

Survey methodology  

The survey of Barrm Birrm was limited to those lots which are owned by Macedon Ranges Shire 
Council (MRSC), shown in red on Figure 15.  

The methods of tangible cultural heritage assessment at Barrm Birrm firstly targeted council-owned 
lots within areas of cultural heritage sensitivity (shown in green, Figure 15). Areas of cultural heritage 
sensitivity comprise landscape features with a higher likelihood of retaining tangible Aboriginal 
cultural heritage (as recognised under the Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2018) and include areas 
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within 200m of named waterways and within 50m of previously registered Aboriginal cultural heritage 
places. MRSC-owned lots within 200m of Sandy Creek, Murnong Creek and Wimbi Creek were the first 
priority for survey, as well as lots immediately adjacent to previously registered artefact scatters to 
the east of Barrm Birrm (VAHR 7823-0198 and 7823-0199). Three unnamed waterways transect Barrm 
Birrm (Figure 16) as tributaries of the three named waterways. MRSC-owned lots adjacent to these 
unnamed waterways and on the margins of areas of cultural heritage sensitivity were also targeted 
for survey as a second priority.  

 

Figure 16: Map of the Barrm Birrm study area with lots and mapped waterways. Areas of cultural heritage sensitivity as per 
the Aboriginal Heritage Regulation 2018 are shown in green. Map source: Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Information System. 

The site survey method was largely opportunistic, with the survey team walking narrower areas such 
as access tracks/roads between 2m and 10m apart (Prince of Wales Terrace, Prince Alfred Street, 
Princess Street and Gap Road). The participants were careful to avoid accessing privately owned land 
parcels as this was beyond the scope of the present project. In most cases, council-owned lots were 
entered from the adjacent access tracks, and participants walked transects across the lots on an east-
west axis with approximately 10m spacing between participants. The ground surface was surveyed for 
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the presence of cultural heritage objects, and mature native trees were inspected for signs of cultural 
modification such as tree scarring and toe holds.  

Survey Results  

All lots at Barrm Birrm owned by MRSC were accessed during the survey. The survey team found 
ground surface visibility was highly variable across the surveyed area, depending primarily on 
thickness of vegetation cover. Access roads generally had higher ground surface visibility, close to 
100% in some cases (Photo 1), however visibility within council owned lots was generally very poor, 
with ground surface visibility between 0-5% (Photo 3) due to natural bushland with thick grass, 
detritus, and tree/shrub cover.  

 

 

Photo 1: Example of high ground surface visibility along the Princess Street access track at Barrm Birrm.  
Natalie is 162cm for scale. 

 

Access tracks were covered with gravel from either natural eroding soils or imported toppings in some 
locations. Although ground surface visibility was good on the tracks, the rocky ground covering proved 
a challenging environment within which to identify flaked stone artefacts.  
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Photo 2: Eroded access tracks showing thick bedding of conglomerate deposits. 

 

 

Photo 3: Example of very low ground surface visibility within MRSC-owned lots  
within the northeast of Barrm Birrm. 

 
The northeastern side of Barrm Birrm sits on the extreme outer edge of the Sandy Creek floodplain, 
featuring relatively flat terrain. The northeastern council lots featured a channel cut by an ephemeral 
and unnamed tributary of Sandy Creek. The cut partially exposed soil stratigraphy of the area (Photo 
4), showing humic soils over the top of eroding conglomerate, evidenced by displaced poorly sorted 
cobbles and pebbles.   
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Photo 4: Heavy erosion and exposed soils in northeastern MRSC-owned lots  
on an unnamed tributary of Sandy Creek. 

The landforms further to the south and west within Barrm Birrm comprise undulating terrain with 
lower and mid-slopes of varying gradient, with increasing elevation and gradient generally trending 
southwest. The far west and southwest side of Barrm Birrm features a ridgeline which gives rise to 
Wimbi Creek and Murnong Creek, as well as other unnamed tributaries. While ridgelines may be 
sensitive landforms for Aboriginal cultural heritage, the southwestern-most lots are privately owned 
and were therefore not accessed for survey. Council-owned lots in the centre and south of Barrm 
Birrm feature steeper gradients at higher elevation (Photo 5).  
  

 

Photo 5: Mid-slope terrain in the centre south of Barrm Birrm. 
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The southern part of Barrm Birrm featured a deeply incised unnamed and ephemeral waterway, likely 
a tributary of Murnong Creek (formerly the Riddells Creek Main Drain). Evidence of prior ground 
disturbance was not clearly apparent within the lots surveyed.  

 

 

Photo 6: Deep ravine carved by an ephemeral waterway, an unnamed tributary of Murnong Creek. 

 
Survey Summary  

An opportunistic ground survey for tangible Aboriginal cultural heritage was conducted by Wurundjeri 
Heritage Advisors and attended by staff from Macedon Shire Ranges Council.  

No tangible Aboriginal cultural heritage or culturally modified trees were identified within Council-
owned lots at Barrm Birrm during the ground survey. Barrm Birrm features an undulating topography 
bisected by three waterways, draining the eastern side of a ridgeline on its western side. Due to the 
natural bushland covering the area, the survey encountered very low ground surface visibility within 
lots, and those areas with higher ground surface visibility such as eroded waterways and access tracks 
showed prominent conglomerate deposits characteristic of the Riddells Creek area, with cobbles and 
pebbles eroding out from the underlying stratigraphy. Barrm Birrm presents a naturally rocky 
landscape obscured by natural vegetation, which is very likely to have limited visibility of any surface 
Aboriginal cultural heritage if present. Although cultural heritage was not identified during this survey, 
Barrm Birrm includes areas adjacent to waterways and a ridgeline on the west side. As these landscape 
features presented resource-rich areas and/or stable camping areas for Aboriginal people inhabiting 
the Macedon Ranges area, these landforms have a high likelihood of retaining tangible Aboriginal 
Cultural Heritage at Barrm Birrm, within surface and subsurface contexts.  

The ground survey was specifically limited to lots owned by Macedon Shire Ranges Council, therefore 
the bulk of the Barrm Birrm area was not subject to ground survey in this investigation. Privately 
owned lots at Barrm Birrm include areas adjacent to named and unnamed waterways and on the 
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western ridgeline. Although these landforms are not identified as areas of cultural heritage sensitivity 
under the Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 2018, cultural heritage investigations have found ridgelines 
and unnamed tributaries to be highly sensitive areas for Aboriginal cultural heritage. These areas 
warrant further investigation for a cultural heritage assessment, and to establish how Aboriginal 
people engaged with the Barrm Birrm area.  

Conclusion and Recommendations 

All of Wurundjeri Country is culturally valued and valuable. The Wurundjeri Corporation is keen to 
continue working with Macedon Ranges Shire Council, as it has done for many years, to improve 
cultural recognition and outcomes on Wurundjeri Country. The model of working with the Traditional 
Owners in the development of planning responses is an essential and important aspect which has long 
been overlooked. The Wurundjeri Corporation would like to continue this partnership in future 
planning, environmental and cultural management projects moving forward.  

This report makes two recommendations in relation to future work to record the Indigenous cultural 
heritage – both tangible and intangible – of Barrm Birrm, as follows: 

• A systematic cultural heritage (archaeological) survey of the site. Given the low surface 
visibility generally observed during the opportunistic survey, future surveys of MRSC-owned 
properties should be scheduled in the event that these areas, or parts of the area, are subject 
to fire. The resulting improvement in visibility post-fire would greatly increase the likelihood 
of locating cultural heritage sites, e.g. artefact scatters. 
 

• An on-site visit to record Wurundjeri cultural values (intangible cultural heritage) with 
Wurundjeri Elders and representatives. Cultural values include stories, customs, beliefs, 
associations, practices, knowledge, skills and language that together form part of a living, 
dynamic Wurundjeri cultural heritage.  
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Certification of the Financial Statements

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government 
Act 2020 , the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 , the Australian Accounting Standards 
and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

Travis Harling
Principal Accounting Officer

25 October 2023
Gisborne

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of Macedon Ranges 
Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2023 and the financial position of Council as at that date.

As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars in the financial 
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We have been authorised by Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 to 
certify the financial statements in their final form.

Mark Ridgeway
Councillor

25 October 2023
Gisborne

Geoff Neil
Councillor

25 October 2023
Gisborne

Bernie O'Sullivan
Chief Executive Officer 

25 October 2023
Gisborne
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Independent Auditors Report

Report to be added once approval is given by the Victorian Auditor-General's Office (VAGO).

<INSERT VAGO REPORT - PAGE 1>
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Independent Auditors Report

Report to be added once approval is given by the Victorian Auditor-General's Office (VAGO).

<INSERT VAGO REPORT - PAGE 2>
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Comprehensive Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2023

Note 2023
2022 

Restated

$'000 $'000

Income

Rates and charges 3.1           58,267           56,178 

Statutory fees and fines 3.2             3,233             3,474 

User fees 3.3             7,142             5,258 

Grants - operating 3.4           24,477           27,665 

Grants - capital 3.4             7,521             8,839 

Contributions - monetary 3.5             3,460             2,475 

Contributions - non monetary 3.5             4,693           15,145 

Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant & equipment 3.6                832           (2,416)

Fair value adjustments for investment property 6.3                303                  64 

Share of net profits of associates 6.2                  15                  79 

Other income 3.7           15,335           12,544 

Total income         125,278         129,305 

Expenses

Employee costs 4.1           41,861           35,574 

Materials and services 4.2           45,674           53,880 

Depreciation 4.3           15,592           14,968 

Amortisation - intangible assets 4.4                167                186 

Amortisation - right of use assets 4.5                368                357 

Bad and doubtful debts - allowance for impairment losses 4.6                    2                  24 

Borrowing costs 4.7                132                150 

Finance cost - leases 4.8                  24                  72 

Decrease (increase) in provision for landfill liability 5.5                379              (550)

Loss on revaluation of other Infrastructure 6.1                625                   -   

Other expenses 4.9             3,088             2,975 

Total expenses         107,912         107,636 

Surplus for the year           17,366           21,669 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods

Net asset revaluation increment 6.1           67,452         117,063 

Total comprehensive result           84,818         138,732 

The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet 

Note 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 01 July 2021

Restated Restated

$'000 $'000 $'000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5.1(a)                  39,577                  44,384                  40,663 

Trade and other receivables 5.1(d)                  16,091                  12,730                    6,122 

Other financial assets 5.1(b)                  10,000                    1,000                    5,000 

Prepayments 5.2                       594                       698                       479 

Other assets 5.2                    1,551                    1,847                         18 

Total current assets                  67,813                  60,659                  52,282 

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 5.1(b)                         21                         21                         21 

Investments in associates 6.2                    1,447                    1,432                    1,353 

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 6.1             1,380,771             1,296,301             1,157,568 

Right-of-use assets 5.8                       345                       583                       940 

Investment property 6.3                    2,933                    2,630                    2,566 

Intangible assets 5.2                       416                       546                       552 

Total non-current assets             1,385,933             1,301,513             1,163,000 

Total assets             1,453,746             1,362,172             1,215,282 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 5.3                    9,413                    8,108                    6,844 

Trust funds and deposits 5.3                    6,952                    5,955                    5,491 

Unearned Income 5.3                  16,668                  14,908                    7,008 

Provisions 5.5                    6,730                    6,554                    6,873 

Interest-bearing liabilities 5.4                       391                       208                       508 

Lease liabilities 5.8                       256                       414                       400 

Total current liabilities                  40,410                  36,147                  27,124 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 5.5                    4,934                    4,113                    4,431 

Interest-bearing liabilities 5.4                    5,117                    3,308                    3,515 

Lease liabilities 5.8                       131                       268                       608 

Total non-current liabilities                  10,182                    7,689                    8,554 

Total liabilities                  50,592                  43,836                  35,678 

Net assets             1,403,154             1,318,336             1,179,604 

Equity

Accumulated surplus                707,240                694,775                674,842 

Reserves 9.1                695,914                623,561                504,762 

Total equity             1,403,154             1,318,336             1,179,604 

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2023

Note Total
Accumulated 

Surplus
Revaluation 

Reserve
Other 

Reserves

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2023

Balance at beginning of the financial year      1,318,336            694,775            607,742         15,819 

Surplus for the year           17,366              17,366                      -                   -   

Net asset revaluation increment 6.1           67,452                      -                67,452                 -   

Transfers to other reserves 9.1                  -                 (7,334)                      -             7,334 

Transfers from other reserves 9.1                  -                  2,433                      -            (2,433)

Balance at end of the financial year      1,403,154            707,240            675,194         20,720 

Note Total
Accumulated 

Surplus
Revaluation 

Reserve
Other 

Reserves

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2022

Balance at beginning of the financial year      1,164,343            659,581            490,679         14,083 

Prior year adjustment 9.4           15,261              15,261                      -                   -   

Balance at beginning of the financial year - restated      1,179,604            674,842            490,679         14,083 

Surplus for the year           21,669              21,669                      -                   -   

Net asset revaluation increment 6.1         117,063                      -              117,063                 -   

Transfers to other reserves 9.1                  -                 (4,035)                      -             4,035 

Transfers from other reserves 9.1                  -                  2,299                      -            (2,299)

Balance at end of the financial year      1,318,336            694,775            607,742         15,819 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2023

Note 2023 2022

Inflows/ Inflows/

(Outflows) (Outflows)

$'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and charges                57,365                55,328 

Statutory fees and fines                  3,233                  3,474 

User fees                  7,372                19,934 

Grants - operating                26,237                20,867 

Grants - capital                  6,816                  8,398 

Contributions - monetary                  4,165                  2,916 

Interest received                  1,439                     101 

Trust funds and deposits taken                  2,549                     356 

Other receipts                 13,048                  5,189 

Net GST refund                  6,612                  4,400 

Employee costs               (40,922)               (35,580)

Materials and services               (52,266)               (52,915)

Trust funds and deposits repaid                 (1,629)                        -   

Other payments                 (3,786)                 (7,603)

Net cash provided by operating activities 9.2                30,233                24,865 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for investments               (61,000)                        -   

Proceeds from sale of investments                52,000                  4,000 

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment               (30,805)               (24,667)

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment                  3,223                     578 

Net cash used in investing activities               (36,582)               (20,089)

Cash flows from financing activities     

Finance costs                    (132)                    (150)

Proceeds from borrowings                  2,200                        -   

Repayment of borrowings                    (208)                    (507)

Interest paid - lease liability                      (24)                      (72)

Repayment of lease liabilities                    (294)                    (326)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities                  1,542                 (1,055)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents                 (4,807)                  3,721 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year                44,384                40,663 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     5.1(a)                39,577                44,384 

Financing arrangements 5.6

The above statement of cash flows should be read with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Capital Works for the year ended 30 June 2023

2023 2022

$'000 $'000

Property

Buildings and building improvements                    3,179                    4,786 

Total property                    3,179                    4,786 

Plant and equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment                    1,307                    1,908 

Computers and telecommunications                       290                       344 

Total plant and equipment                    1,597                    2,252 

Infrastructure

Roads                    9,274                    7,377 

Bridges                       615                    1,015 

Footpaths and cycleways                    2,286                    2,617 

Drainage                       752                       389 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities                  11,167                    1,567 

Parks, open space and streetscapes                    1,348                    1,959 

Other infrastructure                       752                    2,848 

Total infrastructure                  26,194                  17,772 

Total capital works expenditure                  30,970                  24,810 

Represented by:

New asset expenditure                  11,727                    4,409 

Asset renewal expenditure                  17,832                  19,262 

Asset upgrade expenditure                    1,411                    1,139 

Total capital works expenditure                  30,970                  24,810 

The above statement of capital works should be read with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2023

Note 1 Overview

Introduction
Macedon Ranges Shire Council (Council) was constituted in January 1995 following the amalgamation of the former 
Shires of Gisborne, Romsey, Newham and Woodend, and Kyneton. The Council's main office is located at 129 
Mollison Street Kyneton, Victoria.

Statement of compliance 
These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income 
Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works 
and Notes accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with the 
Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB), the Local Government Act 2020 , and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2020.

The Council is a not-for-profit entity and therefore applies the additional AUS paragraphs applicable to a not-for-profit 
entity under the Australian Accounting Standards.

Significant accounting policies
1.1 Basis of accounting
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions 
or other events is reported. Accounting policies applied are disclosed in sections where the related balance or 
financial statement matter is disclosed.

The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, except for the cash 
flow information, whereby assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

The financial statements are based on the historical cost convention unless a different measurement basis is 
specifically disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on 
professional judgement derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial statements are in Australian 
dollars. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless 
otherwise specified. Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and the sum of components are due to rounding.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future 
periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of 
AAS's that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:
      - the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 6.1)
      - the determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 6.1)
      - the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 5.5)
      - the determination of landfill provisions (refer to Note 5.5)
      - the determination of whether performance obligations are sufficiently specific so as to determine whether an 
         arrangement is within the scope of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  or AASB 1058 Income of 
         Not-for-Profit Entities (refer to Note 3)

      - the determination, in accordance with AASB 16 Leases , of the lease term, the estimation of the discount rate 
        when not implicit in the lease and whether an arrangement is in substance short-term or low value (refer to Note 
5.8)      - other areas requiring judgements

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year.  Where 
appropriate, comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been 
made of any material changes to comparatives. 
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Note 1 Overview (cont.)

1.1 Basis of accounting (cont.)
Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income and expenses are recognised net of the amount of associated GST. Receivables and payables are stated 
inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

1.2 Impact of natural disaster events

During 2022/23,  Council undertook recovery works for State Government and the significant nature of the works 
impacted Council's operations. Council has noted the following significant impacts on its financial operations: 
      • Revenue increase – other income, amounts paid to Council for the reimbursement of site and processing 
        costs of recycled storm timber $11,544,000
     • Expense increase - material and services expenses incurred by Council for storm recovery costs $10,855,000
     • Expense increase - material and services expenses incurred by Council for flood recovery $2,034,000

Note 2 Analysis of our results
2.1 Performance against budget
The performance against budget notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with 
actual performance. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020  requires explanation of any 
material variances. Council has adopted a budget variation materiality threshold of 10% and $100,000. Explanations 
have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be material 
because of its size or nature.

The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 22 June 2022 and were based on assumptions 
that were relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for income and 
expense targets in this budget in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets for both the short 
and long-term. The budget did not reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts 
were not considered predictable.

These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 2020  and the Local Government 
(Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 .
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Note 2 Performance against budget (cont.)

2.1 Income and expenditure
Budget Actual

2023 2023
$'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref

Income
Rates and charges       57,885        58,267           382 1%
Statutory fees and fines         3,339          3,233          (106) -3%
User fees         8,605          7,142       (1,463) -17% 1
Grants - operating       13,016        24,477      11,461 88% 2
Grants - capital       16,401          7,521       (8,880) -54% 3
Contributions - monetary         2,306          3,460        1,154 50% 4
Contributions - non monetary         7,920          4,693       (3,227) -41% 5
Fair value adjustments for investment property               -               303           303 -100%
Share of net profits/(losses) of associates               -                 15             15 100%

              -               832          (832) -100%

Other income         2,023        15,335      13,312 658% 6
Total income     111,495      125,278      13,783 12%

Expenses
Employee costs       40,292        41,861       (1,569) -4%
Materials and services       27,767        45,674     (17,907) -64% 7
Depreciation       15,793        15,592           201 1%
Amortisation - intangible assets            102             167            (65) -64%
Amortisation - right of use assets            357             368            (11) -3%
Bad and doubtful debts                6                 2               4 67%
Borrowing costs            581             132           449 77% 8
Finance cost - leases              19               24              (5) -26%

Increase/(decrease) in provision for landfill liability               -               379          (379) 100% 9

Loss on revaluation of other Infrastructure               -               625          (625) 100%

Other expenses         3,248          3,088           160 5%
Total expenses       88,165      107,912     (19,747) -22%

Surplus for the year       23,330        17,366       (5,964) -26%

(i) Explanation of material variations
Ref Item Explanation

1 User fees

2 Grants - operating

3 Grants - capital

4 Contributions - monetary

5 Contributions - non monetary

6 Other income

7 Materials and services

8 Borrowing costs

9 Provision for landfill

Variance

The Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct grant of $8,000,000 was received as 
budgeted. However, due to the timing of the project, the grant was accounted for as 
income in advance, not immediate income in 2022/23.

Housing development was greater than anticipated thus open space contributions were 
above budget.

Council received $11,544,000 unbudgeted revenue as reimbursement of site operating 
and processing costs of storm timber at a Council's owned site, the income is offset by 
higher expenditure of materials and services at reference 7 below.
Council incured rising material and service costs, largely attributed to the economic 
impacts of COVID-19 and inflationary pressures. Additionally, unforeseen expenses 
arose from processing storm timber resulting from the June 2021 storm, which were not 
originally budgeted.

Due mainly to reimbursement of storm expenses $4,128,000 and prepayment of 
$9,370,000 (100%) of the 2023/24 Finanical Assistance grant from the Victorian Grants 
Commission of which were both unbudgeted.

Increase in future cost of maintenance and monitoring of the landfills.

Council received a lower amount of non-monetary contributions (gifted infrastructure 
assets) from developers than originally budgeted. The amounts were lower than budget 
due to a large number of assets needing to be recorded in prior periods.

Borrowing costs lower than budget due to the timing of budgeted borrowings, works were 
delayed and funds were not needed. 

Kindergarten fees were free from January 2023 resulting in being under budget by 
$818,000 (offset by additional grants), Resource Recovery Centres fees were $660,000 
lower than budget.

Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, 
plant & equipment
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Note 2 Performance against budget (cont.)

2.2 Capital works
Budget Actual

2023 2023
$'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref

Property
Buildings and building improvements       4,345        3,179       1,166 27% 1
Land and land improvements          500             -           (500) 0%
Total property       4,845        3,179       1,666 34%

Plant, machinery and equipment       2,533        1,307       1,226 48% 2
Computers and telecommunications          329           290            39 12%
Total plant and equipment       2,862        1,597       1,265 44%

Infrastructure
Roads     10,093        9,274          819 8%
Bridges          592           615           (23) -4%
Footpaths and cycleways       2,878        2,286          592 21% 3
Drainage          565           752         (187) -33% 4
Recreational, leisure and community facilities     18,873      11,167       7,706 41% 5
Parks, open space and streetscapes          212        1,348      (1,136) -536% 6
Other infrastructure          300           752         (452) -151% 7
Total infrastructure     33,513      26,194       7,319 22%

Total capital works expenditure     41,220      30,970     10,250 25%

Represented by:
New asset expenditure     22,644      11,727     10,917 48%
Asset renewal expenditure     15,630      17,832      (2,202) -14%
Asset upgrade expenditure       2,946        1,411       1,535 52%
Total capital works expenditure     41,220      30,970     10,250 25%

(i) Explanation of material variations
Ref Item Explanation

1
Buildings and building 
improvements

2
Plant, machinery and 
equipment

3
Footpaths and 
cylceways

4 Drainage

5
Recreational, leisure 
and community 
facilities

6
Parks, open space 
and streetscapes

7 Other infrastructure

Variance

The progress of the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct was hindered by a 
delay caused by the contractor entering administration.

Higher than budget due to completion of previous year carry forward projects.

Expenditure over budget due to several projects from 2021/22, not included in the 
budget being completed in the 2022/23 year.

Less than budget due to contractor delays, several projects will be completed in 
2023/24.

Less than budget due to delivery delays of new vehicles.

Expenditure was over budget due to the completion of carry forward projects from 
2021/22 financial year.

Woodend to Hepburn shared trail did not receive funding and has not proceeded, 
funding will be sought in future years.
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Note 2 Performance against budget (cont.)

2.3 Analysis of Council results by program

Council directorates
Assets & Operations

Chief Executive

Community

Corporate

Planning & Environment

Summary of income, expenses, assets and capital expenses by program

 Income Expenses
 Surplus/ 
(Deficit) 

 Grants 
included in 

income 
 Total 

assets 
 $'000 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

2023
Assets & Operations        47,471        65,329       (17,858)        11,829      754,621 
Chief Executive                -            1,613         (1,613)                -                  -   
Community          9,206        17,320         (8,114)          7,977          2,638 
Corporate        62,100        11,197        50,903        11,798      696,486 
Planning & Environment          6,501        12,453         (5,952)             394                -   

     125,278      107,912        17,366        31,998   1,453,745 
2022
Assets & Operations        55,474        69,202       (13,728)        15,478      727,596 
Chief Executive               40          1,646         (1,606)               40                -   
Community        10,281        14,268         (3,987)          9,326                -   
Corporate        57,371        11,218        46,153        10,580      631,938 
Planning & Environment          6,139        11,302         (5,163)          1,080          2,638 

     129,305      107,636        21,669        36,504   1,362,172 

The responsibilities of the Planning and Environment directorate include strategic planning, environment and 
conservation services, statutory planning, building services, local laws, environmental health, economic 
development, tourism and Hanging Rock.

The Community Directorate is responsible for arts and culture, customer service, community development, 
emergency management, child, youth and family services, and healthy aging programs.

Council delivers its functions and activities through the following directorate areas. Each directorate is led by 
a director who reports through to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), with the exception of the Chief 
Executive group which reports directly through to the CEO.  

The responsibilities of the Assets and Operations directorate include the maintenance of Council roads, 
footpaths, bridges, drains, parks, buildings, kerbside bin collection, transfer stations, aquatics, recreation and 
engineering.  

The Chief Executive Office manages communications and engagement and the CEO's administrative 

Corporate is responsible for financial services, information technology, property management, rates, 
governance and human resources.
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Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services

3.1 Rates and charges
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 

General rates             36,481             35,333 
Agricultural land rates               2,482               2,255 
Commercial/industrial rates               2,127               2,239 
Municipal charge               5,099               5,007 
Waste management charge             10,576             10,282 
Supplementary rates and rate adjustments                  946                  570 
Other rates                    58                    67 
Interest on rates                  498                  425 
Total rates and charges             58,267             56,178 

3.2 Statutory fees and fines
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Animal control fees                  777                  772 
Infringements and costs                  200                  177 
Permits               1,230               1,443 
Roads and infrastructure fees                  494                  466 
Town planning fees                  266                  337 
Other statutory fees                  266                  279 
Total statutory fees and fines               3,233               3,474 

3.3 User fees
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Aged and health services                  230                  267 
Child care/children's programs                  487                  435 
Cultural activities                  318                    64 
Hanging Rock Reserve fees                  625                  425 
Leisure centre and recreation               3,676               2,417 
Saleyards                  288                  232 
Waste management services               1,254               1,150 
Other fees and charges                  264                  268 
Total user fees               7,142               5,258 

User fees recognised at a point in time               7,142               5,258 

Council uses capital improved value as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district. The capital 
improved value of a property is its estimated market value at the date of valuation. The valuation base used to 
calculate general rates for 2022/23 was $19,302 million (2021/22 $15,152 million).  The 2022/23 general rate in the 
capital improved value dollar was $0.0019018 (2021/22, $0.0023343).

The date of the general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2022, and 
the valuation was first applied in the rating year commencing 1 July 2022. Annual rates and charges are recognised 
as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices. Supplementary rates are recognised when a valuation and 
reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.

User fees are recognised as revenue at a point in time, or over time, when (or as) the performance obligation is 
satisfied. Recognition is based on the underlying contractual terms.

Statutory fees and fines (including parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue when the service has been 
provided, the payment is received, or when the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.
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Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services (cont.)

3.4 Funding from other levels of government
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Grants were received in respect of the following:
Summary of grants
Commonwealth funded grants             16,061             18,776 
State funded grants             15,937             17,728 
Total grants received             31,998             36,504 

(a) Operating Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Aged and disability services               1,694               2,288 
Financial Assistance Grants             11,732             10,454 
Recurrent - State Government
Aged and disability services                     -                        7 
Family and children               4,560               3,199 
Maternal and child health                  639                  634 
School crossing supervisors                  140                  117 
Youth and culture                  105                  191 
Other                  157                  258 
Total recurrent operating grants             19,027             17,148 
Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Aged and disability services                     -                   (169)
Emergency management                     -                      59 
Other                     -                    151 
Non-recurrent - State Government
Emergency management               5,002               8,541 
Family and children                    46               1,097 
Maternal and child health                     -                        1 
Plant and equipment                     -                      50 
Recreational, leisure and community facilities                  100                  111 
Planning and Environment                  196                     -   
Other                  106                  676 
Total non-recurrent operating grants               5,450             10,517 

Total operating grants             24,477             27,665 

(b) Capital Grants
Recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Roads to Recovery               1,441               2,030 
Total recurrent capital grants               1,441               2,030 
Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government
Buildings                    84                  566 
Footpaths and cycleways                     -                    452 
Plant and equipment                     -                      90 
Recreational, leisure and community facilities                      8                  143 
Roads and bridges               1,102               1,720 
Other                     -                    992 
Non-recurrent - State Government
Buildings                    17                  260 
Family and children                  179                     -   
Parks, open space and streetscapes                     -                 1,801 
Recreational, leisure and community facilities               4,658                  743 
Roads and bridges                     -                     (57)
Other                    32                    99 
Total non-recurrent capital grants               6,080               6,809 

Total capital grants               7,521               8,839 
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Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services (cont.)

3.4 Funding from other levels of government (cont.)

Income recognised under AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
     - General purpose             11,732             10,454 
     - Specific purpose grants to acquire non-financial assets               7,521               8,838 
     - Other specific purpose grants               4,272             15,023 

Revenue recognised under AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

     - Specific purpose grants               8,473               2,189 
            31,998             36,504 

2023 2022
 $'000  $'000 

Operational
Balance at start of year                    36               1,374 
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date               2,091                    36 
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year                   (36)              (1,374)
Balance at year end               2,091                    36 

Capital
Balance at start of year             14,701               5,217 
Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date               1,431             10,850 
Received in prior years and spent during the financial year              (1,647)              (1,366)
Balance at year end             14,485             14,701 

(d) Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific manner

(c) Recognition of grant income
Before recognising funding from government grants as revenue the Council assesses whether there is a contract that 
is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers . When both these conditions are satisfied, the Council:
     - identifies each performance obligation relating to revenue under the contract/agreement
     - determines the transaction price
     - recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement
     - recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations, at the time or over time when services are 
rendered.

Where the contract is not enforceable and/or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations, the Council 
applies AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities . 
Grant revenue with sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised over time as the performance 
obligations specified in the underlying agreement are met. Where preformation obligations are not sufficiently 
specific, grants are recognised on the earlier of the receipt or when an unconditional right to receipt has been 
established. Grants relating to capital projects are generally recognised progressively as the capital project is 
completed. The following table provides a summary of the accounting framework under which grants are recognised.

The high balance at 30 June 2023 relates to two projects for which Council has received grants and where the grant 
remains unspent at 30 June 2023.  These projects are Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct and Macedon 
Ranges Shared Trail.

Unspent grants are determined and disclosed on a cash basis.
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Note 3 Funding for the delivery of our services (cont.)

3.5 Contributions

2023 2022 Restated
 $'000  $'000 

Monetary               3,460               2,475 
Non-monetary               4,693             15,145 
Total contributions               8,153             17,620 

Contributions of non monetary assets were received in relation to the following asset classes:
Buildings                     -                    145 
Land under roads               1,204               5,543 
Infrastructure               3,489               9,457 
Total non-monetary               4,693             15,145 

3.6 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Proceeds of sale               3,223                  578 
Written down value of assets disposed              (2,391)              (2,994)

                 832              (2,416)

3.7 Other income
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Commission                    92                  100 
Interest on investments               1,509                  125 
Insurance recoveries                  437                  330 
Investment property rental                  502                  472 
Merchandise and material sales                  745                  567 
Emergency cost recovery             11,544             10,465 
Other                  506                  485 
Total other income             15,335             12,544 

The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.

Monetary and non monetary contributions are recognised as revenue at their fair value when Council obtains control 
over the contributed asset.

Contributions non cash has been understated in prior years due to subdivisions given Compliance not being included 
in income. This has resulted in a restating of Contributions - non monetary income, assets and retained earnings for 
the 2022 and 2021 financial years. This resulted in the Non- Monetary Contributions and assets in the years prior to 
2020/21 being increased by $15.261 million, the 2021/22 year being increased by $4.844 million. Please refer to Note 
9.4 Correction of a prior period error for more details.

Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment

Interest is recognised as it is earned. Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable and is recognised when Council gains control over the right to receive the income.

The Non-monetary assets received during 2022/23 relate to developments across Council including the larger 
development of Willow Estate Gisborne.

Emergency cost recovery income relates to amounts paid to Council for the sale of recycled storm timber.
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Note 4 The cost of delivering services

4.1 (a) Employee costs
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Wages and salaries             33,239             28,186 
Casual staff               4,158               3,478 
Superannuation               3,749               3,177 
WorkCover                  346                  300 
Fringe benefits tax                  369                  433 
Total employee costs             41,861             35,574 

(b) Superannuation
Council made contributions to the following funds:
Defined benefit fund
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)                    85                    81 

                   85                    81 
Accumulation funds
Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)               1,497               1,544 
Employer contributions - other funds               1,948               1,830 

              3,445               3,374 

Employer contributions payable at reporting date                  383                  164 

4.2 Materials and services
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Administration               2,277               1,656 
Building maintenance               1,237                  898 
Consultants               2,129               2,220 
Contract payments - Emergencies             13,746             23,172 
Contract payments - Parks Maintenance               1,999               2,321 
Contract payments - Resource Recovery               9,787               9,021 
Contract payments - Other               6,802               7,876 
General maintenance                  682                  558 
Information technology               1,242               1,077 
Insurance                  888                  752 
Materials and supplies               2,717               2,315 
Utilities               2,168               2,014 
Total materials and services             45,674             53,880 

4.3 Depreciation
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Property               1,988               1,986 
Plant and equipment               1,395               1,440 
Infrastructure             12,209             11,542 
Total depreciation             15,592             14,968 

Refer to note 5.2(b) and 6.1 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges and accounting 
policy.

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate. Emergencies 
relates to storm recovery works in 2022 and costs involved in processing storm timber in 2023.

Contributions made exclude amounts accrued at balance date. Refer to note 9.3 for further information relating to 
Council's superannuation obligations.
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Note 4 The cost of delivering services (cont.)

4.4 Amortisation - intangible assets
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Software                  167                  186 
Total amortisation - intangible assets                  167                  186 

4.5 Amortisation - right of use assets
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Right of use assets                  368                  357 
Total amortisation - right of use assets                  368                  357 

4.6 Bad and doubtful debts - allowance for impairment losses
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Other debtors 2                     24                   

Total bad and doubtful debts - allowance for impairment losses 2                     24                   

Movement in allowance for impairment losses in respect of debtors

Balance at the beginning of the year 29                   14                   

New provisions recognised during the year 3                     24                   

Amounts already provided for and written off as uncollectible (2)                   (9)                   
Amounts provided for but recovered during the year -                     -                     
Balance at end of year 30                   29                   

4.7 Borrowing costs
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Interest - borrowings                  132                  150 
Total borrowing costs                  132                  150 

4.8 Finance Costs - Leases
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Interest - right of use assets                    24                    72 
Total finance costs                    24                    72 

4.9 Other expenses
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Auditors' remuneration - VAGO - audit of the financial statements, performance 
statement and grant acquittals                    59                    32 
Auditors' remuneration - Internal audit                    67                    49 
Contributions and donations               2,036               2,129 
Councillors' allowances                  359                  340 
Operating lease rentals                  284                  176 
Other expenses                  283                  249 
Total other expenses               3,088               2,975 

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

An allowance for impairment losses in respect of debtors is recognised based on an expected credit loss model. This 
model considers both historic and forward looking information in determining the level of impairment.

Refer to note 5.2(b) and 6.1 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation and amortisation charges and accounting 
policy.
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Note 5 Our financial position

5.1 Financial assets
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Current
Cash on hand                24                23 
Cash at bank           3,361           6,580 
Money market call accounts           8,192         22,781 
Term deposits         28,000         15,000 
Total cash and cash equivalents         39,577         44,384 

(b) Other financial assets
Current
Term deposits - current         10,000           1,000 
Total current other financial assets
Non current
Shares in Lancefield Community Bank - at fair value                12                12 
Shares in Gisborne Community Bank - at fair value                  9                  9 
Total non-current other financial assets                21                21 
Total other financial assets         10,021           1,021 

(c) Trade and other receivables
Current
Statutory receivables

Rates debtors           6,033           5,056 
Net GST receivable           1,365              868 

Non statutory receivables
Other debtors           8,723           6,835 
Provision for doubtful debts - other debtors               (30)               (29)

Total current trade and other receivables         16,091         12,730 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any 
unrealised gains and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.  

Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that an impairment has occurred.

Other financial assets include term deposits and those with original maturity dates of three to 12 months are 
classified as current, whilst term deposits with maturity dates greater than 12 months are classified as non-current.
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Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)

5.1 Financial assets (cont.)
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
(d) Ageing of receivables
The ageing of the Council's trade and other receivables that are not impaired was:
Current (not yet due)           8,486           6,693 
Past due by up to 30 days              117                76 
Past due between 31 and 180 days                37                41 
Past due between 181 and 365 days                24                  8 
Past due by more than 1 year                59                17 
Total trade and other receivables           8,723           6,835 

(e) Ageing of individually impaired receivables

Current (not yet due)                10                  7 
Past due by more than 1 year                20                22 
Total trade & other receivables                30                29 

5.2 Non-financial assets
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
(a) Other assets
Current
Prepayments              594              698 
Total other assets              594              698 

Other current assets
Accrued income           1,451           1,817 
Accrued interest income              100                30 

Total other assets           1,551           1,847 

(b) Intangible assets - software
Non current
Opening carrying amount           3,193           3,013 
Additions                37              180 
Closing carrying amount           3,230           3,193 

Opening accumulated amortisation          (2,647)          (2,461)
Amortisation expense             (167)             (186)
Closing accumulated amortisation          (2,814)          (2,647)

Net intangible assets              416              546 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised as an expense on a systematic basis over the asset's useful life. 
Amortisation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value over its estimated 
useful life. Estimates of the remaining useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed at least annually, and 
adjustments made where appropriate.

At balance date, other debtors representing financial assets with a nominal value of $30,000 (2022: $29,000) were 
impaired. The amount of the provision raised against these debtors was $30,000 (2022: $29,000).  They individually 
have been impaired as a result of their doubtful collection. Many of the long outstanding past due amounts have 
been lodged with Council's debt collectors or are on payment arrangements.

The ageing of receivables that have been individually determined as impaired at reporting date was:
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Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)

5.3 Payables, trust funds and deposits and unearned income
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
(a) Trade and other payables
Current
Non-statutory payables
Trade payables           5,806           5,612 
Accrued general expenses           2,363           1,573 
Accrued payroll expense              586              468 
Accrued interest expense                  3                  3 
Other payables              655              452 
Statutory payables
Net GST payable                -                  -   
Total current trade and other payables           9,413           8,108 

(b) Trust funds and deposits
Current
Fire services levy              901              824 
Trust funds and deposits           6,051           5,131 
Total current trust funds and deposits           6,952           5,955 

(c) Unearned income
Current
Grants received in advance - operating           2,091                36 
Grants received in advance - capital         14,485         14,701 
Other                92              171 
Total current unearned income         16,668         14,908 

Purpose and nature of items

Unearned income represents contract liabilities and reflects consideration received in advance from customers in 
respect of aquatic, arts and culture fees in advance and grants. Unearned income is derecognised and recorded as 
revenue when promised goods and services are transferred to the customer. Refer to Note 3.

Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they 
are returned, transferred in accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, 
resulting in council gaining control of the funds, are to be recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit.

Fire Service Levy - Council is the collection agent for fire services levy on behalf of the State Government. Council 
remits amounts received on a quarterly basis. Amounts disclosed here will be remitted to the state government in line 
with that process.

Trust funds and deposits - Council retains deposits which are repaid on satisfactory completion of the contractual 
obligations, or the elapsing of time.
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Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)
5.4 Interest-bearing liabilities

2023 2022
 $'000  $'000 

Current
Treasury Corporation of Victoria borrowings - secured              175                -   
Other borrowings - secured              216              208 
Total current interest-bearing liabilities              391              208 

Non-current
Treasury Corporation of Victoria borrowings - secured           2,025                -   
Other borrowings - secured           3,092           3,308 
Total non-current interest-bearing loans           5,117           3,308 
Total interest-bearing liabilities           5,508           3,516 

The borrowings are secured by a charge over the rates of Council.

a) The maturity profile for Council's borrowings is:
Not later than one year              391              208 
Later than one year and not later than five years           3,887           3,308 
Later than five years           1,230                -   

          5,508           3,516 

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, being the cost of the interest bearing liabilities, net of transaction 
costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition depends on whether the Council has categorised its 
interest-bearing liabilities as either financial liabilities designated at fair value through the profit and loss, or financial 
liabilities at amortised cost. Any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value is 
recognised in net result over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the interest bearing liabilities. The Council determines the 
classification of its interest bearing liabilities at initial recognition.
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Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)

5.5 Provisions
2023 2022

$'000 $'000

Current
Employee             6,217          6,242 
Landfill                513             312 
Total Current             6,730          6,554 
Non current
Employee             1,839          1,196 
Landfill             3,095          2,917 
Total Non-current             4,934          4,113 
Total Provisions           11,664        10,667 

Employee Landfill 
restoration

Total

$ '000 $ '000  $ '000 
2023
Balance at beginning of the financial year          7,438             3,229        10,667 
Additional provisions          3,763                303          4,066 
Amounts used         (3,187)                  -           (3,187)
Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the 
effect of any change in the discount rate               42                  76             118 
Balance at the end of the financial year          8,056             3,608        11,664 

2022
Balance at beginning of the financial year          7,383             3,921        11,304 
Additional provisions          2,731              (175)          2,556 
Amounts used         (2,828)              (142)         (2,970)
Change in the discounted amount arising because of time and the 
effect of any change in the discount rate             152              (375)            (223)
Balance at the end of the financial year          7,438             3,229        10,667 

(a) Employee provisions
Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months
Annual leave             2,769          2,396 
Long service leave             2,112          2,195 

            4,881          4,591 
Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months
Annual leave                  93             385 
Long service leave             1,243          1,266 

            1,336          1,651 
Total current employee provisions             6,217          6,242 

Non-current 
Long service leave             1,839          1,196 
Total non-current employee provisions             1,839          1,196 

Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:
Current             6,217          6,242 
Non-current             1,839          1,196 
Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions             8,056          7,438 

The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at 
reporting date.
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Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)

5.5 Provisions (cont.)

Annual leave

Long service leave

2023 2022
Key assumptions:

- discount rate 4.06% 3.69%
- index rate 4.35% 3.85%

2023 2022

$'000 $'000

(b) Landfill restoration

Current                513             312 
Non-current             3,095          2,917 
Total landfill restoration             3,608          3,229 

2023 2022
Key assumptions:

- discount rate 4.06% 3.69%
- index rate 2.5%-3.5% 2.00%

5.6 Financing arrangements
2023 2022

$'000 $'000
The Council has the following funding arrangements in place as at 30 June 2023:
Credit card facilities                100             100 
Treasury Corporation of Victoria facilities             2,200                -   
Other facilities             4,450          4,450 
Total facilities             6,750          4,550 

Used facilities           (5,541)         (3,543)

Unused facilities             1,209          1,007 

A liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits as a current liability because the 
Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability. Liabilities for annual leave are 
measured at:
- nominal value if the Council expects to wholly settle the liability within 12 months
- present value if the Council does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, measured at the present value of the amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. Unconditional LSL is 
disclosed as a current liability as the Council does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. Unconditional 
LSL is measured at nominal value if expected to be settled within 12 months or at present value if not expected to be 
settled within 12 months. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach a qualifying 
term of employment, is disclosed as a non-current liability and measured at present value.

Council is obligated to restore three landfill sites in Bullengarook, Kyneton and Lancefield to a particular standard. All 
three landfill sites are closed and are not receiving any further infill. The provision for landfill restoration has been 
calculated based on the present value of the expected cost of works to be undertaken. The expected cost of works 
has been estimated based on the current understanding of work required to reinstate the site to a suitable standard. 
Accordingly, the estimation of the provision required is dependent on the accuracy of the forecast timing of the work, 
work required and related costs.
Council reviews the landfill restoration provision on an annual basis including the key assumptions listed below.
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Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)

5.7 Commitments

(a) Commitments for expenditure

Not later 
than 1 year

Later than 1 
year and not 

later than 2 
years

Later than 2 
years and 

not later 
than 5 years

Later than 5 
years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2023
Operating
Animal pound services                200                  -                    -                    -                  200 
Cleaning contracts                903                795                547                  -               2,245 
Consultancies                    7                  -                    -                    -                      7 
Housing management                  36                    2                    8                  39                  85 
Landfill services                391                175                  -                    -                  566 
Security Services                  85                  -                    -                    -                    85 
Waste Collection             8,423             8,508             2,732                220           19,883 
Total           10,045             9,480             3,287                259           23,071 

Capital
Bridges                142                  -                    -                    -                  142 
Buildings                929                  -                    -                    -                  929 
Footpaths             8,299                  -                    -                    -               8,299 
Open space & streetscapes                  20                  -                    -                    -                    20 
Recreational, leisure and community           20,449                  -                    -                    -             20,449 
Roads             2,899                140                333                  -               3,372 

Total           32,738                140                333                  -             33,211 

2022
Operating
Animal pound services 200 200                  -                    -                  400 
Cleaning contracts                400                  -                    -                    -                  400 
Consultancies                  63                  -                    -                    -                    63 
Housing management                  52                  52                  -                    -                  104 
Landfill services             1,680                380                380                  -               2,440 
Security Services                150                  -                    -                    -                  150 
Software support                272                  -                    -                    -                  272 
Waste Collection             7,040             1,760                  -                    -               8,800 
Total             9,857             2,392                380                  -             12,629 

Capital
Buildings                358                  -                    -                    -                  358 
Roads             1,450                100                  -                    -               1,550 
Footpaths                100                  -                    -                    -                  100 
Recreational, leisure and community           18,607             4,000                  -                    -             22,607 
Open space & streetscapes             4,935             2,223                  -                    -               7,158 
Total           25,450             6,323                  -                    -             31,773 

The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. 
Commitments are disclosed at their nominal value and presented inclusive of the GST payable.



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.3 - Attachment 1 Page 196 

  

Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)

5.7 Commitments (cont.)
2023 2022
$'000 $'000

(b) Operating lease receivables

Future undiscounted minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than one year                  93                  96 
Later than one year and not later than five years                309                319 
Later than five years                  50                  53 
Total operating lease receivables                452                468 

5.8 Leases

As a lessee, Council recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for:

Council has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property. These properties held under 
operating leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1 and 10 years. All leases include a CPI 
based revision of the rental charge annually.

At inception of a contract, Council assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. To identify whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, it is 
necessary to assess whether:

    - The contract involves the use of an identified asset;
    - The customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset 
       throughout the period of use; and
    - The customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.

Under AASB 16 Leases, Council as a not-for-profit entity has elected not to measure right-of-use assets at initial 
recognition at fair value in respect of leases that have significantly below-market terms.

    · Amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
    · The exercise price under a purchase option that Council is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments
       in an optional renewal period if Council is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties 
       for early termination of a lease unless Council is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

    · any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; plus 

    · any initial direct costs incurred; and 
    · an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the 
      site on which it is located.

    · Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
      as at the commencement date;

    · Fixed payments

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, an appropriate incremental borrowing rate. Generally, Council uses an appropriate incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date 
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated 
useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In 
addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
measurements of the lease liability. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
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Note 5 Our financial position (cont.)

5.8 Leases (cont.)

Right-of-use Assets Property Equipment Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2022                486                  97                583 
Additions                130                    -                130 
Amortisation charge              (335)                (33)              (368)
Balance at 30 June 2023                281                  64                345 

Lease Liabilities 2023 2022
$'000 $'000

Less than one year                224                659 
One to five years                260                300 
More than five years                    -                    - 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities as at 30 June:                484                959 

Current                256                414 
Non-current                131                268 
Total lease liabilities                387                682 

Short-term and low value leases

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows 

Council does not have any short-term or low value leases to disclose.

Lease liabilities included in the Balance Sheet at 30 June:
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Note 6 Assets we manage

6.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Note

Carrying 
amount

30 June 2022 
Restated

Additions Contributions Revaluation Depreciation Disposal Transfers

Carrying 
amount
30 June 

2023

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property 6.1(a)        671,721                 -               1,204          49,971            (1,988)         (1,290)          1,851        721,469 

Plant and equipment 6.1(b)          10,522                 -                     -                    -              (1,395)            (374)          1,428          10,181 

Infrastructure 6.1(c)        594,047                 -               3,488          16,856          (12,209)            (152)        12,259        614,289 

Work in progress          20,008          30,362                   -                    -                     -                  -         (15,538)          34,832 

Total property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment

    1,296,298          30,362             4,692          66,827          (15,592)         (1,816)                -       1,380,771 

Amount expensed from revaluation 
of other infrastructure                  -                   -                     -                 625                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Revaluation Reserve Increment                  -                   -                     -            67,452                   -                  -                  -                   -   

Summary of Work In Progress (WIP)

Opening WIP Additions
Transfers to 

assets
Write offs Closing WIP

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Property 6.1(a)            3,824             3,399         (1,851)                -              5,372 

Plant and equipment 6.1(b)                  -               1,428         (1,428)                -                   -   

Infrastructure 6.1(c)          16,184           25,535       (12,259)                -            29,460 

Total Work In Progress          20,008           30,362       (15,538)                -            34,832 
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Note 6 Assets we manage (cont.)

6.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

(a) Property

Land - specialised
Land - non 
specialised

Land 
improvements

Total land 
and land

improvements

Buildings - 
specialised

Buildings - 
non 

specialised

Total 
buildings

Work In 
Progress

Total 
property

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At fair value 1 July 2022                448,775       115,818                  754            565,347         48,911         49,744         98,655           3,832       667,834 

Prior year error correction                    7,719                 -                       -                  7,719                 -                   -                   -                  (8)           7,711 

At fair value 1 July 2022 - Restated                456,494       115,818                  754            573,066         48,911         49,744         98,655           3,824       675,545 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2022                          -                   -                       -                        -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -   

               456,494       115,818                  754            573,066         48,911         49,744         98,655           3,824       675,545 

Movements in fair value

Additions                          -                   -                       -                        -                   -                   -                   -             3,399           3,399 

Contributions                    1,204                 -                       -                  1,204                 -                   -                   -                   -             1,204 

Revaluation                  29,493         20,478                     -                49,971                 -                   -                   -                   -           49,971 

Disposal                          -           (1,290)                     -                 (1,290)                 -                   -                   -                   -           (1,290)

Transfers                          -                   -                       -                        -             1,486              365           1,851         (1,851)                 -   

                 30,697         19,188                     -                49,885           1,486              365           1,851           1,548         53,284 

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation                          -                   -                       -                        -              (995)            (993)         (1,988)                 -           (1,988)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals                          -                   -                       -                        -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -   

Revaluation increments/ decrements                          -                   -                       -                        -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -   

                         -                   -                       -                        -              (995)            (993)         (1,988)                 -           (1,988)

At fair value 30 June 2023                487,191       135,006                  754            622,951         50,397         50,109       100,506           5,372       728,829 

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2023                          -                   -                       -                        -              (995)            (993)         (1,988)                 -           (1,988)

Carrying amount                487,191       135,006                  754            622,951         49,402         49,116         98,518           5,372       726,841 
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Note 6 Assets we manage (cont.)

6.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

(b) Plant and Equipment

Plant machinery 
and equipment

Fixtures fittings 
and furniture

Computers and 
telecomms

Cultural assets
Work In 
Progress

Total plant and 
equipment

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At fair value 1 July 2022               13,033                    1,446                 2,691                 2,638                      -                 19,808 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2022               (5,870)                   (1,017)                (2,399)                       -                        -                  (9,286)

                7,163                       429                    292                 2,638                      -                 10,522 

Movements in fair value

Additions                      -                            -                         -                         -                   1,428                 1,428 

Disposal                  (694)                          -                         -                         -                        -                     (694)

Transfers                 1,186                          -                      242                       -                 (1,428)                       -   

                   492                          -                      242                       -                        -                      734 

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation                  (993)                      (100)                   (302)                       -                        -                  (1,395)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals                    320                          -                         -                         -                        -                      320 

                 (673)                      (100)                   (302)                       -                        -                  (1,075)

At fair value 30 June 2023               13,525                    1,446                 2,933                 2,638                      -                 20,542 

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2023               (6,543)                   (1,117)                (2,701)                       -                        -                (10,361)

Carrying amount                 6,982                       329                    232                 2,638                      -                 10,181 
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Note 6 Assets we manage (cont.)

6.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

(c) Infrastructure

Roads Bridges
Footpaths 

and 
cycleways

Drainage
Recreational, 
leisure and 
community

Parks open 
spaces and 

streetscapes

Other 
infrastructure

Work In 
Progress

Total 
infrastructure

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At fair value 1 July 2022         596,246           51,417           37,465           78,347           41,616               3,948               5,511           16,177           830,727 

Prior year error correction             5,051                447             2,113             4,764                  11                     -                      -                      7             12,393 

At fair value 1 July 2022 - Restated         601,297           51,864           39,578           83,111           41,627               3,948               5,511           16,184           843,120 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2022        (165,588)          (18,955)          (11,583)          (19,578)          (14,330)              (1,303)             (1,552)                   -           (232,889)

        435,709           32,909           27,995           63,533           27,297               2,645               3,959           16,184           610,231 

Movements in fair value

Additions                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -                       -                      -             25,535             25,535 

Contributions             2,081                  59                642                706                   -                       -                      -                     -                 3,488 

Revaluation increments/ decrements                   -               6,167             5,964             7,415             5,634                  467                (205)                   -               25,442 

Disposal                 (21)               (260)                 (37)                 (11)                 (45)                   (13)                    -                     -                  (387)

Transfers             5,702             1,010             1,816                492                529                    24               2,686          (12,259)                    -   

            7,762             6,976             8,385             8,602             6,118                  478               2,481           13,276             54,078 

Movements in accumulated depreciation

Depreciation and amortisation            (8,036)               (429)               (784)               (821)            (1,564)                 (296)                (279)                   -             (12,209)

Accumulated depreciation of disposals                    6                178                  17                    2                  23                      9                    -                     -                   235 

Revaluation increments/ decrements                   -              (2,522)            (1,760)            (1,773)            (1,920)                 (189)                (422)                   -               (8,586)

Transfers                   -                     -                     -                     -                     -                       -                      -                     -                      -   

           (8,030)            (2,773)            (2,527)            (2,592)            (3,461)                 (476)                (701)                   -             (20,560)

At fair value 30 June 2023         609,059           58,840           47,963           91,713           47,745               4,426               7,992           29,460           897,198 

Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2023        (173,618)          (21,728)          (14,110)          (22,170)          (17,791)              (1,779)             (2,253)                   -           (253,449)

Carrying amount         435,441           37,112           33,853           69,543           29,954               2,647               5,739           29,460           643,749 
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Note 6 Assets we manage (cont.)

6.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

(d) Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment accounting policies

Acquisition

Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods
Depreciation 

Period
Threshold 

Limit
$'000

Land and land improvements
   land -                10 
   land improvements -                10 
Buildings
   heritage buildings 50 years                10 
   buildings 50 years                10 
   building improvements 50 years                10 
   leasehold improvements 50 years                10 
Plant and equipment
   plant, machinery and equipment 3 - 26 years               2.5 
   fixtures, fittings and furniture 5 - 20 years               2.5 
   computers and telecommunications 3 - 5 years               2.5 
Infrastructure
   road pavement - spray seal 18 years                10 
   road pavement - asphalt 35 years                10 
   road pavement - sealed pavement 60 - 90 years                10 
   road pavement - sealed sub-pavement -                10 
   road pavements - unsealed roads 20 - 25 years                10 
   road formation and earthworks  -                10 

   road kerb, channel
50 - 150 

years
               10 

   bridges and major culverts
70 - 200 

years
               10 

   footbridges
30 - 100 

years
               10 

   footpaths and cycleways 15 - 60 years                10 
   drainage 80 years                10 
   recreational, leisure and community facilities 10 - 50 years                10 
   parks, open space and streetscapes 10 - 15 years                10 
   other infrastructure 10 - 50 years                10 
Intangible assets
   intangible assets 3 - 5 years                10 

Land under roads
Council recognises land under roads it controls at fair value. 

The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets 
provided as consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Where assets are constructed by Council, 
cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, and an appropriate share of directly attributable 
variable and fixed overheads. In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when 
recognising assets within an applicable asset class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior 
year.
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Note 6 Assets we manage (cont.)

6.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

(d) Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment accounting policies (cont.)

Depreciation and amortisation

Repairs and maintenance

Valuation of land and buildings 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Date of   Type of  
  $'000  $'000    $'000  Valuation   Valuation  

Land - non-specialised              -      135,006                      -   Jun-23 Full

Land - specialised              -                -              487,191 Jun-23 Full

Land Improvements              -                -                     754 Jun-23 Full

Buildings - non-specialised              -        49,116                      -   Jun-22 Full

Buildings - specialised              -                -                49,402 Jun-22 Full

Total              -      184,122            537,347 

The date and type of the current valuation is detailed in the following table. Details of the Council’s land and 
buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2023 are as follows.

Buildings, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives are systematically 
depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service 
potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a 
regular basis with major asset classes reassessed annually. Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed 
annually. Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these 
components are assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is 
determined for each component. Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as 
not having a limited useful life. Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as 
determined each year. Depreciation periods used are listed above and are consistent with the prior year 
unless otherwise stated. 

Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land and land under roads will have a significant 
impact on the fair value of these assets.

Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or 
unserviced) characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of 
infrastructure assets and services. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment 
has no impact on the comprehensive income statement.

Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by qualified valuer, Hayley Drummond AAPI (Member # 
62596), Municipal Valuer . The valuation of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on 
highest and best use permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted through 
existing planning provisions the valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an 
unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income statement. 
See note 8.4 for description of fair value measurement.

Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the 
capitalisation threshold the cost is capitalised and depreciated. The carrying value of the replaced asset is 
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Note 6 Assets we manage (cont.)

6.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (cont.)

(d) Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment accounting policies (cont.)

Valuation of infrastructure

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Date of   Type of  
  $'000  $'000    $'000  Valuation   Valuation  

Roads              -                -              435,441 Jun-22 Full
Bridges              -                -                37,112 Jun-23 Index
Footpaths and cycleways              -                -                33,853 Jun-23 Full
Drainage              -                -                69,543 Jun-23 Index
Recreational, leisure and community facilities             -                -                29,954 Jun-23 Index
Parks, open space and streetscapes             -                -                  2,647 Jun-23 Index
Other infrastructure              -                -                  5,739 Jun-23 Full

Total              -                -              614,289 

Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations

Reconciliation of specialised land
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 
Land under roads         435,082       402,435 
Other           52,863         46,340 

Total specialised land         487,945       448,775 

Specialised buildings  are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable 
inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs 
is calculated on a square metre basis and ranges from $550 to $3,500 per square metre. The remaining 
useful lives of buildings are determined on the basis of the current condition of buildings at 50 years. 
Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing 
through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are sensitive to changes in expectations or requirements 
that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.

Infrastructure assets  are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable 
inputs include the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful 
lives of infrastructure asses are determined on the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from 1 
year to 200 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or 
decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, 
expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of infrastructure assets.

Valuation of infrastructure assets has been determined utilising our internal resources and expertise, 
overseen by Cameron McFarlane, Coordinator Asset Management, Bachelor of Surveying. The date and type 
of the current valuation is detailed in the following table. The valuation is at fair value (see Note 8.4 for fair 
value measurement) based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation. 
Details of Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2023 are as 
follows:

Specialised land and land under roads  is valued using a market based direct comparison technique. 
Significant unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of land 
per square metre. The extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to surrounding 
land values of up to 85%. The market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land 
and the current market conditions. Currently land values range between $1.33 (Land under Roads Rural-Low) 
and $1,000 (central Kyneton prime business land) per square metre. 
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Note 6 Assets we manage (cont.)

6.2 Investments in associates

2023 2022

Macedon Ranges Shire Council 23.54% 23.40%
Greater Bendigo City Council 60.97% 61.01%
Loddon Shire Council 4.76% 4.82%
Mount Alexander Shire Council 10.73% 10.77%

2023 2022
 $'000  $'000 

Fair value of Council's investment in North Central Regional Goldfields Library
Corporation

         1,447          1,432 

Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at start of year             592             522 
Reported surplus(deficit) for year                 6               70 
Transfers (to) from reserves                -                  (4)
Adjustment arising from change to equity share                 4                 4 

    Council's share of accumulated surplus(deficit) at end of year             602             592 
Council's share of reserves

Council's share of reserves at start of year             264             258 
Adjustment arising from change to equity share                 1                 2 
Transfers (to) from reserves                -                   4 

    Council's share of reserves at end of year             265             264 
Movement in carrying value of specific investment

Carrying value of investment at start of year          1,432          1,353 
Share of surplus(deficit) for year                 6               70 
Adjustment arising from change to equity share                 9                 9 

   Carrying value of investment at end of year          1,447          1,432 
Council's share of expenditure commitments

Operating commitments               57               19 
   Council's share of expenditure commitments               57               19 
(Council's share of equity as per the un-audited 30 June 2023 financial statements of the Library Service)

6.3 Investment property
2023 2022

 $'000  $'000 

Balance at 1 July          2,630          2,566 

Fair value adjustments             303               64 

Balance at 30 June          2,933          2,630 

Valuation of investment property

Associates are all entities over which Council has significant influence but not control or joint control. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 

Investment property is held to generate long-term rental yields. Investment property is measured initially at cost, 
including transaction costs. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that 
future economic benefit in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the Council. 
Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, investment property is carried at fair value, determined annually by 
independent valuers. Changes to fair value are recorded in the comprehensive  income statement in the period that 
they arise.

Valuation of investment property has been determined by a qualified Valuer, Hayley Drummond AAPI, who has 
recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The valuation is at fair value, based on 
the current market value for the property at 30 June 2023.

Council has one investment in an associate which is the North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation. The 
equity holders in the North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation and their relevant holdings are:
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Note 7 People and relationships

7.1 Council and key management remuneration 

(a) Related Parties
Parent entity
Macedon Ranges Shire Council is the parent entity.

Subsidiaries and Associates
Macedon Ranges Shire Council does not have any subsidiaries. Interests in associates are detailed in Note 6.2.

(b) Key Management Personnel

Councillors
Councillor Annette Death (Mayor 23/11/2022 - 30/06/2023)

Councillor Rob Guthrie (Deputy Mayor 1/7/2022 - 22/11/2022)
Councillor Dominic Bonanno
Councillor Anne Moore
Councillor Geoff Neil
Councillor Janet Pearce 
Councillor Mark Ridgeway
Councillor Bill West

Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel
Chief Executive Officer - Bernie O'Sullivan
Director Assets & Operations - Shane Walden
Director Community - Maria Weiss
Director Corporate - Adele Drago-Stevens
Director Planning & Environment - Rebecca Stockfeld
Manager Communications & Engagement - Lauren Wall

2023 2022
No. No.

Total Number of Councillors 9                   9                   
Total Number of Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel 6                   16                 
Total Number of Key Management Personnel 15                 25                 

Key management personnel (KMP) are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of Council. The Councillors, Chief Executive Officer, Directors and Manager 
Communications and Engagement are deemed KMP.

   Councillor Jennifer Anderson (Mayor 1/7/2022 - 22/11/2022, Deputy Mayor 23/11/2022 - 30/6/2023)
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Note 7 People and relationships (cont.)

7.1 Council and key management remuneration (cont.)

(c) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:
2023 2022
$'000 $'000

Short-term benefits             1,678             1,916 
Long-term benefits                  26                  76 
Termination benefits                   -                    38 
Post-Termination benefits                123                  88 
Total             1,827             2,118 

2023 2022
No. No.

$10,000 - $19,999 -                    1 
$20,000 - $29,999                    1                  10 
$30,000 - $39,999                    6                    1 
$40,000 - $49,999                   -                      3 
$60,000 - $69,999                   -                      1 
$70,000 - $79,999                    2                    1 
$90,000 - $99,999                   -                      2 
$100,000 - $109,999                   -                      1 
$110,000 - $119,999                   -                      1 
$160,000 - $169,999                    1                   -   
$230,000 - $239,999                    2                    1 
$240,000 - $249,999                    1                    1 
$250,000 - $259,999                    1                    1 
$320,000 - $329,999                    1                   -   
$380,000 - $389,999                   -                      1 
Total                  15                  25 

(d) Remuneration of other senior staff

2023 2022
$'000 $'000

Short-term employee benefits             1,720             1,442 
Other long-term employee benefits                  36                  26 
Termination benefits                   -                    14 
Post-Termination benefits                161                128 
Total             1,917             1,610 

Total remuneration of other senior staff was as follows:

The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council fall within the following bands:

Remuneration comprises employee benefits including all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by 
Council, or or behalf of the Council, in exchange for services rendered. Remuneration of Key Management 
Personnel and Other senior staff is disclosed in the following categories.
Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are 
usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or 
subsidised goods or services.
Other long-term employee benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred 
compensation.
Post-employment benefits include pensions, and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis 
where employment has ceased.
Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages.

Other senior staff are officers of Council, other than Key Management Personnel, whose total remuneration 
exceeds $160,000 and who report directly to a member of the KMP.*
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Note 7 People and relationships (cont.)

7.1 Council and key management remuneration (cont.)

2023 2022
No. No.

Less than $160,000                   -                      3 
$160,000 - $169,999                    5                    2 
$170,000 - $179,999                    3                    4 
$180,000 - $189,000 2 1
$190,000 - $199,999 1 -

                 11                  10 

7.2 Related party disclosure

There were no commitments  in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed or secured by the 
Council to a related party (2021/22, $0).

There were no loans in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed or secured by the Council to a 
related party (2021/22, $0).

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties 

(c) Loans to/from related parties

(d) Commitments to/from related parties

There were no balances outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties 
(2021/22, $0).

During the year Council provided buildings rent free to North Central Goldfields Regional Library Corporation for 
Gisborne Library, Kyneton Library, Romsey Hub and Woodend Community Centre and Library. This also occurred 
in 2021/22. 

(a) Transactions with related parties 

* Due to a definitional change the comparative figures in this note may not align with the previous year's
annual report, which included disclosure of senior officers as defined in the Local Government Act 1989 .

The number of other senior staff are shown below in their relevant income bands:
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Note 8 Managing uncertainties

8.1 Contingent assets and liabilities

(a) Contingent assets

(b) Contingent liabilities
Superannuation

Liability Mutual Insurance

8.2 Change in accounting standards

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet, but are disclosed and if 
quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST 
receivable or payable, respectively.

Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make 
additional contributions to the scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined in section 9.3. As 
a result of the volatility in financial markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods exists. 

During June 2021 there was a significant storm which impacted the Macedon Ranges Shire Council with costs 
in excess of $22.5m incurred by Council in clean up costs. The Council has lodged claims with the Victorian 
state government for assessment in line with the Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements 2018. The Council 
has incurred claimable costs associated with the clean up and recovery works in excess of $17.0m. The 
Council has been notified progressively as to whether the expenditure under each claim is eligible for 
reimbursement with amounts received recognised as income. At 30 June 2023 a small number of claims 
totalling $161,045.44 are awaiting or undergoing a formal assessment. Until each claim is independently 
assessed the Council is unable to reliably quantify the amount of expenditure that will be confirmed as eligible 
expenditure and reimbursed in a future reporting period. The total amount repaid to Council will not be known 
for several months.

Certain new Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory 
for the 30 June 2023 reporting period. Council assesses the impact of these new standards. As at 30 June 
2023 there were no new accounting standards or interpretations issued by the AASB which are applicable for 
the year ending 30 June 2024 that are expected to impact Council.

Council is a participant of the MAV Liability Mutual Insurance (LMI) Scheme. The LMI scheme provides public 
liability and professional indemnity insurance cover. The LMI scheme states that each participant will remain 
liable to make further contributions to the scheme in respect of any insurance year in which it was a participant 
to the extent of its participant’s share of any shortfall in the provision set aside in respect of that insurance year, 
and such liability will continue whether or not the participant remains a participant in future insurance years. 

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
council.

During October 2022 there was significant storm which also resulted in severe flooding which impacted parts of 
the Macedon Ranges Shire Council with costs in excess of $2.1m incurred by Council in clean up costs and 
community support activities. The Council is in the process of lodging claims with the Victorian state 
government for assessment in line with the Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements 2018. Council also 
expects further spending as part of the restoration of assets, it is forecast that total expenditure may be in 
excess of $4.0m. The Council will be notified progressively as to whether the expenditure in claims is eligible for 
reimbursement with amounts received recognised as income. At 30 June 2023 no claims had been submitted 
for formal assessment. Until each claim is independently assessed Council is unable to reliably quantify the 
amount of expenditure that will be confirmed as eligible expenditure and reimbursed in a future reporting period. 
The total amount repaid to Council will not be known until the later part of the 2023/24 financial year. 
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Note 8 Managing uncertainties (cont.)

8.3 Financial instruments

Objectives and policies

a) Market risk

b) Interest rate risk

 - diversification of investment product;
 - monitoring of return on investment; and
 - benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.

c) Credit risk

 - council may require collateral where appropriate; and

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and 
cause Council to make a financial loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included 
in the balance sheet. Particularly significant areas of credit risk exist in relation to outstanding fees and fines as 
well as loans and receivables from sporting clubs and associations. To help manage this risk:

Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government 
sectors. Credit risk associated with the council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured 
by a charge over the rateable property. 

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.
Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as 
when council provide a guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 
8.1(b).

 - council only invest surplus funds with financial institutions which have a recognised credit rating specified in 
council's investment policy.

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.
Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as 
when council provide a guarantee for another party. Details of our contingent liabilities are disclosed in Note 
8.1(b).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying 
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to 
the financial statements. Council does not hold any collateral.

 - council have a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities council deal with; 

The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding 
statutory receivables), payables and bank borrowings. Details of the significant accounting policies and 
methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument is disclosed in the Notes of the financial statements. Risk management is carried out by senior 
management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include identification and analysis of the 
risk exposure to Council and appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Our interest rate liability risk arises primarily 
from long term loans and borrowings at fixed rates which exposes us to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow 
interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. Council has some exposure to cash flow interest rate risk through its cash and term 
deposits that are at floating rates. Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under 
the Local Government Act 2020. Council manages interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that 
ensures:

There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for 
managing interest rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period. Interest 
rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year 
end result.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of Council financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices.  The Council's exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate 
risk with only insignificant exposure to other price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. 
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Note 8 Managing uncertainties (cont.)

8.3 Financial instruments (cont.)

c) Credit risk (cont.)

(d) Liquidity risk

 - monitors budget to actual performance on a regular basis.

(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

8.4 Fair value measurement

Fair value hierarchy

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge 
and experience of the financial markets,  Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' 
over the next 12 months:

 - A parallel shift of + 1.0% and -0.25% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end rates of 4.1%.

These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, 
nor will they have a material impact on the results of Council's operations.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis 
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as 
explained above.
In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. Council's 
financial assets and liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable; and

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within a fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian 
Accounting Standards. AASB 13 Fair value measurement, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity 
by providing a definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements for use across Australian Accounting Standards.

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of Council's operational liquidity requirements it will not have 
sufficient funds to settle a transaction when required or will be forced to sell a financial asset below value or 
may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset. To help reduce these risks Council:
 - has an investment policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be 
maintained;
 - has a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid 
instruments; and

The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on 
the face of the balance sheet and the amounts related to financial guarantees disclosed in Note 8.1(c), and is 
deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk. There has been no significant 
change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity risk or the 
methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period. With the exception of borrowings, all 
financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade. Details of the maturity profile for 
borrowings are disclosed at Note 5.4.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying 
amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to 
the financial statements. Council does not hold any collateral.
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Note 8 Managing uncertainties (cont.)

8.4 Fair value measurement (cont.)

Revaluation

Asset class
Revaluation 
frequency

Land 3 years
Buildings 3 years
Roads 3 years
Bridges 5 years
Footpaths and cycleways 3 years
Drainage 3 years
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 3 years
Parks, open space and streetscapes 3 years
Other infrastructure 5 years

Impairment of assets

8.5 Events occurring after balance date 

Council is not aware of any events occurring after balance date.

Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy. Changes to the valuation 
hierarchy will only occur if an external change in the restrictions or limitations of use of an asset result in 
changes to the permissible or practical highest and best use of the asset. In addition, Council undertakes a 
formal revaluation of land, buildings, and infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from 1 to 5 years. The 
valuation is performed either by experienced council officers or independent experts. The following table sets 
out the frequency of revaluations by asset class.

Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve 
except to the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been 
recognised as an expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the 
expense. Revaluation decrements are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in 
the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the 
extent of the remaining increments. Within the same class of assets, revaluation increments and decrements 
within the year are offset.

At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to the 
assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the 
comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is carried at the revalued amount in which case, the 
impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to 
the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of 
asset.

Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are 
measured at their fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. At balance date, the Council 
reviewed the carrying value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure that each asset 
materially approximated its fair value. Where the carrying value materially differed from the fair value at balance 
date, the class of asset was revalued.
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Note 9 Other matters

9.1 Reserves

(a) Asset revaluation reserves

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period
Increment 

(decrement)

Balance at end 
of reporting 

period
$'000 $'000 $'000

2023

Property

Land                145,258                  26,247                171,505 

Land under roads                  94,061                  23,724                117,785 

Buildings                  21,384                          -                    21,384 

               260,703                  49,971                310,674 

Infrastructure

Roads                273,103                          -                  273,103 

Kerb and channel                    4,736                          -                      4,736 

Bridges                  13,990                    3,645                  17,635 

Drainage                  32,991                    5,641                  38,632 

Footpaths                    2,470                    4,204                    6,674 

Parks, Open Space & Streetscapes                       197                       278                       475 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities                  16,912                    3,713                  20,625 

               344,399                  17,481                361,880 

Other assets

Cultural assets                    2,491                          -                      2,491 

Equity in North Central Goldfields Library                       149                          -                         149 

                   2,640                          -                      2,640 

Total asset revaluation reserves                607,742                  67,452                675,194 

2022

Property

Land                  98,199                  47,059                145,258 

Land under roads                  44,677                  49,384                  94,061 

Buildings                  21,499                      (115)                  21,384 

               164,375                  96,328                260,703 

Infrastructure

Roads                248,975                  24,128                273,103 

Kerb and channel                    8,129                   (3,393)                    4,736 

Bridges                  13,990                          -                    13,990 

Drainage                  32,991                          -                    32,991 

Footpaths                    2,470                          -                      2,470 

Parks, Open Space & Streetscapes                       197                          -                         197 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities                  16,912                          -                    16,912 

               323,664                  20,735                344,399 

Other Assets

Cultural assets                    2,491                          -                      2,491 

Equity in North Central Goldfields Library                       149                          -                         149 

                   2,640                          -                      2,640 

Total asset revaluation reserves                490,679                117,063                607,742 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.3 - Attachment 1 Page 214 

  

Note 9 Other matters (cont.)

(b) Other reserves

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting period

Transfer from 
accumulated 

surplus

Transfer to
 accumulated 

surplus

Balance at end 
of reporting 

period
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2023

Asset conversion 744                                               -   -                       744                      

Car parking* 136                                               -   -                       136                      

Commercial development 3,182                                            -   -                       3,182                   

Community facilities* 591                                               -   -                       591                      

Debt repayment 891                                            400 -                       1,291                   

Drainage* 734                                            236 -                       970                      

Footpaths* 142                                                6 -                       148                      

Gisborne development plan* 1,545                                         705 -                       2,250                   

Gravel pit operations 1,528                                         897 -                       2,425                   

Hanging Rock 212                                               -   (58)                       154                      

Open space proceeds -                                          2,925 -                       2,925                   

Plant replacement 1,142                                         346 (743)                     745                      

Public open space* 4,189                                      1,791 (1,547)                  4,433                   

Road contributions* 531                                               -   -                       531                      

Romsey development plan* 53                                                13 -                       66                        
Senior citizens accommodation 
maintenance* 199                                              15 (85)                       129                      

Total other reserves 15,819                 7,334                   (2,433)                  20,720                 

2022

Asset conversion 744                      -                       -                       744                      

Car parking* 136                      -                       -                       136                      

Commercial development 3,237                   -                       (55)                       3,182                   

Community facilities* 398                      193                      -                       591                      

Debt repayment 491                      400                      -                       891                      

Drainage* 699                      35                        -                       734                      

Footpaths* 142                      -                       -                       142                      

Gisborne development plan* 1,039                   506                      -                       1,545                   

Gravel pit operations 674                      854                      -                       1,528                   

Hanging Rock 427                      -                       (215)                     212                      

Plant replacement 1,478                   986                      (1,322)                  1,142                   

Public open space* 3,752                   1,019                   (582)                     4,189                   

Road contributions* 531                      -                       -                       531                      

Romsey development plan* 59                        26                        (32)                       53                        

Senior citizens accommodation 
maintenance* 276                      16                        (93)                       199                      

Total other reserves 14,083                 4,035                   (2,299)                  15,819                 

9.1 Reserves (cont.)

* Non-discretionary reserves subject to statutory requirements and/or other agreements - $9.254m ($7.032m 
2020/21)
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Note 9 Other matters (cont.)

(b) Other reserves (cont)

9.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit)
2023 2022 Restated
$'000 $'000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year                  17,366                  21,669 

Depreciation/amortisation                  16,127                  15,511 

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment                      (832)                    2,416 

Revaluation decrement on other infrastructure                       625                          -   

Fair value adjustments for investment property                      (303)                        (64)

Contributions - non-monetary assets                   (4,693)                 (15,145)

Share of net profits/losses of associates                        (15)                        (79)

Borrowing costs                       156                       222 

Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables                   (3,361)                   (8,438)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments                       104                      (219)

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables                    1,305                    1,264 

Increase/(decrease) in unearned income                    1,760                    7,901 

Increase/(decrease) in trust funds and deposits                       997                       464 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions                       997                      (637)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities                  30,233                  24,865 

Roads contributions - developer contributions for roads works.

Romsey development plan - developer contributions for capital works projects in Romsey.

Senior citizens accommodation maintenance – resident contributions for maintenance of units.

Plant replacement – surplus from plant operations for capital replacements.

Asset conversion - net proceeds from the sale of land for capitals works projects.

Debt repayment - budget allocation to accumulate the required amount of funds to repay the borrowed money when 
it is due to be repaid.

Commercial development – net proceeds from the sale of industrial/commercial land for the purchase and 
development of land to be used for industrial/commercial purposes.

Drainage - developer contributions for drainage works.

Community facilities - developer contributions for community infrastructure facilities.

Car parking - developer contributions for car parking projects.

Hanging rock - surplus from Hanging Rock operations for capital works projects and operational projects.

Gravel pit operations - surplus from gravel pit operations for capital works projects.

Gisborne development plan - developer contributions for capital works projects in Gisborne.

Footpaths - developer contributions for footpath works.

Open space proceeds - proceeds of sale of land. Allocation of funds to be decided by Council in 2023/24.

9.1 Reserves (cont.)

Public open space - developer contributions for open space projects.
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Note 9 Other matters (cont.)

Accumulation

Defined Benefit

Net investment returns 5.7% pa

Salary information 3.5% pa

Price inflation (CPI) 2.8% pa.

Net investment returns 5.5% pa
Salary information
Price inflation (CPI) 3.0% pa

Council was notified of the 30 June 2022 VBI during August 2022 (2021: August 2021). 

9.3 Superannuation

Macedon Ranges Shire makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its 
employees to the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of 
membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions 
to the Fund are recognised as an expense in Comprehensive Operating Statement when they are made or due.

The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and employee 
contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of 
employee earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2023, this was 10.5% as required under Superannuation 
Guarantee (SG) legislation (2022: 10%)).

Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined 
Benefit category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan.

There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers 
as the defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that 
the aggregate obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of 
participation of Council in the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating 
employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between 
employers for the purposes of AASB 119.

Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the 
Trustee on the advice of the Fund Actuary. A triennial actuarial investigation is currently underway for the Defined 
Benefit category which is expected to be completed by 31 December 2023. Council was notified of the 30 June 
2023 VBI during August 2023 (2022: August 2022). The financial assumptions used to calculate the 30 June 
2023 VBI were:

Funding arrangements

Vision Super has advised that the VBI at 30 June 2023 was 104.1%. 

The VBI is used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2022 actuarial 
investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change 
was necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.

As at 30 June 2022, an interim actuarial investigation was held as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in the 
Defined Benefit category. The vested benefits index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a 
contributing employer was 102.2%. The financial assumptions used to calculate the VBI were:

2.5% pa to 30 June 2023, and 3.5% pa thereafter



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.3 - Attachment 1 Page 217 

  

Note 9 Other matters (cont.)

(b) Funding calls

On the basis of the results of the 2022 interim actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council 
makes employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee. 
For the year ended 30 June 2023, this rate was 10.5% of members' salaries (10% in 2021/22). This rate is 
expected to increase in line with any increases in the SG contribution rate and was reviewed as part of the 30 
June 2022 interim valuation.

(a) Regular contributions

Employer contributions

9.3 Superannuation (cont.)

In the event that a participating employer is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be 
transferred to that employer’s successor.

If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or the Defined 
Benefit category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the 
Defined Benefit category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in 
place so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on 
a quarterly basis and the Fund has set its shortfall limit at 97%.

In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence of 
retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit.

In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s 
participating employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall.

Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on 
the pre-1 July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with 
the employer’s payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated.

Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the 
Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound 
up.

If there is a surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers.
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Note 9 Other matters (cont.)

2022 2021
(Interim) (Interim)

$m $m
 - A VBI Surplus 44.6               214.7            

 - A total service liability surplus 105.8             270.3            

 - A discounted accrued benefits surplus 111.9             285.2            

2022 2020

Triennial investigation Triennial investigation

Net investment return 5.7% pa 5.6% pa

Salary inflation 3.5% pa 2.5% pa

Price inflation 2.8% pa 2.0% pa

Scheme Rate 2023 2022
$'000 $'000

Vision Super - Defined benefits
10.5% 

(2022: 10.0%)
85                  81                 

Vision Super - Accumulation
10.5% 

(2022: 10.0%)
1,497             1,544            

The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending 30 June 
2024 is $85,000.

The 2022 interim actuarial investigation surplus amounts

Superannuation contributions

Contributions by Council (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2023 are detailed below:

There were $382,614 contributions outstanding to the above schemes as at 30 June 2023 (2022 $163,720).

An actuarial investigation is conducted annually for the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a contributing 
employer. Generally, a full actuarial investigation is conducted every three years and interim investigations are 
conducted for each intervening year. An interim investigation was conducted as at 30 June 2022 and the last full 
investigation was conducted as at 30 June 2020.

The Fund’s actuarial investigation identified the following for the Defined Benefit category of which Council is a 
contributing employer:

The discounted accrued benefit surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit 
category exceeds the value of benefits payable in the future but accrued in respect of service to 30 June 2022.

The 2023 triennial actuarial investigation 
A triennial actuarial investigation is being conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2023. It is anticipated 
that this actuarial investigation will be completed by 31 December 2023. The financial assumptions for the 
purposes of this investigation are: 

 for the first two years and 
2.75% pa thereafter 

The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations 
exceed the vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 
30 June 2022. 

The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category 
plus expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses as at 30 June 
2022. 

9.3 Superannuation (cont.)
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9.4 Correction of a prior period error

9.4.1 Recognition of Contributions - Non Monetary Assets

Impact of correction of an error on the comprehensive income statement
For the 
period 

ended 30 
June 2022 
(restated)

$'000

Correction of 
non-

monetary 
asset 

recognition
$'000

For the 
period ended 
30 June 2022 
as previously 

presented
$'000

Income

Contributions - non monetary 15,145         4,844             10,301            

Total income 129,305       4,844             124,461          

Surplus for the year 21,669         4,844             16,825            

Total comprehensive result 138,732       4,844             133,888          

Impact of correction of an error on the balance sheet

As at 30 
June 2022 
(restated)

$'000

Correction of 
non-

monetary 
asset 

recognition
$'000

As at 30 June 
2022 (as 

previously 
reported)

$'000

Non-current assets
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,281,040   4,844            1,276,196      
Total non-current assets 1,286,252   4,844            1,281,408      
Total assets 1,346,911   4,844            1,342,067      

Net assets 1,303,075   4,844            1,298,231      

Equity
Accumulated surplus 679,514      4,844            674,670         
Total equity 1,303,075   4,844            1,298,231      

Council has identified a prior period error. The error is explained below and adjustments have been made 
for the error and each of the affected financial statements for the 2022 financial year have been restated, 
as shown in the tables below.

During the 2021-22 financial year, Council did not recognise non-monetary assets in line with when the 
assets gained compliance and handed to Council. The delay in doing this resulted in non-monetary assets 
being recognised in the incorrect financial year. This error had the effect of understating, contributions non-
monetary income for the years ended 30 June 2022 by $4,844,000 and 30 June 2021 by $15,261,000. The 
error also had the effect of understating property, infrastructure, plant and equipment and accumulated 
surplus as at 30 June 2022 by $4,844,000 and 30 June 2021 by $15,261,000.
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Note 9 Other matters (cont.)

9.4.1 Recognition of Contributions - Non Monetary Assets (cont.)

For the 
period 

ended 30 
June 2021 
(restated)

$'000

Correction of 
non-

monetary 
asset 

recognition
$'000

For the 
period ended 
30 June 2021 
as previously 

presented
$'000

Income

Contributions - non monetary 18,098         15,261           2,837              

Total income 107,778       15,261           92,517            

Surplus for the year 23,216         15,261           7,955              

Total comprehensive result 30,237         15,261           14,976            

Impact of correction of an error on the balance sheet

As at 30 
June 2021 
(restated)

$'000

Correction of 
non-

monetary 
asset 

recognition
$'000

As at 30 June 
2021 (as 

previously 
reported)

$'000

Non-current assets
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 1,157,568   15,261          1,142,307      
Total non-current assets 1,163,000   15,261          1,147,739      
Total assets 1,215,282   15,261          1,200,021      

Net assets 1,179,604   15,261          1,164,343      

Equity
Accumulated surplus 674,842      15,261          659,581         
Total equity 1,179,604   15,261          1,164,343      

The above correction does not impact the Statement of cash flow or the Statement of capital works.
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Note 10 Change in Accounting Policy

There have been no changes to accounting policies in the 2022/23 year.
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Acknowledgement of Country 
Macedon Ranges Shire Council acknowledges the Dja Dja Wurrung, 
Taungurung and Wurundjeri Woi Wurrung Peoples as the Traditional Owners 
and Custodians of this land and waterways. Council recognises their living 
cultures and ongoing connection to Country and pays respect to their Elders 
past, and present. 

Council also acknowledges local Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
residents of Macedon Ranges for their ongoing contribution to the diverse 
culture of our community. 

Bunjils nest, Reconciliation Week 

Draft for adoption at Council Meeting - 27 September 2023
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Mayor’s introduction  
I am pleased to present the 2023/24 Budget, which marks my first 
budget as Mayor. This budget is the culmination of the hard work 
and dedication of our staff and Councillors, who have worked 
collaboratively to develop a strategic and sensible budget that aligns 
with the priorities outlined in our Council Plan 2021-2031. 

We recognise that the cost of living has increased – in line with an 
increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) – and appreciate the 
financial burden that is faced by many in our community as a result of this. Additionally, Council 
faces an increase in the cost of doing business, which ultimately impacts our delivery of services 
and projects. Despite these challenges, and the added complexity of extreme weather events and 
a growing population, we remain committed to delivering on our Council's objectives in line with our 
Council Plan 2021-2031 and Community Vision. 

In this document, you will find our plans to manage our finances effectively while meeting the 
needs of our community. We have carefully considered the impacts of the challenges we face and 
have taken steps to mitigate their effects. We also look for ways to do our business better and 
recognise the financial hardships that many of you have continued to face. Our efforts in the face 
of extreme weather have led to significant expenditure on recovery and rebuilding efforts. 

We are excited to deliver a Capital Works program that proposes more than $28 million in capital 
works across the shire, which makes up 25 per cent of our total revenue. Our advocacy efforts will 
continue to realise opportunities for the realisation of projects including the Woodend Community 
Centre, Daylesford-Hanging Rock Shared Trail and Stage 2 of the Macedon Ranges Regional 
Sports Precinct. Initiatives that we continue to focus on include the renewing of our public 
amenities, upgrades to sporting facilities, and upgrades and maintenance to our infrastructure 
assets such as drains, footpaths and roads across the shire. We will also continue to deliver key 
environmental projects, specifically in our efforts to reduce our net emissions to zero.  

This budget aligns with the state-wide rate cap of 3.5 per cent. This has risen from 1.75 per cent in 
2022/23.  

We continue to face challenges and increased costs in providing garbage and recycling services to 
the community and as a result of increased waste levies from the EPA, unfortunately this means 
there will be an increase to the kerbside charges in 2023/24 – a charge we absorbed in 2022/23. 

I would like to thank all staff, Councillors and the community who have contributed to the 
development of this draft budget to date, and we look forward to seeing these investments 
realised. We acknowledge the challenges we face, but we are committed to working together with 
our community to ensure that we can overcome those challenges and continue to provide essential 
services, while maintaining financial responsibility. 

 

 

Mayor Annette Death 

September 2023  
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

CEO’s introduction 
I am equally pleased to present the 2023/24 Budget, which is 
the result of a strategic and collaborative effort between our 
dedicated staff and Councillors.  

Our Council remains committed to delivering the priorities 
outlined in our Council Plan 2021-2031, which is informed by 
the Community Vision as created by our Community 
Assembly. Despite the challenges we face with continued 
severe weather events, and the increase in the cost of doing 
business, we have made significant investments in our 
operations and worked to deliver a sensible budget. 

As we move forward, advocacy remains a top priority for our Council. Driven by our Priority 
Projects prospectus, we are continuing to push for funding to deliver major projects that will benefit 
our community. Alongside the projects that we’re grateful already have funding and are underway, 
we will continue to seek funding from both the Australian and Victorian governments for initiatives 
such as improved telecommunications, mental health support, and social and affordable housing. 
We will continue to advocate for business and tourism opportunities, and deliver events that will 
benefit the shire and further our reputation as being a premium destination to live, work and visit. 

The past year has been marked by unprecedented challenges: from the rising costs of doing 
business, to the damaging floods that impacted many of our residents. As we continue our 
recovery efforts, we remain committed to building our preparedness and resilience for future 
events – our Climate Change Action Plan remains a key part of this effort. 

Looking ahead, we recognise that the demand for residential development is increasing, and with 
that comes the pressure of balancing growth with maintaining our unique environment and 
neighbourhood character. We also note that the unpredictability and uncertainty we face with the 
aforementioned rising costs and availability of resources across industries, and the impacts this 
has on the delivery of projects. 

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to our dedicated staff for their hard work and 
commitment towards preparing this budget. Despite the challenges we have faced, our staff have 
used our Council values of innovation and working together to come up with balanced outcomes 
for the benefit of our communities. 

I’m proud to lead this organisation as Chief Executive Officer, and I look forward to continuing to 
work together with our community to deliver positive outcomes for our region. 

 

 

 

 

CEO Bernie O’Sullivan 

September 2023 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Executive summary 
Macedon Ranges Shire Council’s 2023/24 Budget is $112,155,000. This budget aims to provide a 
high level of works and services to our community, while keeping rates as low as possible and within 
the rate cap.  

We are focused on improving our overall customer experience and quality of service delivery. We 
work closely with the community to deliver best-value services with our limited resources.  

Council remains in a strong financial position. Although rate revenue has increased as a result of our 
increased population, income from grants for capital and operating programs from state and federal 
government have decreased. 

The budget includes a new loan, resulting in an increase in our overall level of debt. A new loan is 
proposed for the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct project (Stage 1), which will provide 
long-term community benefits to the shire.  

The chart below shows how much is allocated to each broad service area for every $100 dollars that 
Council spends: 

 
*This charge includes State Government landfill levy 

Operating income 
The total revenue that will be generated from rates, municipal charges and waste service charges in 
the 2023/24 Budget is $62,286,000, which is approximately 7.6% ($4,401,000) more than the 
2022/23 Budget.  

Rates and charges are significant sources (56%) of total revenue for Council. Our Revenue and 
Rating Plan provides information on our Rating Strategy. 

We forecast our statutory fees and fines, user fees and other income to increase approximately by 
2% each year. The increase in these fees is in line with the increasing costs to deliver services to the 
community. An increasing population also contributes to the increase in revenue, as demand for our 
services increases. 

Macedon Ranges Shire Council’s population is 51,907, as at 20221. Population growth has been 
steady at approximately 1.52% per annum.  

                                                
1 Source: .idcommunity demographic resources. 

$1.65 
$4.24 

$26.45 

$7.92 

$27.71 

$1.21 

$17.41 

$9.49 

$3.91 
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Garbage, recycling and garden waste
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open spaces
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Our objective is to fund ongoing service delivery to the appropriate standard when using operating 
income. This means:  

 

Table 1. Operating income between 2019/20 and 2023/24 ($million) 

 

Waste and kerbside collection 
This service is to deliver high quality kerbside waste and recycling collection services, and general 
waste management which includes transfer stations, transporting materials, public place bins, 
disposing of waste, street cleaning, rehabilitating closed landfills and other waste management 
services. 

Waste revenue is generated from kerbside collection charges, and fees and charges collected from 
transfer stations (user pays) to offset the costs incurred in delivering a waste service across the 
shire. The fees collected are in line with a full cost recovery model, this ensures all costs incurred are 
offset by the same amount of revenue. Council is currently experiencing rising costs of waste 
management, global recycling challenges and the payment of the state government landfill levy, 
which is projected to double over a three-year period. Council continues to fund projects that are 
aimed at developing innovative ways to process the kerbside collected material to increase our 
recycling efforts and reduce amounts that are sent to landfill, aligning fully with one of our council 
plan priorities. 

Unlike 2022/23, where increasing costs could be managed with growth in the service, kerbside 
collection charges will increase in 2023/24. The budget accounts for increased collection and 
transport costs as contractors pass on consumer price index increases to contracts. The kerbside 
collection charge will increase by 8.63%. 

Operating expenditure 
A major proportion of our operating expenditure relates to employee costs (45%), and materials and 
services (33%). Employee costs are increasing by $733,000, which is attributed to a staff banding 
increase, new starters included in this budget and provision for an Enterprise Bargaining Agreement.  

While our materials and service costs are decreasing by $2,001,000, the cost of doing business is 
increasing as a result of inflation. The cost of contractors and materials is budgeted to increase. 

As our shire continues to grow, we need to assign our funds to maintain open spaces and 
infrastructure (such as facilities and footpaths) and continue to deliver our services.  
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

New subdivisions increase costs of maintenance and cleaning of public open spaces, stormwater 
drainage, footpaths and street sweeping.  

The average growth in operating expenses over the period shown below is 5.9% (this figure excludes 
depreciation). Part of this growth is offset by higher user fees. 

Table 2. Operating expenditure between 2019/20 and 2023/24 (excluding depreciation) ($million)  

 

Our objective to deliver quality services and find operational efficiencies that assists us to continue to 
deliver value for money to our residents and ratepayers. Part 2 of the 2023/24 Budget provides a 
description of our services to the community.  

Capital expenditure 
Capital expenditure is an investment in assets, such as land, buildings, infrastructure, and major 
plant and equipment. Currently, our long-term Capital Works Plan guides planning and decision-
making into capital investment. We will have an Asset Plan adopted by 30 June 2022, which will be 
used to guide planning and decision making for our capital investment moving forward. 

Capital investment is primarily on the construction of buildings, roads, drains, footpaths and bridges. 
It also includes the purchase of land, major plant and equipment, vehicles, information technology 
(IT) systems and playgrounds.  

Our capital expenditure changes from year to year, mainly due to varying availability of government 
grants. The total planned capital expenditure during 2023/24 is $28,300,000, a decrease of 
$32,915,000 on the 2022/23 forecast.  

 

Table 3. Capital expenditure between 2019/20 and 2023/242 

 

                                                
2 2021/22 and 2022/23 totals are annual budgeted works excluding carry forward works. 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Funding sources for capital expenditure 
Analysis of capital works is in section 4.5. It shows capital expenditure of $28,300,000 in 2023/24, 
which will be funded as follows. 

Grants 
We will apply for (or have been allocated) government grants of $7,118,000 for projects in 2023/24.   

New loans 
The budget includes new loans totalling $12,300,000. The loans will be attributable to Macedon 
Ranges Regional Sports Precinct and Kyneton Landfill Biofilter. 

Contributions 
Contributions from various sources are outlined in the 2023/24 Budget, including $546,000 for capital 
works projects. 

Rates and charges 
We will allocate $14,426,000 of 2023/24 rates revenue to capital expenditure. This is a decrease of 
$2,864,000 from the 2022/23 budget.  

Other funding 
The remainder of funding for our capital program will come from our financial reserves $3,910,000. 
Refer section 4.3 

Rate capping 
The rate cap set for 2023/24 is 3.5%. This limits the total amount a council can increase its rates 
each year, based on the amount it levied in the previous year. 

The cap on rate increases provides a clear framework to guide budget planning and decision 
making. The framework ensures essential services continue to be delivered and that councils invest 
in necessary local infrastructure to meet community needs. 

Only the general rate and municipal charges part of a rates bill are subject to the rate cap. All other 
charges, such as waste charges and other user fees and levies, remain uncapped. 

The rate cap applies to the council’s total rate revenue and not individual properties. In many cases, 
individual rates bills may increase or decrease by more (or less) than the capped rise amount. 

This may happen because: 

 the value of the property has increased or decreased in relation to the value of other 
properties in the council 

 other charges and levies that are not subject to the cap, such as the waste charge, have 
risen. The capped increases apply only to the general rates and municipal charges 

 the amount of rates levied from properties of that type (residential, commercial or rural) has 
changed through the council’s application of differential rates. 

In 2023/24, Council will not seek a variation of this rate.  
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Budget influences 
This section sets out the key budget influences arising from the internal and external environment 
within which Council operates.  

External influences  
The four years represented within the Budget are 2023/24 through to 2026/27. In preparing the 
2023/24 Budget, a number of external influences have been taken into consideration. These are 
outlined below. 

 Location – Macedon Ranges Shire is a semi-rural municipality, located within an hour’s drive 
of Melbourne's central business district to the south and Bendigo to the north. Our region is 
popular with both domestic and international visitors, due to our natural attractions, wineries, 
and proximity and accessibility to the Melbourne metropolitan area. Our larger townships 
include Kyneton, Woodend, Gisborne, Riddells Creek, Romsey and Lancefield.  

 Population growth – the latest population for the Macedon Ranges Shire is 51,907 as at 
20223. Population growth has been steady at approximately 1.74% per annum. Estimates 
provided indicate that by 2031, our population would reach 60,3623. 

 Superannuation – Council has an ongoing obligation to fund any investment shortfalls in the 
Defined Benefits Scheme. The last call on local government was in the 2012/2013 financial 
year, where Council was required to pay $3,820,000 to top up its share of the Defined 
Benefits Scheme. The amount and timing of any liability is dependent on the global 
investment market. At present, the actuarial ratios are at a level that additional calls from local 
government are not expected in the next 12 months.  

 Financial Assistance Grants – the largest source of government funding to Council is 
through the annual Victorian Local Government Grants Commission allocation. The overall 
state allocation is determined by the Federal Financial Assistance Grant.  

 Capital Grant Funding – capital grant opportunities arise continually.  

 Cost shifting – this occurs where local government provides a service to the community on 
behalf of the Victorian and/or Federal Governments. Over time, the funds received by local 
governments do not increase in line with real-cost increases, such as school crossings and 
neighbourhood houses, resulting in a further reliance on rate revenue to meet service 
delivery expectations.  

 Enterprise Agreement (EA) – negotiations took place throughout the 2022/23 financial year 
with a new agreement being agreed to between Council representatives and the unions, the 
new agreement has been signed off by Fair Work. The new agreement covers the periods of 
2022/23 – 2024/25. 

 Rate capping – the Victorian Government continues with a cap on rate increases. The cap 
for 2023/24 has been set at 3.5%.  

 Supplementary rates – these are additional rates received after the budget is adopted each 
year, for the part of the year when a property value increases in value (for example, due to 
improvements made or a change in land class), or new residents become assessable. 
Importantly, supplementary rates recognise that new residents require services on the day 
they move into the shire, and Council is committed to providing these. Supplementary rates 
income is based on historical and forecast data and is set at anticipated levels.  

 Waste disposal costs – the State Government Landfill Levy regulation has a sustained 
impact on Council, regarding compliance with existing and past landfill sites. Waste disposal 
costs are also impacted by industry changes, such as increasing landfill levies and 
negotiation of contracts (for example, waste, recycling, FOGO and glass kerbside collection). 
Current collection contracts are also impacting Councils operations as many of these 
contracts are linked to annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) increase.  

                                                
3 Source: .idcommunity demographic resources. 
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 Materials and Labour – The Covid pandemic has significantly impacted the costs of 
materials and contractors across various industries. Supply chain disruptions, factory 
shutdowns, and delays in shipping have caused material costs to rise substantially. 
Additionally, the rising inflationary pressure has further aggravated the situation. Contractors, 
in turn, are increasing their prices to cover the increased cost of materials, transportation, and 
labour. These rising costs are significantly impacting the way we do business, causing project 
delays and budget overruns. Internal influences  

Internal influences  
As well as external influences, there are a number of internal influences that are expected to 
impact the 2023/24 Budget. These include:  

 New initiatives – in establishing the 2023/24 budget Councillors have considered many new 
operating initiatives, new capital works projects and new starter positions. Initiatives have 
been submitted by officers, community proposals were considered, and initiatives also 
identified by Councillors. Officers reviewed the 2022/23 initiatives to ensure they are 
submitting the highest priority initiatives for consideration in 2023/24. 

With limited resources not all new initiatives are able to be funded. The budget contains 
initiatives that are considered a priority in achieving the priorities of the Council Plan annual 
actions for 2023/24. 

Initiatives that were not included in the 2023/24 budget will be reviewed at the mid-year 
review (31 December 2023) subject to available funds, and / or reassessed as part of the 
2024/25 budget process.   

 On 31 March 2023 Council was notified that the builder undertaking works at the Macedon 
Ranges Regional Sports Precinct had gone into voluntary administration. While liquidators 
are looking for a possible buyer of the company or project, the 2023/24 includes an amount 
as a contingency for increased costs relating to the project. 

 Cash – it is important that Council maintains adequate cash balances to pay its bills when 
they fall due. Council must also ensure adequate levels of cash are available to match 
Reserve and Trust account balances. While Council balances over the term of this budget 
are decreasing, they do remain adequate. 

Balance at 
Forecast 
2022/23 

$‘000 

Budget 
2023/24 

$‘000 

Projection 
2024/25 

$‘000 

Projection 
2025/26 

$‘000 

Projection 
2026/27 

$‘000 
30 June $11,591 $8,376 $7,725 $11,292 $14,281 

 

 Working capital (current assets/current liabilities) – ensures Council maintains sufficient 
working capital to meet our debt obligations as they fall due. 

Ratios of greater than 100% indicate that Council is able to meet our debt obligations as they 
fall due. 

Ratio at 
 

Forecast 
2022/23 

 

Budget 
2023/24 

 

Projection 
2024/25 

 

Projection 
2025/26 

 

Projection 
2026/27 

 
30 June 93.2% 81.2% 76.3% 99.3% 105.4% 

 

 Renewal gap ratio (asset renewal and upgrade expenses/depreciation) – Council allocates 
adequate funds towards renewal capital, to replace assets and infrastructure as they reach 
the end of their service life. Our target is to allocate 1:1. 

Ratio at 
Forecast 
2022/23 

$‘000 

Budget 
2023/24 

$‘000 

Projection 
2024/25 

$‘000 

Projection 
2025/26 

$‘000 

Projection 
2026/27 

$‘000 
30 June 1.18:1 1.26:1 1.55:1 1.29:1 1.34:1 
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Link to the Integrated Planning and 
Reporting Framework 
This section describes how the budget fits into our Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework, 
which applies to local government in Victoria. This framework guides Council in identifying 
community needs and aspirations over the long term (Community Vision and Financial Plan), 
medium term (Council Plan, Workforce Plan, and Revenue and Rating Plan), and short term 
(Annual Budget 2023/24), and then reporting on our performance against these documents 
(Annual Report). 

1.1 Legislative planning and accountability 
framework 
The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that 
Council requires to achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The diagram 
below shows the Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework that applies to local government in 
Victoria. At each stage of this framework, there are opportunities for community and stakeholder 
input. This is important to ensure transparency and accountability to both residents and ratepayers. 

Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions. 

 
The timing of each component of the Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework is critical to the 
successful achievement of the planned outcomes. 

For the purposes of the development of the 2023/24 Budget, Council is using the 2021–2031 Council 
Plan (Year Three – 2023/24). 

Figure 1. Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework 
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1.1.2. Key planning considerations 

Service-level planning 
Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services – such as animal management, 
local roads, food safety and statutory planning – most council services are not legally mandated, 
including some services closely associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and 
sporting facilities. 

Over time, the needs and expectations of communities can change. Therefore, councils need to 
have robust processes for service planning and review, to ensure all services continue to provide 
value for money and are in line with community expectations. In doing this, councils should engage 
with communities to determine how to prioritise resources and balance service provision against 
other responsibilities, such as asset maintenance and capital works.   

Community consultation needs to be in line with a council-adopted Community Engagement Policy 
and Public Transparency Policy. 

 1.2. Our purpose 
Our vision 
The community’s vision for Macedon Ranges Shire Council was developed by the Community 
Vision Assembly. It forms part of Council’s strategic planning framework that guides future planning 
across the shire, considering both short-term and long-term priorities that shape the Council Plan, 
as well as the Annual Budget and the 10-year Financial Plan. 

‘With our unique regional identity, Macedon Ranges Shire embodies a caring, resilient 
approach to community through our robust local economy, protection of the natural 
environment and a collaborative commitment to inclusivity for all.’ 

The Community Vision Assembly developed three community vision themes, which we have used 
to shape our Council Plan, along with delivering strong and reliable government. 

 

The 2023/24 Budget has been developed in line with the Community Vision and Council Plan. It 
will deliver Council priorities and enable annual actions of the Council Plan 2021–2031 (Year Three 
2023/24) to be delivered. 
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Our values 
We are committed to the core values of: 

 respect 
 honesty 
 accountability 
 working together 
 innovation 

1.3. Strategic objectives 

Strategic objectives Description 

1. Connecting communities We will maintain our built environment – including 
roads, paths, buildings, open space and other 
assets – in a fiscally, environmentally and socially 
sustainable way. This includes effective land-use 
planning, which has a direct impact on the liveability 
of our shire. 

We will provide support for volunteers, community 
groups and organisations, in recognition of their 
work in contributing to social connections. 

2. Healthy environment, healthy people We will contribute to positive health and wellbeing in 
our community by proactively supporting mental 
health, the prevention of violence against women, 
healthy lifestyles for all ages and abilities, social 
connection and inclusion, community safety, and 
arts and culture. 

We will protect our natural environment through 
proactive environmental planning, advocacy and 
policy to address climate change, support 
biodiversity and enhance water catchment quality. 
The Macedon Ranges Shire declared a Climate 
Emergency in 2021. 

We will take action to reduce waste, in order to 
protect public health and the environment. 

3. Business and tourism We will foster economic vitality in a way that 
promotes positive individual and community health 
outcomes, including business diversity, housing, 
transport, information and communication 
technology, and employment options. Investment 
attracted to the shire will be consistent with the 
Community Vision. 

4. Deliver strong and reliable 
government 

We will demonstrate the qualities of good 
governance, including a clear vision and culture, 
transparency, respect, consistency, accountability 
and responsiveness. 
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Services and service performance 
indicators 
This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the 2023/24 
Budget, and how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council 
Plan. It also describes several initiatives and service performance indicators for key areas of 
Council’s operations. 

Council is required by legislation to identify major initiatives and service performance outcome 
indicators in the budget, and report against them in their Annual Report to support transparency 
and accountability. The relationship between accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the 
Annual Budget and the Annual Report is shown below. 

Figure 2. Relationship between accountability requirements 

 

Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions 

Service area reporting 
During the 2021/22 financial year, Council completed an organisational restructure. The financial 
information presented in this section includes 2021/22 Actual information, reflecting the financial 
cost of those service areas before the restructure. As such, comparison between the 2021/22 
Actual, 2022/23 Forecast and 2023/24 Budget may not be possible for some service areas, due to 
realignment of the organisation. 

Service areas will often fit across multiple different strategic priorities. A single strategic priority has 
been selected for each of Council’s service areas and initiatives, for the purposes of presenting the 
information in the following tables. Initiatives will also fit across multiple different strategic priorities. 
A single strategic priority has been selected for each of Council’s initiatives. 

Council generates most of its income (Inc) from rates and charges. This income funds the 
expenditure (Exp) for many service areas. As rates and charges are not included in the tables 
against each service area’s income, many service areas will present a deficit.   

 
Draft for adoption at Council Meeting - 27 September 2023

Page 16



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.7 - Attachment 1 Page 238 

  

 

 

Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

2.1. Strategic objective 1. Connecting 
communities 
We will maintain our built environment – including roads, paths, buildings, open space and other 
assets – in a fiscally, environmentally and socially sustainable way. This includes effective land-use 
planning, which has a direct impact on the liveability of our shire. 

We will provide support for volunteers, community groups and organisations, in recognition of their 
work in contributing to social connections. 

Services 

Service 
area 

Description of services provided 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Forecast Budget 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

Director 
Assets and 
Operations   

Provide guidance to the business across 
the built environment and other priorities of 
Council. 

Inc - - - 

Exp 435 452 435 

Surplus / (deficit) (435) (452) (435) 

Engineering, 
Roads and 
Asset 
Maintenance 
 

Investigate the best possible solution for 
our roads, storm-water drainage, footpaths, 
bridges and street lighting, and prepare 
designs that provide value for money, while 
conforming to the latest standards and 
industry best practice and ensure a focus 
on environmentally responsible 

procurement in our tendering process.  

Inc 926 900 960 

Exp 5,619 5,918 7,120 

Surplus / (deficit) (4,693) (5,018) (6,160) 

    

Facilities and 
Operations 

Inspect, maintain and repair over 570 
buildings and structures.  
  
During normal operations, we facilitate 
approximately 350,000 individual visits per 
annum through delivery of a range of 
programs and services that include 62 
scheduled group fitness classes per week, 
658 weekly learn-to-swim classes catering 
to over 2,800 children, support and provide 
a venue for 40+ associations and user 
groups and welcome over 11,000 visitors to 
the outdoor pools over the summer 
season.  
 

Inc 3,133 4,292 4,839 

Exp 6,246 6,507 7,341 

Surplus / (deficit) (3,113) (2,215) (2,501) 

    

Statutory 
Planning  

Provide statutory planning information, 
advice and assessment. We process 
approximately 900 planning applications 
per annum, as well as responding to 
requests for information and advice from 
the community, businesses and 
developers. We also maintain and manage 
relationships with over 25 statutory and 
advisory agencies that are directly involved 
in the planning permit application process. 

We are also responsible for planning 
compliance with the Macedon Ranges 
Planning Scheme, through investigation of 
alleged contraventions, auditing of permit 
conditions, education and awareness. 
 

Inc 2,996 3,095 3,161 

Exp 2,649 2,791 2,973 

Surplus / (deficit) 347 304 188 
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Service 
area 

Description of services provided 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Forecast Budget 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

Open Space 
 

Provision of management and maintenance 
services for Council’s Open Space network, 
which includes sportsgrounds and 
recreation reserves, parks and gardens, 
play spaces, botanic gardens and street 
and park trees. These assets provide social 
and environmental values for our 
community. 
 

Inc 58 23 23 

Exp 5,383 5,105 5,773 

Surplus / (deficit) (5,325) (5,082) (5,750) 

    

Assets and 
Project 
Management 
Office 

Provide project management for capital 
works projects related to our buildings and 
open-space infrastructure. 
 
Provide accurate, up-to-date data on our 
infrastructure assets to ensure informed 
decision-making and improve the efficiency 
with which we manage our infrastructure. 
 
Revalue the infrastructure assets, in 
accordance with relevant Australian 
Accounting Standards and other Victorian 
Government requirements, to ensure a 
direct link with our financial position. 
 
Assess developments and projects 
proposed by developers, and ensure they 
comply with relevant Australian Standards, 
manuals and our engineering guidelines, 
and supervise the delivery of those works, 
ensuring future generations inherit good-
quality infrastructure. 
 

Inc - - - 

Exp 1,007 1,000 777 

Surplus / (deficit) (1,007) (1,000) (777) 

    

 

Listed below are initiatives included in the 2023/24 Budget that align directly to the Council Plan 
and will achieve the delivery of the strategic objective of connecting communities. 

Major 

 Finalise the construction of the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct project (Stage 1) 
 Commence the design and documentation, including schematic design, 

stakeholder/community consultation, detailed design and tender document preparation for 
construction of Stage 2 of the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct project in the 
future. 

 Complete the construction of the Macedon Ranges Shared Trails Project.  
 In partnership with Hepburn Shire Council continue to advocate the Victorian State 

Government for support to undertake preconstruction planning for the Daylesford to Hanging 
Rock Shared Trail project. 

Other 

 The purchase of a small tipping truck will assist with activities such as mulching, litter and 
branch pick-ups, and pruning material removal. 

 Netting is to be constructed behind the football goals at the Gilbert Gordon Oval 
 Pathway works to be undertaken at the Kyneton Tennis Club. 

 
Draft for adoption at Council Meeting - 27 September 2023

Page 18



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.7 - Attachment 1 Page 240 

  

 

 

Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

 Finalise the update of the Kyneton Movement Network Study undertaken in 2018. The 
project aims to develop and guide the planning of future infrastructure requirements and 
ensure growth areas are provided with a functional traffic movement network. 

 Implement recommended actions from each of the Kyneton, Gisborne and Malmsbury 
Botanic Gardens Master Plans. Works will include irrigation installation at the three sites 

 Footpath program – works will be undertaken at Howey Street Gisborne and Station Road 
New Gisborne. 

 A road program is to be undertaken at Three Chain Road, Sutherlands Road Clarkefield, 
Murphy Street Romsey, Hamilton Road New Gisborne and Chanters Lane Trentham. The 
Chanters Lane project will be undertaken in conjunction with the Hepburn Shire Council. 

 Upgrade the existing intersection at Darraweit-Bolinda Road intersection in Darraweit Guim.  
The upgraded intersection will be able to cater for the safer movement of traffic including B-
double trucks. 

 Develop the netball facilities at the Kyneton Showgrounds Reserve. Detailed design work 
was undertaken during 2022/23, works scheduled for 2023/24 include the upgrade of the 
netball courts. 

 Develop infrastructure at the Kyneton Showgrounds bottom oval to enable Kyneton Little 
Athletics Club to relocate their activities from the top oval, as per the masterplan. 

 Undertake detailed design/planning for implementation of Stage 1 of the Dixon Field Master 
Plan, including soccer field 1 improvements, little athletics upgrades, drainage and car park 
improvements. 

 Undertake the detailed design of a replacement building at Malmsbury Cricket Ground. 
Concept plans have been developed by an architect in consultation with the club. 

 Install new LED lighting infrastructure at tennis courts 1 and 2 to achieve club competition 
standard of minimum 350 lux, at the New Gisborne Tennis Club, this project is subject to 
grant funding. 

 Tony Clarke Reserve oval change rooms works include the re-design of existing facilities as 
current change rooms do not meet female friendly facility guidelines. 

 Sportsground lighting upgrade at the Riddells Creek Recreation Reserve The proposed LED 
lighting upgrade will ensure appropriate standards are met (minimum 100 lux), this project is 
subject to grant funding. 

 Upgrade the drainage at the Riddells Creek Recreation Reserve sports field to improve the 
wear and compaction of the surface from the usage demand on the facility throughout the 
winter months. 

 Implementation works of the Gisborne Fields landscape plan. Stage 5 includes expansion of 
the current play space footprint and planting of new shade canopy trees and pockets of low-
level vegetation. 

 Upgrade and replacement works at the Gisborne Aquatic Centre, works include BMS, AHU 
and sand filter works. 

 Introduce a program of works for our sealed roads, this program is referred to as a “shoulder 
lip removal program” the introduction of these works will prolong the serviceable life of our 
sealed roads. 

 Undertake Stages 2A and 2B of the Riddells Creek Network Study. Works will include will 
focus on current infrastructure gaps and traffic demands that will be address through project 
planning and delivery over the next 5-10 years. A focus on concerns in relation to the growing 
population and associated impacts placed upon existing transport infrastructure and traffic 
management. 

 Include an operational budget for the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct to become 
operational during the year. 

 Engage an independent consultant to perform a drainage model of a selection of the shire 
and provide a list of issues that could be upgraded/fixed to assist in rectifying existing 
drainage issues 
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 Flood study assessment, Lancefield, Significant overland flows from Beckermans Lane going 
towards Main Road. 

 Coordinator Arboriculture - This position will work towards mitigating the risk to Council 
through tree operations and apply increased resources to operational and strategic planning 
needs. The role will oversee the effective and efficient management of Council's tree 
population through policy development and implementation, contract management, advice to 
internal and external stakeholders and providing leadership to Council’s tree operations team. 

 Transfer Station Attendants – Will ensure Council has two staff members on site at Transfer 
stations at all times, increasing safety, decreasing incidents, decrease contamination and 
provide assistance for customers at transfer stations. 
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2.2. Strategic objective 2. Healthy 
environment, healthy people 
We will contribute to positive health and wellbeing in our community by proactively supporting mental 
health, the prevention of violence against women, healthy lifestyles for all ages and abilities, social 
connection and inclusion, community safety, and arts and culture. 

We will protect our natural environment through proactive environmental planning, advocacy and 
policy to address climate change, support biodiversity and enhance water catchment quality. The 
Macedon Ranges Shire declared a Climate Emergency in 2021. 

We will take action to reduce waste in order to protect public health and the environment. 

Services 

Service area Description of services provided 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Forecast Budget 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

Director 
Planning and 
Environment 

Provide guidance to the business across 
the built environment and other priorities of 
Council. 

Inc - - - 

Exp 625 461 438 

Surplus / (deficit) (625) (461) (438) 

Director 
Community 

Provide guidance to the business across 
strong and reliable government, and other 
priorities of Council. 

Inc - - - 

Exp 93 338 380 

Surplus / (deficit) (93) (338) (380) 

Environment Guide and support Council and the 
community to develop and implement 
policies, strategies and plans, to achieve 
innovative sustainable practices, and 
manage and enhance Council’s bushland 
reserves, waterways and roadsides.  

Inc 167 79 102 

Exp 1,452 1,545 1,855 

Surplus / (deficit) (1,285) (1,466) (1,753) 

    

Community 
Wellbeing1 

Provide guidance and support across 
Council to implement actions in the 
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing 
Plan and Disability Action Plan.  
  
Support and advocate for older people in 
our community through the Regional 
Assessment Service, acting as a 
connector and delivering or partnering with 
community groups to deliver inclusive 
programs  
 

Inc 2,149 1,936 480 

Exp 2,799 2,776 978 

Surplus / (deficit) (650) (840) (498) 

Community 
Strengthening 

Provide the first point of contact to 
customers at our four service centres, and 
manage in excess of 65,000 telephone 
calls each year.  

Emergency Management and Municipal 
Recovery services supports the community 
preparedness, response and recovery in 
an emergency. 

 

Inc - 139 164 

Exp 1,871 2,426 2,810 

Surplus / (deficit) (1,871) (1,960) (2,646) 

    

Library 
Services 

These are provided through the Goldfields 
Library Corporation, with libraries in 
Gisborne, Kyneton, Woodend and 
Romsey. 

Inc 29 - - 

Exp 1,451 1,438 1,480 

Surplus / (deficit) (1,422) (1,438) (1,480) 
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Resource 
Recovery  

Deliver high-quality kerbside waste and 
recycling collection services, and general 
waste management, which includes 
transfer stations, public place bins, 
disposing of waste, street cleaning, 
management of former landfill sites and 
other waste management services. 

Inc 2,064 2,525 2,724 

Exp 12,329 12,066 13,978 

Surplus / (deficit) (10,579) (9,541) (11,254) 

        

Service area Description of services provided 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Forecast Budget 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

Children, 
Youth and 
Family 
Services  

These services provide early years 
services planning and operations, 
including delivery of 3- and 4-year-old 
kindergarten to over 850 children in eight 
kindergartens across the shire.  

These services also provide maternal and 
child health support for up to 600 infants 
and their families each year. Our nurses 
conduct approximately 4,700 key ages-
and-stages consultations each year for 
infants and children aged 0–6 years. They 
also operate supported playgroups and 
new parent groups. 

A range of youth programs are provided, 
such as Youth Spaces, Live4Life, Youth 
Leadership and Music in the Sticks, to 
over 3,000 young people each year. 

Inc 5,431 5,767 7,451 

Exp 6,481 6,868 7,822 

Surplus / (deficit) (1.050) (1,101) (371) 

    

Recreation Service delivery and provision of 
assistance to 81 sporting clubs, including 
seasonal allocation, leases and use 
agreements. Open space and recreation 
planning for the development and upgrade 
of Council-owned facilities including 
facilitating master plans and strategic 
direction for facility development, 
playgrounds and skate parks.  
This Service assists in the planning and 
delivery of capital projects to deliver active 
and passive recreation benefits, for 
example, Macedon Ranges Regional 
Sports Precinct and shire-wide shared 
trails projects.  
Promote the activation of open space and 
facilities to encourage more people to get 
more active more often.  
 

Inc 35 68 41 

Exp 631 734 689 

Surplus / (deficit) (596) (666) (648) 

    

Strategic 
Planning 
 

Develop policies, strategies and plans to 
manage growth and development in 
suitable locations, and to achieve 
sustainable environmental, economic and 
social outcomes.  
Provide a Heritage Advisory Service, 
which assists the community and staff in 
assessing heritage value.  
Convert policies into the formal decision-
making framework, such as planning 
scheme amendments.  
 

Inc 26 50 30 

Exp 1,361 1,423 1,570 

Surplus / (deficit) (1,044) (1,373) (1,540) 

    

Arts and 
Events 

Guide and support Council and the 
community to develop policies, strategies 
and plans, to achieve innovative 
sustainable practices that ensure the 
preservation of limited resources. 

Inc 189 281 307 

Exp 802 911 957 

Surplus / (deficit (613) (630) (650) 
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Manage and deliver Council’s annual 
Community Funding Scheme to enable 
community groups to access up to 
$160,000 of funding for community health 
and wellbeing projects. 

 

    

Service area Description of services provided 
  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
  Actual Forecast Budget 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 

Arts and 
Events 
(Cont.) 

Present a program of performance, visual 
arts, cultural and heritage events in five 
venues, which are attended by over 45,000 
residents and visitors each year. 

Support local community-driven events in 
our community halls. 

Curate a creative kids school holiday 
program (KTH Kids), with local artists 
presenting local content for local kids. 

Foster historical interest, preserve and 
collect social history items, and present 
contemporary exhibitions and public 
programs at Kyneton Museum. 

    

Safer 
Communities 
 

Respond to matters relating to domestic 
pets, livestock, local law issues, littering 
and parking offences, to enhance and 
protect community safety. We register and 
record over 13,400 dogs and cats. 
 
Provide services that assist in keeping our 
community safe, through providing 21 
school-crossing services, wastewater 
management, and compliance with food 
legislation, via more than 385 class 1 and 
class 2 food safety assessments annually.  
 
Deliver the immunisation program, 
including preschool sessions in Gisborne, 
Kyneton, Woodend, Riddells Creek and 
Romsey. The school program involves 
three visits to seven secondary colleges.  

 

Inc 1,393 1,359 1,680 

Exp 2,331 3,009 3,333 

Surplus / (deficit) (938) (1,650) (1,653) 

    

1 During 2020/21, Council exited a number of aged care services, in line with a Council resolution in August 2019, due to 
changes in Federal Government policy, which has reduced revenue and expenditure in 2021/22. 

 

Listed below are initiatives included in the 2023/24 Budget that align directly to the Council Plan 
and will achieve the delivery of the strategic objective of healthy environment, healthy people. 

Major   

 Undertake further work to complete a second draft of the Gisborne futures project, further 
consultation and consider a future Planning Scheme Amendment. 

 Continue to advocate to the Victorian Government for Barrm Birrm to become a State Park 
due to its significant flora and fauna. 

 Finalise the preparation of a new Public Open Space Strategy to guide the provision of 
improvements to the open space network, which are required to service the existing and 
future needs of the shire’s community. 

 Finalise the review and implement Local Law Number 10, in line with the new framework, as 
defined in the Local Government Act 2020. Local Law Number 10 provides the procedures 
for the administration of all of Council’s Local Laws. 
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Other 

 Funding to support Senior Citizens Clubs facilities hire, activities and the provision of a meal 
at the centre. Each one of these clubs is unique in the way they provide a service.  Clubs are 
located in Romsey, Woodend, Macedon, Kyneton and Riddells Creek. 

 Provide funding to ensure that approved Council recognition days (or weeks) that are 
currently not funded are delivered appropriately with adequate resourcing. 

 The development of a new Stretch Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) is required as Council’s 
current RAP concludes in September 2023. 

 Purchase new furniture in 2 Kindergarten rooms, of the new Lancefield Kindergarten building 
which includes Maternal Child Health. 

 Allocate recurrent funding for infrastructure works and tree hazard mitigation in conservation 
areas managed by the council 

 Barringo Reserve, install fencing and track resurfacing to be compliant with Aboriginal 
Heritage Act 2006 in areas of cultural sensitivity that now require protection  

 Black Hill Reserve, Link and Ridge Track, undertake cultural investigation, stakeholder 
consultation and sensitive design work is required to bring the community together to explore 
the extent and location of walking trails, the annual maintenance and risk mitigation works, 
and the environmental and cultural values of the reserves sensitivity. 

 Install new "significant roadside vegetation" signs across Council's high and very high 
conservation value roadsides. It also sees the introduction of “marker pole stickers” for 
Council Operations staff and contractors. 

 Continue the annual funding of the existing seven neighbourhood houses across the shire. 

 Purchase and install a new 13,000 litre galvanised water tank including plumbing connection 
(water pump and connections) at the Macedon Kindergarten. 

 Riddells Creek Kindergarten and Maternal and Child Health require the preparation of a 
detailed architectural design and cost estimate for building renovations.  

 Engage a landscape architect to design and provide an estimate for playground and play 
spaces at the Riddells Creek, Swinburne Avenue and Romsey Kindergartens 

 Install a new multiplay equipment and swing set in the playground of the new Lancefield 
Kindergarten. 

 Complete the upgrade the toilet facilities at Macedon Kindergarten based on Architectural 
Design and Plan conducted in 2022/23. 

 Commence the process for a planning scheme amendment to implement the Macedon 
Ranges Shire Thematic Environmental History into the Planning Scheme and undertake a 
number of new heritage citations or corrections as required. 

 Undertake work on the Romsey Structure Plan and progress its implementation to a planning 
scheme amendment. 

 Finalise the review of Council's 2008–2014 Playground Strategy and provide an updated 
shire-wide plan for play spaces (this is a multi-year project, year 2 of 2). 

 Prepare a master plan for Lancefield Park Recreation Reserve. 
 The Waterway Conservation Works Program will restore the ecological values of our 

waterways by undertaking weed control, revegetation and maintenance works 

 Continue to undertake environmental building upgrade initiatives across multiple buildings, 
resulting in a reduction in emissions, Council’s energy consumption and financial savings. 

 Emergency Management Claims Officer - With climate change and increased incidents of 
extreme weather imminent, this position will undertake duties to complete claims and process 
mapping for each weather incident. This new role will support the Emergency Management 
Unit greatly and has currently been funded by the State Government for 18 months. 

 Sustainability Officer (temporary to permanent). This role is due to conclude at 31 December 
2024. A permanent, ongoing position will co-ordinate the implementation of the 2030 Zero 
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Net Emissions Plan, and regularly report on progress and review the plan. The permanent 
position will also support the community in climate action through more broadly coordinating 
the implementation of Cool-ER Changes. 

 Water Sensitive Urban Design Officer (Temporary position - 50% Co Funded) The WSUD 
Officer position will focus on increasing Council's capacity around Water Sensitive Urban 
Design (WSUD) to support the Council's Integrated Water Management (IWM) Strategy, 
delivery of the WSUD and Site Management Plan compliance program, and Council Plan 
commitments. In addition, the role will provide specialist professional oversight of the 
development, construction, maintenance, and renewal of Council WSUD assets and  
developer lead WSUD projects, and expert professional advice. 

 Senior Proceedings Officer – The role will lead improvements and build capacity across the 
Local Laws team for progressing legal matters. The role will be responsible for reviewing and 
updating existing legal templates, developing consistent case management tools for 
authorised officers, building infringement capabilities, monitoring legislative changes and 
updating systems to reflect changes to legislation and ensure timely processing of permits. 
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2.3. Strategic objective 3. Business and 
tourism 
We will foster economic vitality in a way that promotes positive individual and community health 
outcomes, including business diversity, housing, transport, information and communication 
technology, and employment options. Investment attracted to the shire will be consistent with the 
Community Vision. 

Services 

Service area Description of services provided 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Forecast Budget 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 
Economic 
Development 
and Visitor 
Economy 

In consultation with the community, develop 
policies, strategies and plans to achieve 
innovative sustainable practices that value our 
people and environment. 

Manage and deliver Council’s annual Events and 
Festivals grants, to enable community groups to 
access up to $75,000 of funding for community 
events and festivals. 

Provide visitor services through Council’s Visitor 
Information Centres and through online channels, 
to encourage more community participation and 
raise visitor awareness. 

Support business activities and encourage local 
business networking and business-to-business 
connections. 

Manage Hanging Rock operations to ensure a 
quality visitor experience and environmental 
outcomes. 

Facilitate better connections between Council, 
groups and businesses. 

Advocate for support from the Commonwealth and 
Victorian Governments for actions that will 
increase the economic participation and security 
of Macedon Ranges. 

Inc 554 700 705 

Exp 2,307 2,667 2,414 

Surplus / (deficit) (1,753) (1,967) (1,709) 

    

 

Listed below are initiatives included in the 2023/24 Budget that align directly to the Council Plan and 
will achieve the delivery of the strategic objective of business and tourism. 

Major 

 Funding for the Autumn Festival as a key action of Council’s adopted Events Strategy 2021–
2025. An annual commitment of $70,000 for the Macedon Ranges Autumn Festival. 

 Support business development through providing networking and seminar support for local 
businesses across the Macedon Ranges.  

 Continue to operate Hanging Rock operations ensuring the site is maintained as a key 
attraction and is managed in accordance with the Environmental Management Strategy. 

Other 

 Continue to promote the region as a destination for tourists in collaboration with the Hepburn 
Shire Council. (Daylesford and Macedon Ranges Tourism agreement) 

 Provide funding to promote festivals and events across the shire. 
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 Use our allocated resources to build connections that support the creative economy, through 
professional development and networking opportunities for artists and craftspeople. 

 Provide funding and promotional support to local businesses to improve their digital literacy 
and online presence. 

 Drive advocacy measures and site-specific input and support, to accelerate improvements in 
telecommunications infrastructure and connectivity. 

 Attract investment in the region by actively supporting the maintenance of the Invest Loddon-
Mallee website. 

 Continue to promote local purchasing and the circular economy and maintain Councils status 
as a Small Business Friendly Council. 

 Seek external funding to improve signage/ way finding within our town business centres. 
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2.4. Strategic objective 4. Deliver strong and 
reliable government 
We will demonstrate the qualities of good governance, including a clear vision and culture, 
transparency, respect, consistency, accountability and responsiveness. 

Services 

Service area Description of services provided 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Forecast Budget 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

CEO Office Lead the organisation to deliver all the outcomes in 
the Council Plan. 

Inc - - - 
 

Exp 683 674 694 

    Surplus / (deficit) (683) (674) (694) 

Communications 
and 
Engagement  
 

Provide in excess of 250 media releases, produce 
and distribute four printed ShireLife newsletters, 
and manage the website and social media 
channels. 

Inc - - - 

Exp 871 818 969 

Surplus / (deficit) (871) (818) (969) 

Director 
Corporate  
  

Provide guidance to the business across strong 
and reliable government, and other priorities of 
Council. 

Inc - - - 

Exp 586 495 547 
 

Surplus / (deficit) (586) (495) (547) 

Corporate 
Governance 

Support our elected Councillors in performing their 
role and the decision-making process, including 
Council Meetings, Assemblies of Councillors, 
Australia Day events and Citizenship Ceremonies. 

Inc 73 36 1 

Exp 1,022 924 1,178 

Surplus / (deficit) (949) (888) (1,177) 

Information 
Services 

Provide and support an Information and 
Communication Technology (ICT) environment, 
which consists of over 80 servers, plus 700 
laptop/desktop computers and mobile devices, 
with a wide area network spanning across more 
than 30 facilities within the shire. Progress the 
Digital Strategy to enhance our digital 
transformation, customer experience and Cloud 
journey.  
Provide project and contract management, 
business analysis and support services for both 
internally hosted and cloud-based applications, 
which support the operations of Council to ensure 
they are continually reviewed for adherence to 
industry best practice, system reliability and value 
for money.  
Lead our Information Management practices, as 
well as classify and register over 70,000 items of 
incoming correspondence (both physical and 
digital) each year, in accordance with the Public 
Records Act 1973.  
Maintain a Geographic Information System that 
provides over 800 layers of spatial data, covering 
more than 100 different themes. The system is 
accessible by all staff and a simplified version is 
available through our website.  

 

 

 

Inc - - - 

Exp 3,418 3,916 4,422 

Surplus / (deficit) (3,418) (3,916) (4,422) 
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Service area Description of services provided 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Forecast Budget 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

People and 
Wellbeing1 

Provide advice and leadership to all employees in 
relation to recruitment, retention, induction and 
performance management, including volunteer 
management. Manage the learning and 
development function, providing staff with formal 
training opportunities that are facilitated, and a 
range of learning that is maintained on an 
eLearning platform and made available to the 
majority of employees. 

Payroll is also processed and managed for over 
650 staff across all departments and functions.  

Provide expert occupational health and safety 
advice and measures to all managers and officers, 
to keep Council employees and the community 
safe. Our Risk and Insurance team supports the 
community and Council employees with the 
management of all insurance claims, strategic risk 
management and operational risk management. 

Inc 154 223   163  

Exp 2,762  2,873   2,848  

Surplus / (deficit) (2,608) (2,650) (2,685) 

    

Finance and 
Reporting 

Pay more than 15,700 supplier invoices annually. 
The purchasing of goods and services are 
governed by our Procurement Policy, which aims 
for our purchasing processes to be open and 
transparent and deliver value for money.  

Produce the financial information for the Budget 
Report, Financial Plan, Quarterly Reports and 
Annual Report, according to the requirements of 
Accounting Standards, the Local Government Act 
and best-practice reporting. We also provide 
commentary to help our community understand 
our financial performance and position. 

Issue more than 84,000 rate instalments notices 
and 10,000 debtor invoices to users of Council 
services annually. We have provided our 
ratepayers with the option to receive email 
notices, and around 11% of our ratepayers now 
receive their notices electronically. We work with 
the Valuer-General Victoria to manage valuations 
for over 23,000 properties annually and 
approximately 1,500 supplementary valuations 
each year. 

Lease over 100 properties to tenants for a variety 
of purposes, predominantly for community and 
recreational activities, and a small amount of 
commercial arrangements. 

Oversee the Tender Process and Award 
approximately 60 contracts annually for Council 
approved Projects, provide contract advice to 
staff, and executive. 

 

Inc 11,864 7,447 10,853 

Exp 2,352 3,205 3,468 

Surplus / (deficit) 9,512 4,242 5,785 
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Listed below are initiatives included in the 2023/24 Budget that align directly to the Council Plan and 
will achieve the delivery of the strategic objective to deliver strong and reliable government. 

Major 

 Adopt the Council Plan (Year Three) for adoption by 30 June 2023. 

 Commence preparation for Councillor elections scheduled for 2024 

 

Other 

 Implement an organisation wide Risk Management and OHS solution for the recording, 
management, reporting and analysis of both Strategic and Operational Risks. 

 Update Council’s IntraMap system to incorporate the upgrades the State Government is 
making to the Cadastral (property boundary) data across the state. 

 Information services will investigate the ability to upgrade its Cloud backup solutions as a 
result of moving towards software as a service and cloud-based technologies. 

 Review, improve and establish new opportunities for the public to engage digitally with 
Council. 

 Budget for risk management to support the risk management framework, its implementation 
and its effectiveness. 

 Increase the budget for additional licensing to increase internal dashboard reporting for 
management 

 Further develop the ICT Disaster Recovery environment. 

 Continue leadership through advocacy and collaboration with state and federal government 
representatives, to advance projects and partnerships for the community’s benefit. 

 Advocate to government bodies and community stakeholders about current and future 
transport needs across the whole of our shire and look for and promote regional solutions. 

 To ensure our financial resources are sustainable and managed responsibly, we will 
complete and have audited the 2021/22 Financial Statements and Performance Statement by 
30 September 2023. 

 Deliver Community Engagement Guidelines to operationalise the final version of the 
Community Engagement Policy, in line with the Victorian Local Government Act 2020. 
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2.5. Overall service performance outcome 
indicators 
The Victorian Government introduced a new Local Government Performance Reporting 
Framework (LGPRF) which became mandatory for implementation by councils as part of the 
planning and reporting cycle in FY2015-16. The following are the prescribed indicators within the 
regulations: 

Service Indicator Performance measure Computation 

Governance 
Consultation and 
Engagement 

Satisfaction with community 
consultation and engagement.  
(Community satisfaction rating 
out of 100 with the consultation 
and engagement efforts of 
Council) 

Community satisfaction rating out of 
100 with how Council has performed 
on community consultation and 
engagement 

Statutory Planning Service Standard 

Planning applications decided 
within required timeframes 
(percentage of regular and 
VicSmart planning application 
decisions made within legislated 
timeframes) 

[Number of planning application 
decisions made within 60 days for 
regular permits and 10 days for 
VicSmart permits / Number of 
planning application decisions made] 
x100 

Roads Condition 

Sealed local roads below the 
intervention level (percentage of 
sealed local roads that are below 
the renewal intervention level set 
by Council and not requiring 
renewal) 

[Number of kilometres of sealed local 
roads below the renewal intervention 
level set by Council / Kilometres of 
sealed local roads] x100 

Libraries Participation 
Library membership (Percentage 
of the population that are 
registered library members) 

[Number of registered library 
members / Population] x100  

Waste Management  Waste Diversion 

Kerbside collection waste 
diverted from landfill (percentage 
of garbage, recyclables and 
green organics collected from 
kerbside bins that is diverted 
from landfill) 

[Weight of recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside 
bins/weight of garbage, recyclables 
and green organics collected from 
kerbside bins] x100 

Aquatic Facilities Utilisation 
Utilisation of aquatic facilities 
(number of visits to aquatic 
facilities per head of population) 

Number of visits to aquatic 
facilities/population 

Animal Management Health and Safety 

Animal management 
prosecutions (percentage of 
animal management 
prosecutions that are successful) 

Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions/total 
number of animal management 
prosecutions 

Food Safety Health and Safety 

Critical and major non-
compliance outcome notifications 
(percentage of critical and major 
non-compliance outcome 
notifications that are followed up 
by Council) 

[Number of critical non-compliance 
outcome notifications and major non-
compliance outcome notifications 
about a food premises followed 
up/number of critical non-compliance 
outcome notifications and major non-
compliance outcome notifications 
about food premises] x100 

Maternal and Child 
Health  

Participation 
  

Participation in the MCH service 
(percentage of children enrolled 
who participate in the MCH 
service) 

[Number of children who attend the 
MCH service at least once (in the 
financial year)/number of children 
enrolled in the MCH service] x100 

  

Participation in the MCH service 
by Aboriginal children 
(percentage of Aboriginal 
children enrolled who participate 
in the MCH service) 

[Number of Aboriginal children who 
attend the MCH service at least once 
(in the financial year)/number of 
Aboriginal children enrolled in the 
MCH service] x100 
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The prescribe indicators of service performance are required to be reported against in the 
performance statement under section 98 of the Act. Section 98(4)(a) of the Act, states that the 
indicators of service performance must be reported against in the performance statement are 
prescribed in the regulations. 

Performance Targets 

The Local Government Performance Reporting Framework (LGPRF) consists of 59 measures 
across key financial deliverables and common service areas in Victoria. Enabled through the Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 and the Local Government Act 2020, 
Councils are required to present their individual council results via the Performance Statement and 
the Report of Operations in their Annual Report. Local Government Victoria, as the stewards of the 
LGPRF, also collate and present the data for benchmarking across the sector.  

Contextually, the annual budget is fundamentally a target setting process, i.e., a public statement 
of a council’s intentions. Expanding on this, target setting against standardised performance 
measures (as per the LGPRF) would allow the public and stakeholders to view the council’s 
intentions through the Council’s Budget and assess how council has performed against its 
intentions via the Council’s Annual Report.  

After development work with the sector (including technical working groups and target setting trials) 
and with the support of the Local Government Performance Reporting Steering Committee, the 
Minister for Local Government approved a target setting component within the LGPRF.    

In October 2022, the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations were amended to 
include a requirement for target setting against measures within the Budget and for reporting 
targets against results in the Council’s Performance Statement (Annual Report).  

This step will form a link between the council budget and annual report. Councils will be required to 
set targets against eight performance indicators. Through consultation with the sector, these 
indicators were selected because of their relative stability and their appropriateness for the setting 
of targets. Through investment, staffing, management, or process improvement, council could 
influence the outcome of these measures.  

Performance Target Reporting Cycle: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Local Government Better Practice Guide – Performance Target Guide For the Local Government Performance 
Reporting Framework 2023-24 Edition. 
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Service measures Measure Description Actual 
2021/22 

Forecast 
2022/23 

Target 
2023/24 

Target 
2024/25 

Target 
2025/26 

Target 
2026/27 

G2 - Governance – 
Consultation and 
engagement 
 

Satisfaction with 
community consultation 
and engagement 
(community satisfaction 
rating out of 100 with the 
consultation and 
engagement efforts of 
Council) 

48% 50% 52% 54% 56% 58% 

SP2 - Statutory 
Planning – Service 
standard 
 

Planning applications 
decided within the 
relevant required time 
(percentage of planning 
application decisions made 
within the relevant required 
time) 

53% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 

R2 - Roads - 
Condition 
 

Sealed local roads below 
the intervention level 
(percentage of sealed local 
roads that are below the 
renewal intervention level 
set by Council and not 
requiring renewal) 

93% 93% 94% 95% 96% 96% 

WC5 - Waste 
management – 
Waste diversion 
 

Kerbside collection 
waste diverted from 
landfill (percentage of 
recyclables and green 
organics collected from 
kerbside bins that is 
diverted from landfill) 

71% 73% 74% 75% 76% 77% 

Financial measures        

E2 - Financial 
efficiency –  
Expenditure 
 

Expenses per property 
assessment (total 
expenses per property 
assessment) 

$4,576 $3,961 $3,880 $3,973 $4,037 $4,092 

S1 - Financial 
stability – Rates 
concentration 
 

Rates compared to 
adjusted underlying 
revenue (rate revenue as a 
percentage of adjusted 
underlying revenue) 
 

51% 65% 64% 64% 63% 64% 

L1 - Financial 
liquidity – Working 
capital 
 

Current assets compared 
to current liabilities 
(current assets as a 
percentage of current 
liabilities) 

168% 93% 85% 80% 103% 109% 

O5 - Financial 
obligations – Asset 
renewal  
 

Asset renewal compared 
to depreciation (asset 
renewal and upgrade 
expense as a percentage 
of depreciation) 

136% 118% 125% 155% 129% 134% 
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2.6 Reconciliation with budgeted operating 
result  

      Surplus/ 
(deficit) 

Expenditure Revenue    

      $’000 $’000 $’000 

Connecting communities (15,435) 24,419 8,984 

Healthy environment, healthy people (21,657) 32,956 11,299 

Business and tourism (3,362) 5,747 2,385 

Deliver strong and reliable government (3,109) 14,126 11,016 

Total   (43,564) 77,248 33,684 

Expenses added in: 
  

  

 

Depreciation and amortisation  (17,063)  
 

Borrowing costs (597)   

Workcover premium increase -200   

Surplus/(deficit) before funding sources (61,424)   

Funding sources added in:     

Rates and charges revenue 50,298 
  

Waste charge revenue  11,988   

Capital project grant income  7,118   

Capital project contributions  546   

Proceeds on sale of vehicles  600   

Non-monetary asset contributions 7,920  
 

Total funding sources 79,029   

Operating surplus / (deficit) for the year 17,046   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

# Please note numbers included in sections 2.6 to 4.6 of this document have been rounded to the 
nearest $1,000 

 
Draft for adoption at Council Meeting - 27 September 2023

Page 34



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.7 - Attachment 1 Page 256 

  

 

 

Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

 

Financial statements 
This section presents information regarding the Financial Statements and Statement of Human 
Resources. The budget information for the year 2023/24 has been supplemented with projections 
to 2026/27. 

This section includes the following financial statements, prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 2020 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020: 

 Comprehensive Income Statement 

 Balance Sheet 

 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 Statement of Cash Flows 

 Statement of Capital Works 

 Statement of Human Resources 

 Summary of Planned Human Resources Expenditure 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Comprehensive Income Statement  
For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

    Forecast Budget Projections 

    2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Income             

Rates and charges 4.1.1 57,885  62,286  65,433 67,833 70,297 

Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 3,291  3,710  3,784 3,860 3,937 

User fees 4.1.3 7,684  7,678  7,931 8,149 8,374 

Grants – operating 4.1.4(a) 11,932  17,782  17,628 17,980 18,340 

Grants – capital 4.1.4(b) 13,341  7,118  27,583 27,174 7,681 

Contributions – monetary 4.1.5 3,536   2,605  2,300 3,292 2,665 

Contributions – non-monetary 4.1.5 7,920  7,920  7,920 7,920 7,920 

Other income 4.1.6 3,945  2,756  2,811 2,867 2,925 

Total income  109,534  112,155  135,390 139,075 122,139 

             

Expenses            

Employee costs 4.1.7 41,845    42,778  44,370 45,992 47,654 

Materials and services 4.1.8 33,538    31,587  32,641 33,457 34,293 

Depreciation 4.1.9 15,793    16,639  17,073 17,660 18,160 

Amortisation – intangible assets 4.1.10 102         52  70 70 47 

Amortisation – right-of-use assets 4.1.11 357         372  419 389 389 

Bad and doubtful debts  6           9  10 10 10 

Borrowing costs  145         558  819 858 774 

Finance costs – leases  21        39  62 48 34 

Other expenses 4.1.12 3,472      3,075  3,137 3,199 3,263 

Total expenses  95,279    95,109  98,601 101,683 104,624 

            

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  14,255  17,046 36,789 37,392 17,515 

             

Other comprehensive income            

Items that will not be reclassified to 
surplus or deficit in future periods 

           

Net asset revaluation increment/ 
(decrement) 

4.1.13 1,142  14,219 20,244 1,463 14,523 

Total comprehensive result   15,397  31,265 57,033 38,855 32,038 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Balance Sheet  
For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

   Forecast Budget Projections 

    2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Assets             

Current assets             

Cash and cash equivalents   11,591 8,376 7,725 11,292 14,281 

Trade and other receivables   15,503 9,293 11,083 11,354 9,940 

Total current assets 4.2.1 27,094 17,66 18,808 22,646 24,221 

Non-current assets             

Other financial assets   21 21 21 21 21 

Investments in associates, joint 
arrangement and subsidiaries 

  1,432   1,432 1,432 1,432 1,432 

Property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment 

 1,337,259 1,366,886 1,423,710 1,457,481 1,487,531 

Right-of-use assets 4.2.4 345 1,787 1,368 979 590 

Investment property  2,630   2,630 2,630 2,630 2,630 

Intangible assets  257  205 135 65 18 

Total non-current assets 4.2.1 1,326,944 1,372,961 1,429,296 1,462,608 1,492,222 

Total assets  1,354,038 1,390,630 1,448,104 1,485,254 1,516,443 

Liabilities 
           

Current liabilities            

Trade and other payables  7,355 9,363 9,704 9,942 10,186 

Trust funds and deposits  3,874 3,951 4,031 4,111 4,193 

Unearned Income  10,802 768 783 799 815 

Provisions  6,592 6,280 6,280 6,280 6,280 

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 178 932 3,479 1,273 1,112 

Lease liabilities 4.2.4 260 468 384 398 400 

Total current liabilities 4.2.2 29,061 21,762 24,661 22,803 22,986 

Non-current liabilities 
           

Provisions  4,131 4,443 4,443 4,443 4,443 

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 8,332 19,462 17,327 17,878 17,246 

Lease liabilities 4.2.4 124 1,308 985 587 187 

Total non-current liabilities 4.2.2 12,587 25,213 22,755 22,908 21,876 

Total liabilities  41,648 46,975 47,416 45,711 44,862 

Net assets  1,312,390 1,343,655 1,400,688 1,439,543 1,471,581 

Equity        

Accumulated surplus   689,991 707,884 744,431 781,600 799,198 

Reserves   622,399 635,771 656,257 657,943 672,343 

Total equity   1,312,390 1,343,655 1,400,688 1,439,543 1,471,581 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Statement of Changes in Equity  

For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

      Total 
Accumulated 

Surplus 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
Other 

Reserves 

    NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2023 Forecast Actual             

Balance at beginning of the financial year     1,296,993 674,575 606,600 15,818 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year     14,255 14,255 - - 

Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement)    1,142 - 1,142 - 

Transfers to other reserves     - (4,443) - 4,443 

Transfers from other reserves    - 5,604 - (5,604) 

Balance at end of the financial year     1,312,390 689,991 607,742 14,657 

2024 Budget              

Balance at beginning of the financial year      1,312,390 689,991 607,742 14,657 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year      17,046 17,046  -   -   

Net asset revaluation increment/ 
(decrement)  

    14,219  -  14,219  -   

Transfers to other reserves     4.3.1   -  (3,396)  -  3,396 

Transfers from other reserves     4.3.1   -  4,243  -  (4,243) 

Balance at end of the financial year     4.3.2  1,343,655 707,884 621,961 13,810 

2025 Projection             

Balance at beginning of the financial year     1,342,3655 707,884 621,961 13,810 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year     36,789 36,789 - - 

Net asset revaluation increment/ 
(decrement) 

    20,244 - 20,244 - 

Transfers to other reserves     - (2,300) - 2,300 

Transfers from other reserves     - 2,058 - (2,058) 

Balance at end of the financial year   1,400,688 744,431 642,205 14,052 

2026 Projection             

Balance at beginning of the financial year     1,400,688 744,431 642,205 14,052 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year     37,392 37,392 - - 

Net asset revaluation increment/ 
(decrement) 

    1,463 - 1,463 - 

Transfers to other reserves     - (2,799) - 2,799 

Transfers from other reserves     - 2,576 - (2,576) 

Balance at end of the financial year   1,439,543 781,600 643,668 14,275 

2027 Projection             

Balance at beginning of the financial year     1,439,543 781,600 643,668 14,275 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year     17,515 17,515 - - 
Net asset revaluation increment/ 
(decrement) 

    14,523 - 14,523 - 

Transfers to other reserves     - (2,939) - 2,939 

Transfers from other reserves     - 3,062 - (3,062) 

Balance at end of the financial year   1,471,581 799,238 658,191 14,152 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Statement of Cash Flows  

For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

    Forecast Budget Projections 

    2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

    Inflows  Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows 

    (Outflows)  (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) 

Cash flows from operating activities           

Rates and charges   55,423 60,299 65,223 67,652 70,113 

Statutory fees and fines    4,785 3,952 4,156 4,240 4,325 

User fees   5,302 8,179 8,702 8,946 9,193 

Grants – operating   14,250 17,236 17,598 17,954 18,313 

Grants – capital   19,236 8,963 26,125 27,207 9,175 

Contributions – monetary   386 40 - - - 

Interest received   80 910 622 635 647 

Trust funds and deposits taken   -  77 79 81 82 

Other receipts   2,094 4,386 4,284 5,304 4,786 

Net GST refund/payment   6,301 5,298 6,468 6,152 4,733 

Employee costs   (36,662) (42,586) (44,378) (46,000) (47,662) 

Materials and services   (32,193) (32,918) (35,588) (36,587) (37,502) 

Trust funds and deposits repaid   (150)  -   - - - 

Other payments   (3,139) (3,205) (3,432) (3,503) (3,573) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) 
operating activities  

4.4.1 35,713 30,431 49,859 52,080 32,630 

Cash flows from investing activities           

Payments for property, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment  

  (75,031) (44,743) (50,307) (46,255) (28,343) 

Proceeds from sale of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment  

  700 660 673 687 700 

Proceeds from sale of investments 1,000  -   -   - - 

Net cash provided by/(used in) 
investing activities  

4.4.2 (73,331) (44,083) (49,634) (45,564) (27,642) 

Cash flows from financing activities            

Finance costs    (149) (558) (819) (858) (774) 

Proceeds from borrowings    5,603 12,300 1,400 1,900 500 

Repayment of borrowings    (208) (844) (988) (3,555) (1,293) 

Interest paid – lease liability   (21) (39) (62) (48) (34) 

Repayment of lease liabilities   (400) (422) (407) (384) (398) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) 
financing activities  

4.4.3 4,825 10,437 (876) (2,945) (1,999) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents  

  (32,793) (3,215) (651) 3,567 2,989 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial year  

  44,384 11,591 8,376 7,725 11,292 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the financial year  

  11,591 8,376 7,725 11,292 14,281 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Statement of Capital Works  

For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

    Forecast Budget Projections 

    2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Property       

Land    500 310 - - - 

Total Land  500 310 - - - 

       

Buildings  4,345 3,224 9,785 9,540 8,940 

Total buildings   4,345 3,224 9,785 9,540 8,940 

Total property   4,845 3,534 9,785 9,540 8,940 

              

Plant and equipment             

Plant, machinery and equipment 2,533 2,622 2,320 1,625 2,025 

Computers and telecommunications   329 300 234 672 310 

Total plant and equipment   2,862 2,922 2,554 2,297 2,335 

              

Infrastructure             

Roads   20,093 10,264 14,088 9,226 9,258 

Bridges   592 1,440 430 1,083 736 

Footpaths and cycleway  2,878 1,247 2,053 2,387 1,629 

Drainage   565 507 659 692 717 

Recreational, leisure and community 
facilities 

 28,873 6,415 15,614 15,930 1,536 

Parks, open space and streetscapes 212 371 450 745 465 

Other infrastructure  300 1,600 100 150 150 

Total infrastructure   53,513 21,844 33,394 30,213 14,491 

           

Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 61,220 28,300 45,733 42,050 25,766 

              

Represented by:             

New asset expenditure   42,644 7,254 19,352 19,202 1,482 

Asset renewal expenditure   15,630 19,735 22,886 19,026 21,997 

Asset upgrade expenditure   2,946 1,311 3,495 3,822 2,287 

Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 61,220 28,300 45,733 42,050 25,766 

              

Funding sources represented by:         

Grants   16,401 7,118 27,583 27,174 7,681 

Contributions  464 546 200 1,150 480 

Council cash   34,355 18,336 16,550 11,826 17,105 

Borrowings   10,000 2,300 1,400 1,900 500 

Total capital works expenditure 4.5.1 61,220 28,300 45,733 42,050 25,766 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Statement of Human Resources  

For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

    Forecast Budget Projections 

    2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Staff Expenditure       

Employee costs – operating    37,393 42,778 44,523 46,158 47,824 

Employee costs – capital  1,930 2,513 2,588 2,653 2,719 

Total staff expenditure  39,323 45,291 47,120 48,811 50,543 

       

  FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE 

Staff numbers       

Employees*  447 438 443 448 453 

Total staff numbers   447 438 443 448 453 

              

* Future years annual FTE increases have been included at 5 FTE per year. 

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure 
of Council is included below. 

    Budget Full Part Casual Temporary 

    2023/24 Time time   

Department  NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

CEO Office  1,230 1,181 49 - - 

Assets and Operations    18,123 13,349 2,875 1,899 - 

Community  10,443 3,623 6,335 485 - 

Corporate  6,627 5,667 702 258 - 

Planning and Environment  8,868 6,781 1,677 410 - 

Total staff expenditure  45,291 30,401 11,638 3,052 - 

       

Total permanent staff 
expenditure  45,091     

       

Less Capitalised labour costs  (2,513)     

Total expenditure  42,578     

       

  FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE 

Staff numbers       

CEO Office  8.6 8 0.6 - - 

Assets and Operations  177.8 123 33.1 22.0 - 

Community  109.5 31 72.5 6.0 - 

Corporate  59.4 49 7.4 3.0 - 

Planning and Environment  82.9 60 17.9 5.0 - 

Total staff numbers   438.1 271 131.4 35.7 - 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Summary of Planned Human Resources 
Expenditure 

For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

    
Budget 
2023/24 

$'000 

 
2024/25 

$'000 

Projection 
2025/26 

$'000 

 
2026/27 

$'000 

CEO Office           

Permanent – full time  1,181  1,216  1,246  1,277 

Permanent – part time  49  50  51  52 

Total CEO Office  1,230   1,266   1,297   1,329  

Assets and Operations           

Permanent – full time  10,836  11,079  11,453  11,834 

Permanent – part time  2,875  2,961  3,035  3,111 

Total Assets and Operation  13,711  14,040  14,488  14,945 

Community           

Permanent – full time  3,623   3,732   3,825   3,921  

Permanent – part time  6,335   6,649  7,042   7,315  

Total Community 9,958  10,381  10,867  11,236  

Corporate           

Permanent – full time  5,667   5,955   6,197   6,443  

Permanent – part time  702  723  741  760 

Total Corporate  6,369   6,678   7,938   7,203  

Planning and Environment           

Permanent – full time  6,781  7,134  7,409  7,823 

Permanent – part time  1,677  1,727  1,770  1,814 

Total Planning and Environment  8,458  8,861  9,179  9,637 

Casuals, temporary and other expenditure  3,052  3,144  3,223  3,304 

Total staff expenditure 42,778 44,370 45,992 47,654 

Capitalised labour costs    2,513  2,588  2,653  2,719 

Total staff expenditure  45,291   46,958   48,645   50,373  
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Summary of Planned Human Resources 
Full-Time Equivalent Staff 

For the four years ending 30 June 2027 

  Budget Projection 

    
2023/24 

 FTE 
2024/25 

 FTE 
2025/26 

 FTE 
2026/27 

 FTE 

CEO Office           

Permanent – full time  8.0  8.0  8.0  8.0 

Permanent – part time 0.6  0.6  0.6  0.6 

Total CEO Office  8.6  8.6  8.6  8.6 

Assets and Operations           

Permanent – full time  99.0  101.0  102.0  103.0 

Permanent – part time  33.0  33.0  33.0  33.0 

Total Assets and Operation  132.0  134.0  135.0  136.0 

Community           

Permanent – full time  31.0  31.0  31.0  31.0 

Permanent – part time  72.5  73.5  75.5  76.5 

Total Community  103.5  104.5  106.5  107.5 

Corporate           

Permanent – full time  49.0  50.0  51.0  52.0 

Permanent – part time  7.4  7.4  7.4  7.4 

Total Corporate  56.4  57.4  58.4  59.4 

Planning and Environment           

Permanent – full time  60.0  61.0  62.0  64.0 

Permanent – part time  17.9  17.9  17.9  17.9 

Total Planning and Environment  77.9  78.9  79.9  81.9 

Casuals and Temporary Staff    35.7  35.7  35.7  35.7 

Total Operating Full-time Equivalent Staff  414.1   419.1   424.1   429.1  

Capitalised Labour    24.0 24.0 24.0 24.0 

Total Full-time Equivalent Staff  438.1 443.1 448.1 453.1 

  

 
Draft for adoption at Council Meeting - 27 September 2023

Page 43



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.7 - Attachment 1 Page 265 

  

 

 

Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

Notes to the financial statements 
This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. 
Council needs to assess which components are material, considering the dollar amounts and the 
nature of these components. 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement 

4.1.1 Rates and charges 
Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s 
Budget. 

As per the Local Government Act 2020, Council is required to have a Revenue and Rating Plan, 
which is a four-year plan for how Council will generate income to deliver the Council Plan, 
programs and services, and capital works commitments over a four-year period.  

In developing this Budget, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. 
Planning for future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the financial 
planning process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount that councils 
may increase rates in a year. For 2023/24, the FGRS cap has been set at 3.5%. The cap applies to 
both general rates and municipal charges, and is calculated on the basis of Council’s average 
rates and charges.  

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to 
Council's other sources of income, and the planned expenditure on services and works to be 
undertaken for the community. 

To achieve these objectives, while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure 
program, the average general rate and the municipal charge will increase by 3.5%, in line with the 
rate cap.  

This will raise total rates and charges for 2023/24 to $62,286,000. 

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income 
Statement is as follows: 

Type of charge 
2022/23 

Forecast 
2023/24 
Budget 

Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

General charge 40,806  44,466      3,660  8.97 

Municipal charge 5,100    4,564  (536)  (10.51) 

Kerbside collection and recycling  10,553  11,988     1,435  13.60 

Supplementary rates and charges 916    818   (98)  (10.70) 

Interest on rates and charges 510    450   (60)  (11.76) 

     

Total rates and charges 57,885  62,286      4,401  7.6 

* The percentage change to the general charge is greater than the rate cap of 3.5%, because Council receives additional 
revenue through supplementary valuations throughout the year.  
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

4.1.1(b) The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for 
each type or class of land, compared with the previous financial year, is: 

Type or class of land 
2022/23 2023/24 

Change % 
 

cents/$CIV cents/$CIV  

General rate for rateable residential properties 0.0019018 0.00179840 (5.44)  

Agricultural land rate 0.0015214 0.00143872 (5.43)  

Commercial/industrial rate 0.0022822 0.00215808 (5.44)  

Recreational land rate 0.0009509 0.00089920 (5.44)  

Not-for-profit housing rate 0.0009509 0.00089920 (5.44)  

Note: Rates in the dollar for 2023/24 have decreased, due to the higher property values determined in the 2023 
General Valuation of properties. 

4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, in relation to each type or 
class of land, and the estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the 
previous financial year is: 

Type or class of land 
2022/23 2023/24 Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Residential   36,036  39,125      3,089  8.57 

Agricultural  2,556  2,895   339  13.26 

Commercial/industrial  2,155  2,384   229  10.63 

Recreational land  14  20     6  42.86 

Not-for-profit housing  45  42    (3) (6.67) 

Total amount to be raised by general rates  40,806  44,466      3,660  8.97 

4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total 
number of assessments, compared with the previous financial year is: 

Type or class of land 
2022/23 2023/24 Change 

Number Number Number % 

Residential   21,703  22,107     404  1.86 

Agricultural  1,014  1,000     (14)  (1.38) 

Commercial/industrial  1,174  1,193   19  1.62 

Recreational land  9  9    -   0.0 

Not-for-profit housing  152  152    - 0.0 

Total number of assessments  24,052  24,461     409  1.70 

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV). 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value 
of land, compared with the previous financial year is: 

Type or class of land 
2022/23 2023/24 Change 

$’000 $’000  $’000  % 

Residential   19,310,337  21,749,453    2,439,116  12.63 

Agricultural  1,680,295  2,008,635   328,340  19.54 

Commercial/industrial  944,212  1,122,971   178,759  18.93 

Recreational land  14,990  21,800     6,810  45.43 

Not-for-profit housing  46,520  47,000   480 1.03 

Total value of land  21,996,354  24,949,859    2,953,505  13.43 

4.1.1(g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous 
financial year is: 

Type of charge 

Per rateable 
property 

Per rateable 
property Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

$ $ $ % 

Municipal   212  189  (23)  (10.85) 

4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges, compared with the 
previous financial year is: 

Type of charge 
2022/23 2023/24 Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Municipal   5,100  4,564  (536) (10.51) 

4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under 
Section 162 of the Act, compared with the previous financial year is: 

Type of charge 

Per rateable 
property 

Per rateable 
property Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

 $   $   $  % 

Kerbside waste and recycling collection with 
FOGO 

 454  495  41 9.03 

EPA Levy  44  46  2 4.55 

Total   498  541  43 8.63 
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Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

4.1.1(j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and 
the estimated total amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared with the 
previous financial year is: 

Type of charge 
2022/23 2023/24 Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Kerbside waste and recycling collection   9,645  11,048  1,403 14.55 

EPA Levy  908  940  32 3.52 

Total   10,553  11,988  1,435 13.60 

4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges, compared with the 
previous financial year is: 

Type of charge  
2022/23 2023/24 Change 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

General rates  40,806  44,466  3,660 8.97 

Municipal charge  5,100  4,564 (536) (10.51) 

Kerbside collection and recycling  10,553  11,988  1,435 13.60 

Total rates and charges  56,459  61,018  4,559 8.07 

4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System compliance 
  

The Macedon Ranges Shire Council is fully compliant with the Victorian Government’s Fair 
Go Rates System (FGRS). The table below details the budget assumptions consistent with 
the requirements of the FGRS. 

  2022/23 2023/24 

Total rates  $46,527,000  $49,030,000 

Number of rateable properties  24,052   24,461 

Base average rate  $1,901  $1,938 

Maximum rate increase (set by the Victorian Government) 1.75% 3.50% 

Capped average rate  $1,934  $2,005 

Maximum general rates and municipal charges revenue  $46,527,645   $49,030,555 

Budgeted general rates and municipal charges revenue  $46,527,645  $49,030,555 

Budgeted supplementary rates  $850,000  $818,000 

Budgeted total rates and municipal charges revenue  $47,377,645  $49,848,555 

4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and 
charges 

There are no known significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by 
rates and charges. However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected 
by: 

 the level of supplementary valuations processed 
 the variation of returned levels of value (for example, valuation appeals) 
 changes of use of land, such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa 
 changes of use of land, such that residential land becomes agricultural land and vice versa. 
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4.1.1(n) Differential rates 

Council’s Rating Strategy can be found in its Revenue and Rating Plan. In summary, Council has 
established a rating structure comprised of three key elements, which are: 

 property rates – based on the value of the property 
 a municipal charge – that reflects a common contribution to the governance costs of 

Council 
 service charges – that reflect availability and usage of waste services provided by Council. 

Striking a proper balance between these elements aims for equity in the distribution of rates and 
charges across ratepayers. Council makes a further distinction, within the property value element, 
which is a differential rate (that is, rates based on the purpose for which the property is used). This 
distinction is based on the concept that property owners should pay a fair and equitable 
contribution to rates, taking into account the benefit that may be derived from the services Council 
provides. 

The three major differential rates are the: 

 General Rate that applies to most residential property and vacant land 
 Business Rate that applies to properties that are used for commercial, industrial or 

professional purposes. The Business Rate is 20% more than the General Rate 
 Agricultural Land Rate that applies to land defined as farmland, and for which the owner or 

occupier is regarded as a primary producer by the Australian Taxation Office. The 
Agricultural Land Rate is 20% less than the General Rate. 

Section 161 of the Local Government Act 1989 allows a council to raise rates by a differential rate, 
if the council uses the capital-improved value system of valuing land, and if it considers that the 
differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of the council's functions. 

In accordance with Section 161 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council specified the following 
objectives and characteristics in relation to its differential rates. 

For the General Rate: 
1. the types and classes of land to which the rate applies is all rateable land, other than 

agricultural land, recreational land, commercial/industrial land and land used by not-for-
profit organisations to provide low-income residential housing 

2. the differential rate is considered fair and equitable, having regarded the: 
a. amount of revenue required to be raised is in accordance with the Council Plan, 

Financial Plan and Budget 
b. range and quality of infrastructure, physical services, health services and community 

services available to the owners and occupiers of residential properties and vacant 
land. 

For the Business (Commercial/Industrial) Rate: 

1. the types and classes of land to which the rate will apply are all rateable land that is not 
agricultural land, and which is used predominantly for carrying on one or more of the 
following activities for the purpose of generating income – commercial, industrial, business, 
wholesale trade, retail trade, manufacturing, professional or administrative 

2. the differential rate is considered fair and equitable having regarded the: 
a. amount of revenue required to be raised in accordance with the Council Plan, 

Financial Plan and Annual Budget 
b. range and quality of infrastructure, physical services (including street lighting and 

street cleaning, car parking) and facilities available to the owners and occupiers of 
land described in paragraph 1. 

For the Agricultural Land Rate: 

1. the types and classes of land to which the rate applies are agricultural land, which means 
any rateable land within the Council’s municipal district defined as farmland under Section 2 
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of the Valuation of Land Act 1960, on the condition that the owner or occupier of the land is 
a person carrying out the activities defined by the Valuation of Land Act 1960, who is 
regarded as a primary producer by the Australian Taxation Office. 

2. the differential rate is considered fair and equitable having regarded: 
a. that the amount of revenue required to be raised is in accordance with the Council 

Plan, Financial Plan and Budget 
b. the range and quality of infrastructure, physical services, health services and 

community services available to the owners and occupiers of agricultural land 
c. restrictions on the use and development of agricultural land in the Planning Scheme 
d. the need to encourage the retention of viable agricultural land for agricultural 

purposes. 

Council also has two minor differential rating categories that are: 

 Not-for-Profit Housing 
 Recreational Land. 

For the Not-for-Profit Housing Rate: 

1. the types and classes of land to which the rate will apply are properties containing low-
income residential housing owned and/or managed by a volunteer, charitable or not-for-
profit organisation, for which the organisation is responsible for the payment of rates, and 
for which a Victorian Government pension concession is not claimed. The Not-for-Profit 
Housing Rate is 50% of the General Rate 

2. the differential rate is considered as fair and equitable having regarded the: 
a. amount of revenue required to be raised in accordance with the Council Plan, 

Financial Plan and Budget; and 
b. public service that volunteer, charitable or not-for-profit organisations are delivering to 

the community, by providing low-income residential housing. In accordance with 
Section 2 of the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act 1963, Council declared all 
rateable Cultural and Recreational Land to be rated at 50% of the General Rate. 

For the Recreational Rate: 

1. the types and classes of land to which the rate will apply are properties that are occupied by 
a body that exists for cultural or recreational purposes, and applies its profits in promoting 
the furthering of this purpose. The objective of the rate is to recognise the large contribution 
that these community organisations and the volunteers make to the shire, in the provision of 
sporting, cultural and recreational activities. In accordance with Section 2 of the Cultural 
and Recreational Lands Act, Council declared all rateable Cultural and Recreational Land 
to be rated at 50% of the General Rate. 

2. the differential rate is considered as fair and equitable having regarded the: 
a. amount of revenue required to be raised in accordance with the Council Plan, 

Financial Plan and Annual Budget; and 
b. public service that volunteers and community organisations make in the shire, in the 

provision of sporting, cultural and recreational activities. 
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4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines 

  

Forecast Budget 
Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Animal control fees 743 822 79 10.63 

Infringement and costs 225 275 50 22.22 

Permits 1,288 1,335 47 3.65 

Roads and infrastructure fees 600 600 - 0.00 

Town planning fees 266 362 96 36.09 

Other statutory fees 169 316 147 86.98 

Total statutory fees and fines 3,291 3,710 419 12.73 

     
Statutory fees and fines include fees and fines levied in accordance with legislation, and includes 
animal registrations, Health Act registrations, and building and planning application fees, as well 
as monies received for development contributions. 
 

4.1.3 User fees 

  

Forecast Budget 
Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Aged and health services 153 - (153) (100.00) 

Childcare/children's programs 470 40 (430) (91.49) 

Cultural activities 170 232 62 36.47 

Hanging Rock Reserve fees 540 658 118 21.85 

Leisure centre and recreation 3,626 4,353 727 20.05 

Waste management services  1,915 2,123 208 10.86 

Other 734 272 (538) (66.42) 

Total user fees 7,684 7,678 (6) (0.08) 

     

User fees relate mainly to the charging of fees to users of Council’s services. These include fees 
from leisure and aquatic facilities, arts performances, resource recovery centres, kindergartens 
and home care services.  

In 2023/24, the amount received for childcare and children’s programs is significantly lower, due to 
the introduction of Free Kinder, with grant income now being provided by the Victorian 
Government (reported at Grants). 

Leisure centre and recreation includes a budget that will see services return to full service 
following several years of being impacted by COVID-19. 

Waste management services fees are budgeted to increase in 2023/24. This is due to the review 
of Transfer Stations fees as part of the budget process with the intention to increase fees to a full 
cost recovery model. 

Hanging Rock Reserve fees are higher in 2023/24 as operations return to normal following 
closures resulting from COVID-19. The budget does not include any income from concerts held at 
the East Paddock. 

Refer to Appendix 2 for a complete list of all fees and charges. 
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4.1.4 Grants 
Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget. 

  
Forecast Budget 

Change 
2022/23 2023/24 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Grants were received in respect of the following:       

Summary of grants      
Commonwealth-funded grants 8,009 14,249 6,240 77.91 
State-funded grants  17,264 9,481 (7,783) (45.08) 

Total grants received 25,273 23,730 (1,543) (6.11) 

(a) Operating grants      

Recurrent – Commonwealth Government       
Aged & Disability services 1,774 476 (1,298) (73.17) 
Victorian Grants Commission 2,362 9,369 7,007 296.66 
Recurrent – State Government     
Aged & Disability Services - 4 4 100.00 
Family and children 5,066 6,674 1,608 31.74 
Maternal and child health 632 633 1 0.16 
School crossing supervisors 123 140 17 13.82 
Youth and culture  86 145 59 68.60 
Other  152 155 3 1.97 

Total recurrent grants 10,195 17,596 7,401 72.59 

Non-recurrent – State Government     
Emergency management  1,512 120 (1,392) (92.06) 
Family and children 42 4 (38) (90.48) 
Other  183 62 (121) (66.12) 

Total non-recurrent grants 1,737 186 (1,551) (89.259 

Total operating grants 11,932 17,782 5,850 49.03 

(b) Capital grants      

Recurrent – Commonwealth Government       

Roads to Recovery   1,441  1,441 - 0.00 
Total recurrent grants 1,441 1,441 - 0.00 

Non-recurrent – Commonwealth Government      

Buildings -  1,441 1,441 100.00 
Roads and bridges 2,432 2,022 (410) (16.86) 
Non-recurrent – State Government      
Buildings 700 1,106 406 58.00 
Footpaths and cycleways  2,810 120 (2,690) (95.73) 
Plant and equipment 26 - (26) (100.00) 
Recreational, leisure and community facilities 5,306 988 (4,318) (81.38) 
Other  626 - (626) (100.00) 

Total non-recurrent grants 11,900 5,677 (6,223) (52,29) 

Total capital grants 13,341 7,118 (6,223) (46.65) 

Total grants 25,273 24,900 (373) (1.48) 
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4.1.5 Contributions 

  

Forecast Budget 
Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Monetary 3,536 2,605 (931) (26.33) 

Non-monetary  7,920  7,920  -  0.00 

Total contributions 11,456 10,525 (931) (8.13) 

      
Monetary contributions relate to income from community groups and clubs that contribute 
financially to Council projects that the group or club is involved in. Developers may also make 
monetary contributions to assist Council deliver additional infrastructure that is required to 
service new sub divisions. The income varies from year to year, depending on budgeted 
projects. 
 
Non-monetary contributions are received in the form of gifted assets, such as roads, 
footpaths, drainage and other community facilities, from developers once subdivisions are 
completed. The level of non-monetary contributions varies from year to year, depending on 
the number of subdivisions completed and the timing of their completion. 

4.1.6 Other income 

  

Forecast Budget 
Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Interest 950 910 (40) (4.21) 

Investment property rental 542 529 (13) (2.40) 

Sale of goods and materials 570 568 (2) (0.35) 

Proceeds on sale of plant - 600 600 100.00 

Other 1,883 449 (1,434) (76.16) 

Total other income 3,945 3,056 (889) (22.53) 

     
Other income includes revenue streams from term-deposit investments, property rentals, 
insurance recoveries, and the sale of goods and materials. Income listed above as ‘Other’ 
includes cost recovery from June 2021 storm waste processing which will cease in 2023/24 
and smaller income streams, such as fuel rebates and insurance receipts. 

4.1.7 Employee costs 

  

Forecast Budget 
Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Salaries and wages 37,414 37,838 424 1.13 

Work Cover 401 720 319 79.55 

Superannuation 3,700 3,800 100 2.70 

Fringe benefits tax 330 420 90 27.27 

Total employee costs 41,845 42,778 933 2.23 

     
Employee costs include all employee-related expenditure paid by the employer, including 
wages, allowances, leave, superannuation and fringe benefits tax. 
 

 
Draft for adoption at Council Meeting - 27 September 2023

Page 52



COUNCIL MEETING ATTACHMENTS 27 SEPTEMBER 
2023 

 

Item COR.7 - Attachment 1 Page 274 

  

 

 

Revised Annual Budget 2023/24 

A summary of human resources and full-time equivalent (FTE) expenditure, categorised 
according to the organisational structure of Council, is included in the Budgeted Statement of 
Human Resources in section 3.  
 

4.1.8 Materials and services 

  

Forecast Budget 
Change 

2022/23 2023/24 

$’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Administration 2,424 2,431 7 0.29 

Building maintenance 276 304 28 10.14 

Consultants 2,746 1,962 (784) (28.55) 

Contract payments – parks maintenance 2,210 2,195 (15) (0.68) 

Contract payments – resource recovery 8,873 10,707 1,834 20.67 

Contract payments – other 9,358 6,452 (2,906) (31.05) 

General maintenance 789 824 35 4.44 

Information technology 1,499 1,485 (14) (0.93) 

Insurance 833 924 91 10.92 

Materials and supplies 2,258 2,027 (231) (10.23) 

Utilities 2,272 2,276 (4) (0.18) 

Total materials and services 33,538 31,587 (1,951) (5.82) 

     
Materials and services include the purchase of consumables, and payments to contractors and 
consultants, for the provision of services and utility costs. The level of contractor and 
consultancy expenditure can vary from year to year, depending on the operating projects 
undertaken and changes to key contracts. Administration includes expenditure on items such as 
fuel, training and conferences, rates and charges, and printing, postage and stationery. 
 

4.1.9 Depreciation 

  Forecast Budget 
Change 

 2022/23 2023/24 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Property 2,388 2,213 (175) (7.33) 

Plant and equipment 1,732 2,067 335 19.34 

Infrastructure 11,673 12,359 686 5.88 

Total depreciation 15,793 16,639 846 5.36 

     
Depreciation is an accounting measure that attempts to allocate the value of an asset over its 
useful life. Increases in depreciation are generally a result of increasing asset values through 
capital works. Increases are also due to asset revaluations, which are conducted on a rolling 
program, in line with accounting standards for Council’s property, plant and equipment, including 
infrastructure assets, such as roads and drains. 
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4.1.10 Amortisation – Intangible assets  

  Forecast Budget 
Change 

 2022/23 2023/24 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Software 102 52 (50) (49.02) 

Total amortisation – intangible assets 102 52 (50) (49.02) 

Amortisation is an accounting measure that attempts to allocate the value of an intangible 
asset over its useful life. 

 

4.1.11 Amortisation – Right-of-use assets 

  Forecast Budget 
Change 

 2022/23 2023/24 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Right-of-use assets  357 372 15 4.20 

Total amortisation – right-of-use assets  357 372 15 4.20 

Right-of-use assets are assets that are not owned by Council, but are utilised by Council under 
a lease arrangement. The only right-of-use asset that Council has recorded is the Woodend 
Depot land and buildings, which is under a long-term lease. 

 

4.1.12 Other expenses 

  Forecast  Budget 
Change 

 2022/23 2023/24 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 % 

Auditor fees (Internal and External audit)  125 129 4 3.20 

Councillors' allowances 1 361 371 10 2.77 

Contributions and donations 2,103 1,911 (192) (9.13) 

Other  883 664 (210) (23.78) 

Total other expenses 3,472 3,075 (388) (11.18) 

 

4.1.13 Net asset revaluation increment/decrement 
Net asset revaluation increment/decrement is variable each year, depending on the asset classes 
that are revalued. In 2023/24 and 2024/25, significant asset classes are planned to be revalued, 
which directly impacts the projections in those years. 
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4.2 Balance sheet 

4.2.1 Assets 
Current assets include trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents which 
represents cash held in the bank, and the value of investments with short-term maturities of three 
months or less. 

Non-current assets include property, infrastructure, plant and equipment. Non-current assets are 
the largest component of Council’s worth, and represent the value of all the land, buildings, roads, 
plant and equipment, which have been accumulated over many years. Section 4.5 contains our 
analysis of capital works, and includes further information on 2022/23 capital works projects that 
are indicated as being required to be carried forward to 2023/24. 

The asset balance will increase in 2023/24, due to capital works and purchases that increase the 
total value of Council’s assets. A contribution of assets, such as roads and footpaths from 
developers as part of their subdivisions, also increases the asset value. Asset depreciation partly 
offsets these increases, which reduces asset values as the assets age.  

4.2.2 Liabilities 
Liabilities are classed as current or non-current, depending on when they are expected to be 
repaid. The non-current provisions include discounted accrued long-service leave for employees 
with less than five years of service, and monitoring and remediation works for three closed landfill 
sites. 

4.2.3 Borrowings 
The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the Regulations. 

  Forecast Budget Projections 

 
2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year    3,115   8,510    20,394   20,806   19,151 

Amount proposed to be borrowed    5,603    12,300   1,400  1,900  500 

Amount projected to be redeemed  (208)  (416)  (988)   (3,555)   (1,293) 

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June    8,510    20,394   20,806   19,151   18,358 

 

Borrowings are an important funding source, which enables funding for capital works or other items 
as identified, without adversely affecting Council's liquidity position. Council has committed to 
borrowing an additional $10,000,000 to fund the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct 
project (Stage 1) during 2023/24, while repaying $416,000 of previously committed borrowings. 
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4.2.4 Leases by category 
As a result of the introduction of AASB 16 Leases, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have 
been recognised as outlined in the table below. 

 
Forecast 

2022/23 
Budget 
2023/24 

$’000 $’000 

Right-of-use assets    

Property 282 1,757 

Other, etc. 63 30 

Total right-of-use assets 345 1,787 

Lease liabilities 
 

  
Current lease liabilities    

Land and buildings 220 432 

Other, etc. 40 36 

Total current lease liabilities 260 468 

Non-current lease liabilities 
 

  

Land and buildings 88 1,308 

Other, etc. 36 - 

Total non-current lease liabilities 124 1,308 

Total lease liabilities 384 1,776 

 

Where the interest rate applicable to a lease is not expressed in the lease agreement, Council 
applies the average incremental borrowing rate in the calculation of lease liabilities. The current 
incremental borrowing rate is 4%. 
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4.3 Statement of changes in equity 
4.3.1 Reserves 
Council has allocated funds to reserves for specific purposes. These reserves are either statutory or discretionary reserves. Statutory reserve funds 
must be applied for specified statutory purposes, in accordance with various legislative requirements. Discretionary reserves have been established 
by Council, regarding the future use of these funds. Net reserve movements for 2022/23 are forecast to be a net transfer to reserves of $586,000. 
Amounts to be used from reserves for capital expenditure in 2023/24 are shown below. 

Capital project reserve funding   Total 
Hanging 

Rock 
reserve 

Open 
space 

reserve – 
west 

Open 
space 

reserve – 
east 

Open 
space 

reserve – 
south 

Plant 
replacement 

reserve 

Seniors 
housing 
reserve 

Gisborne 
development 
contribution 

plan 

Gravel Pit 

          

Gisborne Fields stage 5  $281,460       $281,460       

Botanic Gardens   $195,000   $130,000   $65,000       

South Gisborne Willowbank open space 310,000    310,000     

Plant replacement program  $1,225,000          $1,225,000     

Senior housing upgrades $85,000      $85,000   

Kettlewells Road $500,000        $500,000 

Romsey Five Mile Creek bridge design  $27,000    $27,000         

Hanging Rock Visitor Information $40,000 $40,000        

Hanging Rock BBQ $2,500 $2,500        

Black Hill Reserve link and ridge track $95,000  $95,000       

Kyneton Little Athletics relocation $182,000  $182,000       

Repayment of prior year project funding $1,300,000       $1,300,000  

Total reserve transfers      $4,242,960  $42,500  $407,000  $27,000 $656,460  $1,225,000  $85,000 $1,300,000 $500,000 
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Brief summary of the purpose of each reserve 

Reserve Description 

Plant replacement  Funding from plant operations for capital replacements 

Asset conversion  Net proceeds of property sales for capital works projects 

Commercial 
development 

Net proceeds from the sale of industrial/commercial land for 
furthering local employment, and the purchase and development of 
land to be used for industrial/commercial purposes 

Gravel pit operations  Surplus from gravel pit operations for capital works 

Hanging Rock Surplus funding from Hanging Rock operations directed towards 
works at the reserve 

Maintenance of senior 
citizens’ accommodation 

Contributions towards maintenance of seniors’ units 

Debt repayment Annual budget allocation to accumulate the required amount of 
funds to repay the borrowed money when it is due to be repaid 

Public open space  Contributions from subdivisional works for funding of open-space 
projects 

Community facilities  Developer contributions for community infrastructure facilities 

Car parking  Developer contributions for car-parking projects 

Planning roadworks Developer contributions for roadworks 

Drainage  Developer contributions for drainage works 

Gisborne Development 
Contribution Plan  

Includes developer contributions for development works within 
Gisborne 

Romsey Development 
Contribution Plan  

Developer contributions for development works within Romsey 

Planning footpath works Developer contributions for footpath works 
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4.3.2 Equity 
Total equity equals net assets, and is made up of: 

 accumulated surplus, which is the value of all net assets, less reserves that have 
accumulated over time 

 reserves, which are made up of two types:  
1. the asset revaluation reserve, which represents the difference between the previously 

recorded value of assets and their current valuations 
2. other reserves (statutory and discretionary), which are funds that Council wishes to 

separately identify as being set aside to meet a specific purpose in the future, and to 
which there is no existing liability.  

4.4 Statement of cash flows 

4.4.1 Net cash flows provided by or used in operating activities 
Net cash from operating activities in 2023/24 has decreased by $5,282,000, in comparison to the 
2022/23 forecast. This is due to an increase in rates revenue partially offset by a decrease in other 
payments. 

4.4.2 Net cash flows provided by or used in investing activities 
Overall, the level of investing activities is expected to decrease by $29,248,000 in 2023/24, in 
comparison to the 2022/23 forecast. Payments for plant, property and infrastructure is offset by 
proceeds from sale of investments. 

4.4.3 Net cash flows provided by or used in financing activities 
Net cash flow from finance activity is expected to increase by $5,612,000, with a new loan of 
$10,000,000 to fund the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct project (Stage 1). Cash 
outflows are $1,863,000, which is made up of finance costs, repayments of borrowings and lease 
liabilities. See section 4.2.3 for more detail on movements in borrowings. 
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4.5 Capital Works Program 
This section presents a list of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2023/24 year, classified by expenditure type and funding 
source. 

4.5.1 Summary 

  Forecast Budget Change 

  
2022/23 2023/24     

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Property 11,465 3,534 (7,931) (69.18)

Plant and equipment  3,862 2,922 (940) (24.34)

Infrastructure 42,467 21,844 (20,623) (48.56)

Total 57,794 28,300 (29,494) (51.03)

 

 

   Asset expenditure types  Summary of funding sources 

  Project cost  New  Renewal  Upgrade  Expansion  Grants Contrib.  Council cash  Borrowings 

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  $'000  $'000 

Property   3,534 840 2,694 -  -  2,547  - 987 -

Plant and equipment     2,922 237 2,685  -  -  -  - 2,922 -   

Infrastructure  21,844 6,177 14,356 1,311  -  5,571 546 14,427 2,300 

Total  28,300 7,254 19,735 1,311  -  7,118 546 18,336 2,300
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4.5.2 Current budget 

New works 
         

  

Project 
cost 

 Asset expenditure types   Summary of funding sources  

   

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib. 
Council 

cash 
Borrowings 

   $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $'000  $'000 

PROPERTY         

Land        

South Gisborne open space land purchase  310 310 -  -    -  -    -    310  -   

Buildings        

Council building renewal program  1,899 - 1,899  -    -  1,716    -    183  -   

Woodend Community Centre  500 500    -  -    -   500    -    -  -   

Seniors’ housing units renewal program   85  -    85  -    -   -    -     85  -   

Kindergartens renewal 282 - 282 -  -  282  -   -  -   

Kyneton Quarry Reserve Public Toilets Design 30 30 - - - - - 30 - 

Kyneton Town Hall Reimagined 100 - 100 - - 50 - 50 - 

Kyneton Little Athletics Relocation 182 - 182 - - - - 182 - 

Malmsbury Cricket rooms design 75 - 75 - - - - 75 - 

Hanging Rock visitor improvements 40 - 40 - - - - 40 - 

Tony Clarke Reserve oval change rooms 31 - 31 - - - - 31 - 

TOTAL PROPERTY 3,534 530 2,694 -  -  2,548  -   986 - 
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Project 

cost  

 Asset expenditure types   Summary of funding sources  

Capital Works Area  New  Renewal  Upgrade  Expansion  Grants  Contrib.  
Council 

cash  
Borrowings  

   $’000  $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $'000   $'000  

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT            

Plant, machinery and equipment            

Fleet and plant replacement program  1,700  -    1,700  -    -   -    -    1,700  -   

Outdoor pool/aquatic and leisure equipment 
renewal program 

  80 -  80 -  -  -    -     80  -   

Kyneton Town Hall equipment renewal   45 -  45 -  -  -    -     45  -   

Gisborne Aquatic Centre services renewal 560 - 560 - - - - 560 - 

Small tipping truck 70 70 - - - - - 70 - 

Resource Recovery Unit vehicle 57 57 - - - - - 57 - 

Open Space Unit vehicle 55 55 - - - - - 55 - 

Assets & Operations Unit generator 55 55 - - - - - 55 - 

Computers and telecommunications   
   

  
    

Network and computer replacement 
program 

 250  -    250  -    -   -    -   250  -   

Smartphones  25  - 25  -    -   -  -   25  -   

Finance System upgrade   25  -    25  -    -   -    -     25  -   

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  2,922  237  2,685  -    -     -  -   2,922  -   
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Capital Works Area  
 Project 

cost 

 Asset expenditure types   Summary of funding sources  

 New   Renewal   Upgrade   Expansion   Grants   Contrib. 
 Council 

cash  
 Borrowings  

 $’000  $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $'000   $'000  

INFRASTRUCTURE            

Roads            

Bitumen resurfacing program  2,310  -    405  1,905    -  1,441  -   869  -   

Gravel road renewal program  1,103  -   1,103  -    -   -    -   1,103  -   

Minor road stabilisation program  415  -    415  -    -   -    -    415  -   

Kyneton Bluestone Kerb  350  -    350  -    -   -    -    350  -   

Minor traffic management works   57  -    57  -    -   -    -     57  -   

Darraweit-Bolinda Road Intersection  224  -   224 -  -   -    -   224  -   

Minor roadworks unplanned   253  -   253  -    -   -    -   253  -   

Guardrail program   126  -   126 -  -   -    -   126  -   

Road design and planning   400 100 200 100  -   200    -   200  -   

Chanters Lane, Trentham 1,012 - 1,012 - - - 506 506 - 

Hamilton Road, New Gisborne 1,312 - 1,312 - - - - 1,312 - 

Kettlewells Road, Romsey 1,000 - 1,000 - - 500 - 500 - 

Sutherland Road, Clarkefield 612 - 612 - - 612 - - - 

Murphy Street, Romsey 711 - 711 - - 711 - - - 

Three Chain Road 340 - 340 - - - - 340 - 

Echidna Lane (removal) 40 - 40 - - - - 40 - 

Bridges            

Bridge projects 1,413 - 1,413 - - - - 1,413 - 

Five Mile Creek, Romsey footbridge design 27 27 - - - - - 27 - 

Drainage   
   

  
    

Drainage works planned  307 45 217 45  -   -    -   307  -   

Minor drainage works unplanned 200 33 134 33 - - - 200 - 

Capital Works Area    Asset expenditure types   Summary of funding sources  
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 Project 
cost 

 New  Renewal  Upgrade Expansion   Grants  Contrib. 
Council 

cash 
 Borrowings 

 $’000   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $'000  $'000  

Footpaths and cycleways            

Footpath and kerb renewal program  578  -    578  -    -   -    -    578  -   

Footpath construction program  304 304 -  -    -   -    -    304  -   

Pram ramp compliance and safety 
improvements 

 100  -    100  -    -   -    -    100  -   

Black Hill Reserve Link and Ridge Track 95 - 95 - - - - 95 - 

Safety System Pedestrian Program 120 - - 120 - 120 - - - 

Kyneton Tennis Club footpath & drainage 50 - 50 - - - - 50 - 

Recreational, leisure and community 
facilities 

           

Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct 
Stage 1 

 2,400 2,400 -  -    -    -  -   2,400   - 

Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct 
Stage 2 

1,500 1,500 - - - - - - 1,500 

Upgrade sports ground drainage 250  -   - 250  -   -    -   250  -   

Minor capital works 94  -   94  -    -   -    -   94  -   

Leisure and aquatic centres equipment 
renewal 

90  -   90  -    -   -    -   90  -   

Kyneton Showgrounds netball development 300 - 300  -    -  - - 300  -   

Riddells Creek Rec Reserve oval lighting 611 - - 611  -  300 - 311  -   

New Gisborne Tennis Courts lighting 258 129 - 129 - 138 - 120 - 

Dixon Field Master Plan implementation 187 - 187 - - - - 187 - 

Romsey Skate Park 570 570 - - - 550 - 20 - 

Kyneton Cricket Club 20 - - 20 - - - 20 - 

South Gisborne Tennis Club lighting design 15 - - 15 - - - 15 - 

Macedon Tennis Club fencing 120 - 120 - - - 40 80 - 

Parks, open space and streetscapes            

Gisborne Fields landscape plan stage 5 281 281 - - - - - 281 - 

Parks infrastructure renewal program 90  -   90  -    -   -    -   90  -   

Other infrastructure          
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Kerbside bin replacement program  400  -   400  -    -    -    -   400  -   

Kyneton Saleyards improvement works 400 - 400 - - - - 400 - 

Kyneton Transfer Station Biowaste Facility 800 800 - - - - - - 800 

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 21,844 6,177 14,356 1,311  -  4,571 546 14,427 2,300 

TOTAL NEW CAPITAL WORKS 28,300 7,254 19,735 1,311 - 7,118 546 18,336 2,300 

 

2022/23 Carry forward projects 

        

Capital Works Area  
 Project 

cost 

 Asset expenditure types   Summary of funding sources  

New Renewal Upgrade Expansion  Grants Contrib. 
Council 

cash 
Borrowing 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $'000  $'000 

LAND            

South Gisborne Open Space 500 500 - - - - - 500 - 
Gisborne Open Space 250 250 - - - - - 250 - 
TOTAL PROPERTY 750 750 - - - - - 750 - 

INFRASTRUCTURE          

Footpaths and Cycleways            

Macedon Ranges shared trails 6,000 6,000  -   -   -  2,000  -  4,000 - 

Daylesford to Hanging Rock trail 1,500 1,500 - - - 1,000 - 500 - 

Recreational, leisure and community 
facilities 

           

Macedon Ranges regional sports precinct 16,000 16,000 - - - 6,000 - - 10,000 

          

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE 23,500 23,500 -  - - 9,000  -  4,500 10,000 

TOTAL CARRIED FORWARD CAPITAL 
WORKS 2021/22 

24,250 24,250 - -  -  9,000  -  5,250 10,000 

 

1 Reflects material projects identified for carry forward from the 2022/23 financial year at the time of preparing the budget. All final amounts of project carry forwards will be identified post-June 30 2023, when 
all expenditure has been determined for the financial year. Formal approval will then be sought to carry forward these amounts. 
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4.6 Summary of planned capital works expenditure 

For the years ending June 2025, June 2026 and June 2027 

2024/25 

 Asset expenditure types  Funding sources 

Total New Renewal Expansion Upgrade Total Grants Contrib. 
Council 

cash 
Borrowings 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Property              

Buildings 9,785  5,700 4,085  -   -  9,785 5,100 - 3,285 1,400  

Total buildings 9,785  5,700  4,085  -   -  9,785 5,100 - 3,285 1,400  

Total property 9,785  5,700  4,085  -   -  9,785 5,100 - 3,285 1,400  

Plant and equipment              

Plant, machinery and equipment 2,320  -  2,320  -   -  2,320  -   -  2,320  -  

Computers and telecommunications 234  -  234  -   -  234  -   -  234  -  

Total plant and equipment 2,554  -  2,554  -   -  2,554  -   -  2,554  -  

Infrastructure              

Roads 14,088 45 11,932  -  2,111 14,088 7,744 200 6,144 -  

Bridges 430  -  430  -   -  430  -   -  430  -  

Footpaths and cycleways 2,053 968 425  -  660 2,053 722 - 1,331 -  

Drainage 659 49 451  -  159 659  -   -  659  -  

Recreational, leisure and community facilities* 15,614 12,500 2,664  -  450 15,614 14,018 - 1,596 - 

Parks, open space and streetscapes 
 

450 90 245  -  115 450 - - 450  -  

Other infrastructure  100  -   100  -   -   100  -   -   100  -  

Total infrastructure 33,394 13,652 16,247  -  3,495 33,394 22,484 200 10,710 - 

Total capital works expenditure 45,733 19,352 22,886  -  3,495 45,733 27,584 200 16,549  1,400 
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2025/26 

Asset expenditure types Funding sources 

Total New Renewal Expansion Upgrade Total Grants Contributions 
Council 

Cash 
Borrowings 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Property 
 

  
    

  
    

Buildings  9,540  5,200 4,340  -    9,540 8,050  - 90 1,400  

Total buildings  9,540 5,200  4,340   -   -   9,540 8,050  - 4,805  1,400  

Total property  9,540 5,200  4,340   -   -   9,540 8,050  - 4,805   1,400  

Plant and equipment 
 

  
    

  
    

Plant, machinery and equipment  1,625 - 1,625  -  -  1,625  -   -   1,625  -  

Computers and telecommunications  672 -  672   -  -  672  -   -   672  -  

Total plant and equipment  2,297  - 2,297   -   -   2,297   -   -   2,297  -  

Infrastructure              

Roads  9,226  255 6,894  -   2,077   9,226 4,883  250  4,093   -  

Bridges  1,083  -  1,083  -   -   2,430  -  - 1,083  -  

Footpaths and cycleways  2,387  987  500  -   900   2,053 -  900   1,487  -  

Drainage  692  60  512  -   120   659  -   -   692  -  

Recreational, leisure and community facilities  15,930  12,650   2,730  -   550   3,114  14,241  -  1,189  500 

Parks, open space and streetscapes  745  50  520  -   175   450  -   -   745  -  

Other infrastructure  150  -   150  -   -   100  -   -   150  -  

Total infrastructure  30,213  14,002  12,389  -   3,822   18,032 19,124  1,150  9,439   500 

Total capital works expenditure  42,050  19,202  19,026  -   3,822   26,546 27,174  1,150  11,826   500 
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2026/27 

Asset expenditure types Funding sources 

Total New Renewal Expansion Upgrade Total Grants Contributions 
Council 

Cash 
Borrowings 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Property 
 

  
    

  
    

Buildings 8,940 - 8,940  -  - 8,940 4,799 - 3,641 500  

Total buildings 8,940 - 8,940  -   -  8,940 4,799 - 3,641  500  

Total property 8,940 - 8,940  -   -  8,940 4,799 - 3,641  500  

Plant and equipment 
 

  
    

  
    

Plant, machinery and equipment 2,025 - 2,025  -   2,025  -   -  2,025  -  

Computers and telecommunications 310 - 310  -   310  -   -  310  -  

Total plant and equipment 2,335 - 2,335  -   -  2,335   -   -  2,335  -  

Infrastructure              

Roads  9,258 285 6,943  -  2,030  9,258 2,882 480 5,896  -  

Bridges 736 - 736  -   -  736 - - 736  -  

Footpaths and cycleways 1,629 1,046 560  -  23 1,629 - - 1,629  -  

Drainage 717 60 537  -  120 717  -   -  717  -  

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 1,536 - 1,536  -  - 1,536 -  -  1,536 - 

Parks, open space and streetscapes 465 91 260  -  114 465  -   -  465  -  

Other infrastructure 150  -  150  -   -  150  -   -  150  -  

Total infrastructure 14,491 1,482 10,722  -  2,287 14,491 2,882 480 11,129 - 

Total capital works expenditure 25,766 1,482 21,997  -  2,287 25,766 7,681 480 17,105 500 
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4.7. Capital recurring programs and projects  

Building renewal program 2023/24 Total $1,573,000 

Locality Ward Building/program  Details and comments 

Macedon South Macedon Kindergarten Toilet upgrade 

Region Region Council buildings Renew lights with LED’s 

Region Region Council buildings HVAC replacements 

Baynton East Baynton Hall Kitchen refurbishment 

Kyneton West Kyneton Town Hall Emergency exit renewal 

Woodend West Neighbourhood house Renew back entrance ramp 

Gisborne South Gisborne Aquatic Renew pool area rust issues 

Malmsbury West Malmsbury Town Hall Footings and sub floor renewal 

Kyneton West KSAC Sand filter renewal 

Region Region Flag poles Works identified on flag pole renewal 

Gisborne South Gisborne Gym Showers & changeroom renewal 

Macedon South Macedon Mount Players Theatre roof works 

Gisborne South Gisborne Library Internal building works 

Region Region Emergent items Emergent items as required 

 

Design projects 2023/24 Total $321,000 

 Ward Building/program  Details and comments 

Kyneton West KSAC Floor levelling design 

Bolinda East Bolinda Hall Hall upgrade design 

Gisborne South Gisborne Mechanics Hall Roof and window renewal design 

Woodend West Anslow Street public toilet 
Alternative location or refurbishment 
design 

Kyneton West Kyneton Mechanics Institute  Toilets - Renewal design 

Malmsbury West Malmsbury Town Hall Public Toilet - Renewal design 

Region Region Gas BBQ replacements Plan and design 

Kyneton West Hurry Reserve Plan and design 

Region Region Master key system Plan and design a new system 

Lancefield & 
Woodend 

East & West Lancefield and Woodend  Pools - DDA compliance plan and design 

Gisborne South Adventure playground Design future shade sails 

Tylden West Tylden Recreation Reserve Changeroom refurbishment design 

Lancefield East Lancefield Courthouse Investigation into best option for site 
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Demolition projects 2023/24 Total $5,000 

Locality Ward Building/program Details and comments 

Region Region BBQ Removal dilapidated and unused BBQs 

 

Bridge program 2023/24 Total $1,413,000 

Locality Ward Building/program Details and comments 

Region Region Bridge design Design for future bridge renewal 

Baynton East Mission Hill Road Renew culvert 

Baynton East Martins Road Renew culvert 

Darraweit 
Guim 

East Darraweit Valley bridge 
Stakeholder engagement following level 3 
inspection options 

Metcalfe East West Hodge’s bridge Design and investigation 

Lauriston West Lauriston Bridge Timber post and rail fence renewal 

Springhill West Upper Coliban bridge Safety works 

Malmsbury West Ross Street Malmsbury Design and investigation 

 

Footpath program 2023/24 Total $304,341 

Locality Ward Building/program Details and comments 

Gisborne South Howey Street Between Goode Street and Prince Street 

Gisborne South Station Road 
Extend up to Ferrier Road and Primary 
School 

 

Drainage program 2023/24 Total $307,000 

Locality Ward Building/program Details and comments 

Region Region 
Water sensitive urban 
design 

Design of projects across the region 

Lancefield East Dawson Ct & Chauncey St Design and investigation 

Woodend West 
High Street service road 
crossover 

Assess water flow due to bus stop 
diverting water flow 

Woodend West 
Five Mile Creek pumping 
station 

Assessment and upgrade 
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5. Financial performance indicators 
The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators 
provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial position and performance, and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives. 

The financial performance indicators below are the prescribed financial performance indicators contained in Part 3 of Schedule 3 of the Local 
Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. Results against these indicators will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement 
included in the Annual Report. 

 Indicator Measure 

N
o

te
s Actual Forecast Budget  Projections Trend 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 +/o/- 
Operating position            

Adjusted underlying 
result 

Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit)/adjusted underlying 
revenue 

1 (0.3)% (6.8%)  4.2% 4.1%  4.8% 4.4% + 

Liquidity            

Working capital Current assets/current liabilities 2 168.0%  93.2%  81.2% 76.3% 99.3% 105.4% + 

Unrestricted cash Unrestricted cash/current liabilities 3 6.2% 15.9%  7.3% 3.8% 19.8% 32.6% + 

Obligations           

Loans and borrowings Interest-bearing loans and borrowings/rate revenue 4 6.3%  14.7% 32.7% 31.8% 28.2% 26.1% - 

Loans and borrowings 
Interest and principal repayments on interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings/rate revenue 

 1.2% 0.6% 1.6% 2.8% 6.5% 2.9% - 

Indebtedness Non-current liabilities/own source revenue  9.9% 17.3% 32.9% 28.5% 27.7% 25.6% + 

Asset renewal Asset renewal and upgrade expense/asset depreciation 5 87.06% 150.9% 117.6% 129.5% 131.6% 120.9%  o 

Stability            

Rates concentration Rate revenue/adjusted underlying revenue 6 51.2% 64.9% 63.9% 63.7% 63.5% 64.2% + 

Efficiency           

Expenditure level Total expenses/no. of property assessments  $4,576 $3,961 $3,890 $3,973 $4,037 $4,092 - 

Revenue level Total rate revenue/no. of property assessments  $2,336 $2,407 $2,547 $2,637 $2,693 $2,750 + 

 

Key to forecast trend: 
        

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator 
o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady 
- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator 
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1. Adjusted underlying result 

This is an indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable Council to continue to provide core services and meet its objectives.  

2. Working capital 

This is the proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. 

3. Unrestricted cash  

Similar to working capital, this indicator represents Council's ability to meet its short-term commitments, without the need to use funds that are 
earmarked for other purposes.  

4. Debt compared to rates 

This indicator measures the level of Council's total debt as a percentage of rate revenue. Future years’ percentage does increase, but remains in the 
low-risk level of VAGO indicators. 

5. Asset renewal 

This percentage indicates the extent of Council's renewals against its depreciation charge (an indication of the decline in value of its existing capital 
assets). A percentage greater than 100 indicates Council is maintaining its existing assets, while a percentage less than 100 means its assets are 
deteriorating faster than they are being renewed, and future capital expenditure will be required to renew assets. 

6. Rates concentration 

This reflects the extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of Council's ongoing services. 
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6. Proposal to lease Council land  
Section 115 of the Local Government Act 2020 requires a council to include in its budget any 
proposal to lease land (for one year or more) where the rent for any period of the lease is  

 $100,000 or more a year, or,  
 the current market rental value of the land is $100,000 or more a year, or,  
 the lease is for 10 years or more. Council only needs to meet any one of the 3 tests to 

require disclosure.  

The proposed leases set out in the table is in line with our Council Assets – Leasing and Licensing 
Policy 2017. 

Our in-house Senior Valuer provides us with market rental valuations. All rentals proposed to be 
charged are in line with our Council Assets – Leasing and Licensing Policy. 

The Interpretation of Legislation Act 1984 defines land as “includes buildings and other structures 
permanently affixed to land, land covered with water, and any estate, interest, easement, 
servitude, privilege or right in or over land”. 

Tenant Proposed 
term 

Permitted use Annual Market 
Rental Valuation 
(excluding GST) 

Proposed 
Annual 
Rental 

(including 
GST) 

Powercor 
Australia 

30 years Community sport, 
recreation and 
associated 
purposes agreed 
to by Council. 

$0 $0.10 
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Appendix 1. Summary of new initiatives 

No. Department New initiative description Category Ongoing  

1 Children, Youth and Family Services  Early Years Workforce Recruitment and 
Retention Team Leader 

NS Yes 

2 Engineering and Resource Recovery Transfer Station Attendants NS Yes 

3 Safer Communities Senior Proceedings and Permit Officer NS Yes 

4 Engineering and Resource Recovery Water Sensitive Urban Design Officer  NS No 

5 Emergency Management Emergency Management Claims Officer NS Yes 

6 Strategic Planning and Environment Sustainability Officer NS Yes 

7 Open Space and Recreation Coordinator Arboriculture NS Yes 

8 Facilities Management & Operations Leisure Facilities Manager – MRRSP NS YEs 

9 Facilities Management & Operations Program Administrator – MRRSP NS Yes 

10 Facilities Management & Operations Program Supervisor – MRRSP  NS Yes 

11 Strategic Planning and Environment Significant Roadside Vegetation Signage NP No 

12 Economic Development and Visitor 
Economy 

Macedon Ranges Autumn Festival NP Yes 

13 Open Space and Recreation Landscape Design Guidelines NP No 

14 Engineering and Resource Recovery  RC Network Study NP No 

15 Community Strengthening Recognition Days NP Yes 

16 Information Systems Risk Management Solution NP No 

17 Project Management Office Asset Capture NP Yes 

18 Community Wellbeing Senior Citizens Clubs Transition Project NP No 

19 Information Services Review MRSC Physical Record Holding NP Yes 

20 Engineering and Resource Recovery Shoulder Lip Removal – Sealed Roads NP Yes 

21 Facilities and Operations MRRSP – Operating Budget 2023/24 NP Yes 

22 Community Strengthening New Reconciliation Action Plan NP No 

23 Information Services New Cadastral Data Model NP No 

24 Children, Youth and Family Services Lancefield Kinder/MCH – new Furniture NP No 

25 Information Services Cloud Backup solution NP No 

26 Strategic Planning and Environment Development plan reports NP Yes 

27 Information Services Asset Management System Review NP Yes 

28 Strategic Planning and Environment Bushland Reserve Tree Hazard NP Yes 

29 Open Space and Recreation Review – Gisborne Botanic Gardens MP NP No 

30  Engineering and Resource Recovery Traffic Works NP Yes 

31 Engineering and Resource Recovery Operational Maintenance Grading Increase NP Yes 

32 Information Services Improving Digital Engagement NP Yes 

33 People and Wellbeing Risk Department Budget NP Yes 

34 Information Services Organisational Reporting NP No 

35 Information Services ICT Disaster Recovery Program NP Yes 

36 Engineering and Resource Recovery  Flood Modelling (Co-funded with MWC) NP No 

37 Engineering and Resource Recovery Flood Study assessment, Lancefield NP No 

38 Open Space and Recreation 
Botanic Gardens New Irrigation - Malmsbury, 
Kyneton and Gisborne 

NP Yes 

39 Strategic Planning and Environment Barringo Reserve – Protect Cultural Heritage NP Yes 

  Total net cost of new initiatives ($,000) $2,056  

 

Note: Category: New project (NP) and new staff position or additional staff hours (NS). 
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1. INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Purpose and scope of master plan 

The purpose of the study is to produce a plan to guide the future redevelopment of Ross Watt Reserve (the reserve), located off Station Rd in 
New Gisborne. The objectives of the master plan are to: 
• Identify the current and future role of the reserve and review its attributes and condition. 
• Assess the demand from and needs of the local residents, community groups and other stakeholders for the spaces and facilities at the 

reserve. 
• Review the attributes and condition of the reserve. 
• Examine the merits of the New Gisborne Tennis Club’s (NGTC) development proposal for a 6 court tennis facility at Ross Watt Reserve. 
• Make recommendations about the design of the redeveloped tennis facility that should be considered for provision at Ross Watt Reserve 

– number of courts, surface type/s, location, pavilion design, parking, ancillary spaces etc.  
• Identify other facility development needs/opportunities/priorities at the reserve. 
• Prepare concept and action/works plans which describe, give priority to and provide cost estimates for the recommended works at the 

reserve. 
 
1.2 Project methodology 

The methodology for the development of the master plan was divided into eight related stages:  
• Stage 1 - Project Definition Meeting: meetings were held with Council’s project managers to discuss the background to and confirm the 

objectives of the master planning process and get their views on the improvements that are needed at the reserve.  
• Stage 2 - Literature Review: Council and external strategy documents that have relevance to Ross Watt Reserve were reviewed.  
• Stage 3 - Analysis of Demographic Projections: Relevant leisure and demographic trends were analysed and their implications for the 

future development of the reserve were identified.  
• Stage 4 - Audit of Existing Conditions/Use: The existing conditions at and use of the reserve were described.  
• Stage 5 - Consultation: NGTC and relevant Council officers were consulted about the role and attributes of the reserve and the 

improvements needed at the reserve.  
• Stage 6 - Draft Report: The findings of the previous stages were documented in a draft report and concept master plan.  
• Stage 7 - Public Consultation / Review:  Council, NGTC and the local community reviewed the report and master plan and suggested 

amendments were noted.  
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• Stage 8 - Final Report: The draft report and preliminary master plan were amended in response to the feedback. A final report and master 
plan were then produced.  

 
1.3 NGTC’s redevelopment proposal 

NGTC is proposing a five part redevelopment plan for the tennis facility at Ross Watt Reserve. These parts are as follows (note: cost estimates 
provided by club): 
• New light towers for Courts 1 and 2. Timing: Urgent, 0-1 year. Est. cost $450-550k  
• Stage 1: New 2-court enclosure, close Courts 3 and 4. Timing Urgent, 1-2 years. Est. cost $450-550k 
• Stage 2a: Renew/reconstruct Courts 1 and 2 in existing location. Timing 2-3 years. Est. cost $350-450k 
• Stage 2b: New clubhouse. Combine with Stage 2a (preferred) or separate project. Est. cost $150-250k 
• Stage 3: Further option to extend courts to the east. Timing: Longer term. Est. cost $450-550k 
 
Figure 1 – NGTC’s proposed redevelopment plan for the tennis facility at Ross Watt Reserve 
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2. LITERATURE REVIEW 
2.1 Documents  

The following documents were reviewed in regards to Ross Watt Reserve to assist with identifying improvements as well as strengthening existing 
use opportunities and ensuring the master plan aligns with existing strategies and plans: 
 
Macedon Ranges Shire Council documents  
• Council Plan 2021-2031 and Annual Action Plan 2022-2023   
• Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2021-2025  
• Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2018-2028 
• Walking and Cycling Strategy 2014-2024 
• Environment Strategy 2021 
• Biodiversity Strategy 2018 
• Domestic Animals Management Plan 2021-2025 
• Public Toilet and Barbecue Strategy draft 2022 
• Disability Action Plan 2021-2025 
• Elevate – Youth Strategy 2018-2028 
• Participate – Positive Ageing Strategy 2020-2025 
• New Gisborne Development Plan 2015 
• Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct Master Plan 
• Dixon Field Redevelopment Master Plan 2022 
• New Gisborne Tennis Facility Condition Audit 2018 
• Open Space Strategy 2022 (draft, in development) 
 
New Gisborne Tennis Club (NGTC) Documents  
• New Gisborne Tennis Club Staged Development Master Plan Rev 2022 
 
Tennis Victoria/Australia 
• National Facilities Framework: Tennis Australia 2020 
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• Tennis Facility Planning Guide: Tennis Victoria 2010 
 
2.2 Alignment with master plan 

The documents contain the following information which aligns with the development of the Ross Watt Reserve Master Plan (see Appendix A for 
a more detailed analysis of the documents): 
• Council’s vision, themes, strategic objectives and priorities for the period 2021-2031 and its action plan for 2022/23.  
• A strategic framework for improving the health and wellbeing of the Macedon Ranges community.  
• Council’s key objectives for sport and recreation and the actions it will take to achieve these objectives.  
• A plan for increasing walking and cycling opportunities in the Shire and promoting healthy active lifestyles.  
• The actions Council will take to conserve, protect and enhance the local natural environment and biodiversity values across the Shire.  
• A framework for the planning, development and evaluation of animal management services and programs delivered by Macedon Ranges 

Shire Council (MRSC).  
• A plan for the future provision of public toilet and BBQ facilities in the Shire.  
• The approach Council will take to working with young people, parents, schools, workplaces, service providers and other levels of 

government to enhance the lives young people in the Shire.  
• The actions Council will take to help residents age healthily, with dignity and as part of the community.  
• A development framework for the new residential growth area to the west of Station Rd, New Gisborne.  
• A development master plan for the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct  
• A redevelopment master plan for Dixon Field in Gisborne.  
• NGTC’s staged redevelopment proposal for the tennis facility at Ross Watt Reserve.  
• A condition audit for the NGTC’s facility at Ross Watt Reserve.  
• Tennis Australia’s and Victoria’s facility guidelines/standards for community tennis clubs. 
• A classification system and standards for open space provision in Macedon Ranges Shire (MRS) and an audit of open space by local area 

(draft). 
 
2.3 Implications for master plan  

The master plan for Ross Watt Reserve should: 
• Be consistent with and aim to achieve the vision, mission, strategic objectives and priorities outlined in the Council Plan.  
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• Aim to achieve the key goals and actions outlined in the Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan that relate to Ross Watt Reserve; 
these being universal access, provision of accessible carparks and improved provision of public toilets. 

• Be consistent with the principles outlined in the Recreation Strategy and aim to achieve the objectives and implement the key actions of 
the Strategy; these being: 
- Promoting the shared use of facilities 
- Where feasible, improving the capacity of and renewing existing facilities before developing new facilities    
- Giving priority to servicing local recreation needs 
- Considering the redevelopment options for NGTC. 

• Consider providing suitable facilities for walking and cycling.  
• Assess the environmental values of Ross Watt Reserve and, if present, protect these values. 
• Assess the biodiversity values of the reserve and, if present, protect these values. 
• Consider the concept of providing a fenced in dog area. 
• Assess the condition of the public toilet block and, if required, make recommendations about its refurbishment.   
• Consider opportunities to make the reserve more physically accessible.  
• Assess how the reserve can be redeveloped to provide more recreation opportunities for young people.  
• Assess how the reserve can be redeveloped to be more accessible and welcoming of and provide more recreation opportunities for older 

people.   
• Assess the need for more vegetation in the reserve and make provision for more native vegetation, if required. 
• Examine how it can help to satisfy the open space needs of the New Gisborne Development Plan area.   
• Examine the issue of whether the NGTC tennis facility should be upgraded and additional facilities provided.  
• Consider the feasibility of implementing NGTC’s redevelopment proposal for the tennis facility at the reserve.  
• Consider TA’s and TV’s facility guidelines/standards when framing recommendations about the redevelopment of the tennis facility at the 

reserve.  
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3. ROSS WATT RESERVE (THE RESERVE)  
3.1 Location and elements 

Ross Watt Reserve is a 3.3ha reserve located off Station Rd in New Gisborne – dimensions 270m deep X 122m wide. It is a passive/active 
recreation reserve and consists of grassed areas, seats/tables/benches, gravel carpark, playground, toilet block, tennis pavilion, tennis courts 
(4), open drains, BMX humps and rows of cypress trees. The reserve is bounded by Station Rd to the west and residential properties to the 
north, east and south. The reserve is used by the local community for informal play and passive activities such as walking for pleasure and 
exercise, contemplation and family/community gatherings. A section of the park is a dog off leash area (unfenced). The carpark in the reserve is 
used by people visiting the park and parents dropping off and collecting children who attend a nearby primary school. The reserve is classified 
in Council’s Open Space Strategy (Draft) as a community level, social and recreation reserve. 
 
Figure 2 – Ross Watt Reserve, Component elements 
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3.2 Open space context 

Ross Watt Reserve is one of five open space reserves in New Gisborne. The other reserves have a range of functions and values – from major 
sporting through to biodiversity protection. 
 
Figure 3 – Open Space Reserves 
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3.3 Community facility context 

Ross Watt Reserve is located within one kilometre of five community facilities, including two schools and a childcare centre.  
 
Figure 4 – Locations of community infrastructure  
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3.4 Potential public tennis court developments in Gisborne 

The master plan for the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct (located in 
New Gisborne) makes provision for eight dedicated tennis courts, two multi-lined 
tennis/netball courts and a central pavilion which would cater for two playing fields 
and the tennis facility. No timeline has been set for the construction of the courts 
and pavilion and no allocation has been made for these works in Council’s Capital 
Works Plans. 
 
The master plan for Dixon Field in Gisborne makes provision for the renewal of 
four of the existing eight tennis courts at the reserve and the provision of four new 
courts and a shared croquet/tennis pavilion. The master plan indicates that the 
provision of the four new courts would be dependent upon no net increase in the 
number of club tennis courts in the Gisborne area, i.e., four courts would need to 
close elsewhere in Gisborne for the Dixon Field courts to potentially proceed. 
 
Note: Council’s Active Recreation Strategy confirms this position stating that, in 
relation to tennis, the emphasis should be on improving existing facilities in order 
to maximise existing usage opportunities, rather than additional court provision, 
including resurfacing and lighting of existing courts. 
 
3.5 Land use and nearby development 

Ross Watt Reserve is zoned PPRZ and has a development contributions overlay. 
The established residential area to the immediate north of the reserve has a design 
and development overlay. The Marshland Racecourse Reserve to the south west 
and the area to the north of Racecourse Reserve is a designated bushfire prone 
area. A new residential development area is situated to the west of the reserve. 
This development is anticipated to yield around 350 dwellings and provide 7ha of 
open space – a 1.2ha park on the southern tip of the development area and 5.8ha 
of encumbered land for drainage. The Development Plan for the area (New Gisborne Development Plan (2015), (see Figure 5) anticipates that a  

Figure 5 – New Gisborne Development Plan 
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small neighbourhood activity centre (NAC) with cafés and small convenience store will be constructed on Station Rd directly opposite the Ross 
Watt Reserve. 
 
3.6 Gisborne Structure Plan  

MRSC is currently preparing a Structure Plan for Gisborne (see Figure 6). The Plan indicates that township growth will be focussed on New 
Gisborne. Five residential investigation areas to the west, east and north of New Gisborne have been endorsed by Council for possible future 
township expansion. Dwelling and population yields are not available for the areas but it is thought that the expanded New Gisborne Township 
may have the potential to treble in population size. The Structure Plan is also examining whether it is economically viable to have two activity 
centres in New Gisborne (including the proposed activity centre opposite Ross Watt Reserve) or whether the focus should be on creating only 
one activity centre near the train station.  
 
Figure 6 – New Gisborne: Potential Development Areas  
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3.7 Existing condition/site analysis 

The site analysis for Ross Watt Reserve indicated the following (also see Figure 5): 
• The reserve is bounded by Monterey Cypress Trees. A diagonal row of Willow Peppermint trees span the western half of the reserve from 

near Station Rd to the public toilets. The southern section has clumps of English Oak and the Station Rd frontage has several Monterey 
Pine Trees in amongst the Cypress trees. The trees are healthy and in good condition. 

• There are attractive view lines into the western half of the reserve from Station Rd. 
• The reserve has at least 1.5-2 metre diagonal fall from the south-east corner to the north-west corner of the tennis courts. The fall continues 

further west to Station St of another 1.5 metres. 
• There are two formal entry points to the reserve – off Station Rd and Thom St. Both points are fairly bland and basic. Pedestrians can also 

enter the reserve through the trees along the Station Rd frontage. There are no entry points through the northern and eastern boundaries. 
• There is a medium size gravel carpark off Station Rd (25-30 cars). The carpark serves the tennis facility, the playground and dog off leash 

area. The carpark has some minor potholes but drains well and is in good condition. 
• There are a number of signs in the reserve – e.g., a reserve name sign at the entrance, a non-smoking sign at the playground, a club 

name sign on the tennis court fence. The signs are not visually obtrusive but are inconsistent in style. 
• The reserve is surrounded on three sides by timber paling fencing. Some sections of the fence are new and in good condition. Some 

sections are old and dilapidated. The carpark is ringed by bollard fencing. There are also some bollards near the tennis facility. This fencing 
is in good condition. The tennis pavilion and shelter are enclosed by a high chain wire fence. The fence is in good condition but the area 
is unsightly. 

• There are two relatively short sections of path in the reserve – the sand path connecting the Thom St and Station Rd entry points and 
passing the playground and toilet block and the sand/gravel path from the carpark to the tennis facility. The paths are in good condition. 
There is a worn track under the trees along the north eastern side of the reserve. 

• Sections of the reserve are poorly drained. The reserve’s heavy clay soil profile, lack of scattered trees within the main usable areas and 
minor undulations to the eastern portion contribute to the poor drainage. The four tennis courts are slightly terraced above the surrounding 
ground level to provide some drainage relief. 

• There are two open swale drains in the reserve – along the northern edge of the reserve and west of the tennis facility. Some sections of 
the drains are deep and unsightly. Water also ponds in some areas. There are no grated pits to drain the open drains into an underground 
drainage system.  

• There are six items of park furniture in the reserve – tables and benches. They are ageing but in good condition and suitably located near 
the play area. 
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• The playground in the reserve is reasonably large, well spread-out and in good condition. It is fairly basic with five fabricated pieces.  
• The toilet block is ageing but in good condition. The tennis pavilion is small but in good condition.  
• Two tennis courts are in good condition but have no lights.  
• Two courts have lights but the surface is water damaged and unplayable. The tennis club received funding to install LED light fittings on 

the existing metal halide light towers at courts 3 and 4, however the project was unable to proceed and funding was redirected to undertake 
the Ross Watt Reserve master plan as well as develop a lighting plan to install LED lights on courts 1 and 2 which are currently not lit. 

 
3.8 Audit of reserve against facility standards in Draft Open Space Strategy 2022 

The Draft Open Space Strategy (DOSS) provides a classification system and set of standards for open space. Ross Watt Reserve is classed as 
community level, social recreation reserve. Community level reserves are described in the DOSS as providing a moderate level of service, 
intended to cater for occasional high levels of use or very regular visitation by lower numbers of users. They are designed to cater for 
residents/visitors that live in the town and surrounding rural areas. Social recreation reserves are described as having multiple functions like 
playgrounds, gardens, picnic facilities, event spaces, skate parks, exercise stations, walking paths and more. They meet the needs of multiple 
user groups with opportunities for play, social gatherings, exercise and unstructured sports with designs that bring people of all ages, interests 
and abilities together. They often have amenity and environmental values.  
 
The DOSS prescribes a set of standards for social recreation reserves. Table 1 provides an audit of the Ross Watt Reserve against these 
standards.  
 
Table 1 – Audit of Ross Watt Reserve against draft open space standards  

Item  Draft Open Space Strategy Standard  Current Situation at Ross Watt Reserve  

Frontages  At least one road frontage, preferably multiple frontages  One road frontage, 2 entry points      

Connectivity Pedestrian cycle access to shared trails or other streets  Pathway connection to neighbouring streets  

Activity nodes Allowance for at least two activity nodes like a playground 
and picnic area      

Two nodes – tennis facility and play area  

Access roads Permitted, sealed, kept to a minimum    Not sealed. Only a very short section of access road. 
Opens directly into carpark  

BBQs A maximum of 2 BBQs and picnic settings   Not provided  
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Item  Draft Open Space Strategy Standard  Current Situation at Ross Watt Reserve  

Bike racks  Provide where required to meet demand   Not provided  

Car parking  Onsite and unsealed  Provided on site, not sealed  

Dog off leash (fenced) Permitted where required  Eastern section of reserve allocated as dog off leash area. 
Not fenced   

Dog bag dispensers  At entrances   Not provided  

Dog signage At entrances  Not provided  

Drinking fountains  1 unit per ha, up at a maximum of 5. Locate with picnic 
shelters, playspace and BBQ areas  

Not provided 

Entrance sign  Standard quality on main entrances   Provided at Station Rd. Not at Thom St  

Exercise equipment  1 item per ha to a max of 10 items per park  Not provided 

Perimeter fencing and 
barriers   

Standard quality  Paling fences shared with houses fully around three edges 

Garden beds  Permitted. Mixed shrub gardens around entrances, 
buildings and activity nodes 

Not provided 

Interpretive signs  Permitted where appropriate Not provided 

Lighting  Permitted to make areas safer Not provided 

Events use – power Permitted where appropriate Not provided 

Paths  Primary path sealed. All others unsealed   A diagonal short path between reserve entrances and from 
carpark to tennis pavilion. Not sealed  

Picnic setting High quality setting per 0.5ha, no more than 8 per site. 
Locate with activity nodes etc. 

Some benches and tables. Located near playground     

Playgrounds District playground with numerous play elements. Natural 
materials and themes are preferred  

Good size play area. Only five items – all fabricated. No 
natural elements     

Public art  Provided where appropriate. High quality art installations    Not provided 

Rubbish bins Standard quality at activity nodes, playgrounds, picnic 
areas and entrances   

Two bins provided  
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Item  Draft Open Space Strategy Standard  Current Situation at Ross Watt Reserve  

Seats Standard quality at activity nodes, playgrounds, picnic 
areas and entrances   

Some seats provided at tennis facility and near playground 

Shelters Permitted where appropriate. Size of shelter to match scale 
of park. 

Shelter provided in tennis facility. No shelter in the general 
reserve   

Trees Maximise shade over playgrounds and activity nodes   Some good shade from high cypress trees. Large areas of 
the reserve have no shade  

Public toilet  Permitted as per public toilet strategy  Provided 

Social recreation amenities/ 
structures 

Permitted, youth space, hit up wall/half court   Not provided 

BMX/Pump track   Provided where required to meet demand  Provided but overgrown  

Skatepark Permitted where appropriate, considered for sites over 4ha   Not provided  
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Figure 7 – Existing Conditions/Site Analysis Plan 
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paling fencing. Some new sections, some old and 
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7 Two relatively short sections of path in the 
reserve. The paths are in good condition. 

8 Two swale drains in the reserve. Sections of the 
drains are comparatively deep and unsightly.  

9 Sections of the reserve are poorly drained.  

10 Six items of park furniture in the reserve – ageing 
but in good condition and suitably located near 
the play area. 

11 Playground in the reserve is reasonably large, 
well spread-out and in good condition. It is fairly 
basic with only five fabricated pieces.  

12 Toilet block is ageing but in good condition.  
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no lights. Two courts have lights but are water 
damaged and unplayable due to poor drainage. 

14 Tennis pavilion is small but in good condition. 
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to the north-west corner of the tennis courts.  
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Photo Audit 
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Small and basic clubhouse Good surface but no lights Wet and damaged courts – but good lights 

Drainage issue near the courts   

 

Some BMX humps 

 

 

 

A grassed area  
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4. LEISURE TRENDS/DEMOGRAPHICS 
4.1 Leisure trends 

4.1.1 General 

There are several general passive recreation trends which should be taken into consideration when developing the master plan. These are as 
follows: 
• Adults are remaining fitter and more active until later in life. This is leading to more participation in and frequent use of open space reserves 

for walking, relaxation and social activities.  
• More people are choosing to recreate in informal and unstructured ways. As a consequence, activities such as jogging and walking in 

parks for exercise and pleasure are becoming more prevalent. Parks (including passive spaces) are increasingly being used by organised 
exercise groups (boot camps etc).  

• The rate of pet ownership, particularly as companion animals for older adults, is increasing. Exercising dogs in parks, especially at reserves 
with open grassed areas like Ross Watt Reserve, has become a popular activity.  

• Local Councils are increasingly redesigning and adapting their facilities and open space areas to ensure they are environmentally 
sustainable and promote universal access, i.e., solar lighting, water capture and reuse, accessible to people of all ages and abilities.  

 
4.1.2 Sport played at Ross Watt Reserve (tennis)  

The following design and participation trends relating to tennis should also be taken into consideration. 
• Club tennis reached the peak of its popularity in Victoria in the 1960s to 1980s. It was primarily a summer sport and mainly played during 

the day on Saturdays and weekdays. Most of the Saturday competitions were mixed events and the weekday competitions were ladies’ 
events. The preferred playing surface in metropolitan areas was red porous (en-tout-cas). Facilities were generally comprised of two to 
four courts with small clubhouses. Most courts were unlit. Many clubs were associated with local churches and schools. Most clubs 
engaged coaches on a payment or voluntary basis to train junior players. Tennis facilities were normally open to the public for a nominal 
hire fee. 

• Tennis has transformed dramatically over the last two decades. Junior tennis is still played on Saturday mornings and Friday nights but is 
now held all year round. Sunday mornings are also used by some associations for juniors. Senior weekend and weekday tennis has lost 
popularity because of changing work patterns and the growth of indoor, less time consuming sports. Night tennis has increased in 
popularity. Intra-club tournaments for senior players have become more popular at the expense on inter-club tournaments. Clubs often 
enter into formal arrangements with professional tennis coaches to provide lessons across all age groups.  
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• Red porous remains the players’ preferred playing surface but is gradually being replaced by acrylic resin and synthetic grass/clay. These 
surfaces are seen as less costly and time consuming to maintain, can be used in all weather conditions and use little water. Churches and 
to a lesser extent school clubs still exist but the majority of new clubs are now based around local suburban areas.  

• The financial positions of many clubs throughout Victoria are declining due to falling membership numbers and increasing 
maintenance/upgrade costs. Conversely, some clubs have strengthened their financial positions through lighting all their courts and hosting 
night tennis and/or providing court surface types which are less costly to maintain and more appealing to casual/social players (acrylic 
resin and synthetic grass/clay).  

 

4.2 Demographics 

For this assessment, the catchment area served by the reserve is the New Gisborne area and demographic information is based on the latest 
Census year (2021). Some notable demographic characteristics and trends of New Gisborne are as follows: 
• A population of 2,509 in 2021 – up from 2,387 in 2016. (source: ABS census) 
• A population that is getting older – median age increasing from 36 years in 2011 to 41 years in 2021, child population as a proportion of 

the total population declining from 18.3% in 2011 to 13.2% in 2021. 
• A population that is still younger than Macedon Ranges overall (average age 41 years compared to 43 years).   
• Middle adult population as a proportion of the total population increasing significantly between 2011 and 2021 (25.6% up to 30.0%).  
• An average household size bigger than Macedon Ranges overall (2.9 to 2.7). 
• Higher proportion of couple with children households than Macedon Ranges (53% to 47%).  
 
Table 2 – Demographic characteristics: New Gisborne 

Characteristic New Gisborne Macedon Ranges 
LGA 

 2011 2016 2021 2021 

Est. population 2380 2387 2509 51458 

Median age (years) 36 39 41 43 

Child population (0-9 years) as % of total population  18.3 15.9 13.2 12.8 

Youth population (10-19 years) as % of total population 16.4 15.1 13.5 13.4 
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Characteristic New Gisborne Macedon Ranges 
LGA 

 2011 2016 2021 2021 

Young adult population (20-39 years) as % of total 
population   

22.8 20.3 18.7 19.0 

Middle adult population (40-59 years) as % of total 
population     

25.6 29.2 30.0 29.1 

Older middle adult population (60-69 years) as % of total 
population   

9.4 9.1 8.5 12.6 

Older adult (70+) as % of total population  9.4 9.1 8.5 12.6 

Ave household size (persons) 3.1 2.9 2.9 2.7 

Median weekly household income ($)  1634 1810 2279 2059 

Lone person households 14 16 17 20 
 
Council’s population forecasts (ID) are projecting that the Gisborne District’s population size, household and dwelling numbers will increase over 
the next 14 years by 5,266, 1,883 and 1,979 respectively (see Table 3). No separate figures are available for New Gisborne but the forecasts are 
based, in part, on New Gisborne accommodating at least 820 new dwellings by 2036 (2,300 people). 
 
Table 3 – Population, household and dwelling projections: Gisborne District (ID) 

Item  2016 2023 2031 2036 +/- 2023 and 2036 

Total population  13345 14904 17373 20170 5266 

Households   4617 5235 6161 7118 1883 

Dwellings  4853 5493 6465 7472 1979 

Ave household size (persons  2.83 2.81 2.78 2.80 -0.01 

 
The forecasts indicate that, over the next 14 years, all the age cohorts in Gisborne District will increase significantly. The child cohort (0-9 years) 
will remain the largest and increase the most numerically. The 80+ age cohort will increase the most proportionally. 
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Table 4 – Population projections, 10 year age cohorts, Gisborne District (ID) 

Age cohort years  2023 2031 2036 +/- 2023 and 2036 +/- %  

0-9  2180 2551 3058 878 40.3 

10-19 2248 2606 3010 762 33.9 

20-29 1207 1425 1701 494 40.9 

30-39  1725 1985 2393 668 38.7 

40-49 2213 2597 3018 805 36.4 

50-59 2073 2345 2679 606 29.2 

60-69 1534 1813 2061 527 34.4 

70-79 1103 1155 1328 225 20.4 

80+ 621 896 922 301 48.5 

 14904 17373 20170 5266 35.3 
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4.3 Implications for master plan 

The implications of the demographic and leisure trends for the master plan are as follows: 
• The growing population of New Gisborne will generate additional demand for the facilities and open space areas in Ross Watt Reserve.  
• Member numbers at NGTC will grow and increase the demand on the tennis facility at the reserve.  
• The ageing of the local community and the growing popularity of activities such as walking for exercise and strolling will increase demand 

for the passive recreation facilities in New Gisborne. This will heighten the need for improvements to passive recreation spaces – improved 
drainage, installation of park furniture, the provision of more shade and shelter, construction of walking paths etc. These improvements 
should be considered for provision at Ross Watt Reserve, where feasible.  

• The growing popularity of dog walking will create demand for suitable dog facilities in the reserve. 
• New Gisborne’s child population will continue to grow, generating more demand for the play facilities in Ross Watt Reserve.  

 
Note: The ID population forecasts do not factor in the new residential investigation areas proposed in the Gisborne Structure Plan (draft). As 
mentioned in Section 3.4 of this report, five residential investigation areas have been proposed for New Gisborne which, if realised, could treble 
New Gisborne’s population. This would substantially increase the demand for Ross Watt Reserve and other open space areas in New Gisborne. 
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5. CONSULTATION 
5.1 New Gisborne Tennis Club 

The Tennis Club was asked to provide information on the following: 
• The history of the Tennis Club – when it started, where it played, its membership numbers over the years? 
• The history of the tennis facilities at Ross Watt Reserve – when were they built, who paid for them, who constructed them? 
• Player numbers over the past 10 years broken down into junior and senior and male and female.  
• The competitions the Club currently participates in and how this has changed over the past 10 to 20 years. 
• The programs offered at the Club and its future aims. 
• The maintenance regimes for the Club’s facilities – who maintains what etc.? 
• The Club’s facility needs and proposed redevelopment plan for the tennis facility at Ross Watt Reserve. 
• The viability of the Club and its capacity to contribute to capital development. 
• How could facilities at the reserve be improved (not just the tennis facilities)? 
 
The Club’s responses were as follows  
• The Club started in the early 1980s. It was formed by a small group of local residents at a meeting at the New Gisborne Children’s Hall. 

The Club played for several years on private courts and a converted netball court at the New Gisborne Primary School. Player numbers 
continued to grow with local interest and support. 

• The Ross Watt Reserve site was donated to the Shire Council on the understanding that a private school would be built on the site. The 
school idea was abandoned and the land was leased out as a horse stud farm. The lease expired and there was an opportunity for the 
land to be turned into a community reserve. Most of the facilities such as the toilet block, pathway through the reserve, tree planting and 
car parking were provided through this period with the support of Council. 

• A New Gisborne community group formed a committee of management and the reserve was named Ross Watt Recreation Reserve in 
honour of Blanche Muriel Eugénie Ross-Watt. Among many achievements, Mrs Ross-Watt was elected to the Gisborne Shire Council in 
1925. Two years later she was one of the initial group of fourteen women to be appointed justices of the peace in Victoria. When she was 
elected shire president in 1931, newspaper reports referred to her as the first woman to hold this office in the State and she again served 
as president in 1939. Appointed O.B.E. in 1949, Mrs Ross Watt retired from the council in 1950. 

• The reserve was identified as a potential location for the Tennis Club. Council supported this notion. The original courts were funded via 
a joint funding arrangement between the State Government, Council and the Club. The original courts were asphalt and completed in 
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1985. The Club funded and erected the small clubhouse. Several years later, the asphalt surface was converted to mod-grass and two 
new courts were added. Lighting was erected in 2005. 

• Member numbers in 2012 were around 50-70. From about 2016-2017, there was steady drop off in membership numbers as several mid-
week adult teams ceased playing and were not replaced. At the same time, the junior coaching program fell away. By 2018, membership 
numbers dropped to about 20 with a single ladies mid-week team and no junior teams. The Club engaged a new junior coach which has 
built junior players. Current member numbers is 78 – approximately 50/50 split between adults and juniors. 

• The Club was primarily focussed on adult competition until 2012, particularly on weekends (Saturday). Since then, the Saturday 
competition has fallen in participation with mid-week night tennis the strong preference. Until around 5 years ago, the Club had several 
adult mid-week night teams participating in local competition, but this has fallen to a single team. The reason is that night play, particularly 
during winter, has been difficult due to the poor condition of the court surface, drainage issues and ongoing maintenance issues with the 
lights.  

• The Club is affiliated with Tennis Victoria, Macedon Ranges Tennis Association (MRTA) and Mountain District Ladies Tennis Association 
(MDLTA). The Club offers junior coaching – around 60 kids in formal coaching programs over two afternoons per week during school term. 
It also offers school holiday and school sports programs. 

• The Club’s primary facility focus for the past 7-10 years has been to maintain the courts in a playable state in order to retain the viability 
of the Club. The major focus at present is to seek a decision from Council as to whether the facility should be retained at Ross Watt 
Reserve (with accompanying substantial upgrade/replacement work) or closed. The desired outcome would be at least the implementation 
of Stage 1 and 2 of the NGTC master plan over the next 2-3 years. 

• The Club’s ability to grow numbers is restricted by the court and general facility condition issues. Junior coaching is in high demand and 
junior competition run by MRTA is growing strongly. The main limitation is lack of lights on the two marginally better courts (Courts 1/2). 
The lit courts (Courts 3/4) are largely unplayable for night play during winter (which is when lights are mostly needed) due to drainage 
problems and dangerous court surface condition. At least 4 courts in good condition with lighting are required to cater for current player 
demand. It is very difficult for the Club to market to new members, attract sponsors etc. with such a poor facility.  

• The Club is responsible for all maintenance including court surface repairs etc. The problem for NGTC, compared to other clubs with good 
condition facilities, is that almost all reserve funds have been needed for various court surface repairs and other issues over the past ten 
years. These have included contributions to: 
- Major earthworks to shore up foundations at the north end of courts 3/4 due to the poorly performing swale drain   
- Baseline replacements on courts 3/4 
- Multiple other small repairs where seams have parted – courts 3/4 
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- Regular replacement of old-style halogen globes – about 1 per year on average requiring the Club to hire an electrician and cherry 
picker to handle the replacement and pay for expensive replacement globes. 

Other ongoing issues include: 
- Regular clubhouse flooding events 
- Pine needles dropping onto courts 3/4 that requires constant blowing/sweeping to remove 
- Court surface brushing/cleaning due to mud backflow onto courts 3/4 due to poor drainage 
- Sand respreading/replacement due to water flowing over courts 3/4. 
None of the above maintenance issues would be required if the courts were in acceptable condition.  

• The primary focus of the Ross Watt Reserve Master Plan (other than the redevelopment of the tennis facility) should be on improving 
access to the reserve, providing a walking track and improving the car parking. 

 
5.2 Council officers  

Council officers involved in the planning, management, development and maintenance of Ross Watt Reserve were asked to indicate what they 
consider to be the role of the reserve, its positive and not so positive attributes, the changes that are occurring around the reserve that might have 
implications for the master plan and the improvements that are needed at the reserve. Their thoughts/comments were as follows:  
• The reserve has a number of roles - a visual break along Station Rd, carpark for school, informal play, dog off leash space, family/social 

space, toilet stop/break and thoroughfare – from Thom St to Station Rd. 
• The positive attributes of the reserve are its prominent location, view lines, openness, uncluttered nature, gentle slope and healthy 

vegetation. The not so positive attributes are the reserve’s poor drainage, lack of accessibility from its eastern and northern sides and the 
basic standard and declining condition of the tennis facility. 

• A development plan is currently being produced for New Gisborne. Under the plan, the township will grow (potentially trebling in population) 
and develop as a self-sufficient township which is less reliant on Gisborne.  

• The new residential area immediately west of Ross Watt Reserve will be developed. A small neighbourhood activity centre with cafés and 
small convenience store is proposed for construction in Station Rd across the street from the reserve.  

• A linear park will be developed in the new residential area west of reserve. The Park will have family social and play facilities. Stage One 
of the Regional Sports Precinct Master Plan will continue to be implemented. Works will include the provision of a family social area and 
playground. There are no plans to redevelop/enhance the other open space reserves in New Gisborne. 

• Stage 2 of the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct Master Plan makes provision for new tennis courts. However, no commitment 
has yet been made by Council to implement Stage 2. Only one tennis facility can be justified in New Gisborne. Ross Watt Reserve may 
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be a better location than the Sports Precinct - NGTC has a long history at the reserve, two courts and the lights at the reserves are in 
reasonable condition, there is sufficient land to accommodate a 6-8 court facility and the tennis facility would not be as impacted by other 
activity in the reserve as it would at the Precinct.  

• The toilet block is ageing. The master plan needs to determine whether the block is removed or retained and upgraded.  
• The reserve is a gazetted dog off leash area. More dog off leash areas are needed across the Shire; not less. This area should be retained 

but remain unfenced. 
• There is a basic and rarely used BMX track at Ross Watt Reserve. Council is undertaking a BMX/Skate Facility Strategy which will make 

recommendations about whether the facility at Ross Watt Reserve should be retained or removed. The master plan should retain the 
facility pending the completion of the Strategy. 

• The Cypress Trees in the reserve have limited habitat value. Some generalist bird species will use this to perch and nest, as will some 
possums to move about above ground protected from predation, but they have low conservation value. The trees suppress the diversity 
of the understory by restricting light and increasing the acidity of the soil. 

• Improvement works that should be considered at the reserve include the following: 
- Removing the line of cypress trees which stretches across the middle of the reserve 
- Better integrating the eastern and western sections of the reserve  
- Removing or updating the toilet block 
- Improving drainage at the reserve  
- Making the reserve more appealing for family/social activities and informal play 
- Upgrading the tennis facilities.  

• Council is aware that the carpark at the reserve is used as parking location for school drop off and pick up. It is also aware of the concerns 
people have expressed about the safety of the carpark when it is used for this function. This should be considered in the master plan. 
However in line with the DOSS, the sealing of the carpark is not considered to be needed.    
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6. KEY THEMES/CONSIDERATIONS 

Table 5 lists the key themes/issues that emerged from the literature review, audit/site analysis and consultation process. The table includes a 
discussion on each theme and make recommendations about what actions should be included in the reserve master plan in relation to the themes.  
 
Table 5 – Theme: considerations 

Theme CONSIDERATIONS   Recommendation  

Role and quality of the 
reserve   

• The reserve has a number of roles – a visual break along Station Rd, carpark for school, 
informal play area, dog off leash space, family/social space, toilet stop/break and 
thoroughfare from Thom St to Station Rd). 

• It does not get a lot of use. New Gisborne is a small township and the infrastructure in 
the reserve is minimal and fairly basic. Also, access to the reserve is limited with no 
entry points on its eastern and western boundaries.  

• The population of New Gisborne is likely to grow substantially over the next 20 years. 
Ross Watt Reserve will be centrally located in the main township. Its importance will 
grow. Demand will also grow. The amount and quality of the infrastructure will need to 
be enhanced.        

Generally, enhance the amount 
and quality of infrastructure in 
the reserve.  

Tennis facility  • The tennis facility has been located at Ross Watt Reserve for 35 years. NGTC has 
occupied the facility over this period and contributed significantly to its development and 
maintenance. 

• The Club currently has 70 members. This is close to its peak. The Club maintains that 
its membership numbers would be higher if its facilities at Ross Watt Reserve were 
improved. 

• Two courts at the reserve are in poor condition. An independent audit of the condition of 
the courts has confirmed that they are in a poor state. The other two courts are in good 
condition; however, they are unlit and cannot be used for night tennis. An upgrade is 
needed.  

• The Club is proposing that the tennis facility be redeveloped and upgraded. It is 
suggesting a staged development – 1) courts 3 and 4 demolished, lights over courts 1 
and 2, 2) two more lit courts and pavilion and 3) two more lit courts.  

• A four/eight court tennis facility can be justified for provision in New Gisborne, 
particularly, if the residential investigation areas nominated in the draft New Gisborne 
Structure Plan are developed. The issue is where should it be located?  The Club’s 
preference is to stay at Ross Watt Reserve. However, it is prepared to shift to another 

Nominate Ross Watt Reserve as 
the location for the tennis facility 
in New Gisborne. 
Make future provision for eight 
courts at the site (retain two 
existing, remove two existing 
and replace with two new, allow 
for a further four in the future). 
Erect lights over Courts 1 and 2  
Construct a pavilion as per 
TA/TV standards for local 
facilities: two small change 
rooms, amenities, store, social 
room, kitchen/kiosk, veranda, 
outdoor area. 
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Theme CONSIDERATIONS   Recommendation  
location. The Regional Sports Precinct Master Plan makes provision for a 6-8 court 
tennis facility. However, Council has not made a commitment to develop this facility.  

• Ross Watt Reserve is the preferred location for tennis in New Gisborne rather than the 
Sports Precinct due to the following: 
- The prominent location and suitable size and shape of Ross Watt Reserve 
- The expanded tennis facility can fit with ample space still left over for other purposes 
- The reserve has been the site of the tennis club for long time – 35 years 
- The tennis club will not be ‘swallowed up’ by other sports which may happen if 

located at the Sports Precinct.  
- Some complementary infrastructure is already provided at Ross Watt Reserve 

(carpark, playground). 

• New Gisborne currently has the population size to sustain a 4 court tennis facility. If it 
grows in size, as predicted, the town may be able to sustain a 6-8 court facility. 

• The pavilion at NGTC is small and does not meet TA/TV standards. It should be 
redeveloped. 

See Section 7 for discussion on design and cost of tennis facility.  

Remove two existing courts and 
replace with two new lit courts 
east of the pavilion.  
Make provision for four 
additional courts if needed in the 
future. 

Trees  • The reserve is flanked on all sides by trees – mainly Cypress trees. The trees are tall 
and overlap. They are healthy and provide significant shade. They absorb water but at 
the same time do not let the sun through to allow the ground below to dry. The trees 
could be thinned out but would soon grow together again. It is recommended the 
boundary trees be retained. 

• A row of cypress trees dissects the reserve (north-south). The trees provide some shade 
and shelter for the tennis facility and the playground. However, the trees essentially 
separate the reserve into halves. They also block view lines and impede movement 
through the reserve. Consideration should be given to removing the trees. Some of the 
freed up space could be used for an extension to the carpark. 

• The removal of the middle row of cypress trees and replacement with other tree species 
will assist in reducing the current monoculture nature of trees in this reserve.  

• The cypress could be replaced with indigenous species such as eucalypts, wattles or 
banksia. These species will offer far more value to the local wildlife from insects to birds 
to mammals, providing perching and climbing habitat as well as a source of food and 
shelter 

Retain the boundary Cypress 
trees. Remove the row of 
Cypress trees that dissect the 
reserve. 
Extend the line of Peppermint 
trees along the full length of the 
diagonal path.    
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Theme CONSIDERATIONS   Recommendation  
• The section of diagonal path from the carpark to the toilet is lined by Peppermint trees. 

The trees are attractive and should be retained and extended along the full length of the 
path to Thom St.  

Path network   • There is a limited path network in the reserve. It consists of a sand path connecting 
Thom St and Station Rd and a sand/gravel path from the carpark to the tennis facility. 
There is also a worn track under the trees along the north eastern side of the reserve. 
The paths and track are in reasonable to good condition. 

• It was suggested in the consultation process that the path network be extended and a 
circuit path be considered. This should be provided 

• The Draft Open Space Strategy (DOSS) proposes that primary paths in reserves like 
Ross Watt Reserve be sealed. The diagonal path and the path from the carpark to the 
tennis facility, playground and shelter should be considered as primary paths and be 
sealed. The circuit path should be granitic sand.  

• The DOSS does not stipulate a width for the path. 2m is suggested. This would be 
sufficient for two prams to pass.  

Widen and seal the diagonal 
path 
In line with the DOSS construct 
a network of sealed and granitic 
sand paths: 
- Along the southern edge of 

the carpark 
- From the carpark to the 

tennis facility, shelter, toilets 
and playground.  

- From the carpark to the 
tennis pavilion. 

- From the south west corner 
of the reserve to the 
diagonal path 

- Along sections of the 
southern, eastern and 
western boundaries (to 
create a circuit path). 

Drainage  • Sections of the reserve are poorly drained. There are two swale drains in the reserve – 
along the northern edge of the reserve and west of the tennis facility. Some sections of 
the drains are deep and unsightly. Water also ponds in some sections. The drains need 
regular maintenance.  

• The proposed tennis facility will need to be adequately drained. Swale drains will be 
needed along its northern edge. There will need to be connected to the existing open 
swale drains    

Upgrade drainage in reserve. 
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Theme CONSIDERATIONS   Recommendation  

Carpark  • The reserve will get busier as the population of New Gisborne grows, the tennis facility 
is expanded and the rest of the reserve is enhanced and attracts more people.  

• The carpark will need to be bigger. It could be expanded to the east. The DOSS 
proposes a gravel surface.   

Extend the carpark to the east 
Retain the gravel surface. 

Playground • The playground in the reserve is reasonably large, well spread-out and in good 
condition. It is fairly basic with only five fabricated pieces and no natural elements.  

• The DOSS proposes that play spaces have a mix of fabricated and natural elements. 
Some natural elements should be added to the playground. 

Add some natural elements to 
the playground.  

Entry points  • The formal entry points to the reserve off Station Rd and Thom St are fairly bland and 
basic. 

• They could be made more attractive and welcoming through better signage and 
landscaping.  

Enhance the entrances to the 
reserve through improved 
signage/landscaping.  

Boundary fencing    • The reserve is surrounded on three sides by timber paling fencing. Some sections of the 
fence are new and in good condition. Some sections are old, dilapidated and unsightly. 

• Consideration should be given to renewing the older sections of fencing. This would be 
done in cooperation with the relevant landowners.  

Renew the sections of old 
dilapidated fencing in 
cooperation with relevant 
landowners.  

Dog off leash area  • The dog off leash area in the reserve is a gazetted space where dogs are allowed off 
leash. It is not limited to this purpose and can be used for other activities. It is not 
fenced. 

• The area is in the back half of the reserve in a space of around 1.6ha. The proposed 
tennis facility will take up around 0.8ha. The dog off leash area will be reduced to around 
0.4ha.  

• Dog off leash activities are growing in popularity. The dog off leash area should be 
retained. Suitable facilities – bag dispensers and bins, water bowl and signs – should be 
provided. 

• A fenced dog park is currently not identified in this location, and is currently not 
supported due to the loss of accessible public open space. Council’s Domestic Animal 
Management Plan 2021-25, identifies that further work needs to be done to identify 
suitable locations for the future development of purpose built dog parks. 

Retain the reduced dog off leash 
space. Provide bag dispensers, 
bins, water bowl and signage. 
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Theme CONSIDERATIONS   Recommendation  

Park furniture, shelter, 
BBQ facility, bike racks, 
water fountain    

• There are six items of park furniture in the reserve (tables and benches). They are 
ageing but in good condition and suitably located near the play area.  

• More items should be considered – seats around the circuit path, another bench table 
near the playground. 

• A shelter/BBQ should also be considered. It will give the reserve a higher profile and 
complement the other facilities in the reserve. It is consistent with the reserve’s 
classification as a community level, social recreation reserve.  

• Bike racks and a water fountain should be provided as per the DOSS standard. The 
reserve will be become a destination venue. Bike racks will encourage people to ride to 
the reserve. A water fountain will add to the users’ experience of the reserve. 

Install seats along the proposed 
circuit path. 
Install a bench table near the 
playground. 
Erect a BBQ shelter. 
Install bike racks and water 
fountain.  

BMX humps  • There is a basic and rarely used BMX track at Ross Watt Reserve. 
• Council is undertaking a BMX/Skate Facility Strategy which will make recommendations 

about whether the facility at Ross Watt Reserve should be retained or removed. 
• The master plan should retain the facility pending the completion of the Strategy. 

Retain the BMX humps in the 
reserve pending the completion 
of the BMX/Skate Strategy. 

Toilet facility  • The toilet block is ageing but in good condition. It is the only public toilet facility in New 
Gisborne.  

• Retaining the toilet block aligns with the Public Toilet Strategy, which identifies that the 
facility needs refurbishment. 

• The reserve will be busier as a result of the works proposed in the master plan. The 
toilet facility will be needed and should be retained.      

Retain and refurbish the toilet 
block.  
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7. DESIGN AND COST OF TENNIS FACILITY 

7.1 Tennis facility classification and pavilion design  

TA’s Facility Framework 2020 proposes a 5 tier hierarchy for tennis facilities ranging from national tennis centres with a minimum of 20 courts to 
local tennis centres with a minimum of 2-4 courts. Under the hierarchy, the tennis venues in MRS would be classified as local (2-7 courts) and 
medium level facilities (8-11 courts). The characteristics/requirements of local and medium level facilities are described below: 
 
Court requirements (guide only, as preferred court surface type is not outlined): 
Local 
• Minimum of 2-4 courts with at least 75% of courts based on ITF surface code A (acrylic), F (clay) and H grass (note: not synthetic). 50% 

of courts must be floodlit to minimum ITF competition standards.  
 
Medium 
• Same as local but with a minimum of 8 courts.  
 
Clubhouse and facility requirements:  
Local and Medium  
• Male and female change rooms and showers. 
• Café/kiosk and preferably licensed social facilities. 
• Administration office/s. 
• Onsite parking near the facility entrance. 
• Outdoor shaded social areas suitable for events and social nights. 
 
7.2 Choice of court surfaces  

Tennis Australia’s Tennis Infrastructure Planning Resource 2018, outlines that providing quality tennis courts is a crucial element of all tennis 
facilities. To ensure sustainability of a facility, tennis courts should be designed, constructed and maintained to meet the needs and demands of 
users. The attributes of the various tennis court surfaces are outlined in Table 6.   
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Table 6 – Attibutes of tennis court surfaces 

Attribute Red porous/clay Synthetic Acrylic resin 

  Classic clay Grass  

Cost for initial construction per 
court (not lit)  

$90,000 $105,000  
 

$100,000 $95,000  

Cost for replacement once 
installed   

$20,000   $28,000 $24,000 $12,000 

Durability if well maintained  25 years 12 years    12 years  8 years 

Maintenance 
 

Need constant watering 
and bagging.  
Basic resurfacing and line 
replacement regularly 
required $5,000 per annum 
per court   

Surface needs to be topped 
up each year.  
Courts have to be bagged. 
Not to the same extent as 
red porous. Moss needs to 
be removed. $800 per court 
per annum  

Very little maintenance 
required.  
Sand infill needs to be 
topped up. Moss needs to 
be removed. 
$800 per court per annum  

Regular sweeping.  
Court tends to get hairline 
cracks which have to be 
filled or surface recoated. 
$900 per court per annum.  

Watering 
 

Need constant watering 
Est. 300kl per year court  

Very little water required Very little water required No water required  

Bounce Slow and even, if well 
maintained  

Slow and even  Moderate and even   Reasonably quick and even   

Player comfort 
  

Very good  
Cool surface can slide 
easily.  

Very good  
Cool surface, can slide 
easily 

Good  
Reasonably soft and cool 
surface, cannot slide   

Moderate  
Moderately hard and hot 
surface, cannot slide     

Negatives  
 

Surface can blow away in 
big winds or wash away 
during heavy rains   

Surface can blow away in 
big winds or wash away in 
heavy rains (not to the 
same extent as red porous) 

- - 

 
Factors that influence the choice of court surface other than the initial capital cost are: 
• The preference of Club members (i.e., it is not sensible to install less costly courts if the Club loses members because they do not like the 

surface). 
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• The emphasis the Club places on skills development.  
• The capacity of the Club to finance ongoing maintenance costs.  
• Advances in court technologies which make surfaces more durable. 
• The capacity to use the courts for non-tennis purposes. Synthetic grass and clay and to a lesser extent acrylic resin are suitable for other 

sporting activities such as outdoor soccer, hockey, football training etc.  
 
The NGTC have indicated as part of the Master Plan development that their preference is that synthetic grass courts be installed. The Club has 
experience with this court surface and is satisfied that it will meet the Club’s needs. 
 
Tennis Australia’s Tennis Infrastructure Planning Resource 2018, does not outline a preferred surface type when developing new tennis 
facilities but rather outlines that prior to determining the preferred court surface for a facility, it is necessary to consider the following advantages 
/ disadvantages of the surface: 
• User group preferences 
• Level and type of use (e.g. tournaments) 
• Surface performance 
• Local weather conditions and environment 
• Suitability of ground conditions 
• Installation costs / budget constraints 
• Ongoing maintenance requirements and costs 
• Environmental impacts 
• Replacement costs 
 
Further consideration of a preferred surface type with reference to the above should be undertaken in consultation with the Club during the 
detailed design phase of any future funded new court developments. 
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8. RESERVE MASTER PLAN  
8.1 Consultation on preliminary master plan 

A preliminary master plan (see Figure 8, page 42) was developed based on the findings of the research and the outcomes of the key considerations 
section of this report (Section 7). The key features of the master plan were as follows: 
• A redeveloped tennis facility with a pavilion, 4 lit courts and provision made for 4 additional courts. 
• An extensive path network which links the entrances and key facilities in the reserve and creates a circuit path around the reserve.    
• An expanded and upgraded play space. 
• A new picnic shelter with benches and tables.  
• Additional seating throughout the Park 
• Extended carpark.  
• Improve drainage of grassed areas and other sections of the reserve.  
• Nominated dog off leash area retained but reduced in size.  
• North–south row of Cypress trees removed.  
• Additional tree planting.  
 
The master plan was publicly exhibited for four weeks from 2 June to 30 June 2023, and the community was invited to comment. Fifteen responses 
were received from a mix of residents and members of the tennis club. A summary of the comments made in the responses is as follows: 
• General agreement on the importance of the reserve and the need for its enhancement.  
• Unanimous endorsement of the redevelopment of the tennis facility and creation of the path network   
• Strong support for the other features of the master plan. 
 
One respondent proposed that the path network should be lit. This is supported as it will enhance safety. Two respondents suggested that the 
space nominated as a dog off leash area should be fenced. A fenced dog park is currently not identified in this location, and is currently not 
supported due to the loss of accessible public open space. Council’s Domestic Animal Management Plan 2021-25, identifies that further work 
needs to be done to identify suitable locations for the future development of purpose built dog parks. The use of this area should be monitored 
and a fence considered for provision at a later date. One respondent expressed misgivings about the north-south row of Cypress trees being 
removed, saying that the trees provide shade and a wind break. The master plan proposes that the Cypress trees be replaced with more suitable 
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trees. These trees will eventually provide shade and a windbreak (although to a lesser extent). They will also enable improved view lines and 
easier movement through the reserve. 
 
Figure 8 – Ross Watt Reserve Master Plan, Preliminary Draft 
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8.2 Final master plan  

The aim of the master plan is to provide a vision for how the reserve will look and function in the long term. The implementation of the master plan 
will achieve the following objectives:  
• Enhance the appearance of the reserve and make it more attractive, welcoming and accessible. 
• Retain the openness and uncluttered nature of the reserve.  
• Enhance the reserve’s capacity to be used for tennis, informal play and passive recreation. 
• Achieve a suitable balance between the developed and natural areas of the reserve. 
• Raise the profile of the reserve.  
• Encourage greater use of and community pride in the reserve.  
 
An illustrated plan detailing the key recommended actions is provided in Figure 9 on p45. An action plan listing the preliminary costs and priority 
for the works is outlined in Table 7. The timelines for works are described as between 1-5. These numbers indicate the relative priorities of the 
works with 1 being the highest priority. The costings will need to be firmed up through a detailed design phase and/or costing process.  
 
Table 7 – Ross Watt Reserve Master Plan: Action Plan 

Action  Estimated construction cost $ Priority  

Nominate Ross Watt Reserve as the location for the tennis facility in New Gisborne.   

Erect lights at Courts 1 and 2 258,000 1 

Retain the boundary Cypress trees. Remove the north-south row of Cypress trees that 
dissect the reserve. 
Extend the line of Peppermint trees along the full length of the diagonal path.    

80,000 1 

Retain the dog off leash area. Provide bag dispensers, bins, water bowl and signage.   15,000 1 

Construct two new tennis courts to the immediate east of the pavilion. Erect lights over 
the courts. 

440,000 2 

Remove existing courts 3 and 4. 15,000 2 

Enhance the entrances to the reserve (Station Road and Thom Street) through improved 
signage and landscaping.  

30,000 2 
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Action  Estimated construction cost $ Priority  

Install water fountain near the playground. 2,000 2 

Retain and redevelop into a pump track (pending outcome of the Macedon Ranges Shire 
Skate and BMX Strategy). 

270,000 3 

Construct a pavilion to the immediate east of Courts 1 and 2 as per TA/TV standards for 
local tennis facilities: two change rooms, administration area, amenities, store, social 
room, kiosk/kitchen, veranda, outdoor area. 

900,000 3 

Extend the carpark to the east. Retain the gravel surface. 50,000 3 

Install seats along the proposed circuit path. Install a bench table near the playground. 
Erect a BBQ/shelter.  

90,000 3 

Retain and refurbish the toilet block.  50,000 3 

Install bike racks near the tennis pavilion.  5,000 3 

Widen and seal the diagonal path that extends from the Station Road carpark entrance to 
Thom St.  
Construct a network of sealed and granitic sand paths: 
- Along the southern edge of the carpark   
- From the carpark to the tennis facility, proposed shelter, toilets and playground.  
- From the carpark to the tennis pavilion. 
- From the south west corner of the reserve to the diagonal path 
- Along sections of the southern, eastern and northern boundaries (to create a circuit 

path). 
Provide solar passive lighting along the path network   

220,000 Diagonal path 
3 
Remainder 4  

Add some natural elements to the playground (5 additional pieces).  70,000 4 

Make provision for four additional lit courts to the east of the two new courts if required in 
the future.  

880,000  5 

Overtime, renew sections of old dilapidated fencing in cooperation with relevant 
landowners.  

40,000 5 

TOTAL estimated cost: 3,415,000  
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Figure 9 – Ross Watt Reserve, Master Plan 
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Appendix A – Literature Review 
 

Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

Macedon Ranges Shire 
Council documents  

  

Council Plan 2021-2031  
Annual Action Plan 2022-
2023   

This Plan outlines Council’s vision, themes, strategic objectives and priorities 
for the period 2021-2031 and its action plan for 2022/23. The 
material/references contained in the Plan that have relevance for the 
redevelopment master plan for Ross Watt Reserve are as follows: 
Themes 
− The Macedon Range’s community is diverse and has a range of needs. 

Council needs to ensure that that these needs are addressed. Gaps 
between Council actions and community expectations need to be bridged.  

− The community prioritises the protection of the natural environment and 
recreational facilities.  

Strategic objectives  
− Council will maintain our built environment – including roads, paths, 

buildings, open space and other assets – in a fiscally, environmentally and 
socially sustainable way. 

− Council will provide support for volunteers, community groups and 
organisations, in recognition of their work in contributing to social 
connections. 

Priorities  
− Improve connectivity and movement, and provide transport choices to the 

community, including walking trails and bike paths. 
− Provide well-designed, fit-for-purpose, multi-use open spaces and 

infrastructure for the community to connect, engage and participate in a 
financially sustainable way.  

− Protect the natural environment and enhance biodiversity.  
− Support our community to ensure better access and connection for 

facilities and services  
− Assist to improve mental wellbeing within the community. 
− Finalise the preparation of a new Open Space Strategy and consider 

implementation into the Macedon Ranges Planning Scheme. 

The master plan should be consistent 
with and aim to achieve the vision, 
mission, strategic objective and priorities 
outlined in the Council Plan. 
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Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

− Consider a suite of environmental upgrades to Council buildings to 
enhance energy efficiency and environmental performance. 

− Provide opportunities for the community to experience open space and 
bushland reserves. 

− Optimise accessibility and usage of open space and facilities, through a 
program of development and renewals for open space, playgrounds and 
sporting infrastructure.  

− Work in partnership with health, education and community organisations, 
including sporting clubs and community groups, to enhance opportunities 
for improved health, and participation in passive and active recreation. 

Municipal Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plan 2021-2025  

This Plan provides a strategic framework to improve the health and wellbeing 
of the Macedon Ranges Community. The material/references contained in the 
Plan that have relevance for the redevelopment master plan for Ross Watt 
Reserve are as follows: 
Key Priorities 
− Mental health and wellbeing.  
− Social connection and inclusion.  
− Healthy eating and physical activity.  
Key Goals  
− An environment that supports people to eat well and be physically active. 
Strategic Objectives 
− Support mental wellbeing in the workplace and in the community.  
− Coordinate and promote accessible and inclusive services, activities and 

events. 
− Create supportive environments for physical activity. 
Actions 
− Continue to facilitate access to nature for all population groups in Council 

reserves and through Council’s engagement programs.  
− Help sporting groups and clubs to be accessible and inclusive for people 

with disability. 

The master plan should aim to achieve 
the key goals and actions outlined in the 
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing 
Plan that relate to Ross Watt Reserve; 
these being universal access, provision 
of accessible carparks, improved 
provision of public toilets. 
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Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

− Invest in infrastructure that provides low-cost activity options that can be 
used by all members of the community.  

− Create sporting and physical activity options with clubs and sporting 
organisations.  

− Work with partner agencies, from libraries to sporting clubs, to encourage 
people to increase physical activity levels.  

− Maintain open space and parks that can be used by all members of the 
community. 

− Continue to facilitate provision and maintenance of accessible carparks in 
key destinations Continue to improve continuous accessible paths of travel 
to key destinations, such as recreation and community facilities, through 
the funding of the Footpath Construction Program.  

− Deliver Stage 1 of the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct project 
and continue advocacy for funding towards future stage delivery.  

− Prepare a new Public Toilet Strategy. 

Sport and Active Recreation 
Strategy 2018-2028    

This Strategy outlines Council’s key objectives for sport and recreation and the 
actions it will take to achieve these objectives. The sections of the Strategy 
that have relevance to Ross Watt Reserve are as follows: 
Objectives  
− Increase participation in sport and physical activities in the Shire. 
− Support partnerships to deliver sustainable asset management and 

participation outcomes. 
− Provide recreational facilities that meet the changing needs of residents, 

including activation of open space through programming and design.  
− Promote the benefits of sport, recreation and physical activity participation. 
− Support an appropriate range of places, settings and built facilities that 

facilitate sport and recreation in the Shire. 
Guiding principles 
− All residents should have access to an appropriate range of sport, active 

recreation and physical activity participation.  

The master plan should be consistent 
with the principles outlined in the 
Recreation Strategy and aim to achieve 
the objectives and implement the key 
actions of the Strategy; these being: 
− Promoting the shared use of facilities. 
− Where feasible, improving the 

capacity of and renewing existing 
facilities before developing new 
facilities.   

− Giving priority to servicing local 
recreation needs. 

− Considering redevelopment options 
for NGTC.  
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Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

− All new (or redeveloped) active recreation and sport facilities and 
infrastructure will consider opportunities to incorporate Universal Design 
and Female Friendly Sport Infrastructure principles.  

− Council will strive for an equitable allocation of resources that promotes 
inclusiveness and reflects community needs.  

− Council will support opportunities for participation in physical activities for 
individuals and groups across all age groups and life stages, i.e., children, 
adults and seniors.  

− Council supports the provision of an appropriate range of facilities and 
participation opportunities that recognises different standards may be 
required to support different levels of participation and/or catchments.  

− The standard, scale and scope of facilities will primarily focus on servicing 
local Shire residents.  

− All communities will have access to a range of local informal physical 
activity participation opportunities appropriate to individual settings.  

− Council encourages and supports the development of sustainable sport 
and active recreation facilities.  

− The provision of open space settings (particularly active/formal sports 
reserves) and facilities shall maximise opportunities for shared use. 

− Re tennis, the emphasis is on improving existing facilities in order to 
maximise usage opportunities, including court resurfacing and lighting, 
rather than additional court provision.  

− With the exception of Riddells Creek, no additional/new tennis courts are 
required. Establish a tennis court improvement program to upgrade/renew 
court surfaces, surrounds and increase lighting provision.  

Actions  
− Place an emphasis on improving existing facilities in order to maximise 

usage opportunities, including court resurfacing and lighting, rather than 
additional court provision. 

− Establish a tennis court improvement program to upgrade/renew court 
surfaces, surrounds and increase lighting provision. 
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Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

− Support upgrade/resurfacing at Gisborne Tennis Club (Dixon Field) as 
required. Also support lighting provision to the final 2 courts (i.e., all 8 
courts to be lit).  

− Support resurfacing and lighting to 4 existing tennis courts in Kyneton – 
moving to total provision of 8 lit courts. 

− Support provision of three new lit tennis courts with consideration for multi-
purpose use (stage 2) in Riddells Creek in line with the existing site Master 
Plan. 

− In consultation with the New Gisborne Tennis Club and Tennis Victoria, 
consider future options – current site or opportunities to relocate/replace 
the existing four tennis courts at Ross Watt Reserve to the proposed new 
Sports Precinct (ovals) in New Gisborne in the long-term (i.e., consider as 
part of the Master Plan design for this site), including shared use of 
proposed pavilion facilities.  

− Review the 2009-2014 Playground Strategy in order to develop a new 
Shire-wide Play Space Plan to guide improvement priorities, including a 
greater focus on nature play, social gathering and sites that can cater for 
multiple age groups, including the needs of parents/guardians. 

Walking and Cycling 
Strategy 2014-2024 

This Strategy contains a plan for increasing walking and cycling opportunities 
in the Shire and promote healthy active lifestyles from 2014–2024. The 
Strategy indicates that Council is committed to: 
− Progressively improving provision of walking and cycling environments. 
− Investigating opportunities to maximise participation in walking and cycling.  
− Implementing improvement initiatives that reflect community needs and 

organisational capacity. 
The Strategy does not contain any references that relate to Ross Watt 
Reserve. However, it does contain provision and design standards for paths 
and park infrastructure that should inform the Ross Watt Reserve 
Redevelopment Master Plan.  

The master plan should consider 
providing suitable facilities for walking 
and cycling.  

Environment Strategy 2021 This Strategy outlines the actions Council will take to conserve, protect and 
enhance the local natural environment. The actions that have relevance to 
Ross Watt Master Plan are as follows:  

The master plan should assess the 
environmental values of the reserve and, 
if present, protect these values. 
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Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

− Develop a Leased Buildings Emissions Reduction Plan for Council owned, 
leased facilities which do not form part of Council’s emissions profile.  

− Develop an Urban Cooling Strategy that establishes targets for canopy 
cover and public plantings and which identifies actions to ensure 
appropriate protections are in place for significant trees across the Shire. 

− Maintain and upgrade existing water sensitive urban design assets to 
ensure they are functioning as intended.    

The master plan should contain actions 
which contribute to urban cooling or not 
cause urban heating. 

Biodiversity Strategy 2018 This Strategy outlines the actions Council will take to conserve, protect and 
enhance biodiversity values across the Shire. There are no specific actions 
relating to Ross Watt Reserve.  

The master plan should assess the need 
for more vegetation in the reserve and 
make proviso for more native vegetation 
if required. 

Domestic Animal 
Management Plan 2021-
2025 

This Plan provides a framework for the planning, development, and evaluation 
of animal management services and programs delivered by Macedon Ranges 
Shire Council. The Plan contains the following references that have 
implications for the Ross Watt Reserve redevelopment master plan: 
Principles 
− Council recognises the physical, mental and social benefits that pets bring.  
− Council balances the needs of pets, pet owners and those who don’t own 

pets  
Actions  
− Review and improve community signage for on leash, off leash, and 

effective control requirements.  
− Improve provisions for dogs in Council open spaces 
− Improve existing designated fenced off leash areas. 
− Explore opportunities to build purpose built dedicated dog parks. 

The master plan should include relevant 
actions related to signage. It also should 
consider the concept of a providing a 
fenced in dog area. 

Public Toilet & Barbecue 
Strategy 2022 

The Strategy outlines a plan for the future provision of public toilet and BBQ 
facilities in the Shire. The Strategy contains the following references that have 
relevance to Ross Watt Reserve: 
Principles: 
− The provision of facilities is based on fair and equitable access to public 

toilets and barbecues for community benefit and tourism.  

The master plan should assess the 
condition of the public toilet block and, if 
required, make recommendations about 
its refurbishment.   
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Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

− The provision of facilities will be prioritised on Council owned/ and or 
managed land 

− The provision of facilities will be prioritised at ‘community’ and ‘destination’ 
level open space as determined by The Open Space Strategy discussed in 
this Strategy.  

− The design of facilities and their locations is guided by the principles and 
design guidelines outlined in the PTBS.  

− Council will strive for excellence when it comes to access and safety of 
facilities, particularly for public toilets. 

− Council will aim to transition the provision of unisex/ gender neutral 
facilities 

− Council will aim to increase compliance with DDA and AS1428 across 
facilities over time with priority given to facilities with high usage.  

Audit of facilities:  
− Toilet facility at Ross Watt Reserve is rated as being ‘average’ and in need 

of refurbishment  
− It does not outline the works required but they should be consistent with 

the principles outlined above.      

Disability Action Plan 2021-
2025    

This Plan outlines Council’s goals and strategic objectives with respect to 
improving opportunities for people with disabilities to participate in community 
life. The Plan contains the following commitments that have relevance to Ross 
Watt Reserve:  
− Make sure new buildings are accessible.  
− Make more accessible carparks.  
− Make good and accessible footpaths in places where people need them. 

The master plan should consider 
opportunities to make the reserve more 
physically accessible.  

Elevate - Youth Strategy 
2018-2028 

This Strategy outlines how Council will work with young people, parents, 
schools, workplaces, service providers and other levels of government to raise 
up young people. The Strategy contains the following references that have 
relevance to Ross Watt Reserve.  
Priority areas: 
− Improve mental health. 
− Promote the natural environment.  

The master plan should assess how the 
Reserve can be redeveloped to provide 
more recreation opportunities for young 
people.  
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Documents  Purpose/relevance   Implications for Ross Watt Reserve 
Master Plan   

− Improve the built environment.   
Key actions: 
− Support implementation of Macedon Ranges Shire Council Leisure 

Strategy.  
− Promote active living among young people.  

Participate - Positive Ageing 
Strategy 2020-2025 

This document outlines the actions Council will take to help residents age 
healthily, with dignity and as part of the community. The actions that have 
relevance to the Ross Watt Recreation Reserve Master Plan are as follow:  
− Support local groups and organisations to increase opportunities for social 

connections and participation. 
− Review assets by auditing compliance with accessibility requirements 

(including age and dementia friendliness) and seek to address gaps 
identified in audit. 

− Use accessible design standards for new/upgraded signage in Council 
owned and managed facilities and at Council sponsored events. 

− Improve accessible parking in key locations. 
− Include in improvements to parks and public spaces accessibility 

considerations for older people, including exploring age and dementia-
friendly modifications to these spaces such as reducing trip hazards, 
improving wayfinding cues. 

− Ensure that planning for all aspects of the built environment addresses 
accessibility issues for people of all abilities and includes seating and 
public toilets. 

 

The master plan should assess how the 
reserve can be redeveloped to be more 
accessible and welcoming of and provide 
more recreation opportunities for older 
people.   

New Gisborne Development 
Plan 2015 

This Plan sets out the broad framework for the development of a new growth 
area to the west of Station Rd, New Gisborne. The feature of the plan are as 
follow: 
− Developable area of 56ha. Net developable area of 39ha. 
− 7ha of open space – 1.2ha for a small park one the southern tip of the 

development area.  5.7ha encumbered land for drainage. 
− 27ha of net developable residential land yielding around 350 dwellings. 

The master plan should examine the role 
that Ross Watt Reserve can play in 
satisfying the open space needs of the 
New Gisborne Development Plan area.   
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Macedon Ranges Regional 
Sports Precinct Master Plan 
Dixon Field Redevelopment 
Master Plan 2022   

The master plan for the Macedon Ranges Regional Sports Precinct located in 
Gisborne makes provision for eight dedicated tennis courts, two multi-lined 
tennis/netball courts and a central pavilion which would cater for two playing 
fields and the tennis facility. No timeline has been set for the construction of 
the courts and pavilion.  
The master plan for Dixon Field in Gisborne makes provision for the renewal of 
four of the existing eight courts and the provision of four new courts and a 
shared croquet/tennis pavilion. The master plan indicates that the provision of 
the four new courts would be dependent upon no net increase in the number of 
club competition courts in the Gisborne area (i.e., relocation of courts) 

The master plan should examine the 
issue of whether the NGTC facility should 
be upgraded and additional facilities 
provided.  

MRS Open Space Strategy 
(draft) 2022 

This Strategy provides a classification system and standards for open space in 
MRS and an audit of open space by local area. Ross Watt Reserve is classed 
as a community level, social recreation reserve. The Strategy prescribes a set 
of standards for the elements that should be considered for provision in a 
social recreation – from signs through to park furniture. 

The master plan should contain an audit 
of Ross Watt Reserve against the 
relevant standards prescribed in the 
Open Space Strategy.   

New Gisborne Tennis Club 
(NGTC) Documents  

  

New Gisborne TC Staged 
Development Master Plan, 
Rev 18/1/2022    

This Document contains the Club’s staged redevelopment proposal for the 
tennis facility at Ross Watt Reserve. The Document states that a recent 
condition audit of the tennis facility found the following issues/problems:  
− Worn court surfaces with Courts 3 and 4 noted as being well past the 

useful life.  
− Seam separation in several areas.  
− Trip hazard on Court 4.  
− Drainage issues with Courts 3 and 4.  
− Drainage swale that runs along the north end of Courts 3 and 4 holds water 

and is further exacerbating the drainage issues.  
− Large cypress trees to the north of Courts 3 and 4 create overshading and 

drop substantial amounts of pine needle debris onto the  
− Playing surface has a number of undulations which collect moisture and 

silt/dirt leading to a slippery playing surface, particularly in winter.  

The master plan should consider the 
feasibility of implementing the Club’s 
redevelopment proposal for the tennis 
facility at the reserve.  
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− Concerns raised about the structural integrity of several light towers on 
Courts 3 and 4. 

The Document states that Courts 3 and 4 are unplayable. This is severely 
curtailing the Club’s activities as 3 and 4 are the lit courts. 
The Document is proposing a five part redevelopment plan: 
− New light towers for Courts 1 and 2. Timing: Urgent, 0-1 year. Est. cost 

$450-550k  
− Stage 1: New 2-court enclosure, close Courts 3 and 4. Timing Urgent, 1-2 

years. Est. cost $450-550k 
− Stage 2a: Renew/reconstruct Courts 1 and 2 in existing location. Timing 2-

3 years. Est. cost $350-450k 
− Stage 2b: New clubhouse. Combine with Stage 2a (preferred) or separate 

project. Est. cost $150-250k 
− Stage 3: Further option to extend courts to the east. Timing: Longer term. 

Est. cost $450-550k     

Tennis Australia/Victoria 
Documents       

  

National Facilities 
Framework: Tennis Australia 
2020    

This document outlines TA’s facility framework. The framework proposes a 5 tier 
hierarchy for tennis facilities in Australia ranging from national tennis centres 
with a minimum of 20 courts to local tennis centres with a minimum of 2-4 courts. 
The framework describes the court, clubhouse, management, administration 
and catchment population requirements for each level of the hierarchy.  
Under the hierarchy, the tennis venues in MRS would be classified as local (2-
7 courts) and medium level facilities (8-11 courts). The 
characteristics/requirements of local and medium level facilities are described 
below: 
Court requirements (guide only): 
Local  
• Minimum of 2-4 courts with at 75% of courts based on ITF surface code A 

(acrylic), F (clay) and H grass (note: not synthetic). 50% of courts must be 
floodlit to minimum ITF competition standards.  

Medium 

The tennis facility guidelines/standards 
should be considered when framing 
recommendations about the 
redevelopment of the tennis facility at the 
reserve.  
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• Same as local but with a minimum of 8 courts.  
Clubhouse and facility requirements:  
Local and Medium  
• Male and female change rooms and showers. 
• Café/kiosk and preferably licensed social facilities. 
• Administration office/s. 
• Onsite parking in close proximity to facility entrance. 
• Outdoor shaded social areas suitable for events and social nights.  

Tennis Facility Planning 
Guide: Tennis Victoria 2010 

This document provides a guide for developing public tennis facilities. It 
identifies key planning stages, facility provision principles and potential funding 
sources. It contains a facility development checklist and an assessment tool for 
court surface type selection. 

The tennis facility guidelines should be 
considered when framing 
recommendations about the 
redevelopment of the tennis facility at the 
reserve.  
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